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 Administration Report
The Administration Report has undergone reasonable assurance 
engagement by SKF’s auditors. See the Auditor’s Report on pages  
144–147. Sustainability disclosures in the Annual Report have 
undergone limited assurance engagement by SKF’s auditors. See the 
Independent auditor’s limited assurance report on the Sustainability 
Report on page 143. For the Auditor’s report on the statutory 
Sustainability Report see page 121. The Corporate Governance 
Report examined by the auditors can be found on pages 148–154. 
The Auditor’s report on the Corporate Governance Report can be  
found on page 155. 
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Our customers want reduced  
friction, machines that run faster, 
longer, cleaner and more safely. 
Solving this in the most effective and 
sustainable way contributes to our 
vision of a world of reliable rotation.
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Where

SKF overview

130
COUNTRIES

15
TECHNOLOGY  

CENTRES

103
MANUFACTURING 

UNITS

Energy
Energy providers, renewable and 

 traditional.

6%

SKF offers bearings, seals, mechatronics, condition monitoring, 
lubrication systems and services, to provide reliable rotation 
to customers. The strength lies in the ability to keep developing 
new technologies that are used to create value- adding  solutions 
offering competitive advantages to customers.

To whomWhat

Industrial distribution
Sales through industrial distributors. 

29%

Industry, general 
Manufacturers and providers within 

automation, machine tools, industrial 

drives, medical and health care.

12%
Lubrication 

systems

Bearings

Services

Condition 

monitoring

Seals

Mechatronics

RELIABLE 
ROTATION
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2017

Two-wheelers and electrical
Manufacturers of motorcycles, scooters  

and skates; home appliances, portable 

power tools and electric motors. 

Industry, heavy and special
Heavy industrial machinery: metals, mining 

and cement, pulp and paper. Special 

machinery: marine, food and beverage.

Railway
Passenger, locomotive and freight car 

manufacturers. 

Off-highway
Customers within construction, agri culture 

and forestry and fork lift trucks. 

Cars and light trucks 
Cars and light truck manufacturers  

and their sub-suppliers.

Aerospace
Aircraft and helicopter builders, aero- 

engine,  gearbox and other  aircraft  systems 

manufacturers.

Trucks
Truck, trailer and bus manufacturers and 

their sub-suppliers. 

8%

6%

5%

4%

4%

9%

2%

15%
Vehicle aftermarket
Spare-part products for cars, 

trucks and two-wheelers.

• A fully automated and digital 

 production channel for manufacturing 

of spherical roller bearings was 

 inagurated in Gothenburg. 

• New production facilities in St- Cyr- 

 sur- Loire, France to streamline 

 automotive aftermarket activities 

in Europe, Middle East and Africa. 

• Reelcraft was divested. 

• Sven Wingquist Test Center was 

opened in Schweinfurt, Germany. 

• SKF’s new climate objectives for 2025 

were launched. The ambition is to 

reduce the CO
2
 emissions per tonne 

of bearings sold and per tonne of 

 products shipped to customers by 

40%, respectively. 
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1) Net cash flow after investments before 
    financing. 2014 is adjusted for the EU payment.
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SKF overview

Bearings market 
development 2017 
+6 to 8%

MARKET  
VALUE*, SEK  

220–230 
BILLION

69% of SKF’s  
net sales

The SKF Group

Offering
SKF supplies almost 40 global industries with products and services, both 

directly and indirectly, through a network of over 7,000 distributors. The 

broad product range includes development and manufacture of bearings, 

seals and lubrication systems, as well as rotating shaft services and solutions 

for machine health assessment, reliability engineering and remanufacturing. 

SKF’s position
SKF has a leading position in certain industries, such as railway and energy.  

In other industries, SKF shares the leadership position with other companies. 

SKF also has a clear leading position in the industrial distribution market, 

which primarily serves the aftermarket. 

Drivers
The need for reliable rotation is a driver common to many industries; other 

drivers vary from application to application. Examples include low friction, 

low energy use, maintenance-free solutions and total cost of ownership. 

Digitalization is a growth driver, enabling monitoring and predictive main-

tenance throughout the product life cycle.

Market characteristics
The global industrial OEM market (Original Equipment Manufacturer) is 

fragmented, but in some industries, such as renewable energy and railways, 

a relatively small number of OEMs account for a large part of the market. 

The distributor channel is also globally fragmented, but varies from country 

to country.

Competitors are Schaeffler Group, Timken, NSK, NTN, JTEKT, Rothe Erde, 

Wafangdian Bearing Group, Minebea Mitsumi and C&U.

Industrial 

*  Total value of accessible bearings market
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MARKET  
VALUE*, SEK 

145–155 
BILLION

Bearings market 
development 2017  
+2 to 4%

Offering
SKF provides manufacturers of cars, light and heavy trucks, trailers, buses 

and two-wheelers with customized bearings, seals and related products for 

wheel-end, driveline, engine, e-powertrain, suspension and steering applica-

tions. The vehicle aftermarket is supplied with spare parts, both directly and 

indirectly, through a network of more than 10,000 distributors.

SKF’s position
SKF is a market leader in wheel-end solutions and has a strong position in 

application-driven powertrain solutions, requiring specific performance in 

terms of friction, weight and sealing solutions. In the aftermarket, SKF has 

built up a strong global position with its extensive distribution network.

Drivers
The car and light trucks market is driven by energy efficiency, reduction  

of emissions and electrification. The truck market is driven by total cost  

of owner ship, connectivity and integrated systems. The aftermarket is  
influenced by changing buying patterns, new channels, product performance 

and cost optimization.

Market characteristics 
The automotive OEM market is consolidated and is made up of a small num-

ber of large companies. By contrast, the vehicle aftermarket is fragmented. 

OEM manufacturers account for about 80% of the total bearings market, 

while the independent vehicle aftermarket accounts for the remainder. 

Competitors are Schaeffler Group, Timken, NSK, NTN, JTEKT, Iljin, C&U, 

 Wanxiang Qianchao, and Luoyang.

Automotive

31% of SKF’s  
net sales

*  Total value of accessible bearings market
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SKF overview
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How would you summarize the year? 
“SKF had a good 2017. It was a year characterized by strong 

demand in most markets. Our sales grew by more than 8 per-

cent organically to 78 billion SEK with strong growth in both 

our Industrial and Automotive businesses. Europe and Asia 

saw strong organic sales growth with 6 and 12 percent 

respec tively and in North America, sales grew by 8 percent. 

This was achieved through a lot of hard work combined with 

high general levels of industrial activity and a strong auto-

motive market.

The good sales development combined with good efforts to 

control costs resulted in a considerably improved performance. 

Our adjusted operating profit was 9.1 billion, an increase of 

SEK 1.6 billion compared to last year. Our adjusted operating 

margin also improved, to 11.7 percent (10.4). We delivered 

an improved performance in both our industrial business, with 

an adjusted operating margin of 13.7 percent (12.1), and in 

the automotive business delivering an adjusted operating 

profit margin of 7.2 percent (6.5). 

To strengthen the balance sheet remained a priority in 

2017. Cash flow generation was strong at 4.8 billion and we 

reduced our net debt by more than 2 billion, bringing the net 

debt to equity ratio down to 71 percent. During the last three-

year-period, we have reduced our net debt by 10 billion. The 

improvement has come from the strong cash flow and through 

divestments that have given a contribution of 4 billion.”

We want to be the undisputed 
leader in the bearing business.

2017 was a good year for SKF with strong demand in all main markets. During 
the year, we improved our profitability, delivered as always a solid cash flow 
and reduced our net debt. We launched many new innovations and increased 
our investments in automation and in research and development. We are well 
positioned for the future.

CEO Alrik Danielson

“ Innovation is the only insurance 
against irrelevance. It’s the only 
strategy that can give us long 
term success.” 
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How would you explain SKF’s strategy?
“Four priorities drive our strategy. Everything starts with 

understanding the customer and delivering products and 

 services that truly make a difference to them. It includes how 

we interact with customers in today’s digital transformation. 

It is about how we create delivery through new modern logis-

tics and production systems. It is about how we constantly 

drive cost competitiveness. It is about innovation  – the only 

insurance against irrelevance. Based on these four priorities 

we will maximize the long-term cash flow.” 

What are the main change drivers in the bearing industry?
“There are many interesting trends that are impacting our 

industry at this moment. Digitalization and connectivity enables 

new ways of interacting with customers and throughout the 

value chain, new manufacturing technologies and automation 

will drive changes in the value chain going forward. The in -

creasing demand from our customers’ applications also makes 

reliability of the bearing arrangements more demanding. Here 

new digital simulation tools open up new opportunities for 

product and application development. Electric and  connected 

vehicles are also opening up for new opportunities as the bear-

ings play an important role here.” 

How is your customer offering changing to meet  
this new environment? 
“The bearing as a product has been around for many years but 

it has constantly developed through innovation and many of 

these inventions come from SKF. With the possibilities that 

come with modern technology, I would argue that the bearing 

today is a less mature product than ten years ago. There are 

so many interesting things that we can do today! One clear 

development trend is the focus on application specific products 

where we, together with the customer, find a tailored solution 

to a specific use. A good example is our offering to Hanbell as 

described on page 13. 

Another interesting development is when we help our cus-

tomers to run their business as efficient as possible – providing 

them with reliable rotation. We can increase our customers’ 

productivity by providing a complete offering so that unplanned 

down-time can be avoided and maintenance costs lowered. 

Thereby enabling trouble free operations with low energy use 

and low total cost of ownership.”

In 2017 you launched new climate objectives,  
how do you see SKF’s sustainability work progressing?
“Saving energy and resources is very much part of what we do, 

after all we are obsessed to deliver reliable rotation to our 

customers with as low friction and energy losses as possible. 

We now step up our efforts to contribute to the UN Global 

Compact and the Sustainable Development Goals. As we 

hoped, when setting our new climate objectives, we continued 

to reduce our CO
2
 emissions relative to the size of the busi-

ness. Going forward, we will continue our efforts on increasing 

energy efficiency in our own operations and thereby save 

emissions and cost. We also continue our focus on com petition 

law, anti-corruption and other compliance areas.  During 2017 

SKF joined Transparency International Corporate Supporter’s 

Forum to strengthen our network in this area and to increase 

the impact of our anti-corruption work.”

How do you attract and keep talent? 
“A company is only as successful as the people that builds it. 

Being able to attract and keep talent is key, I’m convinced that 

we can offer a truly interesting work environment helping 

 customers to solve real problems in a global setting. You can 

read about some of our employees on pages 38–39.” 

How do you see demand developing in 2018?
“It is as always a difficult question but I feel that we are seeing 

a broad-based recovery in demand that started during the 

summer of 2016 and continued in 2017. Entering the first 

quarter of 2018, I expect to see continued growth in all 

regions, with particular strength in Asia and Europe.” 

  It is obvious, all our customers 
need reliable rotation.

SKF overview
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Digitalization
Digital transformation affects all 

parts of the value chain, from design 

and manufacturing to purchasing, 

maintenance and how companies 

go to market. This means shorter 

lead-times, smaller inventories and 

reduced costs, but also an increased 

need for employee skill development. 

Digitalization and  
connectivity
The ‘connectivity’ of data runs in all 

directions, and can be used in many 

ways. At its simplest, it connects a 

sensor to a remote diagnostics centre. 

However, the data – on the health of a 

bearing, for instance – can be fed right 

back to the design stage, and be used 

to help redesign a better product.

Population growth  
and increased wealth
The global population is growing, 

especially in rapidly developing econo-

mies. As the world prepares for 9–10 

billion people at mid-century, the 

pressure on scarce or finite re  sources 

such as materials, minerals, food, 

land, energy and water generates 

strong demand for efficiency and 

 productivity in all aspects.

Environmental impact
Increasing global concern about the 

negative impacts of climate change 

and environmental degradation calls 

for action to reduce or avoid these 

impacts, through legal or other stake-

holder means. Closely connected to 

digitalization and resource use, this 

pushes industry into new efficient 

business models less dependent on 

physical resources.

Industrial change drivers

New manufacturing  
technology
Digital technologies are contributing to 

revolutionize the speed and flexibility of 

manufacturing. Industry 4.0, or the 4th 

industrial revolution, is about reliability, 

safety and bottom-line productivity. 

It enables the elimination of process 

silos and the possibility to connect the 

entire value chain.

Globalization
Global trade of goods and services 

is under pressure while connectivity 

and information flow are increasing 

rapidly. Economic power continues to 

shift, particularly towards Asia. This 

calls for a region-by-region approach 

with manufacturing sales and technical 

knowledge close to customers. 

Electric and  
connected vehicles
The automotive industry is going 

through rapid transformation driven 

by electrification, autonomous drive, 

connectivity and shared mobility. 

SKF is developing solutions to support 

next-generation powertrain platforms 

in partnership with customers.

Urbanization
An increasing proportion of the 

global population live in cities. 

As this trend is expected to continue 

it creates demand for new and 

upgraded urban infrastructure and 

utilities, such as energy, water and 

transport.

 
Global trends

10 
BILLION  

PEOPLE AT 

MID-CENTURY



Value creation and strategic priorities

How SKF creates value

Strategic prioritiesResources

Create and capture customer value
Read more on page 12 

Application-driven innovation
Read more on page 14

World-class manufacturing
Read more on page 22

Cost competitiveness
Read more on page 26

Maximize cash flow over time
Read more on page 28

Sustainable business and operations 
Read more on page 42 

1
2
3

5
4

SKF 
Care

2
3

1
4
5

SKF 
Care

Values
•  Empowerment  •  Openness   

•  High Ethics  •  Teamwork

Mission
The undisputed leader  
in the bearing business

Global trends  
and drivers
Read more on page 9

Vision
A world of reliable  
rotation

Business relations
• 40 industries 

• 17,000 distributors worldwide

Intellectual resources
• 800 application engineers 

• 15 technology centres 

• R&D investments SEK 2.4 billion

Human resources
• 45,678 employees 

Financial resources
• Assets SEK 81 billion 

Natural resources
• 1,817 GWh energy 

• 600,000 tonnes metal

Manufacturing resources
• 103 manufacturing units 

• New investments SEK 2.2 billion

SKF Annual Report 201710



Strong customer offering Value created 

Total cost of ownership
The rotating equipment performance proposition meets the 

needs of customers who operate critical machinery, by maximizing 

the performance. Read about our customer Fibria on page 13.  

Objectives  
and results   
More on page 32

Right product, right cost, right time
The product proposition meets performance requirements

of specific parameters such as speed, load, noise or physical

environment. Read about our customer Hanbell on page 13. 

Innovations
• 196 invention disclosures 

• 192 first filings of patents 

• 18 new products and solutions 

Customer value
• Estimated customer savings  

SEK 2.7 billion

Financial value
• Adjusted operating profit SEK 9.1 billion 

• Cash flow after investments 

 before financing SEK 4.8 billion 

• Value reinvested in SKF 

 SEK 3.3 billion1) 

Employee value
• Benefits including social charges  

SEK 23.5 billion

• Safe workplaces focused on  

health and wellbeing  

Shareholder value
• Dividends SEK 2.6 billion

• Yield 3%

Societal value
• Corporate income taxes SEK 1.9 billion 

•  Enable sustainable development 

through customer solutions 

SKF Annual Report 2017 11

1) Net profit less proposed dividends.
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Value creation and strategic priorities

Create and capture  
customer value

SKF always prioritizes customer needs and sees a trend whereby the 
traditional transactional model of hardware sales is gradually being 
replaced by performance-based contracts with regard to functionality 
and value creation. 

Increased globalization, concerns about climate change and 

the accelerating digitalization of society are putting pressure 

on industrial companies to achieve greater productivity and 

efficiency along the entire value chain. Within SKF’s industry, 

there is increased competition from product offerings that 

focus on cost, while demand is growing for solutions that maxi-

mize machine functionality and uptime. These developments 

fit with SKF’s existing engineering skills and asset management 

approach. With a focus on new technology that provides best 

value for money, and activities aimed at digitalizing the entire 

value chain, SKF has accelerated its innovation efforts. This 

has resulted in two strategic value propositions: Products and 

Rotating Equipment Performance. On the one hand, SKF pro-

vides products that meet the customer’s specific performance 

requirements, delivered at the requested time, at a competitive 

cost. On the other hand, SKF provides additional solutions to 

help customers improve their rotating equipment performance. 

Here, customers seek to reduce operating costs and to run 

their machines on a trouble-free basis, with low energy use 

and low total cost of ownership.

 

Strategic priority
2

3
1

4
5

Accelerating customer value through digitalization

Original Equipment Manufacturers 

differentiate between performance 

and value offers, and enter into 

service business for new  revenue.

Offer seamless engineering tools 

and live product data, with most 

of the design process taking 

place virtually before contacting 

a supplier.

Direct Distributors are facing 

a disruption of the value chain from 

global e-marketplaces and need to 

find new ways to stay relevant.

Due to the global transparency  

of pricing and access to standard 

parts, distributors need more 

value added to their offering,  

e.g. through digitalization.

End-users need to further 

increase efficiency and quality 

and want their suppliers to sell 

performance rather than goods.

With everything connected, shared 

information and fast action are 

 possible. This will meet end-users 

expectations of performance and 

savings, and give proof that these 

are reached.

OEM DD
END-
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Customer Fibria
Focus on performance 
The cooperation with the Brazilian pulp 

company Fibria goes back 15 years. 

SKF has helped the customer to virtually 

eliminate unplanned downtime caused 

by bearing problems. Now, through the 

advantages of digitalization, SKF is 

maxi mizing performance in other areas 

like environment, health and safety, 

productivity and enhanced data driven 

decision making. 

The Product proposition 

The Rotating Equipment Performance proposition

Hanbell is one of the leading players within 

the air compressor and chiller industry in 

China. Since 2011, due to the demand for 

more efficient and economic products, 

Hanbell has extended its product range 

from high-end (AA model) to include 

medium- and low-end (AB/AC models). 

SKF has a strong position supplying the 

premium range of bearings at Hanbell, but 

with their adjusted strategy, SKF was losing 

market share due to lack of fit-for-purpose 

products for AB/AC models. The SKF sales 

team managed to turn the situation by 

gaining full understanding of this market 

trend and the exact customer needs. To 

meet Hanbell’s specific performance 

requirements for their various products, 

the sales team leveraged the entire SKF 

value chain and capabilities, making SKF 

a full-range partner to  Hanbell, offering 

not only bearings for compressors, but also 

condition-monitoring services and seals. 

Customer Hanbell
Full-range solution 

The main component in the compressor 

is the twin rotors, whose quality influence 

compressor performance.
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Value creation and strategic priorities

Application-driven innovation
By developing innovative new solutions with the customer’s needs in focus, 
SKF helps customers to be more competitive. A more flexible, efficient and 
 customer-focused approach gives SKF a strong competitive advantage.

Most customers want products that perform according to 

what is expected of them, no more, and no less. To deliver such 

products, innovation and development must start from the 

application and a deep understanding of what, exactly, is 

needed of the product and what can be taken away. This is 

“application-driven innovation”. Since 1907, SKF’s organization 

has been continuously adjusted to serve customers in the best 

way, with strong focus on the two main markets – the industrial 

and automotive markets. In the industrial market, the focus is 

on application-driven innovation. In some cases, SKF can meet 

these needs with catalogue products, while in other cases, 

solutions specifically targeted at the application need to be 

developed. This requires excellent application engineering and 

access to substantial amounts of field data, as well as cutting- 

edge engineering design tools. These are typical areas where 

SKF is ahead of the competition. Having an industrial customer 

base which spans the globe requires different solutions, to 

meet the needs of each industry and geographical area. To this 

end, SKF has created an application competence centre with 

highly specialized and digitalized know-how, assisting front-

line engineering all over the world. This means that customers 

in every country can tap in to SKF’s engineering knowledge 

and receive insights from all over the world. 

Simulation and testing increase confidence
SKF’s new test centre for large-size bearings in Schweinfurt, 

Germany – an investment worth EUR 40 million – was opened 

in 2017. The centre is key to accelerated application-driven 

innovation and is the first in the world to test large-size bear-

ings under actual operating conditions. For customers, this 

gives a more efficient development process, improved bearing 

performance and longer service life. Real, full-scale application 

tests in these large test-rigs are conducted for customers in 

the wind- and heavy process industries like paper and metals. 

In addition to verifying product performance, the centre is also 

used to validate SKF’s engineering simulation software, 

besides testing sensors and algorithms for data analysis. 

SKF has fifteen Technology Centres around the world, close 

to customers. The centres are home to product, software and 

service development teams that work together and serve global 

and local customers. 

Reliable deliveries of products across the globe
SKF has the largest distributor network in its industry, reaching 

over 50,000 customer facilities with short lead times. Customers 

are provided with timely and reliable deliveries, easy access to 

a wide range of products and advanced technical expertise and 

services, 24/7. SKF’s distributors and large OEMs can purchase 

SKF’s products through Electronic Data Interchange or web 

shops, which increases the speed and accuracy of business 

communication and improves overall  efficiency on both sides. 

Condition monitoring of the future
The market for products and services related to condition 

monitoring is experiencing rapid growth. SKF has been 

a leader in this area since the 90s and conducts research 

in partnership with Luleå University of Technology. In Gothen-

burg, SKF runs software development projects for data 

 collection and analysis for today’s and tomorrow’s users. 

To make condition monitoring more efficient and accessible 

to more users, SKF has launched a number of new digital 

 platforms and products that enable the processing of large 

amounts of data. This facilitates the development of new busi-

ness models, whereby SKF assumes responsibility for opera-

tional efficiency and receives ongoing compensation in return. 

Strategic priority
23

1
4
5
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3rd 4th1st 2nd

Mechanization,  
water power,  
steam power

Mass production,  
assembly lines, 
electricity

Computers and 
automation

Cyber physical  
systems

Industry 4.0, or the 4th industrial revolution, is a 

collective term embracing a number of contempo-

rary automation, data exchange and manufacturing 

technologies. It essentially focuses on the connectiv-

ity between people and “things”, collecting and using 

digitalized information for better decision making 

and machine-to-machine interaction. SKF is at the 

forefront of this area. 

SKF and Industry 4.0

By using SKF technologies to connect, collect  

and analyze critical data from customers’ machines, 

events can be predicted and performance optimized. 

By integrating and collaborating with the customers’ 

enterprise systems, these information flows can 

also automatically drive SKF’s processes, such as 

production planning, purchasing and production 

development.
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Value creation and strategic priorities

Bearing environments 

Many end-user customers operate very 

expensive machines and they need them to be 

more productive. SKF’s condition monitoring 

IT platform is tailored to user needs and can 

be integrated with the customer’s planning 

and maintenance  processes.

Tools for monitoring

To make condition monitoring more 

 efficient and accessible to more users, 

SKF has launched a number of new digi-

tal platforms and products that enable 

the processing of large amounts of data.

One million bearings monitored daily
Over a million bearings in a large number of industries are cur-

rently monitored using cloud solutions. This takes place from 

ten Remote Diagnostic Centres deployed across all time zones. 

Data is collected continuously for filtering with proprietary 

algorithms and analysis by SKF’s experts. The analysis leads to 

recommendations to prevent machine failures and timely main-

tenance to avoid production downtime. SKF has monitored 

customers’ equipment for over 15 years, increasing its know-

ledge of critical product and system needs, which allows for 

faster and more accurate development of new products and 

solutions. 

Partnership for wider use
The facility to analyze a broader and more varied data volume 

allows for further performance improvements in customer 

processes. In collaboration with the US company Honeywell 

Process Solutions, SKF is participating in a pilot project aimed 

at developing solutions within the Industrial Internet of Things 

(IIoT). At a copper mine in Latin America, routine data from 

SKF’s condition monitoring is combined with Honeywell’s pro-

cess data on machine speed and different control parameters. 

The combination of data streams helps the customer to make 

even more reliable decisions about maintenance and asset 

The SKF digital 
 ecosystem

SKF’s mission is to grow its core business by delivering a simple digital ecosystem that 
enables SKF to connect all of the relevant data needed to provide right knowledge at 
the right time, for the right users. By doing this SKF helps its customers improve their 
efficiency, output, and performance in the most efficient way.
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SKF Cloud 

Data and diagnostic requests can be 

sent directly to the SKF cloud, for 

expert analysis by the global SKF 

Remote Diagnostic Centre  network.

SKF’s analysis

SKF experts analyze the data and generate 
reports that give customers the earliest 
possible warning of conditions that could 
eventually cause costly bearing damage. 
In addition, data from bearings in a large 
number of industries is collected continu-
ously for filtering with proprietary algo-
rithms and analysis.

performance. The goal of the partnership with Honeywell is 

to develop a user-friendly digital ecosystem that consolidates 

and analyzes large amounts of data from a plant’s machines. 

Based on the analysis, operators can decide on methods to 

reduce or even eliminate unscheduled downtime and improve 

efficiency. 

Partnership with Siemens and Bombardier
Bearing design and integration expertise from SKF has helped 

Siemens and Bombardier to create a new generation of reliable, 

highly efficient passenger trains for Deutsche Bahn. SKF has 

been involved in the EUR 6 billion project since 2012, working 

directly with Siemens, the manufacturer of the new train, and 

Bombardier, the supplier of trailer bogies and coaches. Each 

component used on the train must meet the strictest safety 

requirements and Deutsche Bahn requires full control of its 

operating costs. SKF has developed a special tapered roller 

bearing unit for the trailer bogies with integrated sensors to 

monitor the speed and direction of rotation of each wheelset. 

The signals from the sensors are used to control the train’s 

braking system and have been tailored to suit the customer’s 

needs. 

New business models 

SKF assumes responsibility for operational 

 efficiency and receives long-term performance -

based remuneration. 

Increased customer value 

SKF makes recommendations to prevent machine 

failures and to perform timely maintenance to avoid 

production downtime. 
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70 years with SKF bearings in Scuderia Ferrari

Service packages provide new revenue models
SKF has launched new innovative maintenance service pack-

ages that will help manufacturers and users of rotating equip-

ment to excel in their sectors and integrate technologies to 

enhance their business success. SKF Premium Programme 

makes it easier for SKF’s bearing customers to identify their 

maintenance and operating needs. The subscription-based 

model allows the customer to maximize the reliability of SKF’s 

bearings and their assets without the need to make capital 

investments. 

SKF Rotation For Life  (RFL) guarantees the reliability and 

availability of selected critical rotating machinery assets, 

reducing the total cost of ownership for the customer over an 

agreed contractual period.  Service packages function as gate-

ways to new business  models where SKF is remunerated for 

the value its solutions create, and where  customers pay for 

productivity, rather than products. In 2017, SKF signed a five-

year Rotation For Life contract with Zink gruvan Mining of 

 Sweden. SKF is responsible for condition monitoring of four 

units at one of Zinkgruvan’s dressing facilities. The company 

pays SKF a variable annual fee based on whether the business 

reaches its productivity targets. Both packages are designed to 

help SKF bearing customers develop their digital and IIoT strate-

gies without any demand for capital investment programmes.

Measurable benefits for customers
SKF has collected around 76,700 approved cases that show 

estimated value in over 25 industries. Between 2003 and 2017, 

SKF contributed with SEK 42 billion in savings approved by 

customers. For 2017, the savings amounted to SEK 2.7 billion. 

SKF has a close cooperation with Scuderia  Ferrari 

since 70 years, providing the bearings expertise 

and all customized products that fit into the 

 chassis. Ranging from low friction and compact-

ness to higher toughness and extended life. 

SKF’s competence in materials like ceramics, 

special steels, lubricants and coatings as well as 

in testing and condition monitoring are essential 

in providing the top end bearing performance 

needed in Formula 1 components.
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New digital platforms and  products 
for condition monitoring

SKF IMx8  
The new 8-channel version is designed to be versatile 

and to suit all types of industries. It also meets the 

stringent wind power and marine industry require-

ments. The unit is small, easy to install and can be 

mounted near the equipment to be monitored, such 

as small steering propellers on vessels or directly 

powered wind turbines. The IMx8 fills a gap in the 

market and offers new properties and features, as 

well as providing high flexibility for a wider user 

group in the industry.

SKF QuickCollect sensor  
SKF QuickCollect is a sensor that measures machine vibrations 

and temperatures. The data is transmitted wirelessly to a 

mobile device, on which the QuickCollect app can perform 

machine diagnostics for storage and analysis. With the SKF 

DataCollect app, it is possible to conduct a more comprehen-

sive analysis, and to manage and monitor maintenance control 

and inspection data. The information can also be stored in 

SKF’s cloud for access to SKF’s expert remote monitoring 

 services. No special knowledge is needed to use QuickCollect. 

It gives quick, accurate measurements, providing the user 

with an analysis of multiple machines in real time. 

SKF Enlight Centre 
SKF Enlight Centre is a 

first-of-its-kind, asset 

based machine health 

monitoring system, 

 featuring a  radically 

 simplified user interface, designed for use by engineers and 

decision makers throughout the marine sector. The goal is to 

roll out this comprehensive, standardized machine condition 

monitoring offering across all sectors of industry and trans-

port, where remote monitoring and operation are required. 

SKF Insight
SKF Insight sensor technology has been 

 customized for applications in wind power, 

rail and heavy industry, and means that data 

can be transmitted wirelessly from machines, 

even in tough environments. The system 

 collects bearings data, which it transfers to 

the SKF Enlight Centre for remote diagnostics 

and rapid analysis of mechanical problems. 

Even in a noisy environment, the wireless 

sensor detects vibration anomalies and sends 

precise data for further remote sensing 

when needed. 
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Many railway operators use digitali-

zation as an enabler for efficient and 

cost-effective maintenance. All vehi-

cles are equipped with bearings and 

many of them could now also be 

equipped with SKF Insight Rail, a fully 

wireless condition monitoring system 

that features a small sensor, easily 

retrofitted onto each wheel set bear-

ing. The sensor measures bearing 

vibration and temperature. It identi-

fies which bearing has an issue and 

how severe it is, and then recom-

mends what action to take. This helps 

operators to plan main tenance activi-

ties based on real  conditions instead 

of assumptions, thereby avoiding 

unpleasant surprises and utilizing 

the full potential of their bearings. 

Digitalization 
in the railway 
industry 
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World-class manufacturing
SKF continues to accelerate investments in world-class manufacturing 
as one of the Group’s top priorities. The focus is on the end-to-end 
value chain from suppliers to customers and on digitally connecting 
this chain in order to increase transparency for better, faster and 
more effective decisions.

For SKF, world-class manufacturing means having the 

 leanest, safest, most flexible and most cost-efficient manu-

facturing and logistics processes. The aim is to achieve zero- 

defect delivery, at the right time, at the lowest possible cost 

and in a completely safe environment.

With the formation of the Bearing Operations organization, 

SKF is working to leverage synergies with a focused end-to-

end set-up whereby the purchasing and logistics operations 

work with a worldwide network of manufacturing units clus-

tered by global product lines, while a global manufacturing and 

process development team focuses on technology development, 

digital transformation and footprint.

SKF is moving towards an integrated system, capable of per-

forming real-time analyses and assessments of future needs. 

This means that products are manufactured and delivered at 

the right time to ensure uninterrupted production, both inside 

SKF factories and at the customers’ premises. 

Technology is rapidly opening up new opportunities and 

SKF’s manufacturing operations will gain a much higher degree 

of automation and intelligence, enabling it to increase both 

flexibility and reliability at a reduced cost. 

First milestone
With the opening and ramping-up of its fully automated digital 

production channel for spherical roller bearings in Gothenburg, 

SKF has reached a new milestone in its quest for world-class 

manufacturing during 2017. This is the first unit of its kind 

in SKF’s long-term programme to introduce next-generation 

manufacturing technology at all major production units in the 

Group. The new technology among other things enables full 

traceability of the manufacturing process steps, a reduced 

resetting time from several hours to minutes, and the 

 elimination of manned forklift traffic, giving a significant 

 productivity improvement.

In 2017, SKF accelerated its world-class manufacturing 

investments, with the future aim of running five to six parallel 

projects.

The strategy for achieving world-class manufacturing covers 

four areas: SKF Production System, Input Cost Reduction, 

Technology Step-up and Manufacturing and Logistics Foot-

print.

1   SKF Production System 
The SKF Production System is the basis for transforming pro-

duction practices towards lean manufacturing. The goal is 

to create a process and culture of continuous improvements 

involving each and every employee across all operational units, 

based on the lean principles for a cost-effective flow. Focusing 

on the value of a product or service, as defined by the custom-

ers, is the first fundamental principle of the production system. 

Safety, Quality, Delivery, Cost, Working climate and the Environ-

ment have been set out as lean priorities to maximize customer 

value and minimize waste.

Several factories have achieved significant improvements in 

output, inventory reduction and scrapping rates with the SKF 

Production System. As a clear recognition of this leadership and 

commitment, the factory in Pune, India, received the prestigious 

Frost and Sullivan Platinum Award for India Manufacturing. 

45 factories are on the same journey as Pune and are imple-

menting the SKF Production System. The aim is for all main 

bearing factories to have commenced deployment of the system 

by 2019. 

The continuous focus on and development of current and 

future competence is also key to achieving world-class manu-

facturing in the factories. SKF’s Manufacturing Academy 

 continues to focus on multi-skill development via its learning 

centres and on the job training. 

Strategic priority
2

1

34
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2   Input cost reduction 
Input cost reduction is mainly aimed at optimizing the costs 

of direct materials. One of the focus areas is integrated cost 

reduction, which concerns setting the right specifications for 

the design of SKF products and processes, according to cus-

tomer and application needs, combined with sourcing optimi-

zation of components and materials, including development of 

alternative and innovative materials and supplier processes.

SKF’s purchasing of goods and services focuses on total 

cost, and considers the end-to-end supply chain. It improves 

the identification of cost and waste drivers and eliminates 

non-value-adding work. 

3   Technology step-up 
Taking the step to world-class manufacturing requires the 

right equipment and processes to enable higher efficiency with 

 flexible output in a trouble-free operation. A paperless environ-

ment, with first-time quality thanks to real-time performance 

monitoring, full traceability from suppliers to finished goods 

delivery, and a high robotization level, is becoming our new 

standard. In addition to the previously mentioned focus on 

digitalization of processes, the Manufacturing Development 

team works on other technologies that give competitive advan-

tages. Examples include more cost-effective materials, tech-

nology for advanced traceability and quality control, and the 

improved precision or performance of the final products. The 

work is conducted in three focus areas:

Standardization drives the identification and systematic use 

of the best technical solutions for achieving a given process 

function. The actions range from establishing a standardized 

way of designing new plants to the standardization of technol-

ogies and components used in specific machines. 

Maintenance Excellence aims at increasing machine  

uptime by implementing reliable solutions in the manufac-

turing operations. This ensures that machines produce the 

right quality at the right speed according to customer demand. 

As bearing manufacturing is a capital-intensive operation, 

even small improvements can have a significant effect on 

earnings. High process stability in all operations is key to 

autonomous production. 

Flexibility is about defining the technology setup best suited 

to market demands. This can range from a high-volume setup, 

producing millions of the same item, to a super-flexible setup, 

producing individual parts for a specific application or numeri-

cally controlled manufacturing with zero resetting for low to 

medium volume. The various setups require different 

approaches – for example, how machines are re-set when 

moving from producing one type of item to another. 

Over the last few years, SKF has established a number of 

Machine Centre of Excellence (MCE) units. The MCE’s play a  

key role in technology step-up and act as an interface between 

manufacturing development and the factories, ensuring fast 

and cost-effective industrialization of new and innovative 

technologies. The existing MCE units are located in Gothenburg, 

Sweden, Airasca, Italy, St-Cyr-sur-Loire, France, and Shanghai, 

China. Additional MCEs will be established in the coming years.

Additional initiatives focus on our core process technology and 

latest developments such as the digitalization of our legacy 

equipment, leveraging new investments with the latest artificial 

intelligence technology, and increasing connectivity between 

people and “things” for improved decision making on the shop 

floor.

Digitalization end-to-end  enables stock reduction 

3 months Manufacturing load time

St
oc

k

Customer ordering point1 week

Now Future

VISION:
ZERO STOCK

SUPPLY 
CHAIN

The digitalization within manufacturing 

has only just started. SKF is gearing 

up for a future in which smart products 

predict upcoming failures and auto-

matically order any replacements 

needed. Since a smart sensor can 

already diagnose itself, it is not 

hard to imagine that it might send an 

automated message all the way back 

through the supply chain. This extends 

the “ just in time” manufacturing con-

cept down to the individual component 

– and could one day bring stock levels 

close to zero. 



25SKF Annual Report 2017

4   Manufacturing and logistics footprint 
The manufacturing and logistics footprint is constantly opti-

mized in order to serve customers in the most effective way. 

The strategic direction is a region-by-region approach, with 

manufacturing and suppliers closer to customers, which enables 

a responsive, cost efficient supply chain with limited shipping 

of products and hence reduced environmental impact.

The logistics and demand chain ensures efficient manage-

ment of the flow of components and goods from suppliers to 

SKF, and from SKF to its customers. SKF currently reaches 

over 50,000 customer sites, with short lead times, through 

its global transportation network and local and regional 

 warehouses. SKF has invested in several modernization and 

digitalization projects in the logistics area, such as the flexible 

SateLight warehouse solution in Europe and a new, highly- 

automated miniload system in its European Distribution Centre 

in Belgium. 

Another project has been conducted in India, aimed at revital-

izing the logistics system by consolidating several stocking 

points and creating an optimized transport network through 

global processes and systems. The logistics investments com-

plement SKF’s focus on modernizing and digitalizing manufac-

turing operations. The more flexible and digitalized manufac-

turing, logistics and warehouse base gives SKF and its 

customers increased competitive advantages.

Global certification 
SKF has introduced global certification for quality management 

in accordance with ISO 9001 and, where required by the 

 markets, in accordance with ISO/TS 16949 (for automotive), 

AS 9100 (for aerospace) and IRIS (for railways). Environment, 

Large investments

health and safety are essential issues in SKF’s manufacturing 

and associated operations, and the Group is certified in accord-

ance with ISO 14001 (environment), OHSAS 18001 (health 

and safety) and ISO 50001 (energy management). 

During 2017, SKF achieved Group certification in accordance 

with the significantly revised ISO 9001:2015 standard. SKF is 

also on track to update and certify its management systems 

and practices in accordance with the significant changes intro-

duced in ISO 14001:2015, IATF 16949 (replacement for ISO 

16949) and other related standards. All relevant units are 

 covered by this global certification, and recently acquired 

 companies are given a timeframe for implementing the man-

agement system. The environment, health and safety certi-

fication covered 113 sites in 35 countries at the end of 2017. 

The schedule for recently acquired companies and newly 

started units can be found at skf.com/14001.

Quality
As part of the efforts to enhance customer satisfaction and to 

strengthen the continuous improvement process, a programme 

is in progress aimed at upgrading the customer complaint han-

dling process, which is significantly improving the quality and 

lead time for responses to customer complaints. 

Accident-free working environment 
The belief that accidents are preventable and that an accident- 

free working environment is achievable has brought significant 

progress over the years. The aim is to eliminate all work-related 

accidents. The accident rate fell to 0.85 (0.87) in 2017. See 

page 135 for more on occupational health and safety and 

pages 131–134 for more on environmental performance. 

• Upgrading of machines and processes in Flowery 

Branch and Hanover, USA. 

• Modernization of the large-size bearing and 

cylindrical roller bearing production in 

Schweinfurt, Germany. 

• Restructuring and upgrading of the facilities 

and investment in roller manufacturing in 

Poznan, Poland.

• Expansion of capacity at the Nilai factory 

in Malaysia.

• Assembly to order for DGBB manufacturing in 

St-Cyr-sur-Loire, France.

• Extension of manufacturing capacity for wheel 

bearings for passenger cars, to meet the grow-

ing demand in Asia and in Americas.
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Cost competitiveness 
Having a strong cost focus throughout the full value chain strengthens 
SKF’s competitiveness. This includes continuous optimization of existing 
resources, step-up investments in new technology and accelerated 
 digitalization of key processes.

Value for money and reliable processes are crucial factors 

for SKF’s customers as they encounter increased competition 

and new needs in a changing market. Naturally, SKF ensures 

that its own processes meet the highest possible standards 

and continuously invests in measures to reduce costs and 

increase productivity. These efforts encompass the entire 

value chain, from innovation to sourcing, manufacturing, 

sales and distribution. A key component is the creation of an 

optimum structure for each individual region, focusing on 

developing, producing and sourcing more locally in order to 

meet customers’ requirements for increased flexibility and 

shorter lead times. SKF has increased its investments in new 

technology and the digitalization of different processes in 

order to further increase operational efficiency. 

Stable fixed costs
Since the end of 2015, the number of employees at SKF has 

declined by almost 1,000, mainly in administration. Signifi-

cantly higher demand for SKF’s products in 2017 resulted 

in increased staffing needs in production. At the same time, 

the process of merging production units and optimizing the 

Group’s sales organization to reduce the fixed cost structure 

continued. At the end of 2017, SKF’s fixed costs were at the 

same level as at the end of 2014. In 2017, SKF’s total restruc-

turing costs amounted to approximately SEK 328 million, 

which includes costs associated with ongoing factory consoli-

dation in North America and Europe. 

ERP system for higher growth
The first large-scale implementation of SKF’s new ERP system, 

Unite, was conducted in Sweden and Finland at the beginning 

of the year. The system will increase  SKF’s competitiveness 

through best practice processes to increase business efficiency 

and growth. Unite encompasses all critical business processes 

and is being introduced progressively in the Group. 

Expenses associated with Unite were SEK 820 million in 

2017. SEK 700 million of this amount was recognized as a cost, 

while SEK 120 million was capitalized as an investment. 

Innovation
SKF’s development of innovative new products and services is 

aimed at increasing customers’ competitiveness. Digitalization 

has also become increasingly important in SKF’s product devel-

opment, eg. by using cloud services for real-time monitoring 

and analysis of SKF’s bearings in the  customers’ processes. 

This provides an opportunity to develop new products targeted 

at individual machinery. Knowing conditions and performance 

through live data analysis, optimizing sourcing and challenging 

product specifications, allows SKF to find the right solution for 

the customer at the right cost without over-engineering. The 

application-specific requirements drive the technical solution 

to meet the exact needs, so that customers receive the perfor-

mance they need, not more and not less. 

Purchasing 
SKF works strategically with its suppliers to optimize the full 

value chain, and suppliers must fulfil SKF’s Quality, Cost, 

 Delivery, Innovation and Management (QCDIM) requirements. 

Initiatives are being conducted in close cooperation with key 

suppliers to ensure that the products are well suited for the 

applications and the environment in which they are used.

Strategic priority
2

15
4 3
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SAP-Ariba is being rolled out globally to further accelerate 

SKF’s global strategic sourcing for both direct and indirect 

material and is now live in nine countries. 

SKF’s responsible sourcing programme is part of the sup-

plier development system and is designed to ensure effective 

application of the SKF code of conduct for suppliers and sub-

contrac tors. For more information on the governance and 

management approach, see Sustainability statements on 

page 141.

SKF has been driving the issue of key energy-intensive sup-

pliers to be certified under the ISO 50001 energy management 

standard. SKF will also monitor the proportion of suppliers 

certified under ISO 50001 as part of its new 2025 climate 

 targets. At the end of 2017, 73% of key suppliers were certified. 

Manufacturing 
The consolidation of production units in the United States and 

China, which began in 2016, continued in 2017 and is expected 

to generate annual cost savings of approximately SEK 270 mil-

lion from 2019. In 2017 SKF announced an expansion of the 

existing sealing solution site in Salt Lake City, Utah, while closing 

the factory in Seneca, Kansas. SKF has increased manufactur-

ing investments, mainly driven by cost, flexibility and addition 

of new capacity to follow the strong market demand. Important 

components of the initiatives include upgrading of critical 

manufacturing technology, optimization of the manufacturing 

capacity utilization and continuing digitalization of production 

processes. Read more about manufacturing on pages 22–25.

Logistics 
SKF is investing significantly in its logistics structure around 

the world, with the primary goal of improving the customer 

delivery service, while enhancing capacity and cost efficiency. 

In India, a new distribution centre has been in place since 2016, 

enabling the closure of several branch warehouses during the 

year resulting in improved service and availability. Service and 

cost efficiency to serve the North-East Asia markets have 

improved with the full utilization of the Regional Distribution 

Centre in Shanghai, China. In Europe, the European Distribu-

tion Centre in Belgium has further increased its capacity for 

the Mini- Load system, a highly efficient and automated goods 

retrieval system with quadrupled productivity that is well-

suited to meet the market trend of an increased number of 

smaller order lines. SKF’s main European Factory Warehouses 

are currently being upgraded with a planned commissioning 

date in the second half of 2018. In North America, the merger 

of two distribution centres initiated last year has now been 

fully finalized. 

Sales and marketing
Work on cost optimization in SKF’s sales organization continued. 

The fixed cost structure is under evaluation, resulting in the 

consolidation and closure of offices, rationalization of organi-

zational structures and a market activity review. 

The European Distribution Centre 

in Belgium has further increased its 

capacity for the Mini-Load system, 

a highly efficient and automated goods 

retrieval system with quadrupled 

 productivity.
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Maximizing cash flow over time
Strategic priority

2
15

34

A key aim of SKF’s strategic priorities is to contribute to a strong balance 
sheet and the ability to generate a high cash flow over time. This in turn  
creates resources for investment in future growth, while generating good 
returns for shareholders. 

SKF’s underlying cash flow generation remains robust. Cash 

flow after investments before financing excluding acquisitions 

and divestments amounted to SEK 4.2 billion in 2017, a slight 

decrease compared with the previous year. This is largely due to 

a higher operating profit, offset by the need for working capital 

to continue to serve customers well in the strong business cycle 

as well as strategic investments in cost-reducing activities, flex-

ibility and new capacity. 

Working capital
To create a strong underlying cash flow, it is important to man-

age working capital – inventories, trade receivables and trade 

payables – as efficiently as possible. SKF’s target is to improve 

net working capital to a maximum of 25% of sales. The target 

will be achieved by reducing the number of inventory and trade 

receivable days and increasing the number of trade payable 

days. 

Inventories 
Bearing Operations, an organization introduced in 2016 to 

integrate the Group’s purchasing, manufacturing and logistics 

operations, is contributing to an end-to-end visibility, faster 

reaction times and increased flexibility along the supply chain. 

This allows for lower costs, improved service and greater scope 

for reducing tied-up capital compared to volume. Activities in 

2017 have helped to decrease the average number of days that 

products are kept in stock. However, higher customer demand 

has resulted in an increased total inventory value compared 

with the previous year. 

Trade receivables 
SKF works in a focused way to reduce the number of out-

standing receivable days and reduce overdue payments. 

The introduction of a common collection process, handled by 

an external party, the standardization of processes, a new 

credit policy, and the increasing role of incentive programmes 

in sales all contributed to reducing the number of outstanding 

receivable days in 2017. Since its introduction in 2015, total 

late payments have been decreased by 4% on average.

Trade payables
SKF has continued the successful implementation of a supply 

chain financing programme with an external partner during 

2017. The combination of the programme and improved global 

purchasing payment terms has increased the number of pay-

ment days, and around SEK 1.25 billion has been released 

since the programme was introduced in November 2014.

Investments 
SKF invests in increased efficiency and automation in order to 

reduce production costs. 39% of total approved investments in 

2017 were related to this area. One of SKF’s key investment 

projects is the modernization of the large-size bearing produc-

tion in Schweinfurt, Germany. In total, SKF has announced 

investments of SEK 295 million to upgrade production channels, 

halve production lead times and improve competitiveness. This 

investment is expected to be completed  during 2018. Further 

investments totalling SEK 150 million are being made to 

upgrade machinery and manufacturing  processes in Hanover 

and Flowery Branch, North America. In response to demand 

for flexible production capacity that can handle shorter lead 

times, investment in SKF’s  factory in St-Cyr-sur-Loire, France, 

has also been initiated. R&D expenditure in 2017, excluding 

the development of IT solutions, amounted to SEK 2.4 billion, 

corresponding to 3.1% of sales, which is an increase of SEK 150 

million from 2016.
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Divestments 
Reelcraft, a manufacturer of hose cord and cable reels for 

industrial applications, was divested in 2017, generating a 

positive cash flow of SEK 625 million after tax. A total of SEK 

4 billion has been generated from divestments of non-core 

operations over the last three years.

Financing
Some of the cash flow generated is used to reduce outstanding 

loans, thereby strengthening SKF’s financial position. Loans 

totalling SEK 3.1 billion, net, were repaid in 2017, resulting in a 

net debt/equity ratio of 71.3% (84.4) at year-end, which meets 

the target of a net debt/equity ratio of no more than 80%.

Dividend
The Annual General Meeting 2017 adopted a dividend 

of SEK 5.50 per share and a total of SEK 2.5 billion was 

 distributed to shareholders in April 2017, corresponding to 

60% of net income for 2016. 
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SKF has won a substantial order from 

Volkswagen to deliver bearings for 

their strategically important MEB, 

all-electric vehicle powertrain plat-

form, as well as their new manual 

gearbox project. The MEB platform 

will form the basis for all of Volks-

wagen’s future two-wheel and four-

wheel drive e-vehicle development 

and the plan is to launch up to 50 pure 

e-car models by 2025. The contract 

confirms SKF’s leadership as a bear-

ings supplier to the electric vehicle 

(EV) manufacturing sector and 

strengthens the relationship with 

Volkswagen as their preferred bear-

ings supplier for EVs. SKF will deliver 

an estimated 500,000 units per year, 

commencing in November 2019.

All-electric  
vehicle 
 powertrain 
platform
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Objectives and results 

SKF’s financial targets were introduced in 2016 and are to be achieved over a business cycle. 

 Performance indicators for several of the financial targets were improved in 2017, partly driven 

by stronger demand in the bearings market and partly as a result of SKF’s various strategic 

 initiatives to increase competitiveness and develop the offering.

Financial targets

Organic growth 

Operating margin

Return on capital employed 

Net working  capital 

Net debt/equity 

Why
This shows the business’ ability to leverage 

on its existing strengths and competence 

and the attractiveness of the offer towards 

customers. Organic growth is generally less 

risky than growth through mergers and 

acquisitions and also demonstrates compet-

itiveness in the market.

Why
This measures the business’ ability to cover 

operational costs and generate profit in 

order to create value for shareholders. 

Why
This is an important indicator of performance 

over time and how efficiently a company can 

generate profit from its capital and there-

fore provides a more comprehensive evalua-

tion of profitability. 

Why
Efficient management of the net working 

capital is important for short-term liquidity 

and the financial health of the business. 

Why
The ratio measures the dependency on 

external funding and the ability to meet 

financial obligations on a long-term basis.  

A low ratio reduces the risk of financial 

default. 

Comments 2017
Organic sales increased by 8.2%.  

Sales increased in all markets, with 

the strongest development in North 

 America and Asia. 

Comments 2017
The operating margin was 11%, an improve-

ment of 0.6 percentage points from 2016. 

The operating margin was positively 

affected by higher sales volumes, while 

higher costs for the Unite ERP system and 

general cost inflation had a negative effect. 

Comments 2017
The return on capital employed was 14.2%, 

an improvement of 2.3 percentage points 

from 2016. 

Comments 2017
Net working capital was 29% of sales at 

year-end, a decrease compared with the 

previous year. Higher inventories to meet 

strong customer demand had an adverse 

effect, while fewer payment days and a 

lower share of late customer payments 

had a positive effect. 

Comments 2017
The net debt/equity ratio has continued to 

improve and was 71.3% at year-end, which 

was below the target. Some of the strong 

cash flow, including cash flow after contin-

uing disposals of non-core operations, has 

been used for loan repayments. 
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Starting in 2017, SKF is working towards new climate objectives for 2025. 

The objectives cover manufacturing, goods transport, customer solutions 

and raw materials. The quantitative objectives are in line with the reduction 

levels proposed in relevant climate research. 

Occupational safety and individual development for SKF’s people. 

Climate objectives 2025 

Social objectives 

SKFs bearing 
manufacturing 

Safety

Goods transport 

Personal  
development  

Customer solutions 

Raw materials  
and components 

Why
Energy use and related emissions is one of 

the most significant and direct ways that 

SKF can reduce its environmental impact. 

It can also reduce cost over time.

Why
SKF is convinced that work-related 

 accidents and illnesses can be prevented. 

This is why the target to eliminate all 

 accidents remains. 

Why
There is significant potential to reduce 

emissions from SKF’s goods transport, 

while at the same time improving cost 

efficiency.

Why
Individual development is needed to 

 enable SKF’s people to stay relevant in 

the changing employment market and 

deliver on the Group’s strategy.

Why
Life cycle studies show that the greatest 

impact is within the use phase of SKF’s 

solutions, when they are installed and 

used in customer applications.

Why
Raw material extraction and refinement 

have a significant impact from a lifecycle 

perspective.

Comments 2017
CO

2
 emissions per tonne of bearings sold 

decreased by 6% compared to baseline 2015. 

Emissions increased driven by higher output, 

but the percent increase in production output 

was significantly higher.

Comments 2017
The accident rate per 200,000 hours 

worked was 0.85.

Comments 2017
CO

2
 emission per tonne of shipped goods 

increased by 4% over baseline 2015. The main 

reason is the steep increase in customer 

demand, leading to more express shipments.

Comments 2017
In the most recent survey, covering the 

  employees active in the Group’s learning 

management system, 58% had individual 

goals and development plans.

Comments 2017
The total revenues from renewable energy, 

electric vehicles, the recycling industry and 

bearings remanufacturing services was 

SEK 4.5 billion.

Comments 2017
73% of the energy intensive major suppliers 

have been certified according to ISO 50001 

energy management standard by third parties. 

GOAL

–40%
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GOAL

ZERO
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GOAL

ALWAYS
DEVELOP

GOAL

–40%
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 customers

Support and enable 
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2
  emission reduc-

tions for the Group’s 
customers

Support CO
2
 emission 

reductions for the 
Group’s suppliers
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Investment case
SKF has a strong base for profitable and sustainable growth. In a rapidly 
changing market, driven by globalization and digitalization of the value 
chain, SKF is adapting its offering and business model to grow its market 
share, while increasing the overall market volume.

Strong brand and leading position 
SKF was founded in 1907 and is currently one of the strongest 

and most well-known global industrial brands. The Company is 

a leader in the global bearing industry with significant positions 

in a large number of customer industries such as automotive, 

railways, energy and industrial distribution. SKF has also built 

up the market’s most extensive distribution network with 

a total of 17,000 distributor locations. 
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Diversification for  
increased risk spreading
Diversification of both the offering and geographical 

and industrial distribution makes SKF less vulnerable 

to business cycles and crises. SKF focuses primarily 

on the functionality and performance of customers’ 

processes in over 40 industries around the world. 

Strategic investments  
in Industry 4.0
New opportunities for efficient data exchange, system 

connectivity and automation are strong drivers in the 

industry. SKF invests in technology development and 

cooperation that affect both its own business and the 

customer offering. Digitalization of the value chain 

using data exchange and automation increases relia-

bility, security and ultimately both SKF’s and custom-

ers’ earnings. Shorter lead times and the ability to 

deliver the right product at the right time give SKF 

competitive advantages in a market where speed and 

flexibility are becoming increasingly important. 

Increased investments  
for higher efficiency
SKF is allocating increasing resources to digitaliza-

tion and software development. In 2016 and 2017, 

SKF invested an average of 3.1% of its revenue in 

R&D, compared with an average of 2.6% in 2010 

–2015. SKF has also increased its investments in 

property, plant and equipment, with a clear focus 

on cost- efficiency and upgrading of manufacturing 

technologies. The investments amounted to SEK 1.9 

billion in 2016, increased to 2.2 billion in 2017 and is 

expected to increase to 2.4 billlion in 2018.

Strong cash flow provides 
resources for growth
A key component of SKF’s strategy is to create a strong 

balance sheet and to be able to maintain a high cash 

flow over time. This provides scope for investments in 

future growth and allows for better conditions to gen-

erate a good return for shareholders. Cash flow after 

investments, but before financing activities and acqui-

sitions and divestments, amounted to SEK 4.2 billion in 

2017. During the last three years, SKF has also released 

SEK 4 billion through the divestment of non-core oper-

ations, creating additional resources for activities such 

as development of the offering.

Unique comprehensive offering 
focusing on customer value
SKF has a unique comprehensive offering for rotating 

shafts for industry and the automotive sector, with exper-

tise in bearings, seals, mechatronics, services, condition 

monitoring, and lubrication systems. With a deep under-

standing of customers’ needs, SKF has the ability to con-

stantly develop innovative and value-creating products, 

solutions and services. To address changing demand in 

the market, SKF has developed two strategic value propo-

sitions: Products and Rotating Equipment Performance.  
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The share
SKF’s A and B shares are listed on NASDAQ Stockholm, Large Cap and are 
included in a large number of indexes. The price of the SKF B share increased 
by 9% during the year and the total return over the past five years was 32%.

On Nasdaq Stockholm the share price for the SKF A share 

increased by 9%, and at year-end the price was SEK 181.70 

(167.80). The lowest price paid was SEK 154.50 on 29 August, 

and the highest price paid was SEK 202.80 on 27 April.

The share price for the SKF B share increased by 9% and at 

year-end the price was SEK 182.20 (167.60). The lowest price 

paid was SEK 154.50 on 29 August and the highest price paid 

was SEK 203.20 on 27 April.

In 2017, the total number of SKF shares traded on Nasdaq 

Stockholm was 591,125,225. SKF’s B shares are also traded 

on Chi-X Europe Limited, Cboe Europe Equities and Turquoise. 

The total number of shares traded on these three market 

places combined in 2017 was 336,714,679. SKF’s ADRs are 

traded on the OTC market. 

Share conversion
Owners of A shares have an option to convert these to  

B shares. In 2017, 1,242,730 shares were converted.

A shares comprise 7.7% (8.0%) of the total number of shares. 

Dividend and total return 
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting 

that dividend of SEK 5.50 per share be paid for 2017, which is 

in line with SKF’s dividend policy. The total return from invest-

ing in the SKF A share over the past five years was 31% and for 

the SKF B share 32%. 

Ownership structure
SKF had 62,998 shareholders on 31 December 2017. Around 

47% of the share capital was owned by foreign investors, 

around 45% by Swedish companies, institutions and mutual 

funds and around 8% by private Swedish investors. Most of the 

shares owned by foreign investors are registered through 

 trustees, which means that the actual shareholders are not 

officially registered. 

FAM AB, wholly-owned by the three largest Wallenberg 

Foundations, is the only shareholder with a shareholding 

 representing more than 10% of the voting rights in SKF. 

Information to shareholders
Financial reports and further information about the share can 

be found at skf.com/investors or in the Investor Relations App. 

A list of the analysts who monitor SKF and the opportunity to 

subscribe to information from SKF is available on the website. 

Additional information
There are no regulations under Swedish law or under the Articles 

of Association limiting the transferability of SKF shares. Further-

more, to the best of SKF’s knowledge no agreements exist 

between shareholders limiting the right to transfer SKF shares 

(e.g. by preemption or first refusal clauses). No restrictions exist 

limiting the number of votes that each shareholder may cast at 

a shareholders’ meeting. There are no existing agreements 

between SKF and any Board member or employee, allowing 

them to receive compensation in the event of resignation, dis-

missal without cause, or termination of employment as a conse-

quence of a public takeover bid for the shares in AB SKF.

Sustainability Indexes
SKF is included in the FTSE4Good 

Index – one of the pioneering indices 

in responsible investment focusing on 

environmental, social and govern-

ance topics. The company is also 

included in Euronext Vigeo Index: 

Europe 120 – which includes Europe’s 

120 most advanced companies within environmental, social 

and governance performance. Additionally, the SKF B share was 

reconfirmed as a constituent of the Ethibel Sustainability Index 

(ESI) Excellence Europe since  September 2017.
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The ten largest shareholders sorted by voting rights 
Number  

of shares
Share 

 capital, %
Voting 

rights, %

FAM AB 61,936,151 13.6 28.9

Alecta Pensionförsäkring 8,452,552 1.9 3.7

Harris Associates 26,483,510 5.8 3.4

BlackRock 20,592,640 4.5 2.7

Livförsäkringsbolaget 

Skandia 2,865,467 0.6 2.3

AFA Försäkring 2,745,877 0.6 2.2

Swedbank Robur Fonder 13,715,325 3.0 1.8

SEB-Stiftelsen 1,500,000 0.3 1.7

SEB Trygg Liv 1,240,036 0.3 1.6

Didner & Gerge Fonder 11,844,548 2.6 1.5

Source: Monitor, Modular Finance as of 31 December 2017

Data per share
SEK per share  
unless otherwise stated 2017 2016

Earnings per share 12.02 8.75

Dividend per A and B share 5.501) 5.50

Total dividends, SEKm 2,504 2,504

Purchase price of B shares at  

year-end on NASDAQ Stockholm 182.2 167.6

Equity per share 62 57

Yield in percent (B) 3.01) 3.3

P/E ratio, B  

(share price/earnings per share) 15.2 19.2

Cash flow from operations,  

per share 14.1 15.7

Cash flow, after investments  

before financing, per share 10.44 16.95

1) According to the Board’s proposal for the year 2017.

B share Nasdaq Stockholm_PI 
(normalized against the B share )

A share Number of A shares traded, millionNumber of A shares traded, million Number of B shares traded, million

Price trend of SKF’s shares
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as reinvested from the ex dividend date. Total return is presented as  a 
percentage.
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We are SKF
SKF employs 45,678 people worldwide. The global presence and 
ambitious goals offer great opportunities for these people to 
grow. This section presents some of them and what they do.

Being part of a diverse global company such as SKF means 

connecting seamlessly with colleagues across borders and 

operational areas. It means developing people who know the 

business and context of SKF, but also bringing new people 

on-board with new sets of skills and mindsets. A prerequisite 

to attract employees and capitalize on diversity is to make sure 

everyone in SKF has equal opportunities to compete for jobs 

Terese Abrahamsson, SKF Sverige
Terese started at SKF in February 2017 

as a Project Manager within Industrial 

Digitalization and Solutions. 

She works on the development of the 

Enlight Centre digital platform. Terese 

has been working within IT for 16 years in 

 various roles. When asked what she will 

be doing in three years from now Terese’s 

answer is clear. “I’m still working at the 

fore-front of digitalization creating more 

value for the company as well as the 

 customer.” 

Fabio Fabri, SKF do Brasil
In 2004, Fabio started as trainee at SKF 

do Brasil communications. Today he leads 

a team of communication professionals as 

MarCom Manager for Latin America.

Looking into the future he wants to focus 

on people and creating high-performance 

teams in a multicultural and fast changing 

environment, but also being part of people’s 

development. 

“I believe that if you combine technology 

with people’s knowledge, everything is 

possible.”

Brian Zhang, SKF China 
Brian is Service Engineer Manager within 

the Industrial Sales Energy Team in China 

and he has been with SKF since 2010. His 

main responsibility is on-site service and 

handling requests from customers within 

the wind industry.

 In a changing world, you never know 

what is around the corner, but we know 

that we have to support our customers. 

“I will continue to help our customers 

to satisfy their needs.”

and has the possibilities for personal development. SKF aspires 

to have a working environment characterized by empowerment, 

high ethical standards, openness and teamwork. These values, 

together with constant focus on customers and their needs, 

enable SKF to deliver on its objectives and strategic priorities. 

Who are these people that act with purpose and generate 

value for customers and other stakeholders?
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The SKF global trainee 
 programme
Seventeen eager new employees started their 

SKF journey in 2017. The global trainee 

 programme will allow SKF to ensure an inflow 

of young ambitious talents with great drive, 

outside-in thinking and an entrepreneurial 

mindset – the future leaders of SKF.

During three five-month rotation periods, one 

in the home country and two abroad, trainees 

get to broaden their knowledge of SKF’s opera-

tions and are expected to plan, execute and 

deliver in a real project. The purpose is to create 

individual development for the trainee and to 

deliver business value to the host unit. The aim 

of the programme is also for the trainees to 

contribute to the technical development of SKF 

with an innovative and entrepreneurial mindset. 

This is a very exciting time to be working at a company 
like SKF. To learn and evolve with people towards a 
common goal, and to be challenged within new fields 
of technology is what I’m passionate about.

Benjamin von Schmuck, Global Trainee, 

Innovation and Product Development, 

Hardware and Software Development.

Michaela Forster, SKF Österreich AG
In 1996, Michaela started as an apprentice 

at SKF in Steyr. Today she is Manager of 

Customer Service & Quality at the Industrial 

Services Centre in Steyr. She is the role 

model for accountability and how to take 

care of the customer’s needs but also 

responsible for improving standards and 

raising quality awareness.

Going forward, she wants to be in a posi-

tion where she can contribute and further 

develop her skills. 

“Working for a small unit in a global com-

pany give me lots of opportunities to build 

up a global network and gain experience in 

my professional as well as personal life.” 

Sven Lümpert, SKF GmbH  Germany
Sven has been with SKF since 2005, when 

he started as apprentice. Today he is work-

ing as induction hardener at the production 

of Nautilus bearings for the wind industry. 

Among other things, he has been working 

with heat treatment and as raceway grinder 

for large-size bearings up to 4 meter in 

diameter. 

‘’I am looking forward to continue my 

journey within SKF and together with my 

ambitious and motivated colleagues make 

SKF world-class.’’ 

Ajay Naik, AB SKF
Ajay has been with SKF since 1988.  

He has been Manufacturing Manager at 

Pune plant and his latest position was as 

Factory Manager at SKF’s plant in 

Ahmedabad, both in India.

Since 1 July 2017 he has been located 

in Gothenburg as Factory Manager for an 

international assignment. 

“When this assignment ends I will take 

on new challenges, different and never 

done before – I like it that way.”
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Functionality 
is everything

As population growth and urbaniza-

tion continue, fresh water scarcity 

continues to be a major challenge. 

Still, the UN estimates that over 80%  

of wastewater is released untreated. 

At the water treatment facilities in 

Cairo, the functionality of rotating 

equipment is critical to meet the 

demand for fresh water from the 

urban population, maintaining 

employee safety and reducing the cost 

of operations. SKF provides a wide 

range of bearing arrangements, 

maintenance and training together 

with condition monitoring equipment 

for the pumps, electric motors, fans 

and other rotating machinery in the 

water  treatment system. 
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SKF Care

SKF Care is the Group’s definition of sustainability. The framework 
comprises four perspectives for value creation and sustainability 
integration in everything the Group does: Business Care, Environ-
mental Care, Employee Care and Community Care.   

Sustainability Report
For detailed information on material topics, boundaries and management approach, SKF has published a 

 comprehensive Sustainability Report, which can be found in the Sustainability statements on pages 120–142. 

The Sustainability Report has been prepared in accordance with the GRI Standards: Core option.

The Business Care perspective is about customer 

focus, financial performance and shareholder returns 

– with the highest standards of ethical behaviour.

The Employee Care perspective is about ensuring 

a safe working environment and promoting health, 

 personal development and well-being of employees 

at SKF and in the supply chain. 

The Environmental Care perspective is about 

 continually reducing the environmental impact from the 

Group’s operations, as well as actions to significantly 

improve  customers’ environmental performance through 

the products, solutions and services that SKF supplies.

The Community Care perspective is about making 

 positive contributions to the communities in which the 

Group operates.
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Examples of SKF Care in action
SKF is committed to integrating sustainability 

in everything the Group does. This includes the 

 products, services and solutions, the Group’s over 

100 factories, its global supply chain and logistics 

operations, and the work with business partners 

upstream and downstream the value chain. It also 

involves networks and collaborations with NGOs, 

universities and local communities. Challenges, 

opportunities and results of the Group are best 

described by the actions taken to address them. 

Below is a summary of action areas which have 

been in focus during 2017. More details are 

 provided on the following pages.

Safe workplaces • Accident rate per 100 full time employees down to 0.85

• SHIELD working method to prevent accidents

Improvements and results 2017

• Business with renewable energy, electric vehicles, recycling 

industry and bearings remanufacturing worth SEK 4.5 billion

• Broadened scope of sustainability in customer solutions – 

beyond environmental benefits

Product compliance  
and performance

Health and wellbeing • 86 percent employees covered by health and well-being 

activities

• Systemic approach to wellbeing – driving business 

 performance

Equality and development • Average gender pay gap narrower

• Digitalization increases the need for individual development

Ethics and  compliance • Strengthened message on the zero-tolerance of 

 discrimination and harassment

• Leadership training and human rights reporting

Responsible sourcing • Updated responsible sourcing strategy

• 127 site audits at suppliers

• New climate objectives for 2025, CO
2
 emissions per sold 

bearings and units down by 6% 

• Gothenburg site sets new recycling record for grinding swarf

Environment and energy

 Collaboration and 
 sponsorship

• Social collaboration activities in 27 countries

• 20 teams to the Gothia Cup through SKF Meet the World
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Safe workplaces Health and well-being

A central element of the Employee Care perspective is 
that employees shall be safe at work. It is SKF’s belief 
that accidents can be prevented and the Group is com-
mitted to making this a reality. 

Significant progress has been made since the launch of the 

Zero Accidents programme. In 2017 the accident rate was 

0.85, a reduction by over 90% since the mid-90s, there is how-

ever still significant room for improvements. Among the most 

common and sometimes serious accidents are hand and finger 

accidents related to machine work. Machine safety continues 

to be a  prioritized area. In addition to accidents, SKF also 

 follows up on near misses, first aid, and lost time. 

SKF’s health and safety management system is certified 

according to OHSAS 18001 and integrated with the environ-

mental management system. At the end of 2017, it covered 

113 sites in 35 countries. All manufacturing, technical and 

logistics centres are included and represent around 90% of 

SKF’s employees. Some recently acquired units are not yet 

included.

Increasingly, and stemming from the holistic approach 
of SKF’s health and safety management system, SKF also 
takes care to ensure the good health and well-being of 
the Group’s employees. 

It is SKF’s belief that when people feel well at work and live 

healthy lives, they tend to be more motivated and energized 

at work. This brings value for individual employees and for the 

Group as a whole. In accordance with the global OHSAS 18001 

certification, SKF has implemented joint health and safety 

committees focusing on work-related health and safety. 

Beyond this, in 2017, SKF continued the work to reinforce 

health as a Group-wide focus area by making it mandatory for 

all units to actively promote well-being. At the end of 2017, 86% 

of SKF’s employees were covered by a documented health and 

well- being policy or programme. 

SKF sees increased needs and opportunities to focus on 

work-life balance and psychological health. Most SKF opera-

tions have already initiated activities supporting health and 

wellbeing and the Group sees significant opportunity to work 

proactively and more systematically in this area.

SHIELD 
Safety must always come first. The SHIELD 

programme is a way to standardize safety 

performance across the Group. The method 

includes a set of standard tools and require-

ments within SKF’s factories that must be 

strengthened to achieve sustainable safety 

performance. 

Building on the many well- developed work-

ing methods across SKF’s facilities, SHIELD 

is used as a way to adopt good practice and 

pro actively eliminate potential accidents. 

In Schweinfurt, Germany, it has helped 

reducing potentially unsafe conditions. This 

 in  cludes the re   placement of machines, the 

 relocation of operations to more suitable 

machinery and intensive revision of risk 

assessments, as the basis for preventive 

safety activities.

For detailed information, see the Sustainability statements on page 136.
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R = number of recordable accidents and

h = total hours worked at the site/company
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identified points of improvements and in most cases corrective 

and preventive actions were initiated. 

In addition, SKF has received 228 (211) reports to the Group’s 

anonymized reporting line (whistle blowing system) or to the 

Group functions by other channels during 2017. 144 cases 

have been closed. Most cases led to training and policy reviews 

with people involved. A number of cases related to harassment 

or discrimination have resulted in verbal or written warning to 

the individuals involved. In addition to the cases reported to the 

central functions, grievances related to ethics and compliance 

are managed by local SKF units and not escalated to Group.

SKF’s internal audit department investigated 21 cases 

related to fraud and/or corruption during 2017, compared to 

16 last year. The investigations resulted in one person resigning. 

Read more on page 130. 

Human rights
SKF acknowledges the United Nation’s Guiding Principles on 

Business and Human Rights and its protect-respect-remedy 

framework. The SKF Code of Conduct includes the most 

important human rights topics for how SKF conducts its busi-

ness. Moreover, the SKF Code of Conduct addresses the issues 

set out in the UK Modern Slavery Act 2015, please read more 

on page 139.

Ethics and compliance

The SKF Code of Conduct is the foundation for ethical 
leadership in the Group. The code covers such topics as 
fraud, corruption, competition law, the environment, 
health, safety and human rights. 

Awareness is critical for ethical leadership. Ethical leadership 

trainings held at SKF units around the world bring up issues 

and situations in day-to-day operations – how to identify ethical 

dilemmas and how to prepare or avoid difficult situations prior 

to tenders, customer meetings, supplier events and business 

trips. Awareness trainings are also provided to all employees 

via e-learnings and distribution of Group policies. Most SKF 

companies include this in their induction trainings. Since 2016 

over 18,000 employees has taken part of SKF Code of Conduct 

e-learning, these are about the same number who has access 

to a personal company  computer. In addition, SKF has provided 

e-learnings to over 17,000 employees on anti-corruption since 

2016, and on competition law (antitrust) since 2014.

Risk assessment, audit, reviews and reporting  
of ethical concerns
SKF’s plan for review and audit of ethics and compliance 

aspects is based on the risks identified in the Group risk 

assessment, covering all topics of the SKF Code of Conduct.

In 2017, Ethics and compliance reviews were conducted at 

54 SKF sites in Europe, America, Asia and Africa. All reviews 

#MeToo 
In the light of the #metoo-movement initiated 

in the autumn of 2017, SKF’s top management 

has underlined the Group’s absolute zero 

 tolerance policy regarding discrimination 

and harassment. 

It is the right, and also the obligation of 

SKF’s employees to report ethical concerns. 

An employee who feels that he or she cannot 

report a concern to his or her direct manager, 

the HR department or other managers, can 

use SKF’s ethics and compliance reporting 

line. This reporting channel allows employees 

to report concerns in their own language, 

either via telephone or via the web. Reporting 

can take place anonymously in all countries 

where this is allowed by local legislation.
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SKF Care

SKF’s commitment to the environment requires the 
Group to take steps to understand and reduce or avoid 
the environmental impacts occurring along its value 
chain. Systematic improvements create value for both 
the  customers, SKF and the environment.

SKF’s Group-wide environmental management system dates 

back to the 1980’s, when its first environmental policy was 

published. In 2017, the Group made the transition to the new 

ISO 14001:2015 standard and at year-end, the Group certi-

ficate included 113 sites in 35 countries. The schedule for 

 inclusion of recently acquired companies’ can be found at  

skf.com/14001.

The life-cycle approach of the new ISO 14001:25 standard 

is the basis for the Group’s new climate objectives for 2025 

launched in March 2017.  Since 2006 SKF’s business has 

grown by 40% while at the same time reducing absolute energy 

demand. This long-term performance is a result of strategic 

focus and commitment as well as practical and local initiatives 

across operations, including such areas as lighting, heating 

and ventilation. Since many years, SKF has also applied topic 

Environment and energy

Solar roof at SKF Jiading 
In January 2017, SKF Jiading Campus outside Shanghai inaugu-

rated a retro fitted solar roof. During the year, the installation 

generated close to two GWh of clean energy and is expected to 

cut emissions from the manufacturing site by 15% annually.

Gothenburg site 
breaks record
Virtually all paper, plastic and metal residuals 

from SKF’s global manufacturing operations are 

recycled. However, grinding swarf – a mix of small 

metal particles mixed with liquids – is especially 

challenging. At Gothenburg site, SKF broke the 

record in 2017 when managing to reach 97% 

recycling rate of grinding swarf, the rest was 

incinerated with heat recovery.

specific external standards across the Group’s operations to 

reduce environmental impact such as: 

• LEED green building certification mandatory for all new 

major constructions, see skf.com/LEED.

• ISO 50001 certification of its own energy intensive 

 operations, which covers 90% of the Group’s total energy 

use (Scope 1–2). See skf.com/50001.

Every stage of the value chain presents potential for reducing 

or avoiding environmental impact, from the raw materials 

selected, how these are utilized and processed, the energy 

used by the products when running in customers’ applications, 

to the way in which products are disposed of when they come 

to the end of their useful life. This is exemplified in the graphic 

on page 47 concerning SKF’s climate targets and overall work 

to increase resource efficiency. 

During 2017, SKF worked to set new environmental objec-

tives also beyond emissions and energy. The focus will be on 

resource use and waste management by all SKF operations 

and water efficiency for 15 SKF sites located in areas of water 

risk. The Group starts reporting on these objectives in 2018.

For detailed environmental data see pages 131–134 in the Sustainability 

statements.
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Objective
SKF supports its  

suppliers in reducing  

their CO
2
 emissions.

Status 2017: 73% certified
SKF continues to encourage 

the major energy intensive 

suppliers to adopt the ISO 

50001 energy management 

standard for systematic 

 im  provements. This will 

reduce the cost and emis-

sions for suppliers and for 

raw material for the Group. 

In 2017, 10 additional 

suppliers were added to 

the scope and at year end, 

30 out of 41 were certified 

according to ISO 50001.

Objective 2025
–40% CO

2
 emissions from 

 manufacturing per tonne of 

bearings sold, from 2015.

Status 2017: –6%
Material efficiency, energy 

 efficiency and increased share 

of renewable energy are the 

three main strategic levers 

helping SKF towards this target. 

During 2017, efficiency was 

improved. Energy use and 

 re  lated emissions increased, 

however the percent increase 

in production output was signi-

ficantly higher. 

SKF measures and reports 

energy and emissions from all 

sites. The scope of the target 

is SKF’s production sites 

within bearings and units.

Objective 2025
–40% CO

2
 emissions  

per tonne of goods shipped  

to end customer, from 2015.

Status 2017: +4%
Transport optimization 

and routing, low emissions 

 trans port modes and shorter 

routes between suppliers, 

factories and customers are 

the main strategic levers 

moving SKF towards this 

target. 

During the second half 

of 2017, the emissions from 

goods transportation in -

creased significantly, mostly 

due to a steep increase in 

customer demand, leading 

to more express shipments.

Objective
SKF supports its  

customers to reduce  

their CO
2
 emissions.

Status 2017: SEK 4.5 bn 
SKF reports on the aggre-

gated revenues from the key 

areas related to reduced 

 climate impact: renewable 

energy generation, electric 

vehicles, recycling industry, 

and bearings remanufac-

turing.  

The total revenues in 

2017 amounted to SEK 4.5 

billion. The scope of the KPI 

is new for these objectives 

and has not been reported 

previously, read more on 

page 132.

  Raw material    SKF bearing  
manufacturing 

  Goods transportation   Customer solutions

Climate objectives and resource efficiency across the value chain

In addition to climate objectives, the graphic includes three 

main components on resource efficiency which is highly 

 relevant for the Group’s business. 

1. Service, maintenance and repairs on the customers’ site 

not only increase productivity and improve reliability in 

customers’ operations, but also increases the operating 

life of products and makes  better use of already pro-

cessed materials.

2. SKF takes back and remanufactures products, and then ships 

these back to customers for another useful life. This saves time 

and cost for customers and improves material efficiency in the 

value chain.

3. Bearing steel is to a great extent made from scrap steel. The 

inherent opportunity to recycle SKF’s products helps to improve 

sustainability, yet when bearing steel is re-melted, parts of the 

alloying elements are lost – which in turn makes it more impor-

tant to optimize operating life and increase the remanufacturing 

of bearings and units. Read more at skf.com/environment

Goods transportation

KundlösningarRaw material

3. Recycling

1. Service

Maintain

Repair

2
. R

em
anufacturing

SKF bearing manufacturing
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SKF Care

SKF provides products and solutions which are used in 
different applications all over the world. The focus of 
SKF’s technology development is to improve the safety 
and environmental performance of a machine or produc-
tion line during its lifecycle, both in SKF’s own and its 
customers’ operations.

Product compliance
The SKF Group has a centralized function for the compliance 

surveillance of SKF’s products, with respect to environmental 

and ethical laws and standards, such as, but not limited to, 

REACH, RoHS and in the area of conflict minerals. 

SKF is predominately a downstream user (as opposed to 

a producer) of compounds targeted in the REACH and RoHS 

 regulations and legislation. SKF complies with regulations by 

communicating both upstream and downstream the value 

chain to ensure that materials and compounds used in SKF’s 

products and manufacturing are registered as safe to use. 

The issue of conflict minerals – as defined in Section 1502 of 

the US Dodd-Frank act – is being addressed within  the overall 

responsible sourcing activities.

Product compliance and performance

More energy output  
SKF hybrid bearings offer a range of operational ben-

efits in several applications. They are light weight, 

suitable for high speeds and generate less friction 

which helps to extend service life. One of the main 

benefits for wind energy customers is that it enables 

longer service intervals and thereby cutting the total 

cost of operations. In wind turbine generators, large 

hybrid bearings prevent passage of electric current, 

which is crucial for the basic functionality of the 

 generators. These benefits together lead to more 

energy harvesting per turbine.

Product performance 
Life cycle studies confirm that the greatest potential for SKF to 

reduce environmental impacts lies in the customer use phase 

of the products and solutions. 

Since many years, SKF has intensified efforts on developing 

customer solutions that reduce environmental impacts and 

help customers meet their requirements to reduce emissions, 

increase energy efficiency and reduce water use.

Building on what the Group has learnt from the focus on 

environmental impacts, in 2017 SKF decided to broaden the 

scope of the efforts to cover all relevant sustainability aspects 

for the customers. The ambition is that sustainability needs of 

its customers are understood and integrated into all products, 

services and solutions which SKF develops and offers to the 

market. 

As part of the new climate objectives work, SKF will continue 

to provide yearly aggregated revenue data from the following 

key areas: renewable energy generation, electric vehicles, 

recycling industry, and bearings remanufacturing. The total 

revenue for these areas in 2017 amounted to SEK 4.5 billion.
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Empowerment, high ethical standards, openness and 
teamwork – these are the SKF values and characteristics 
that the Group aspires to for its employees and work-
places.

Equal opportunities, fair and equal pay
A prerequisite to attract employees and capitalize on diversity 

is to make sure everyone in SKF has equal opportunities to 

compete for jobs and has the opportunities for personal devel-

opment. This is a basic principle of the SKF Code of Conduct, 

and fundamental in SKF’s recruitment principles. 

SKF applies fair remuneration, which means that wages and 

other related benefits must at least meet the legal or industry 

minimum standards of the country in question, and they shall 

also be long term competitive to attract and retain skilled people. 

For salaries, SKF uses an internationally recognized evalua-

tion system, the International Position Evaluation (IPE). SKF 

follows up on differences between men and women regarding 

remuneration and development possibilities 

Mapping of salaries in the eight largest SKF countries, shows 

that a smaller gap exists between the genders, but is decreasing. 

The conclusion is that while women are increasingly represented 

in lower management levels, men are still overrepresented 

at high-level management. It remains a challenge for SKF to 

 rapidly alter this ratio. More information on diversity and equal 

opportunities is found in the Sustainability statements on 

pages 138–139.

Equality and development

Using technology  
to drive sustainability
The Future Industry challange was launched to detect and 

engage start-ups helping to support the overall digital trans-

formation in SKF’s factories. In 2017, SKF France invited 

start-ups to propose ideas for how to use digitalization to 

serve productivity. More than 80 start-ups took part in the 

challenge. Four final projects were chosen to work with SKF 

and other business partners to drive and develop higher 

 productivity, on-site quality improvement, energy savings 

and improved working conditions at SKF’s factories.

At year-end 2017, SKF had 70 country managers, repre-

senting 66 nationalities. All regions in which the Group 

operates are represented among the top management 

(about 500 managers). 11% of this population are women. 

At the end of 2017, 25% of the Board of Directors and 22% 

of SKF Group management’s positions were held by women. 

Locally, 85% of SKF units had at least one woman in local 

management. In these local management groups, through-

out the Group, 18% were women. The proportion of women 

employed in the Group was 23%. For more people data, 

please refer to Sustainability statements on pages 135–139.

Employee development
Employee development is a critical success factor. The so called 

fourth industrial revolution will most likely change the way jobs 

are defined which puts pressure on people to develop and on 

SKF to provide the opportunity for people to do so.

Everyone at SKF is entitled to an individual development 

plan. In the latest survey, of the employees working in common 

HR systems, over 90% of the employees in the scope had con-

cluded their annual performance review and 58% of employees 

had documented plans for individual development and life-long 

learning. Further details of SKF academies and training can be 

found in the Sustainability statements on pages 137–138. 
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SKF Care

SKF works to deploy and follow up SKF Care standards in 
the supply chain, which can have a significant impact as the 
Group sources direct and indirect material – equivalent to 
over SEK 40 billion every year. 

About 1,200 suppliers account for around 80% of SKF’s spend 

and the Group’s overall approach is to attract and develop 

 suppliers reflecting the Group’s global manufacturing footprint. 

SKF’s responsible sourcing programme exists to make sure 

suppliers work according to SKF’s social, environmental and 

ethical standards. This helps to develop well-managed local 

suppliers and reduce the total cost of operations over time.

SKF’s strategy for responsible sourcing was updated during 

2017. The work can be summarized in two main approaches:

1. Redefined risk based management 

2. Supplier development

Redefined risk based management
SKF previously prioritized its work on high spend suppliers in 

high risk countries, i.e. where corruption and human rights 

risks are relatively higher. In recent years, the evaluation of 

suppliers has been refined and the overall awareness of such 

risks has increased so that today, a more careful evaluation 

of suppliers can take place prior to full scale auditing. The 

methods used include supplier self-evaluation and simplified 

Responsible sourcing

screening during quality audit and other site visits. These can 

flag potential non-conformances with the SKF standard that 

might then trigger a full on-site audit by responsible sourcing 

experts. With this approach the work is more effective, finding 

more of the deviations that matter and helping to see where 

support is needed.

Supplier development
Responsible sourcing is part of supplier development and this is 

where the real improvements are made. Finding deviations at 

suppliers is not the end-goal of responsible sourcing but solely 

a means to drive improvements. When assessing which suppli-

ers to develop, SKF looks at a wide range of aspects of supplier 

performance concerning quality, cost, delivery, innovation and 

management, including environment and human rights man-

agement. A holistic approach is key to determining the total 

cost of supplier development.

The Group carried out 127 full on-site audits in 2017 and 

all suppliers need to take corrective actions in a timely manner. 

If critical deviations are found SKF takes immediate action, and 

these cases are escalated to Group Purchasing who have the 

mandate to terminate the contract if needed.

For detailed data on risks and non-conformances, please 

see Sustainability statements on page 141. 

Railsponsible
SKF is active in Railsponsible – an industry 

initiative focused on sustainable procure-

ment, with the aim to continuously improve 

sustainability practices throughout the rail-

way industry supply chain. The collaboration 

includes railway operators and companies 

across the value chain. 
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SKF plays an active role in the communities where it 
 operates – creating additional positive social impact. 

The work does not start and end within SKF’s boundaries but 

the Group must  collaborate with others – business partners 

and trade associations, unions, NGOs, universities and schools 

and other organizations – to move forward on sustainability 

challenges.

External principles and charters
Over the years, the Group has endorsed or subscribed to a 

number of internationally recognized principles, charters and 

guidelines, which promote sustainable and ethical business 

practices from organizations such as the UN Global Compact, 

ILO, ICC Charter and OECD. Read more about this on page 123.

Industry collaborations
SKF engages with industry partners in a wide range of sustain-

ability topics, where the challenges are sometimes complex 

and require collective action for change. One example related 

to a specific industry is Railsponsible presented on the previous 

page.

Collaboration and sponsorship

Tax – contributing to local communities
SKF follows the OECDs development of country-by-country 

reporting of taxes and files tax receipts to Swedish authorities, 

but for competitive reasons does not publicly report taxes by 

country.

According to the SKF’s Group Tax Policy, the SKF Group shall 

pay corporate income tax where it makes the profit. In 2017, 

corporate income tax amounted to SEK 1,898 million repre-

senting an effective tax rate of 24.8%. 

The distribution of SKF economic value according to GRI 

201-1 is shown on page 129. The SKF Group Tax policy is 

available at SKF.com/tax.

Sponsorship
The types of causes and organizations to support is guided by 

the SKF Social Policy and instructions on sponsorship. SKF 

supports youth and sports, education and vocational training, 

as well as contributing to specific needs of local communities. 

The initiatives are typically driven by SKF country organizations, 

often in collaboration with local or global NGOs or non-profit 

organizations. 

SKF organizations in 27 countries have reported social 

 collaboration activities. Read more about initiatives driven by 

SKF and it ’s employees at skf.com/community.

SKF Meet the World  
and the Gothia Cup 
The Meet the World tournament is all about inspiration and 

a chance for kids and young adults to discover other cultures 

and exchange ideas and dreams by following their passion 

for football. 

SKF is Gothia Cup’s main sponsor, and local SKF country 

organizations across the world works with the Meet the World 

tournaments, whereby teams from around 20 countries every 

year qualify and travel to Gothen burg to take part in the Gothia 

Cup. SKF started Meet the World in 2007 and since then, 3,000 

young people from 41 countries have played the Gothia Cup. 
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SKF Care

193 states have agreed a common agenda for 2030  – the UN 

Sustainable Development Goals. These 17 goals, also known 

as the Global Goals, set the direction in which the world needs 

to develop and thereby highlight challenges, risks and opportu-

nities for companies. 

SKF has analyzed and will continue to review its activities 

in the light of these Global Goals to ensure staying successful 

over time. Part of this is to understand how the Group best 

contributes to the realization of the Global Goals through the 

business made and the way business is made. This is presented 

above. More information is found on SKF.com/globalgoals.

SKF and the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals

How SKF makes a difference

The products, services and 

 solutions SKF develops and 

 provides, the technology 

 development SKF enables and 

the industries SKF supports.

The way SKF operates and acts  

as a company, employer, supplier, 

customer, business partner and 

corporate citizen.

The business
SKF makes

The way
SKF does
business
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Supporting reliable, efficient  
and environmentally sound 
 industrial operations

Developing and providing 
 technology for the solutions  
we all need

Developing sustainable  
business models

Supporting customers to  
address industry specific 
 sustainability challenges 

The business SKF makes 

Conducting business with  
high ethical standards

Offering decent work in a safe  
and fair working environment

Reducing  emissions and  
effluents into air, water and soil

Being a good steward 
of resources

Industry collaborations for 
 sustainable development

Offering vocational training  
and supporting basic education 
and development 

Sponsorships

The way SKF does business
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Introduction to the 
Administration Report
The Administration Report comprises descriptions of SKF’s strategic priorities, 
segments and risk management, the Board’s proposal for remuneration and 
dividend and information concerning the nomination of Board members, notice 
of Annual General Meeting and SKF’s financial position. The Administration 
Report is integrated into the Annual Report.

Risk
SKF manages, mitigates or avoids a wide range of risks and 

short and long term uncertainties. Proactive risk manage-

ment is an integral element of SKF’s sustained success. 

The risks can be divided into the following categories: 

  Strategic risks   Operational risks  

  Compliance risks   Financial risks

Read more on pages 60–63.

Financial  
position and 
 dividend  policy
See page 66

Proposed 
 distribution  
of surplus
See page 119

AB SKF’s  
Board’s proposal,  
remuneration
See page 64

Nomination of  
Board members and 
notice of Annual 
 General Meeting
See page 66

The Administration Report comprises pages 10–29, 36–37, 55–119. It has undergone reasonable assurance engagement by SKF’s auditors. 

See the Auditor’s Report on pages 144–147. 

According to the Swedish accounting act chapter 6, §11, SKF’s sustainability reporting is prepared as a separate report.  

The scope of this Sustainability Report is presented on page 120 in this publication.

Strategic priorities
Driven by the vision of “A world of reliable rotation”, 

SKF strives to create value for its shareholders and other 

stakeholders by focusing on five  strategic priorities.

• Create and capture customer value

• Application-driven innovation

• World-class manufacturing

• Cost competitiveness

• Maximize cash flow  

over time

Read more on pages 12–29.

Segments
SKF’s operations are divided into the two segments, 

Industrial and Automotive. Read more on pages 56–59.

Share of net sales
  Industrial 69%      Automotive 31%

Share of operating profit
  Industrial 85%      Automotive 15%

2
34

5 1
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Operations

Industrial

Industrial operations showed stable development, with strong 

organic growth of 8.4% (–2.8) and an improved adjusted oper-

ating margin of 13.7% (12.1). Organic sales increased in all 

markets, with growth of 10.1% in North America, 6.6% in 

Europe and 9.6% in Asia. 

Reelcraft, a manufacturer of hose cord and cable reels for 

industrial applications, was divested as part of the strategy to 

focus on core operations. SKF also undertook a reorganization 

during the year aimed at improving synergies between 

research, product development and business development, 

gathering these functions into one organization. This has given 

SKF a truly business driven R&D and the ability to directly 

steer its R&D spend, which is even more important in a fast 

moving and digitalized world. SKF is reshaping its R&D foot-

print to match current and future markets, and to ensure that 

as much as possible of the full value chain is located near the 

market it serves. As part of this strategy, in 2018, the global 

product development centre for deep groove ball bearings will 

be transferred from St-Cyr-sur-Loire, France, to Shanghai, 

China. SKF’s research centre in the Netherlands will move to a 

new building in 2019. In line with reshaping the R&D footprint, 

SKF is moving key testing operations from the Netherlands 

closer to current and future growth markets.

Investments
The Sven Wingquist Test Centre was opened in Schweinfurt, 

Germany, where the first tests of a new spherical roller bearing 

for the wind industry will be made in early 2018. SKF will also 

invest in a new test centre for aeronautical high-speed bearings 

at its existing facility in Valenciennes, France. In 2017, other 

investments were made to increase capacity for spherical 

roller bearings in Nilai in Malaysia, while the manufacturing of 

stabilizers for the marine industry was updated in Hamburg, 

Germany. There are ongoing investments in upgrading 

machines and processes in Flowery Branch and Hanover, 

USA, and in the manufacturing of cylindrical roller bearings 

and large-size bearings in Schweinfurt, Germany. These 

investments will be completed in 2018.

Digitalization and application-driven innovation
SKF launched a number of solutions to make condition moni-

toring accessible to more users. The data handling and analysis 

system SKF Enlight is a tool for condition-based maintenance 

and condition monitoring over the Internet. The first version of 

SKF Enlight, designed for use by engineers decision makers in 

the marine industry, was launched in 2017, as was SKF Enlight 

for remote diagnostics of steel mills. SKF Insight sensor tech-

nology collects bearing data, which it transfers to the SKF 

Enlight Centre for remote diagnostics and analysis of mechani-

cal problems. SKF Insight is adapted for rail, wind power and 

heavy industry. SKF QuickCollect hand-held sensors measure 

machine conditions. Data is then transmitted wirelessly to a 

mobile device on which diagnostics can be performed even by 

inexperienced users. The information can also be stored in 

SKF’s clouds with access to SKF’s expert remote monitoring 

services. IMx8 was also launched during the year. It is a com-

pact, simple to use condition monitoring device designed for a 

broad group of industries. SKF also works closely with several 

companies in digitalization. A partnership with Honeywell 

 Process Solutions was initiated during the year. The goal is to 

develop a user-friendly digital ecosystem that consolidates and 

analyzes large amounts of data from construction machinery. 

The new SKF SimPro software enables customer engineers 

to make their own choice of bearings or, if needed, to consult 

SKF’s application engineers. This makes it easier for the cus-

tomer to choose the right bearing early in the development 

process, and for SKF to be more closely involved when a new 

machine is developed. 

Cost-competitiveness initiative 
To further improve utilization of the Group’s manufacturing 

capacity, investments will be made to consolidate seal manu-

facturing by increasing the capacity of existing operations in 

Salt Lake City, Kansas, and closing down the seal factory in 

Seneca, Kansas. 

Main achievements in 2017

•  Start-up of the fully automated  

and digi tal production channel in 

Gothenburg, Sweden. 

•  Opening of the test centre in 

Schweinfurt, Germany. 

•  Divestment of Reelcraft. 

•  Launch of numerous solutions  

to make condition monitoring 

 accessible to more users.

•  Partnership with Honeywell  

 Process Solutions. 

69%

85%

Share of net sales

Share of operating profit
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Net sales and adjusted operating profit1)

Net sales

1) Previously published figures have been restated 
    according to the new segment information.  
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Net sales by customer industry

Railway, 6%

Industry, heavy and special, 11%

Off-highway, 6%

Energy, 8%

Aerospace, 8%

Other, 3%

Industry, general, 17%

Industrial distribution, 41%

Focus in 2018

•  Continue the reshaping of the R&D foot-

print to match changes in the market-

place, and secure a full value chain. 

•  Continue developing new products and 

solutions with focus on providing equip-

ment performance to customers, where 

digitalization and ease of use are major 

parts. 

•  Expand the range of offerings that meet 

the specific performance requirements of 

different applications. This will improve 

the competitiveness of the SKF products 

and improves the realized value for the 

customer. 

•  Continued focus on cost-competitiveness 

across the entire value chain.  Continued 

initiatives for designing with steels that 

are appropriate for customer operating 

conditions, in collaboration with pur-

chasing and supply chain functions. 

SKF inaugurated a new fully automated and digital production channel 

in Gothenburg for the manufacturing of spherical roller bearings.

A multi-year framework agreement with ArcelorMittal was signed. SKF will supply 

bearings, units, seals and remanufacturing services across 14 countries in Europe 

and Northern Africa. SKF will also provide total-cost-of-ownership savings studies, 

validating the  realized value generated from its products and services. 

SKF inaugurated its newly-built test centre, 

the Sven Wingquist Test Centre, in Schweinfurt, 

Germany. 

The Moroccan rail operator, Office Nationale 

des Chemins de Fer du Maroc placed an order 

for 15,000 railway wheelset bearings for both 

passenger and freight rolling stock, to be deliv-

ered over a period of three years. 
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Operations

Automotive

SKF outgrew the global automotive roller bearing market in 

2017 and achieved strong organic growth of 7.9% (1.2) and 

an improved adjusted operating margin of 7.2% (6.5). The Turn 

Around Plan launched in 2015 contributed to the improved 

operating margin. Net sales increased in all major regions, 

with the strongest growth in Asia, 16.3%, followed by Europe, 

4.1%, and North America, 0.5%. 

Investments 
During the year SKF continued to invest in new production 

channels for bearings and seals to cover the growth in its OEM 

business. For the aftermarket business SKF moved all of its 

European automotive aftermarket activities to one site in 

St-Cyr-sur-Loire in France in order to streamline the EMEA 

activities. This was in response to changing market dynamics, 

with growing demand for flexible production capabilities that 

can cope with ever shorter lead times. In addition the site will 

also host a flexible new production facility dedicated to the 

 production of wheel hub bearings for the spare parts market. 

This line will also be capable of responding very quickly to 

 customer orders, especially smaller orders.

Next-generation powertrains 
The automotive industry is commencing the electrification of 

the powertrain in some countries, and new driver-assistant 

systems are pushing in the direction of autonomous driving, 

connectivity and shared mobility. SKF is developing new 

 bearing and seal solutions to support this next generation of 

powertrain platforms in partnership with customers. With 

leading Truck OEMs SKF has developed the next generation 

of transmissions and hybrid powertrains. Other ongoing pro-

jects  concern global car OEMs and to meet new application 

needs and to develop integrated bearings and seals solutions 

 enabling increased compactness and power density, weight 

reduction and lower friction. Light weighting remains impor-

tant to improving the CO
2
 emissions of vehicles. To improve 

availability in the aftermarket, SKF launched a dynamic web- 

catalogue for the vehicle aftermarket assortment in Europe 

and North America. It matches the right product with a specific 

vehicle and finds a nearby dealer or online shop for purchase. 

Cost reduction initiatives 
SKF is a leading supplier of wheel end bearings and to increase 

its competitiveness within this very important and highly 

 competitive business SKF has been working on cost reduction 

activities addressing both existing and new product ranges .  

In past years this has led to cost reductions, increased market 

share and greater profitability. In 2017, the automotive busi-

ness managed to bring down cost within the existing product 

range with about SEK 70 million in savings only from using 

Integrating Cost Reduction (ICR), read more about ICR on page 

24. For the development of new products, to be implemented 

in automotive production in 3–4 years, the cost has been 

reduced by 10–15%, through ICR.  

31%

15%

Share of net sales

Share of operating profit

Main achievements in 2017

•  Improved adjusted operating margin 

as established in the Turn Around 

Plan in 2015.

•  Development of solutions with 

 customers, to support the electri-

fication of the powertrain, auto-

nomous driving, connectivity and 

shared mobility.

•  Cost reduction activities addressing 

both existing and new product 

ranges. 
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1) Previously published figures have been restated 
    according to the new segment information. 
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Focus in 2018

•  Continue to drive innovation in 

 product development.

•  Continue to drive e-commerce 

 initiatives in the aftermarket.

•  Capture customer value with active 

pricing to compensate for material 

cost increases.

•  Continued cost reduction activities 

and organizational efficiency.

Net sales by customer industry

Trucks, 17%

Two-wheelers and electrical, 6%

Vehicle aftermarket, 27%

Cars and light trucks, 49%

Other, 1%

Jeep Compass, the new compact sport 

utility vehicle from FCA, is equipped 

with SKF’s third-generation, premium 

quality, front- and rear-wheel 

hub-bearing units. 

SKF has won an exclusive deal to deliver over 

2.5 million robust and lightweight MacPherson 

Strut Bearing Units per year to a tier 1 company. 

SKF’s new Scotseal X-Treme wheel-end seal 

for trucks and trailers offers superior relia-

bility and high temperature performance, as 

well as a market leading warranty.

SKF augmented its rotor positioning bearings range 

with a new and compact design that is suitable for all 

belt-driven starter/generator applications in both 

12 V and upcoming 48 V formats. 
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Risk management

Current risks and uncertainties in the business 
The SKF Group operates in many different industrial, auto-

motive and geographical areas that are at different stages of 

the economic cycle. A general economic downturn at global 

level, or in one of the world’s leading economies, could reduce 

the demand for the Group’s products, solutions and services 

for a period of time. In addition, terrorism and other hostilities, 

as well as disturbances in worldwide financial markets and 

natural disasters, could have a negative effect on the demand 

for the Group’s products and services. There are also political 

and regulatory risks associated with the wide geographical 

presence. 

Regulatory requirements, taxes, tariffs and other trade bar-

riers, price or exchange controls or other governmental policies 

could limit the SKF Group’s operations. The SKF Group is sub-

ject to both transaction and translation of currency exposure. 

For commercial flows, the SKF Group is primarily exposed to 

EUR, USD and CNY. As the major part of the profit is made out-

side Sweden, the Group is also exposed to translational risks in 

all the major currencies. The financial position of the parent 

company is dependent on the financial position and develop-

ment of the subsidiaries. A general decline in the demand for 

the products and services provided by the Group could mean 

lower residual profits and lower dividend income for the parent 

company, as well as a need for writing down values of the 

shares in the subsidiaries. 

SKF and other companies in the bearing industry are part 

of an investigation by the US Department of Justice regarding 

a possible violation of anti-trust rules. SKF is subject to two 

investigations in Brazil by the General Superintendence of the 

Administrative Council for Economic Defense, one investigation 

Strategic risks Operational  
risks

Compliance 
risks

Financial risks

Customer offerings, 

 succession planning, 

 government or industry 

regulations,  fluctuations 

of the global market.

Product functionality 

or quality demands, 

 competition or technology 

shifts, IT systems and 

 production or supply 

 disruption.

Compliance with law,  

regulations and Group  

policies regarding e.g data 

privacy, competition law, 

corruption, health and 

safety.

Currency, interest, credit, 

liquidity, fraud and report-

ing risks.

regarding an alleged violation of antitrust rules concerning 

bearing manufacturers, and another investigation regarding 

an alleged violation of antitrust rules by several companies 

active on the automotive aftermarket in Brazil. An enquiry has 

been initiated by the Competition Commission of India against 

several different companies, including SKF, regarding an 

alleged violation of antitrust rules in India. Moreover, SKF  

is subject to related class action claims by direct and indirect 

purchasers of bearings in the United States and may face 

 additional follow-on civil actions by both direct and indirect 

purchasers. Peugeot S.A., and several of its Group companies, 

have initiated a lawsuit, with a claim for damages, against 

bearing manufacturers, including SKF, that were part of the 

settlement decision by the European Commission for violation 

of European competition rules. Daimler AG has initiated a law-

suit against SKF GmbH with a claim for damages as a conse-

quence of said settlement decision.

Risk management in SKF
SKF manages, mitigates or avoids a wide range of risks as well 

as short- and long-term uncertainties. SKF applies an inte-

grated approach to business risk management whereby, as far 

as possible, risk identification, evaluation and response are 

carried out by persons within the business with the relevant 

operational responsibility and experience. SKF does not mone-

tize all risks as many of them are highly complex and inter-

related. The operational management of the risks is facilitated 

through a number of means, such as Group policies, training, 

internal controls, reporting reviews and approval processes, 

all of which are coordinated and overseen by the related Group 

functions. These risks can be summarized as below. 



61SKF Annual Report 2017

SKF’s core business is based on well-established technology 

and the company is organized to be diversified in terms of 

products, markets, manufacturing location, and currencies 

used. This diversification reduces SKF’s overall exposure to 

business risks and positions the Group’s overall risk profile to 

be moderate in comparison to companies more dependent 

on specific sectors and regions or operating in faster moving 

technology areas. 

Some of SKF’s businesses are subject to transitional risks and 

opportunities related to trends such as increased digitalization, 

electrification or pressure to decarbonize industry sectors. 

Such development may be driven by regulatory requirements, 

taxes, tariffs or other governmental policies. This type of macro 

trends could have an effect on the SKF Group’s operations in 

Everyday risks related to product and functionality, IT and sup-

ply and manufacturing can be described in the following way:

Product functionality and market related risks 
Competitors may find better and more cost-efficient ways to 

produce and distribute products and services. They may also 

find ways to produce better functioning products. SKF may 

suffer loss through new and disruptive technologies becoming 

available from companies which are currently not seen as 

competitors. These risks are managed through SKF’s first two 

strategic priorities, creating and capturing customer value, and 

application driven innovation, see pages 12–19.

The risk of product failure in customer applications may lead 

to warranty claims and/or loss of business. SKF’s global quality 

management system in accordance with ISO 9001 and other 

industry relevant industry standards is implemented to ensure 

that products and services conform with specified require-

ments and to continuously improve processes, products and 

services. Identification and minimization of potential perfor-

mance risk is based on the use of SKF design rules and guide-

lines for product development, SKF application engineering, 

product simulation and product testing.

Another risk is related to counterfeit SKF products which 

are taking market share from SKF and whose unreliable 

   Strategic risks 

   Operational risks  

general and some of the customer industries in particular. 

Read more about the main industries SKF serves at  

skf.com/skfs-business. 

Opportunities and risks related to the business are described 

in more detail in the Strategic priorities section on page 14.

As an employer, SKF needs to attract and develop a diverse 

and effective workforce to lead and deliver on the objectives as 

set out by the Group. SKF works with central recruitment pro-

cesses, training, leadership and talent management to pro-

actively manage succession planning, and in 2017, the Group 

launched a new global trainee programme. The Group also 

works continually on building a strong culture and creating a 

motivating working environment where decisions are taken 

with focus and energy.

 performance may damage SKF’s reputation. SKF works actively 

to reduce negative impacts of counterfeit products through 

awareness campaigns and by offering free authentication of 

suspected counterfeit goods. SKF also works on limiting the 

supply of counterfeit bearings through distributor stock audits 

and by providing expert on-site verification and advice to local 

authorities during raids.

Hazardous substances in products and processes are con-

tinually being phased out from SKF’s products and processes. 

SKF has established a product material compliance approach 

to help SKF’s business to comply with directives and legislation 

such as REACH, RoHS, WEEE and Dodd-Frank regarding con-

flict minerals.

IT risks
Risks can be related to cyber security and IT continuity. SKF 

runs IT Security Awareness training programmes for employees 

to avoid potential adversaries gaining unauthorized access to 

SKF information or computer systems, which could otherwise 

lead to a loss of production, loss of intellectual property or 

financial data, infringement of personal data or violations of 

export control regulations. SKF’s processes concerning IT 

Security are based on ISO 27000, for the deployment and use 

of IT Systems. 



62 SKF Annual Report 2017

Operations

SKF has a formalized yearly process at Group level for the miti-

gation of ethical and compliance related risks. The process 

includes gathering information from internal and external 

sources, a consolidated risk assessment, prioritization of risks 

and the development of a strategic action plan to mitigate the 

risks. The SKF Group staff functions Sustainability and Com-

pliance, Audit, Human Resources, Environment Health and 

Safety, Purchasing and IT are involved in the process and the 

result is presented to Group Management.

The main compliance risks are related to competition law, 

fraud, export control, data privacy, corruption and health and 

safety regulations. SKF has established compliance programmes 

which include policies, procedures, training, audits and investi-

gations in order to mitigate these risks. 

The global and diverse nature of SKF’s business and opera-

tions means that the Group is required to adhere to numerous 

laws and regulations related to all aspects of its activities. 

 Failure to meet these requirements could lead to legal and 

financial consequences as well as damage to the Group’s 

   Compliance risks 

SKF works with trusted IT partners, that employ best prac-

tice procedures such as ITIL, ISO 20000 and ISO 9000 for 

business critical IT systems, to avoid unplanned interruptions 

to SKF’s computer systems that could potentially lead to a loss 

of production or delays in deliveries to customers.

Production risk
SKF’s risk of production disruption is not only related to its 

own operations but also to disruption further upstream in the 

demand chain. External factors such as fires, extreme weather 

events, natural disasters, water scarcity, war, terrorism or 

pandemic illness might result in disruption of supply to SKF 

and impact revenue and profit. This is managed by contingency 

planning and by not sourcing critical material from single 

sources.

Labour disputes, could lead to disruption which might effect 

SKF’s ability to meet customer demands. SKF maintains an open 

and positive relationship with the trade unions, as exemplified 

by the Groups’ global framework with the World Union Council.

SKF has a globalized manufacturing operation with more 

than 100 production sites around the world, supported by 

1,200 suppliers accounting for about 80% of SKF ś purchased 

volume. SKF’s manufacturing strategy aims to ensure a high 

degree of flexibility, so that if one unit is taken out of action, 

others could provide support production. SKF has centrally 

purchased insurance lines and centrally managed loss preven-

tion programmes. The aim is to protect SKF Group’s tangible 

and intangible assets through active risk management.

Operational safety, health, environmental and human rights 

risks are managed via SKF’s Group-wide management proce-

dures covering virtually all significant sites. The work aims to 

prevent major incidents from negatively impacting people or 

the environment. The EHS system is certified in accordance 

with ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 and SKF’s Code of Conduct 

is based on the SA8000 standards.

 reputation. SKF has put in place policies, procedures and train-

ing programmes in order to ensure that legal risks relating to 

its business activities are identified and that risk decisions are 

taken at the appropriate level. In addition, SKF legal counsels 

support the SKF units in identifying and handling legal risks. 

The legal counsels work closely with the SKF units and provide 

contract drafting and negotiation support, claim and litigation 

management, training and general advice.

Reporting and internal control risks
The Group’s systems for internal control and risk management 

in relation to the preparation of the consolidated financial and 

other statements are described in the Corporate Governance 

Report under the heading Internal control and risk manage-

ment regarding financial reporting – see page 154. Building 

on the maturity of the Group’s internal controls for financial 

reporting, SKF uses a similar approach to non-financial 

reported parameters, such as ethical, social and environ-

mental data.
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   Financial risks 

Energy and the cost of carbon can have an impact on SKF in 

several ways, e.g. via the cost of energy and raw materials and 

this is managed by systematic continuous improvement of 

energy use at SKF and in the supply chain. 

Most of SKF’s direct materials are subject to several refine-

ment stages and for that reason SKF has been less sensitive to 

raw materials price fluctuation as opposed to operating costs 

of suppliers.

Sensitivity analysis
Costs
The annual cost of raw materials and components is around 

SEK 23 billion of which steel-based products account for the 

majority. An increase/decrease of 1% in the cost of raw materials 

and components reduces/increases the operating profit by 

around SEK 230 million. Steel scrap is a major ingredient in 

making bearing steel. An isolated 10% increase/decrease in 

market scrap prices would decrease/increase SKF’s operating 

profit by around SEK 90 million.

An increase of 1% in wages and salaries (including social 

security charges) would reduce the operating profit by around 

SEK 200 million.

Depreciation and
amortization, 3%

Other, 25%

Employees, 34%

Material, 38%

Operating expenses SEK 69,325 m

Cost split 2017 
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Effect on operating profits of a 5% stronger SEK
SEKm

A decrease/increase of 1% in interest rates would have a 

positive/negative effect on the profit before tax of around 

SEK 160 million, based on the current position. The Group had 

net debt of SEK 21,274 million on 31 December 2017.

Currency impact
Translation effects: most of the operating profit is made out-

side Sweden, meaning that the Group is exposed to translation 

risks from all major currencies into the reporting currency 

SEK. Based on 2017 operating profits in local currencies, the 

graph below represents a sensitivity analysis that shows the 

effect of a 5% weaker SEK against all other currencies on the 

translation of operating profits into SEK. 

Concerning the commercial foreign exchange exposure, the 

SKF Group is exposed to currencies shown in the graph below. 

Based on the assumption that the net currency flows will be 

the same as in 2017, the graph below represents a sensitivity 

analysis that shows the effect on operating profit of a 5% 

stronger SEK against all other currencies. 
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AB SKF’s Board’s proposal for principles  
of remuneration for Group Management 

Introduction
The Board of Directors of AB SKF has decided to submit the 

following principles of remuneration for SKF’s Group Manage-

ment to the Annual General Meeting. Group Management is 

defined as the President and the other members of the man-

agement team. The principles apply in relation to members of 

Group Management appointed after the adoption of the princi-

ples, and, in other cases, to the extent permitted under exist-

ing agreements.

The objective of the principles is to ensure that the SKF Group 

can attract and retain the best people in order to support the 

SKF Group’s mission and business strategy. Remuneration for 

Group Management shall be based on market competitive con-

ditions and at the same time support the shareholders’ best 

interests. 

The total remuneration package for a Group Management 

member consists primarily of the following components: fixed 

salary, variable salary, performance shares, pension benefits, 

conditions for notice of termination and severance pay, and 

other benefits such as a company car. The components shall 

create a well-balanced remuneration reflecting individual 

 performance and responsibility as well as the SKF Group’s 

overall performance.

Fixed salary
The fixed salary of a Group Management member shall be at 

a market competitive level. It will be based on competence, 

responsibility, experience and performance. The SKF Group 

uses an internationally well-recognized evaluation system, 

International Position Evaluation (IPE), in order to evaluate the 

scope and responsibility of the position. Market benchmarks 

are conducted on a regular basis. The performance of Group 

Management members is continuously monitored and used 

as a basis for annual reviews of fixed salaries.

Variable salary
The variable salary of a Group Management member runs 

accord ing to a performance-based programme. The purpose 

of the programme is to motivate and compensate value-creating 

achievements in order to support operational and financial 

 targets.

The performance-based programme is primarily based on 

the short-term financial performance of the SKF Group estab-

lished according to the SKF financial performance management 

model called Total Value Added (TVA). TVA is a simplified, eco-

nomic value-added model. This model promotes greater oper-

ating profit, capital efficiency and profitable growth. The TVA 

profit is the operating profit, less the pre-tax cost of capital. 

The TVA result development for the SKF Group correlates well 

with the trend of the share price over a longer period of time.

The maximum variable salary according to the programme 

is capped at a certain percentage of the fixed annual salary. 

The percentage is linked to the position of the individual and 

varies between 50% and 70% for Group Management members. 

If the financial performance of the SKF Group is not in line with 

the requirements of the variable salary programme, no varia-

ble salary will be paid. The maximum variable salary will not 

exceed 70% of the accumulated annual fixed salary of Group 

Management members.

Performance Shares
Since 2008 SKF’s Annual General Meeting has resolved 

each year upon a performance share programme for senior 

managers and key employees (SKF’s Performance Share 

 Programmes 2008–2017). The Board of Directors proposes 

that a decision be taken at the Annual General Meeting on 

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2018. 

It is proposed that the programme covers a maximum of 

225 senior managers and key employees in the SKF Group, 

including Group Management, with the opportunity of being 

allotted, free of charge, SKF B shares.

The number of shares that may be allotted must be related 

to the degree of achievement of the TVA target level, as defined 

by the Board of Directors, for the TVA development for the 

financial years 2018–2020 compared to the financial year 

2017. Under the programme, no more than 1,000,000 B 

shares may be allotted.

The allocation of shares is based on the level of TVA 

increase. In order for allocation of shares to take place the TVA 

increase must exceed a certain minimum level (the threshold 

level). In addition to the threshold level a target level is set. 

Maximum allotment is awarded if the target level is reached 

or exceeded. 

Provided that the TVA increase reaches the target level, the 

participants of the programme may be allotted the following 

maximum number of shares per person within the various key 

groups:

• CEO and President: 30,000 shares

• Other members of Group Management: 13,000 shares

• Managers of large business units and similar: 4,500 shares

• Other senior managers: 3,000 shares

• Other key persons: 1,250 shares

Before the number of shares to be allotted is finally deter-

mined, the Board shall examine whether the allotment is 

 reasonable considering SKF’s financial results and position, 

the conditions on the stock market as well as other circum-

stances, and if not, as determined by the Board, reduce the 

number of shares to be awarded to the lower number of 

shares deemed appropriate by the Board.
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If the TVA increase exceeds the threshold level for allotment 

of shares but the final allotment is below 5% of the target level, 

payment will be made in cash instead of shares, whereupon 

the amount of the cash payment shall correspond to the value 

of the shares calculated on the basis of the closing price for 

SKF’s B share the day before settlement.

Assuming maximum allocation under SKF’s Performance 

Share Programme 2018 and a share price of SEK 170, the 

cost, including social security costs, is estimated at around SEK 

204 million. On the basis of a share price of SEK 220, the cost, 

in cluding social security costs, is estimated at around SEK 264 

million. In addition, administrative costs are estimated at 

around SEK 2 million.

Other benefits
The SKF Group provides other benefits to Group Management 

members in accordance with local practice. The accumulated 

value of other benefits shall, in relation to the value of the total 

remuneration, be limited and shall, as a principle, correspond 

to what is customary on the relevant market. Other benefits 

can for instance be a company car, medical insurance and 

home service.

Pension
The SKF Group strives to establish pension plans based on 

defined contribution models, which means that a premium is 

paid amounting to a certain percentage of the employee’s 

annual salary. The commitment in these cases is limited to 

the payment of an agreed premium to an insurance company 

offering pension insurance.

A Group Management member is normally covered by, in 

addition to the basic pension (for Swedish members usually the 

ITP pension plan), a supplementary defined contribution pen-

sion plan. By offering this supplementary defined contribution 

plan, it is ensured that Group Management members are enti-

tled to earn pension benefits based on the fixed annual  salary 

above the level of the basic pension. The normal retirement 

age for Group Management members is 65 years.

Notice of termination and severance pay
A Group Management member may terminate his/her employ-

ment by giving six months’ notice. In the event of termination 

of employment at the request of the company, employment 

shall cease immediately. The Group Management member shall 

however receive a severance payment related to the number 

of years’ service, provided that it shall always be maximized to 

two years’ fixed salary.

The Board of Directors’ right to deviate from the 
 principles of remuneration
In certain cases, the Board of Directors may deviate from the 

principles of remuneration decided by the Annual General 

Meeting.

Preparation of matters relating to remuneration  
for Group Management
The Board of Directors of AB SKF has established a Remuner-

ation Committee. The Committee consists of a maximum of 

four Board members. The Remuneration Committee prepares 

all matters relating to the principles of remuneration for Group 

Management, as well as the employment conditions of the 

President. The principles of remuneration for Group Manage-

ment are presented to the Board of Directors that submits a 

proposal for such principles to the Annual General Meeting for 

approval. The Board of Directors must approve the employ-

ment conditions of the President.

Information about remuneration decided upon  
but not due for payment
The structure of Group Management remuneration decided 

upon prior to the approval of these principles for remuneration 

but not due for payment is in line with these principles. In rela-

tion hereto the following should be noted:

• The Annual General Meetings 2008–2017 resolved on 

SKF’s Performance Share Programmes 2008–2017. 

• No allotment of shares was made under SKF’s Performance 

Share Programme 2009 due to non-fulfillment of the TVA 

target for the financial year 2009. Allotment of shares under 

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2010 was made in 

the beginning of 2013. Allotment of shares under SKF’s 

 Performance Share Programme 2011 was made in the 

beginning of 2014. No allotment of shares was made under 

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2012–2013 due to 

non-fulfillment of the TVA target for the financial years 

2012–2013. Allotment of shares under SKF’s Performance 

Share Programme 2014 was made in the beginning of 2017. 

Allotment of shares under SKF’s Performance Share Pro-

gramme 2015 was made in the beginning of 2018. Any 

allotment of shares under SKF’s Performance Share Pro-

gramme 2016 will be made during 2019. Any allotment of 

shares under SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2017 

will be made during 2020.

• The pension conditions of the President are described under 

Note 23 in the Annual Report.

• Certain members of Group Management have defined bene-

fit pension solutions. 

• The normal retirement age for Group Management mem-

bers is 65 years. One member of Group Management still 

have a retirement age of 62 years based on already existing 

agreement.

• Certain members of Group Management are, in the event of 

termination of employment at the request of the company, 

entitled to receive a severance payment which is not related 

to the number of years’ service, but amounting to a maxi-

mum of two years’ salary. 

Principles of remuneration for Group Management 2017 and 

remuneration of Group Management 2017, see Consolidated 

Financial Statements Note 23.
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Nomination of Board members and  
notice of Annual General Meeting

Financial position and dividend policy

In addition to specially-appointed members and deputies, 

the company’s Board of Directors shall comprise a minimum 

of five and a maximum of twelve members, with a maximum 

of five deputies. The Annual General Meeting shall, inter alia, 

determine the number of Board members and deputy Board 

members, and preside over the elections of Board members 

and deputy Board members. 

Financial performance management model
SKF’s financial performance management model is a simplified, 

economic value-added model, called Total Value Added (TVA), 

promoting a greater operating profit, capital efficiency and 

profitable growth. The TVA profit is the operating profit, less 

the pre-tax cost of capital in the country where business is 

conducted. The pre-tax cost of capital is based on a weighted 

cost of capital with a risk premium of 6% above the risk-free 

interest rate for the equity part and on actual borrowing cost. 

The TVA performance for the Group correlates well with the 

share price trend over a longer period of time. This model is 

a key component in the variable salary schemes.

Capital structure
The capital structure target is a gearing of around 50%, corre-

sponding to an equity/assets ratio of around 35% or a net debt/

equity ratio of around 80%. This underpins the Group’s finan-

cial flexibility and its ability to continue investing in its business, 

while maintaining a strong credit rating. On 31 December, 

2017, the gearing was 49.9% (55.3), the equity/assets ratio 

36.7% (33.0) and the net debt/equity ratio 71.3% (84.4). 

Financing
SKF’s policy is to have long-term financing of its operations.  

As of 31 December, 2017, the average maturity of SKF’s loans 

was four years. SKF has four notes issued on the European 

bond market. EUR 234 million due 2018, EUR 266 million per 

2019, EUR 450 million per 2020, and one with an outstanding 

amount of EUR 500 million, due 2022. According to the condi-

tions of the notes, the notes’ interest rate may increase by 5% 

in case of a change of control of the company in combination 

with a rating downgrade to a non-investment grade as a conse-

quence of this. Change of control meaning any party/concerted 

parties acquiring more than 50% of SKF’s share capital or 

SKF’s shares carrying more than 50% of the voting rights.

Notice to attend an Annual General Meeting and notice 

to attend an Extra General Meeting where an issue relating 

to a change in the Articles of Association will be dealt with, 

shall be issued no earlier than six weeks and no later than four 

weeks prior to the General Meeting. Notice to attend an Extra 

General Meeting for other matters, shall be issued no earlier 

than six weeks and no later than three weeks prior to the 

 General Meeting. 

Since SKF has  relatively standardized loan documentation 

similar conditions also apply to other loan agreements. In addi-

tion to the bonds mentioned above SKF also has two loans, one 

of EUR 200 million due in 2021 and one of USD 100 million 

due in 2027. 

In addition to its own liquidity, AB SKF had two committed 

credit facilities, one of EUR 500 million with a due date in 2019 

and one of EUR 250 million with a due date in 2020.

Credit rating
On 31 December, 2017, the Group had a BBB- rating with a 

stable outlook for long-term credit from Standard and Poor’s 

and a Baa2 rating with a neutral outlook from Moody’s Inves-

tors Service. SKF intends to keep a strong credit rating, which 

is reflected in its capital structure targets. 

Dividend
SKF’s dividend and distribution policy is based on the principle 

that the total dividend should be adapted to the trend for earn-

ings and cash flow, while taking into account the Group’s devel-

opment potential and financial position. The Board of Directors’ 

view is that the ordinary dividend should amount to around 

one half of SKF’s average net profit calculated over a business 

cycle. If the financial position of the SKF Group exceeds the tar-

gets for the capital structure an additional distribution to the 

ordinary dividend could be made in the form of a higher divi-

dend, a redemption scheme or a repurchase of the company’s 

own shares. On the other hand, in periods of more uncertainty 

a lower dividend ratio could be appropriate.

Based on the operating performance, cash generation 

capacity and outlook, the Board has decided to propose to the 

Annual General Meeting a dividend of SEK 5.50 (5.50) per 

share. This proposal is subject to a resolution by the Annual 

General Meeting in March 2018, see page 119, Proposed 

 distribution of surplus. 
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Consolidated income statements
January–December

SEKm Note 2017 2016

Net sales1) 2 77,938 72,589

Cost of goods sold1) 5, 6 –58,513 –54,832

Gross profit 19,425 17,757

Selling expenses1) 6 –10,398 –9,785

Administrative expenses 6 –414 –437

Other operating income and expenses, net 7 –21 –8

Operating profit 8,592 7,527

Financial income and expenses, net 8 –934 –788

Profit before taxes 7,658 6,739

Income tax 9 –1,898 –2,530

Net profit 5,760 4,209

Net profit attributable to:
Shareholders of AB SKF 5,475 3,985

Non-controlling interests 285 224

Basic earnings per share (SEK) 16 12.02 8.75

Diluted earnings per share (SEK) 16 12.02 8.75

Consolidated statements of comprehensive income
January–December

SEKm Note 2017 2016

Net profit 5,760 4,209

Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement
Remeasurements (actuarial gains and losses) 17 359 –1,746

Income tax 9 –512 423

–153 –1,323
Items that may be reclassified to the income statement
Currency translation adjustments –876 1,273

Available-for-sale assets 13 –101 –205

Cash flow hedges 26 0 18

Income tax 9 35 50

–942 1,136

Other comprehensive income, net of tax –1,095 –187

Total comprehensive income 4,665 4,022

Total comprehensive income attributable to 
Shareholders of AB SKF 4,446 3,714

Non-controlling interests 219 308

1) Cash discounts are from 1 January 2017 classified as a reduction of Net sales. Previously published figures have been restated accordingly.
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Comments on the consolidated income statements
Amounts in parentheses refer to comparable figures for 2016.

General
The Group’s income statement for 2017 included the result of the 

divested Reelcraft business 1  January–30 June as well as the 

result of a acquired component business in Sweden for the period 

1 November–31 December.

Net sales
In 2017, net sales amounted to SEK 77,938 m (72,589) corre-

sponding to a increase of 7,4% compared to 2016. The change of 

the Swedish krona towards other currencies had a positive impact 

in 2017 of 0.8%. Structural changes accounted for –1.6%. Net sales 

in local currencies increased by 8.2% driven by higher sales volumes 

in all geographical areas. 

Sales development  percent 
y-o-y Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Full 
year 

Organic 8.0 7.5 8.0 8.2 8.2

Structure –2.0 –2.0 –0.7 –0.6 –1.6

Currency 4.9 4.9 –3.0 –3.6 0.8

Total 10.9 10.4 4.3 4.0 7.4

Operating profit
The Operating profit amounted to SEK 8,592 m (7,527). Operating 

profit excluding items affecting comparability amounted to SEK 

9,096 m (7,544) giving an adjusted operating margin of 11.7% (10.4). 
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Operating profit development y-o-y

The operating profit was positively impacted by higher organic 

sales and manufacturing volumes as well as savings from cost 

reduction programmes. Operating profit was negatively impacted 

by sales price and customer mix development, higher costs for the 

ERP implementation, higher items affecting comparability, general 

inflation and divested companies. Operating profit 2017 included 

items affecting comparability of SEK –504 m (–17) whereof SEK 

–328 m (–576) related to the restructuring and cost reduction 

 programme, SEK –339 m net (–191) related to profit on sold 

 businesses, settlements, impairments, and write-off of assets, 

SEK 163 m (618) related to a curtailment gain due to changed 

 conditions in the defined benefit retirement plans.
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Financial income and expenses, net
The financial income and expenses, net for 2017 was SEK –934 m 

(–788). For more information about the changes year-over-year, 

see Note 8.

 

Taxes
The effective tax rate for the year was 24.8% (37.5). Taxes were 

positively impacted by the US tax reform by SEK 771 m and nega-

tively by divestments of businesses by SEK –267 m (–383). Exclud-

ing this, the effective tax rate for the year was 31.2% (31.8). For 

more information see Note 9.

Values by quarter
SEKm Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Full  
year 

Net sales 19,601 20,229 18,627 19,481 77,938

Operating profit 2,295 2,315 1,965 2,017 8,592

Profit before taxes 2,125 2,057 1,692 1,784 7,658

Basic earnings  
per share (SEK) 3.09 2.51 2.29 4.12 12.02
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Consolidated balance sheets
As of 31 December

SEKm Note 2017 2016

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 10 9,995 11,137

Other intangible assets 10 7,365 8,431

Property, plant and equipment 11 15,762 15,746

Long-term financial assets 13 1,187 1,345

Deferred tax assets 9 3,633 3,806

Other long-term assets 440 343

38,382 40,808
Current assets
Inventories 12 17,122 15,418

Trade receivables 13 13,416 13,462

Other short-term assets 14 3,664 3,133

Other short-term financial assets 13 1,507 1,147

Cash and cash equivalents 13 7,112 9,939

42,821 43,099
Total assets 81,203 83,907

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity attributable to shareholders of AB SKF 28,036 26,034

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 1,787 1,649

29,823 27,683
Non-current liabilities
Long-term financial liabilities 19 15,790 22,031

Provisions for post-employment benefits 17 12,309 13,945

Deferred tax provisions 9 1,100 1,380

Other long-term provisions 18 1,551 1,410

Other long-term liabilities 111 80

30,861 38,846
Current liabilities
Trade payables 19 7,899 7,100

Short-term provisions 18 725 814

Other short-term financial liabilities 19 2,718 1,619

Other short-term liabilities 21 9,177 7,845

20,519 17,378
Total equity and liabilities 81,203 83,907
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Comments on the consolidated balance sheets
Amounts in parentheses refer to comparable figures for 2016.

Net working capital
The 2017 target for net working capital as a percentage of sales 

was set at 25%. At 31 December 2017, it was 29.0% (29.9) consist-

ing of the following components:
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Net Working Capital

Net working capital in % of annual sales

• Inventories amounted to SEK 17,122 m (15,418) being 21.9% 

(21.1) of annual sales. The inventories decreased by some 

SEK –612 m due to a stronger Swedish krona and increased 

due to volumes by SEK 2,316 m.

• Trade receivables amounted to SEK 13,416 m (13,462) which is 

17.2% (18.5) of annual sales. The change in trade receivables was 

attributable to currencies with SEK –467 m, and to a volume 

increases of SEK 421 m. The average days of outstanding trade 

receivables were 65 days (65).

• Trade payables amounted to SEK 7,899 m (7,100) corresponding 

to 10.1% (9.8) of annual sales. The change attributable to curren-

cies was SEK –111 m and the remaining SEK 910 m was due to 

volume increase.

Plant and property
Plant and property amounted to SEK 15,762 m (15,746) at  

31 December, 2017. This was as a percentage of annual sales 20.2% 

(21.6). The change attributable to currencies was SEK –289 m.
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Net debt
Net debt amounted to SEK 21,274 m (23,357) at the end of 2017, 

representing an improvement of SEK 2,083 m compared to previ-

ous year. 

Post-employment benefit provisions totalled SEK 12,229 m 

(13,892) at year end,  representing a net decrease of SEK 1,663 m 

(882), which was  attributable to:

• Cash payments of SEK –1,801 m (–1,853), including a one-time 

 contribution of SEK –724 m (858).

• Actuarial gains and losses of SEK –359 m (1,746). 

• Expenses of SEK 606 m (355), which included a  curtailment gain 

of SEK 163 m. 

• The remainder was attributable to currency translation 

 differences.

 

Loans totalled SEK 17,479 m (20,399), at the end of 2017, repre-

senting a decrease of SEK 2,920 m. The decrease was primarily 

attributable to net repayments of SEK 3,141 m and currency 

translation effects of SEK 182 m mainly related to EUR.
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Equity
During the year, equity increased from SEK 27,683 m to SEK 

29,823 m. Net profit amounted to SEK 5,760 m (4,209) and 

 dividends paid were SEK 2,618 m (2,635). Currency translation had 

a negative effect of SEK –876 m (1,273). Remeasurments had a net 

of tax effect of SEK –118 m (1,323). Tax losses on remeasurments 

are related to Post-employmement benefits and are affected by the 

US tax reform with SEK –401 m.

The capital structure target for the Group is a gearing of around 

50%, corresponding to an equity/assets ratio of around 35% or a net 

debt/equity ratio of around 80%. This underpins the Group’s finan-

cial flexibility and its ability to continue investing in its business. On 

31 December, 2017, the gearing was 49.9% (55.3), the equity/assets 

ratio 36.7% (33.0) and the net debt/equity ratio 71.3% (84.4).
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Consolidated statements of cash flow
Years ended 31 December

SEKm Note 2017 2016

Operating activities
Operating profit 8,592 7,527

Adjustments for
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 6 2,323 2,368

Net gain on sales of businesses, property, plant and equipment and shares –46 –8

Other non-cash items 534 123

Income taxes paid –2,353 –1,897

Contributions to and payments under post-employment defined benefit plans 17 –1,077 –995

Changes in working capital
Inventories –2,316 –306

Trade receivables –421 –1,200

Trade payables 910 1,217

Other operating assets and liabilities, net 927 264

Interest and other financial items –644 57

Net cash flow from operating activities 6,429 7,150

Investing activities
Additions to intangible assets 10 –165 –340

Additions to property, plant and equipment 11 –2,243 –1,869

Sales of property, plant,equipment, and intangible assets 10, 11 136 75

Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents 3 –27 –60

Divestments of businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents 4 892 3,146

Income taxes paid related to divestments –267 –383

Investment in/sale of equity securities –2 –2

Net cash flow used in investing activities –1,676 567
Net cash flow after investments before financing 4,753 7,717

Financing activities
Proceeds from medium- and long-term loans 1,124 96

Repayments of medium- and long-term loans –4,265 –2,086

Other financing items –780 16

Cash dividends to shareholders of AB SKF and non-controlling interests –2,618 –2,635

Funding of post-employment benefits 17 –724 –858

Tax payment related to funding of post-employment benefits 277 332

Investments in financial assets –1,369 –653

Sales of financial assets 913 570

Net cash flow used in financing activities –7,442 –5,218

Net cash flow – 2,689 2,499
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 9,939 7,218

Translation effect –138 222

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 7,112 9,939

The Board of Directors’ 

 proposed distribution of 

 surplus for the year 2017, 

which is subject to approval 

at the Annual General Meet-

ing in March 2018, includes 

an ordinary dividend of SEK 

5.50 per share, see Note 15.
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Comments on the consolidated statements of cash flow
Amounts in parentheses refer to comparable figures for 2016.

The consolidated statements of cash flow have been adjusted for 

exchange rate effects arising upon the translation of foreign sub-

sidiaries’ balance sheets to Swedish krona, as these do not 

 represent cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand, bank 

deposits, debt securities and other liquid investments that have 

a maturity of three months or less at the time of the investment.

Cash flow after investments before financing
Cash flow after investments before financing, which is the  primary 

cash flow measure used in the Group, reached SEK 4,753 m (7,717)

in 2017. Adjusted for acquisitions and divestments of businesses, 

the cash flow amounted to SEK 4,155 m (5,014). 
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Other non-cash items included expenses for which the cash flow 

has not yet occurred. The most significant items were related to 

unrealized exchange differences and expenses on the post-employ-

ment benefits. 

Interest and other financial items included interest paid of SEK 

407 m (382), interest received of SEK 42 m (76), and the remainder 

related primarily to realised derivatives on commercial flows 

between Group companies.

During the year the Group divested the Reelcraft business, which 

generated SEK 625 m, net of income tax, payments. 

Cash flow used in financing activities
The Group’s debt structure improved in 2017 through the repay-

ment of the EUR 300 m loan due in 2020. 
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Cash flow used in financing activities included a payment of SEK 

447 m (526), net of taxes, related to a contribution to the defined 

benefit retirement plan in the US.

Other financing items amounted to SEK –780 m and included the 

effects of closing derivative contracts and interest costs related to 

the EUR 300 m loan repayment.

Change in net debt (SEKm)
2017  

Closing  balance
Cash  

change
Businesses 

acquired/sold 

Other  
non-cash 
changes

Translation 
effect

2017  
Opening 
 balance

Loans1) 17,479 –3,141 4 35 182 20,399

Post-employment benefits, net2) 12,229 –1,801 — 207 –69 13,892

Other short-term financial assets3) –1,322 –340 — –5 18 –995

Cash and cash equivalents –7,112 2,679 10 — 138 –9,939

Net debt 21,274 –2,603 14 237 269 23,357

Derivatives4) included in Other financing items 473 –545 — –1,269 — 2,287

Change in net debt (SEKm)
2016  

Closing  balance
Cash  

change
Businesses 

acquired/sold 

Other  
non-cash 
changes

Translation 
effect

2016  
Opening 
 balance

Loans1) 20,399 –1,990 — 158 882 21,349

Post-employment benefits, net2) 13,892 –1,853 –25 2,072 688 13,010

Other short-term financial assets3) –995 –75 — 1 –49 –872

Cash and cash equivalents –9,939 –2,579 80 — –222 –7,218

Net debt 23,357 –6,497 55 2,231 1,299 26,269

Derivatives4) included in Other financing items 2,287 — — 646 — 1,641

1) Excludes derivatives, see Note 19.

2)  Cash changes are split SEK –1,077 m (–995) in operating activities 

and SEK –724 m (–858) in financing activities. Other non-cash 

changes includes remeasurements as well as expenses on defined 

benefit plans, see Note 17. 

3)  Other short-term financial assets excludes derivatives, see Note 13. 

Cash change of SEK –340 m is explained by Investment in financial 

assets of SEK 1,138 m and sale of financial assets of SEK 798 m.

4)  Financing activities to hedge short and long term loans. Other financing 

items in cash flow includes cash flow from derivatives as stated in the 

table and interest premie for the repayment of loans.
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Consolidated statements of changes in equity
Equity attributable to owners of AB SKF

SEKm
Share 

 capital
Share 

 premium

Available- 
for-sale 
 reserve

Hedging 
 reserve

Translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Subtotal

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total

Opening balance 1 January, 2016 1,138 564 512 –15 –256 22,872 24,815 1,467 26,282
Net profit — — — — — 3,985 3,985 224 4,209

Components of other  comprehensive income
Currency translation adjustments — — — — 1,189 — 1,189 84 1,273

 Change in fair value of  available-for-sale assets  
and cash flow hedges — — –205 16 — — –189 — –189

 Release of available-for-sale assets  
and cash flow hedges — — — 2 — — 2 — 2

Remeasurements — — — — — –1,746 –1,746 — –1,746

Income taxes — — — –4 54 422 472 1 473

Transactions with shareholders
Non-controlling interest — — — — — –4 –4 4 —

Cost for Performance Share  Programmes, net1) — — — — — 14 14 — 14

Dividends — — — — — –2,504 –2,504 –131 –2,635

Closing balance 31 December, 2016 1,138 564 307 –1 987 23,039 26,034 1,649 27,683

Net profit — — — — — 5,475 5,475 285 5,760

Components of other  comprehensive income
Currency translation adjustments — — — — –809 — –809 –67 –876

 Change in fair value of  available-for-sale assets  
and cash flow hedges — — –101 — — — –101 — –101

 Release of available-for-sale assets and cash  
flow hedges — — — — — — — — —

Remeasurements — — — — — 358 358 1 359

Income taxes — — — — 35 –512 –477 — –477

Transactions with shareholders
Non-controlling interest — — — — — –33 –33 33 —

Cost for Performance Share  Programmes, net1) — — — — — 93 93 — 93

Dividends — — — — — –2,504 –2,504 –114 –2,618

Closing balance 31 December, 2017 1,138 564 206 –1 213 25,916 28,036 1,787 29,823

1) See Note 23 for details. 

Available-for-sale reserve
The available-for-sale reserve accumulates changes in the fair 

value of available-for-sale assets, net of tax, with the exception of 

any dividends and any impairment losses, which are recognized 

directly in the income statement. See Note 13 for details on available- 

for-sale assets. 

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve accumulates activity related to cash flow 

hedges, net of tax, being both changes in fair value as well as 

amounts released to the income statement. See Note 26 for details 

on hedging activity.

Translation reserve
Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional 

currencies of the SKF Group’s foreign subsidiaries into SEK are 

 accumulated in the translation reserve. Upon the sale of a foreign 

operation, the accumulated translation amounts are recycled to the 

income statement and included in the gain or loss on the disposal. 

Additionally, gains and losses on hedging instruments meeting the 

criteria for hedges of net investments in foreign operations, are 

recognized in the translation reserve net of tax. See Note 26 for 

details. 

Non-controlling interests
The category non-controlling interests accumulates the portion 

of a subsidiary’s equity that is not attributable to the Group for 

 sub sidiaries where the Group owns less than 100%. The largest 

non-controlling interest is SEK 1,217 m (1,095) relating to SKF 

India Ltd, representing a 47.7% (46.4) shareholding. This represents 

4.1% (4.0) of the Group’s total equity and is not considered by man-

agement to be  significant. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Amounts in SEKm unless otherwise stated. Amounts in parentheses refer to comparable figures for 2016.

Basis of presentation 
The consolidated financial statements of the SKF Group are pre-

pared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stand-

ards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU). Furthermore, 

the Group is in compliance with the Swedish Financial Reporting 

Board’s RFR 1, Supplementary Accounting Rules for Groups, as 

well as their interpretations (UFR).

The Annual Report of the Parent company, AB SKF, has been 

signed by the Board of Directors on 2 March, 2018. The income 

statement and balance sheet, and the consolidated income state-

ment and consolidated balance sheets are subject to adoption at 

the Annual General Meeting on 27 March, 2018. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the his-

torical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies 

below or in respective note.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the Parent company, 

AB SKF and those companies in which it directly or indirectly exer-

cises control, and hereafter is referred to as “the Group”, “SKF” or 

“the SKF Group”. Control exists when the Group has the right to 

direct the relevant activities of a company, is exposed to variable 

returns and can use those rights to affect those returns. For the 

vast majority of the Group’s subsidiaries, control exists via 100% 

ownership. There is also a very limited number of subsidiaries con-

trolled by SKF where ownership is between 50%–100%. The largest 

of such companies is SKF India Ltd. which is a publicly listed com-

pany in India of which the Group has  control via ownership of 52.3% 

of the voting rights. For the subsidiaries where less than 100% is 

owned, the non-controlling interests are shown separately within 

equity. 

Translation of foreign financial statements and items 
denominated in foreign currency
AB SKFs functional currency is the Swedish krona (SEK), which is 

also the Group’s reporting currency.

All foreign subsidiaries report in their functional currency, being 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 

subsidiary operates. Upon consolidation, all balance sheet items are 

translated to the Swedish krona based on the year-end exchange 

rates. Income statement items are translated at average exchange 

rates. The accumulated exchange differences arising from these 

trans lations are recognized via other comprehensive income to 

the translation reserve in equity. Such translation differences are 

reclassified into the income statement in case of a disposal of the 

foreign operation.

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year have been 

translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the respective trans-

action date. 

Assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency, prim-

arily receivables and payables and loans, have been translated at 

the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange 

gains and losses related to trade receivables and payables and 

other operating receivables and payables are included in other 

operating income and other operating expenses. The exchange 

gains and losses relating to other financial assets and liabilities are 

included in financial income and financial expenses.

Exchange rates
The following exchange rates have been used when translating the 

financial statements of foreign subsidiaries operating in the coun-

tries shown below into SEK:

Average rates Year-end rates

Country Unit Currency 2017 2016 2017 2016

Argentina 1 ARS 0.51 0.58 0.43 0.57

China 1 CNY 1.26 1.29 1.26 1.31

EMU countries 1 EUR 9.63 9.45 9.48 9.56

India 100 INR 13.11 12.73 12.88 13.39

Brazil 1 BRL 2.67 2.47 2.48 2.79

United Kingdom 1 GBP 11.03 11.58 11.11 11.17

USA 1 USD 8.54 8.56 8.22 9.09

Revenue 
Revenue consists of sales of products or services in the normal 

course of business. Service revenues are defined as business activ-

ities, billed to a customer, that do not include physical products or 

where the supply of any product is subsidiary to the fulfilment of 

the contract. Sales are recorded net of allowances for volume 

rebates and sales returns. Accruals for such allowances are 

recorded at the time of revenue recognition. 

Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue from the 

sale of goods and services is generally recognized when (1) there is 

no longer any continuing managerial involvement over the goods, 

(2) the revenue can be measured reliably, (3) the collection of the 

amounts due is reasonably assured (4) any costs in respect of the 

sale are identifiable and can be measured reliably.

Contracts and customer purchase orders are generally used to 

determine the existence of an arrangement. Shipping documents 

and customer acceptances are used, when applicable, to verify 

delivery. Collectability is assessed based primarily on the credit 

worthiness of the customer as determined by credit limit control 

and approval procedures, as well as the customer’s payment his-

tory. 

Revenues from service and/or maintenance contracts where the 

service is delivered to the customer over time are accounted for on 

a straight-line basis over the duration of the contract or under the 

percentage of completion method, which is based on the ratio of 

actual costs incurred to total estimated costs expected to be 

incurred. 

Any anticipated losses on contracts are recognized in full in the 

period in which losses become probable and estimable.

 

  1     Accounting policies  
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
Management believes that the following areas contain the most 

key judgements and the most significant sources of estimation 

uncertainty used in the preparation of the financial statements, 

where a different opinion or estimate could lead to significant 

changes to the Group’s financial statements in the upcoming year.

• Judgement on the realizability of deferred tax assets (Note 9)

• Judgements used in the recognition of internally developed 

software (Note 10)

• Estimates and key assumptions used in impairment testing  

of intangibles (Note 10)

• Significant assumptions used in the calculation of the post- 

employment benefit obligations (Note 17)

• Judgements used in the recognition and disclosure of  

provisions and contingent liabilities (Note 18)

New accounting principles
New accounting principles 2017
IASB issued and endorsed several amended accounting standards 

effective starting 1 January, 2017. None of these had a material 

impact on the SKF Group’s financial statements.

New accounting principles 2018
IASB issued and endorsed several amended accounting standards 

effective starting 1 January, 2018. None of these are expected to 

have a material impact on the SKF Group’s financial statements. 

IASB has also issued and endorsed two new accounting standards 

effective from 1 January, 2018; IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and 

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 
 The standard includes a logical model for classification and meas-

urement, a single, forward-looking ‘expected loss’ impairment 

model and a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting.

For SKF Group, the new accounting standard has a limited 

impact on the accounting for financial instruments. There is no 

effect regarding Classification and Measurement. For impairment, 

the impact from the expected loss model is immaterial. For hedge 

accounting, there is no effect. Since the effects are immaterial, 

there will be no transition impact to the opening balances for 2018.

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
IFRS 15 establishes principles for reporting useful information to 

users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and 

uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s con-

tracts with customers.

Revenue consists of sales of products or services in the normal 

course of business. The vast majority of the Group’s sales are prod-

uct sales and are recognized at a point in time. Service and/or 

maintenance contracts where the service is delivered to the cus-

tomer over time are accounted for on a straight-line basis over the 

duration of the contract or under the percentage of completion 

method. SKF is aligned with the revenue recognition method 

according to IFRS 15 when selling products or services. The new 

standard has a limited impact to the accounting of service con-

tracts where the supply of products is linked to the fulfilment of the 

contract. The impact is seen in the timing of when revenues for 

these products are recognized and it also impacts the classification 

between services and products. There is no material impact of the 

new accounting standard in light of the limited magnitude of such 

contracts for the SKF Group. Since the effects are immaterial, 

there will be no transition impact to the opening balances for 2018.

Other new accounting principles issued but not yet effective
The following have been issued by the IASB and are effective for 

annual periods after 2018 as noted. 

IFRS 16 ”Leases” is effective as of 1 January 2019. For lessees, the 

standard eliminates the classification of leases as either operating 

or finance, as required by IAS 17, and instead introduces a single 

lease accounting model. Applying that model a lessee is required to 

recognize, (a) assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of 

more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value; 

and (b) depreciation of leased assets separately from interest on 

lease liabilities in the income statement. 

The implementation of the new standard will have a material 

impact on the financial statements for the Group. When imple-

menting the new standard, the depreciation charge will be lower 

than the current leasing fee and will therefore have a positive 

effect on operating profit. Net financing costs will increase and 

include interest on lease liabilities. The total impact in the income 

statement will be higher in the beginning of the lease term when 

the lease liability is higher and decrease during the lease term 

when the liability is being amortized. Cash flow from operating 

activities will be higher when lease payments are reclassified to 

the section financing activities in the cash flow statement.

The assessment of the full impact of the new standard is ongoing. 

In note 20, the current leasing commitments are disclosed. SKF will 

implement the new standard from 1 January, 2019. The modified 

retrospective method will be used.

Reclassifications made to previously published 
 financial information
Cash discounts are from 1 January 2017 classified as a reduction 

of Net sales. Previously published figures have been restated 

accordingly.

Reclassifications to the income statement
Expenses totalling to SEK 198 m have in 2016 been reclassified 

from cost of goods sold and selling expenses to net sales to corre-

spond with the classification of these expenses in 2017.

As previously 
reported 2016

Restated  
2016

Net sales 72,787 72,589

Cost of goods sold –54,984 –54,832

Gross profit 17,803 17,757

Selling expenses –9,831 –9,785

Administrative expenses –437 –437

Other income and expenses, net –8 –8

Operating profit 7,527 7,527

The consolidated balance sheets and statements of cash flow have 

not been impacted by the reclassification above.

Cont. Note 1 
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Each operating segment is defined as those business activities that 

may earn revenues or incur expenses, whose operating results are 

regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (CODM) 

and for which discrete financial information is available. In the case 

of SKF, the CODM is defined as Group Management which make 

decisions about allocation of resources to the segments and also to 

assess their performance on a regular basis. The internal reporting 

package comprises two segments, Industrial and Automotive. 

This segment information includes sales and operating profit 

related to all significant industrial and automotive customers. Sales 

and other transactions between segments are based on market 

conditions. Segment profit represents the business result gener-

ated by the capital employed of the segment and includes allocated 

corporate expenses and eliminations.

Segment assets include all operating assets used and controlled 

by a segment and consist principally of property plant and equip-

ment, intangible assets, external trade receivables and inventories. 

Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities used and con-

trolled by a segment and consist principally of external trade paya-

bles, other provisions as well as accruals. Reconciling items to the 

Group’s reported assets and liabilities include consolidation elimi-

nations, all tax-related balances as well as items of a financial, 

interest bearing nature, including post-employment benefit assets 

and provisions.

Asymmetrical allocations affecting the segments relate primarily 

to post-employment benefits where non-financial expenses are 

allocated to the segments although the related provision is not.

Additionally inter-segment receivables and payables relating to 

sales between segments, are not allocated to the segments as such 

items are sold to and settled directly with SKF Treasury Centre, the 

Group’s internal bank, thereby becoming financial in nature.

Industrial is structured according to a functional approach and 

is managed as one segment comprising six different functional 

organizations: Industrial Sales Americas, Industrial Sales Europe 

and Middle East and Africa, Industrial Sales Asia, Industrial Units, 

Bearing Operations, and Aerospace. 

Industrial sells to customers in the global industrial market, 

directly and indirectly through SKF’s worldwide distributor net-

work. Key customers are companies within heavy industry (such as 

metals, mining, cement, pulp and paper, and off-highway), general 

industry (such as automation, machine tool and industrial drives), 

railway, marine and energy (such as wind, oil and gas) and aero-

space. These customer industries are served both directly to OEMs 

and end-users as well as indirectly through SKF’s network of 

industrial distributors. 

Automotive sells to customers in the global automotive market, 

directly or indirectly through SKF’s distributor network. Key cus-

tomers are manufacturers of cars, light and heavy trucks, trailers, 

buses, two-wheelers and the vehicle aftermarket. 

For more information on the customer industries and related 

products, see the Administration report pages 56–59.

Previously published segment figures for 2016 have been restated 

to reflect a change in classification of smaller customers. Net sales 

moved between segments for 2016 amounted to SEK 44 m.

Notes Group

  2     Segment information  

Net sales by customer industry – Industrial Net sales by customer industry – Automotive

Cars and light trucks, 49%1
Vehicle aftermarket, 27%2
Trucks, 17%3
Two-wheelers and Electrical, 6%4
Other, 1%5

Industrial distribution, 41%1
Industry, general, 17%2
Industry, heavy and special, 11%3
Aerospace, 8%4
Energy, 8%5
Off-highway, 6%6
Railway, 6%7
Other, 3%8

1

2

3

4

1

2
3

4

5

6
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Cars and light trucks, 15% 
Cars and light truck manufacturers 
and their sub- suppliers.

1Industrial distribution, 29% 
Sales through industrial distributors. 

1

Industry, general, 12% 
Automation, machine tools, industrial drives, 
medical and health care.

2

Industry, heavy and special, 8% 

Heavy industrial machinery: metals, mining 
and cement, pulp and paper. Special 
machinery: marine, food and beverage. 

3

Aerospace, 5% 

Manufacturer of aircrafts and  helicopters, aero- 
engine, gearboxes and other aircraft systems.

4

Energy, 6% 

Renewable and traditional energy. 
5

Railway, 4% 

Passenger, locomotives and freight cars.
6

Off-highway, 4% 

Construction, agriculture and forestry 
machines and fork lift trucks.

7

Vehicle aftermarket, 9% 

Spare-part kits products for cars, 
trucks and two- wheelers.

2

Trucks, 6% 

Truck, trailer and bus manufac turers 
and their sub-suppliers. 

3

Two-wheelers and  Electrical, 2% 

Motorcycles, scooters, skates, 
home appliances, portable power 
tools and electric motors. 

4

1

1
2

2

3

4
7

6
543

5
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Cont. Note 2 

Net sales are allocated according to the location of the respective 

 customer. Of the Group’s total net sales by customer location, 20% 

(21) were located in the USA, 15% (14) in China, and 12% (12) in 

 Germany. Non-current assets exclude financial assets, deferred tax 

assets and post-employment benefit assets.  Non-current assets 

are allocated according to the location of the subsidiaries. Of the 

Group’s total non-current assets as defined above, 36% (40) were 

located in the USA, 16% (15) in Germany, and 10% (10) in China. 

Net sales
 Sales including  

intra-Group sales
Contribution to  
profit before tax

SEKm 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Industrial 53,972 50,588 60,788 57,053 7,271 6,108

Automotive 23,966 22,001 25,401 23,423 1,321 1,419

Subtotal operating segments 77,938 72,589 86,189 80,476 8,592 7,527
Other units — — — 38 — —

Eliminations of intra Group sales — — –8,251 – 7,925 — —

Financial net — — — — –934 –788

Total 77,938 72,589 77,938 72,589 7,658 6,739

Depreciation and  
amortization  Impairments

 Additions to property,  
plant and equipment  
and  intangible assets

SEKm 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Industrial 1,829 1,851 59 50 1,251 1,229

Automotive 431 450 4 17 594 520

Eliminations and unallocated items — — — — 563 460

Total 2,260 2,301 63 67 2,408 2,209

Assets Liabilities

SEKm 2017 2016 2017 2016

Industrial 47,423 48,727 9,764 9,370

Automotive 14,470 14,055 5,206 4,714

Subtotal operating segments 61,893 62,782 14,970 14,084
Financial and tax items 14,415 16,805 31,784 36,335

Eliminations and other unallocated items 4,895 4,320 4,626 5,805

Total 81,203 83,907 51,380 56,224

Geographic disclosure  
SEKm

Net sales by  
customer location Non-current assets

2017 2016 2017 2016

Sweden 2,011 1,784 4,020 3,776

Europe excl. Sweden 29,359 27,533 11,577 11,093

North America (incl. Mexico) 18,544 18,202 12,082 15,273

Asia-Pacific 21,249 19,031 4,858 5,165

Middle East/Africa 2,070 1,931 84 86

Latin America 4,705 4,108 1,423 710

Eliminations — — –562 –499

Total 77,938 72,589 33,482 35,604

Notes Group

Latin America, 8%

Middle East/Africa, 2%

Asia-Pacific, 26%

North America, 23%

Europe, 41%

Net sales by geographic area

Latin America, 6%

Middle East/Africa, 3%

Asia-Pacific, 26%

North America, 25%

Europe, 40%

Net sales by geographic area 
 Industrial

Latin America, 12%

Asia-Pacific, 26%

North America, 19%

Europe, 43%

Net sales by geographic area 
 Automotive



79SKF Annual Report 2017 

Notes Group

Accounting policy 
All business combinations are accounted for in accordance with  

the purchase method. At the date of acquisition, when control is 

obtained, the acquired assets, assumed liabilities and contingent 

liabilities (net identifiable assets) are measured at fair value.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over fair values of net ident-

ifiable assets of the acquired business is recognized as goodwill. 

Companies acquired during the year are included in the financial 

statements as of acquisition date.

SEKm 2017 2016

Total fair value of net assets acquired
Property, plant and equipment 12 1

Current assets 4 26

Non-current liabilities –4 —

Current liabilities –2 –19

Fair value net assets acquired 10 8
Goodwill 17 56

Total acquisition cost 27 64
Cash and cash equivalents acquired — –4

Cash outflow 27 60

In 2017, SKF had a total net cash outflow of SEK 27 m for the 

acquisition of a component business in Sweden.

In 2016, SKF had total net cash outflows of SEK 60 m for the 

acquisition of a lubrication business in Sweden.

 

SEKm 2017 2016

Goodwill 518 1,791

Other intangible assets 276 1,319

Property, plant and equipment 40 212

Current assets 164 590

Deferred tax provisions –61 –518

Non current liabilities –4 –2

Current liabilities –55 –192

Net assets disposed of 878 3,200
Profit 24 15

Total consideration 902 3,215
Cash and cash equivalents divested –10 –84

Cash inflow for divestments in  
previous years — 15

Total cash inflow 892 3,146

During 2017, the Group divested businesses for a total cash flow 

of SEK 892 m resulting in a net gain of SEK 24 m.

In June 2017, SKF completed the divestments of the Reelcraft 

business to Madison Industrial Solutions corporation. The total 

consideration of the divestment was around USD 107 m on a cash-

free and debt-free basis.

During 2016, the Group divested businesses for a total cash flow 

of SEK 3,146 m resulting in a profit of SEK 15 m.

In June 2016, SKF completed the divestments of the Fly-by-wire 

business to LORD corporation. The total consideration of the divest-

ment was around EUR 40 m on a cash-free and debt-free basis. 

Also divested in June 2016 was Kaydon Velocity Control business 

to Stabilus. The total consideration of the deal was approximately 

USD 340 m on a cash-free and debt-free basis.

  3     Acquisitions  

  4     Divestment of businesses  
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Research and development expenditure, excluding developing IT 

solutions, totalled SEK 2,395 m (2,246), corresponding to 3.1% 

(3.1) of annual sales. 

SEKm 2017 2016

Employee benefit expenses including social charges 23,540 22,770

Raw material and components consumed, including traded products 24,756 22,964

Change in work in process and finished goods 1,513 1,275

Depreciation, amortization and impairments 2,323 2,368

Other expenses, primarily purchased services, shop supplies and utilities 17,193 15,875

Total operating expenses 69,325 65,252

Depreciation, amortization and impairments 
were accounted for as (SEKm)

2017 2016

Depre ciation Amorti zation Impairments Total Depre ciation Amorti zation Impairments Total

Cost of goods sold 1,690 96 36 1,822 1,711 101 19 1,831

Selling expenses 98 376 27 501 102 387 48 537

Total 1,788 472 63 2,323 1,813 488 67 2,368

0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.5 SEKbn

2.0

0

1

2

3

4

% 5

Research and development Research and development % of net sales

2017201620152013 2014

Research and development % of net sales

  5     Research and development  

  6     Expenses by nature  

  7     Other operating income and expenses  

SEKm 2017 2016

Other operating income
Exchange gains on trade receivables/payables 460 303

Profit from sale of property, plant and equipment 14 34

Profit from associated companies 9 8

Profit from divestment of businesses 24 174

Other 75 123

Total 582 642

Other operating expenses
Exchange losses on trade receivables/payables –537 –365

Loss from sale of property, plant and equipment –21 –23

Loss on divestment of businesses — –159

Other –45 –103

Total –603 –650
Other operating income and expenses, net –21 –8
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Accounting policy
Income tax include current taxes on profits, deferred taxes and 

other taxes such as taxes on capital, actual or potential withholding 

on current and expected transfers of income from Group compa-

nies and tax adjustments relating to prior years. Income taxes are 

recognized in the income statement, except to the extent that they 

relate to items directly taken to other comprehensive income or to 

equity, in which case they are recognized in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity.

All the companies within the Group compute current income taxes 

in accordance with the tax rules and regulations of the countries 

where the income is taxable. Provisions have been made in the 

financial statements for estimated taxes on earnings of subsidiaries 

expected to be remitted in the following year, but not for taxes, 

which may arise on distribution of the remaining unrestricted 

earnings of  foreign  subsidiaries as they can be distributed free of 

tax or as the Group does not intend to internally distribute them 

in the foreseeable future.

The Group applies the required balance sheet approach for 

measuring deferred taxes, where deferred tax assets and provisions 

are recorded based on enacted tax rates for the expected future tax 

consequences when the asset is realized or debt reglated. These tax 

rates are applied on existing differences between accounting and 

tax reporting bases of assets and liabilities, as well as for tax loss 

and tax credit carry-forwards. Such tax loss and tax credit carry- 

forwards can be used to  offset future income. 

SEKm 2017 2016

Interest income 109 107

Interest expense –677 –436

Net gains/losses:

Net interest cost on post-employment benefits –316 –355

Exchange differences, net 35 –38

Other financial income including dividends 67 56

Other financial expense –152 –122

Financial net –934 –788

Interest expense amounted to SEK –677 m (–436), and included 

SEK –250 m related to the debt repurchase of EUR 300 m, while 

the effect from the related derivative was SEK 160 m. Total net 

expense for the debt repurchase amounted to SEK –90 m. Other 

financial expense included costs related to unwinding the dis count 

on provisions, bank charges and other transaction- related costs.

The below table specifies which category of financial instrument 

that gave rise to the financial income and expense as described 

above. For a specification of the underlying financial assets and 

financial liabilities to these categories see Note 13 and Note 19.

2017 2016

Financial net specified by category of financial instruments (SEKm)
Interest 
 income

Interest 
 expense

Net gains/ 
losses

Interest 
 income

Interest 
 expense

Net gains/ 
losses

Financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Designated upon initial recognition –8 — — –16 — —

Derivatives held for trading 1 –31 1 731 — 21 –76

Derivatives held for hedge accounting — — 1 — — 2

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables 116 — –1 171 123 — 1,043

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale — — 2 — — —

Other financial liabilities, primarily loans — –646 –461 — –457 –952

Other liabilities including post-employment benefits — — –468 — — –476

Total 109 –677 –366 107 –436 –459

Derivatives classified as held for trading are mainly used for economic 

hedging. Net gains/losses are mainly exchange differences and 

changes in fair value for all the categories except for other liabilities, 

which includes primarily net interest costs on post-employment 

 benefits and other financial expenses. 

  8     Financial income and financial expenses 

  9     Taxes 
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2017 2016

Gross deferred taxes per type (SEKm)
Deferred tax 

assets
Deferred tax 

 provisions
Deferred tax 

assets
Deferred tax 

 provisions

Intangibles and other assets –104 1,314 –130 2,347

Property, plant and equipment –18 831 –31 999

Inventories –479 377 –469 455

Trade receivables –66 6 –77 5

Provisions for post-employment benefits –2,428 44 –3,240 36

Other accruals and liabilities –633 20 –770 16

Tax loss carry-forwards –1,123 — –1,264 —

Tax credit carry-forwards –309 — –305 —

Other –47 82 –114 116

Gross deferred taxes –5,207 2,674 –6,400 3,974

Net deferred taxes presented in the Consolidated balance sheet –3,633 1,100 –3,806 1,380

Accounting estimates and judgements
Significant management judgment is required in determining cur-

rent tax liabilities and assets as well as deferred tax provisions and 

assets. The process involves estimating the current tax together 

with assessing temporary differences arising from differing treat-

ment of items for tax and accounting purposes. In particular, 

 management assesses the likelihood that deferred tax assets will 

be recoverable from future taxable income. 
Deferred tax assets are recorded to the extent that it is probable 

in management’s opinion that sufficient future taxable income will 

be  available to allow the  recognition of such benefits.

Cont. Note 9

2017 2016

Tax expense (SEKm)
Income 

 statement

Other 
 comprehensive 

income Total taxes
Income 

 statement

Other 
 comprehensive 

income Total taxes

Current taxes –2,405 — –2,405 –2,198 — –2,198

Deferred taxes 507 –477 30 –332 473 141

Total –1,898 –477 –2,375 –2,530 473 –2,057

Taxes charged to other comprehensive income included SEK –512 m 

(423) related to remeasurements of post employment benefits, 

SEK 0 m (–4) related to cash flow hedges and SEK 35 m (54) related 

to net investment hedges. Of the amount related to remeasurements 

of post employment benefits, SEK –401 m are related to the US tax 

reform.

Reconciliation of the statutory tax in Sweden to the actual tax (SEKm) 2017 2016

Tax calculated using statutory tax rate in Sweden –1,685 –1,483

Difference between statutory tax rate in Sweden and foreign subsidiaries –346 –520

Other taxes –102 –106

Tax credits and similar items 177 97

Non-deductible/non-taxable profit items –495 –419

Change in tax rate 771 —

Tax loss carry-forwards –111 –105

Current tax referring to previous years –119 –17

Other 12 23

Actual tax –1,898 –2,530

The corporate statutory income tax rate in Sweden was 22% (22.0).

The actual tax rate on profit before taxes was 24,8% (37.5). 

Taxes were positively impacted by the US tax reform by SEK 771 m 

and negatively by divestments of businesses by SEK –267 m (–383). 

Excluding this, the effective tax rate for the year was 31.2% (31.8). 

The tax loss carry-forwards included losses created during 

the year not recognized as tax assets.
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Accounting policy
Intangible assets are stated at initial cost less any accumulated 

amortization and any impairment. Amortization is made on a 

straight line basis over the estimated useful lives and begins once 

the asset is ready for its intended use. The ERP system (Unite) 

 follows another amortization pattern, as described below under 

Internally developed intangibles. The useful lives are based to 

a large extent on historical experience, the expected application, 

as well as other individual characteristics of the asset.

The useful lives are:

• Patents and similar rights up to 11 years;

• Software in use 4–12 years;

• Customer relationships 10–15 years;

• Product development expenditures 3–7 years;

• Technology acquired in business combinations 15–18 years;

• Other intangibles 3–5 years;

• Strategic tradenames indefinite

• Goodwill indefinite

Amortization and impairments are included in cost of goods sold, 

selling expenses or administrative expenses depending on where 

the assets have been used.

Internally developed intangibles
The Group’s most significant internally developed intangibles are 

software in use, developed for internal purposes and to a minor 

extent product development. The amortization plan for Unite is a 

straight line method following the implementation plan during the 

useful life period of twelve years. This amortization plan reflects 

when the assets will be ready for its intended use in each of the 

SKF legal units. For 2018 and 2019, the yearly amortization will be 

around 3% of the amount capitalized for Unite at the end of 2017. 

Capitalized costs during 2017 start being amortized during 2018 

and the original useful life for the asset remains, which expects to 

end in 2028.

Intangible assets with definite useful lives
Intangible assets with definite useful lives are tested for impair-

ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying value may not be recoverable. The determination is 

usually performed at the cash generating unit (CGU) level but could 

also be at the individual asset level.

Factors that are considered important are:

• Underperformance relative to historical and forecasted 

 operating results;

• Significant negative industry or economic trends;

• Significant changes relative to the asset including plans to dis-

continue or restructure the operation to which the asset belongs. 

Realizability of net deferred tax assets are assessed by manage-

ment based on the individual company’s profitability history, fore-

casts of taxable profits as well as length to expiry of the asset.

The SKF Group had total unrecognized deferred tax assets of 

SEK 326 m (421), whereof SEK 200 m (264) related to tax loss 

carry-forwards and SEK 126 m (157) related to other deductible 

temporary differences. These were not recognized due to the 

uncertainty of future profit streams. 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets of SEK 46 m (43) related to 

tax losses and will expire during the period 2018 to 2022. The 

remaining unrecognized assets will expire after 2022 and/or may 

be carried forward indefinitely. 

The change in the balance of unrecognized deferred tax assets 

that reduced current tax expense was SEK 80 m (335) relating to 

the use of tax loss carry-forwards. The change in the balance of 

unrecognized deferred tax assets that increased deferred tax 

expense was SEK 13 m (91) which resulted from a revised judge-

ment on the realizability of certain tax assets in future years. 

Gross value of tax loss carry-forwards
At 31 December, 2017, the Group had tax loss carry-forwards 

amounting to SEK 5,846 m (6,750), which are available for offset 

against taxable future profits. Such tax loss carry-forward expire 

as follows:

2018 37

2019 31

2020 108

2021 81

2022 52

2023 and thereafter 636

Never 4,901

  10     Intangible assets 
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When there is an indication that the carrying value may not 

be recoverable, the carrying amount of the asset is compared 

against its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 

greater of the estimated fair value less costs to sell and value in 

use. In assessing value in use, a discounted cash flow model (DCF) 

is used. This assessment contains a key source of estimation 

uncertainty because the estimates and assumptions used in the 

DCF model encompass uncertainty about future events and market 

conditions. The actual outcomes may be significantly different. 

However, estimates and assumptions are reviewed by management 

and are consistent with internal forecasts and the business outlook.

The DCF model involves the forecasting of future operating cash 

flows over a five years period and includes estimates of revenues, 

production costs and working capital requirements, as well as a 

number of assumptions, the most significant being the revenue 

growth rates and the discount rate. These forecasts of future oper-

ating cash flows are built up from business strategic plans repre-

senting management’s best estimates of future revenues and 

operating expenses using historical trends, general market condi-

tions, industry trends and forecasts and other currently available 

information. Estimates are extrapolated using growth rates deter-

mined on an individual CGU basis, reflecting a combination of prod-

uct, industry and country growth factors. A terminal value is then 

calculated based on the Gordon Growth model, which includes a 

terminal growth factor representing an outlook not exceeding the 

market growth for the industry.

Forecasts of future operating cash flows are adjusted to present 

value by an appropriate discount rate derived from the Group’s 

cost of capital, taking into account the long-term government bond 

rate, the corporate spread, the market risk premium, the country 

risk premium where applicable, and the systematic risk of the CGU 

at the date of evaluation. Management determines the discount 

rate to be used based on the risk inherent in the related activity’s 

current business model and industry comparisons.

Cont. Note 10 

When there is an indication that the carrying value may not be 

recoverable based on the above indicators, the profitability of the 

CGU to which the asset belongs is analysed to further confirm the 

nature and extent of the indication. If an indication is confirmed,  

an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying 

amount of the affected assets exceeds its recoverable amount.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 

have been allocated to CGUs, and are tested for impairment annu-

ally and whenever an indication of impairment exists. The impair-

ment test is carried out at the lowest level at which these assets 

are monitored by management. The lowest CGU level used for 

impairment test is the segment level, industrial and automotive, 

with the exception of some CGUs mentioned in Other CGUs below.

Accounting estimates and judgements
Significant management judgement is required in determining if 

development expenditures should be capitalized. Such expenses 

are only capitalized when it is probable that they will result in future 

economic benefits for the Group and the expenditures during the 

development phase can be reliably measured. The Group applies 

stringent criteria before a development project results in the record-

ing of an asset, which include the ability to complete the project, 

evidence of technical feasibility, intention and ability to use or sell 

the asset. When evaluating software for internal use, management 

specifically considers new functionality and/or increased standard 

of performance to be strong evidence that future economic benefits 

will be achieved. In evaluating product development projects, man-

agement considers the existence of a customer order as significant 

evidence of technological and economic feasibility. All other research 

expenditures as well as development expenditures not meeting the 

capitalization criteria, are charged to cost of goods sold in the 

income statement when incurred. 
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SEKm

2017 
 Closing 
 balance Additions

Businesses 
 acquired/

sold Disposals Impairments Other
Translation 

 effects

2017 
 Opening 
 balance

Acquisition cost

Goodwill 11,248 — –501 –11 — — –710 12,470

Patents, tradenames and similar rights 2,667 — –139 — — — –225 3,031

Internally developed software 2,290 128 — –160 — 8 –3 2,317

Customer relationships 4,421 — –245 — — — –298 4,964

Leaseholds 264 29 — — — 10 –10 235

Product development 299 8 — — — — –1 292

Technology 1,150 — — — — — 23 1,127

Other intangible assets 115 — — –16 — 11 –91 211

Total 22,454 165 –885 –187 — 29 –1,315 24,647

SEKm

2017  
Closing 
 balance

Amortiza-
tions

Businesses 
 acquired/

sold Disposals Impairments Other
Translation 

 effects

2017 
 Opening 
 balance

Accumulated amortization and  
impairments

Goodwill 1,253 — — –11 15 — –84 1,333

Patents, tradenames and similar rights 415 22 –2 — — — 6 389

Internally developed software 632 55 — –160 — –13 –1 751

Customer relationships 2,076 289 –106 — — — –108 2,001

Leaseholds 89 9 — — — 14 –6 72

Product development 170 13 — — — — 1 156

Technology 381 81 — — — 7 –9 302

Other intangible assets 78 3 — –4 — 19 –15 75

Total 5,094 472 –108 –175 15 27 –216 5,079

Net book value 17,360 19,568

SEKm

2016 
 Closing 
 balance Additions

Businesses 
 acquired/

sold Disposals Impairments Other
Translation 

 effects

2016 
 Opening 
 balance

Acquisition cost

Goodwill 12,470 — –1,735 — — — 858 13,347

Patents, tradenames and similar rights 3,031 — –274 — — — 226 3,079

Internally developed software 2,317 327 2 — — — 7 1,981

Customer relationships 4,964 — –836 — — — 363 5,437

Leaseholds 235 — –3 — — –1 4 235

Product development 292 13 –147 — — — 17 409

Technology 1,127 — –353 — — — — 1,480

Other intangible assets 211 — –40 –5 — 15 96 145

Total 24,647 340 –3,386 –5 — 14 1,571 26,113

SEKm

2016  
Closing 
 balance

Amortiza-
tions

Businesses 
 sold Disposals Impairments Other

Translation 
 effects

2016 
 Opening 
 balance

Accumulated amortization and  
impairments

Goodwill 1,333 — — — — — 64 1,269

Patents, tradenames and similar rights 389 22 — — — — 15 352

Internally developed software 751 7 — — 30 — 6 708

Customer relationships 2,001 328 –151 — — — 131 1,693

Leaseholds 72 10 — — 16 — 2 44

Product development 156 30 –21 — — — 6 141

Technology 302 91 –80 — — –3 — 294

Other intangible assets 75 — –80 –2 — 4 26 127

Total 5,079 488 –332 –2 46 1 250 4,628

Net book value 19,568 21,485
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Cont. Note 10 

Impairment losses
Impairments amounted to SEK –15 m in 2017, where the majority 

relates to a smaller heat transfer coil and tube machinery business 

in the US.

In 2016, impairments amounted to SEK –46 m, of which SEK 

–16 m related to leaseholds and the remaining SEK –30 m related 

to internally developed software which is described below under 

 Significant intangibles.

Intangibles with indefinite useful lives
Certain tradenames and trademarks are considered to have indefi-

nite useful lives as the Group anticipates to continue to promote 

these brands in the foreseeable future. This includes the trade-

names and trademarks in Lincoln SEK 1,085 m (1,345), Kaydon 

Friction SEK 635 m (702), Peer SEK 205 m (227), GBC SEK 187 m 

(207) and others SEK 98 m (105).

Significant intangibles 
Internally generated software related primarily to the development 

of Unite to create and deploy improved processes and solutions 

across the Group. The balance of capitalized expenditures in 2017 

was SEK 1,649 m (1,572), including amortizations of SEK –47 m 

(0). Remaining useful life is eleven years. No impairments has been 

made during 2017. In 2016, an impairment of SEK –30 m was 

made due to changes of on premise licenses for a cloud solution.

Other individual intangible assets that are material for the Group 

include the customer relationship intangibles for Lincoln amounting 

to SEK 982 m (1,333) having a remaining useful life of eight years, 

and for Kaydon amounting to SEK 959 m (1,159) having a remain-

ing useful life of eleven years.

CGUs with significant intangibles
The CGUs follow the segment reporting with the exception of some 

minor businesses in Industrial that are tested as separate CGUs, 

see below Other CGUs.

The table below shows goodwill and other intangibles with in -

definite useful lives allocated to the CGUs Industrial and Automotive, 

as well as some crucial rates that were used for the DCF calculation.

2017 2016

Industrial Auto motive Industrial Auto motive

Goodwill, SEKm 7,909 449 8,954 483

Tradenames, 
SEKm 1,840 189 2,178 210

Average revenue  
growth rate 4.9% 3.5% 3.5% 3.0%

Discount rate,  
pre tax 11.0% 9.3% 11.8% 10.9%

Terminal growth 
factor 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%

The recoverable amounts used in the testing of the CGUs have 

been calculated based on value in use using the DCF model as 

described in Accounting estimates and judgements. The most sig-

nificant assumptions are the discount rate and the growth rates, 

being both the revenue growth rates and the terminal growth fac-

tor. Revenue growth rates are expressed in the above table as the 

average growth rate over the five-year forecast period. The same 

discount rate is applied to all cash flows in the five-year forecast 

period. Additional information on the forecast period as well as the 

discount rate and growth rates and how they are calculated is 

described in accounting estimates and judgements above.

A number of sensitivity analyses were performed to evaluate if 

any reasonable possible adverse changes in assumptions would 

lead to impairment. The analyses focused around decreasing the 

revenue growth rates, and increasing the discount rate by two per-

centage points, each taken individually and while holding all other 

assumptions constant. No impairment needs were indicated.

Other CGUs
The Group has three other CGUs, which contain individually identi-

fied goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives. These 

CGUs have value in use calculations using the same common DCF 

methodology as described in the accounting policy, with estimates 

and assumptions determined on an individual CGU basis. No impair-

ment needs were identified.
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Accounting policy
Machinery and supply systems, land, buildings, tools, office equip-

ment and vehicles are stated in the balance sheet at cost, less 

accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss. A component 

approach to depreciation is applied. This means that where items  

of PPE are comprised of different components having a cost signifi-

cant in relation to the total cost of the items, such components are 

depreciated separately. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line 

basis and is calculated based on cost. The rates of depreciation are 

based on the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are subject 

to annual review. 

The useful lives are:

• 33 years for buildings and installations;

• 10–20 years for machinery and supply systems;

• 10 years for control systems within machinery  

and supply systems;

• 4–5 years for tools, office equipment and vehicles.

Depreciation and impairments are included in cost of goods sold, 

selling expenses or administrative expenses depending on where 

the assets have been used.

Accounting estimates and judgments
The useful lives are based upon estimates of the periods during 

which the assets will generate revenue and are based to a large 

extent on historical experience of usage and technological develop-

ment. 

PPE is tested for impairment whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicates that the carrying value may not be 

recoverable. 

Geographical distribution of property, plant and equipment 2016–2017 

27%

Asia / Pacific

29%

6%

Eastern Europe

5%

4%

Latin America

4%

14%

North America

15%

10%

Sweden

10%

39%

Western Europe 

excl. Sweden 

37%

2017

2016

  11     Property, plant and equipment 
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SEKm

2017 
 Closing 
 balance Additions

Businesses 
 acquired/

sold Disposals
Impair-
ments Other1)

Translation 
 effects

2017 
 Opening 
 balance

Acquisition cost

Buildings 8,156 79 –23 –45 — 129 –68 8,084

Land and land improvements 781 12 –5 –20 — –4 1 797

Machinery and supply systems 29,587 725 –16 –126 — 91 –226 29,139

Machine toolings and factory fittings 3,942 221 –7 –62 — –114 –56 3,960

Assets under construction including 
advances2) 2,213 1,206 –2 –2 — –735 –44 1,790

Total 44,679 2,243 –53 –255 — –633 –393 43,770

SEKm

2017 
 Closing 
 balance

Deprecia-
tion

Businesses 
sold Disposals

Impair-
ments Other1)

Translation 
 effects

2017 
 Opening 
 balance

Accumulated depreciation and  impairments

Buildings 4,057 242 –5 –16 29 –47 9 3,845

Land improvements 225 47 — –12 1 –5 3 191

Machinery and supply systems 21,332 1,299 –14 –111 18 –386 –78 20,604

Machine toolings and factory fittings 3,303 200 –6 –49 — –188 –38 3,384

Total 28,917 1,788 –25 –188 48 –626 –104 28,024

Net book value 15,762 15,746

SEKm

2016 
 Closing 
 balance Additions

Businesses 
 acquired/

sold Disposals
Impair-
ments Other1)

Translation 
 effects

2016 
 Opening 
 balance

Acquisition cost

Buildings 8,084 115 –95 –79 — 216 342 7,585

Land and land improvements 797 5 –28 –13 — –81 47 867

Machinery and supply systems 29,139 566 –119 –250 — 614 1,128 27,200

Machine toolings and factory fittings 3,960 138 –1 –120 — 30 191 3,722

Assets under construction  including 
advances 1,790 1,045 –6 — — –1,101 88 1,764

Total 43,770 1,869 –249 –462 — –322 1 796 41,138

SEKm

2016 
 Closing 
 balance

Deprecia-
tion

Businesses 
sold Disposals

Impair-
ments Other1)

Translation 
 effects

2016 
 Opening 
 balance

Accumulated depreciation and  impairments

Buildings 3,845 228 –2 –54 4 –18 160 3,527

Land improvements 191 57 — –2 1 –72 10 197

Machinery and supply systems 20,604 1,326 –39 –233 4 –166 759 18,953

Machine toolings and factory fittings 3,384 202 3 –101 12 –60 170 3,158

Total 28,024 1,813 –38 –390 21 –316 1,099 25,835

Net book value 15,746 15,303

1) Includes primarily reclassification between categories.
2) Contractual commitments for acquisition of PPE not yet booked amounted to SEK 663 m (275).

Cont. Note 11 
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Accounting policy
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis) 

or market value (net realizable value). Initially raw materials and 

purchased finished goods are valued at actual purchase costs and 

work in process and manufactured finished goods are valued at 

actual production costs. Production costs include direct costs such 

as material and labour, as well as manufacturing overhead as 

appropriate. 

Accounting estimates and judgements
Adjustments to the cost of inventory may be necessary when the 

cost exceeds net realizable value. Net realizable value is defined as 

selling price less costs to complete and costs to sell. The estimates 

used in determining net realizable value are a source of estimation 

uncertainty. As future selling prices and selling costs are not known 

at the time of assessment, management’s best estimates are used 

based on current price and cost levels. Adjustments to net realizable 

value also include estimates of technical and commercial obsoles-

cence on an individual subsidiary basis. Commercial obsolescence is 

assessed by the rate of turnover and ageing as risk indicators.

SEKm 2017 2016

Finished goods 9,741 9,036

Raw materials and supplies 5,775 4,883

Work in process 1,606 1,499

Total 17,122 15,418

Inventory values are stated net of a provision for net realizable value 

of SEK 1,438 m (1,566). The amount charged to expense for net 

realizable provisions during the year was SEK 54 m (204). Rever-

sals of net  realizable provisions during the year were SEK 19 m (14).

Accounting policy
Financial assets are recognized in the balance sheets when the 

Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 

instrument. Financial instruments are initially recorded at fair value, 

which is normally equal to cost. Transaction costs are included in 

the initial measurement of financial assets that are not subsequently 

measured at fair value through the income statement. Settlement 

day recognition is applied for regular way purchases and sales of 

financial assets.

Financial assets categorized as loans and receivables are meas-

ured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Impair-

ment losses (primarily allowance for doubtful accounts) are recog-

nized if management believes that sufficient objective evidence exists 

indicating that the asset may not be recovered. For disclosure pur-

poses, fair values have been calculated using valuation techniques, 

mainly discounted cash flow analyses based on observable market 

data. For current receivables (such as trade receivables) the carrying 

amount is considered to correspond to fair value. 

Debt securities and equity securities categorized as available- 

for-sale are valued at fair value based on the current bid price for 

the securities. Equity securities without a quoted price are held at 

cost because their fair value cannot be measured reliably.

Financial instruments are designated at fair value through profit 

or loss when the Group manages such investments and makes pur-

chase and sale decisions based on their fair value. Derivatives are 

categorized as held for trading unless they are subject to hedge 

accounting. 

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights 

to the cash flow have expired or been transferred together with 

substantially all risks and rewards. 

Accounting estimates and judgements
An allowance for doubtful accounts for expected losses on trade 

receivables is maintained. When evaluating the need for an allow-

ance, management considers the aging of trade receivable balances, 

historical write-off experience, customer creditworthiness and 

changes in customer payment terms. 

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, the future cash 

flows are determined (if not stated explicit in the contract) based on 

the best assessment by management and discounted using the 

market interest rate for similar instruments. 

  12     Inventories 

  13     Financial assets 
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Financial assets per category 2017
Fair value through  

profit or loss

SEKm
Loans and 

receivables
Available-  

for-sale
At initial 

 recognition Trading

Derivatives  
for hedge 

 accounting Total
Of which 
 cur rent

Trade receivables 13,416 — — — — 13,416 13,416

Cash and cash equivalents 1,635 — 5,477 — — 7,112 7,112

Equity securities — 397 — — — 397 —

Marketable securities — — — 664 — 664 —

Deposits 807 — — — — 807 807

Derivatives — — — 178 7 185 185

Loans and receivables 420 — — — — 420 315

Debt securities — 21 200 — — 221 200

Carrying amount 16,278 418 5,677 842 7 23,222 22,035
Fair value 16,278 418 5,677 842 7

Financial assets per category 2016
Fair value through  

profit or loss

SEKm
Loans and 

receivables
Available-  

for-sale
At initial 

 recognition Trading

Derivatives  
for hedge 

 accounting Total
Of which 
 cur rent

Trade receivables 13,462 — — — — 13,462 13,462

Cash and cash equivalents 3,108 — 6,831 — — 9,939 9,939

Equity securities — 498 — — — 498 —

Marketable securities — — — 670 — 670 —

Deposits 824 — — — — 824 824

Derivatives — — — 187 13 200 151

Loans and receivables 111 — — — — 111 4

Debt securities — 21 168 — — 189 168

Carrying amount 17,505 519 6,999 857 13 25,893 24,548
Fair value 17,505 519 6,999 857 13

Financial assets categorized as loans and receivables are non- 

derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. This includes trade receivables, 

loans granted, funds held with banks and deposits comprising prin-

cipally of funds held with landlords and other service providers, for 

which substantially all initial investment is expected to be recovered. 

Debt securities and strategic investments in equity securities are 

categorized as available-for-sale. The exception is debt securities 

held by SKF Treasury Centre which are categorized as fair value 

through profit or loss at initial recognition.

Financial instruments are designated at fair value through profit 

or loss when the Group manages such investments and makes pur-

chase and sale decisions based on their fair value. Derivatives are 

categorized as held for trading unless they are subject to hedge 

 accounting.

Cont. Note 13
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Fair value hierarchy for financial assets  
at fair value (SEKm) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2016

Available-for-sale

Equity securities 355 — — 355 459 — — 459

Debt securities 21 — — 21 21 — — 21

Fair value through profit or loss

Trading securities 792 — 72 864 760 — 78 838

Cash and cash equivalents 5,477 — — 5,477 6,831 — — 6,831

Trading derivatives — 178 — 178 — 187 — 187

Derivatives used for hedge accounting — 7 — 7 — 13 — 13

Total 6,645 185 72 6,902 8,071 200 78 8,349

Financial assets recorded at fair value, which includes the columns 

Available-for-sale, Fair value through profit or loss, and Derivatives 

for hedge accounting are disclosed above according to the hierarchy 

that shows the significance of the inputs used in the fair value 

measurements as defined in IFRS 13. Level 1 includes financial 

assets with a quoted price in an active market. Level 2 includes 

financial assets with inputs based on observ able data other than 

quoted  prices in an active market. Level 3 includes inputs that are 

not based on observable market data. 

Amounts for equity securities include SEK 42 m (39) valued at 

cost and consequently this is not included in the specification above.

Past due, net of allowance

Trade receivables by due date (SEKm)
Carrying 
amount

Not yet 
due

1–30 
days

31–60 
days

61–90 
days > 91 days

2017 13,416 11,444 1,392 254 106 220

2016 13,462 11,367 1,294 327 154 320

The average days outstanding of trade receivables in 2017 were 

65 days (65). Trade receivables as a percentage of annual net sales 

totaled 17,2% (18.5). Trade receivables included receivables sold 

with recourse amounting to SEK 71 m ( 194). The risk of customer 

default for these receivables has not been transferred in such a 

way that the financial assets qualify for derecognition.

The table below shows the development of the reserve for credit 

losses on trade receivables. 

Specification of reserve for credit losses (SEKm) 2017 2016

Opening balance 1 January 395 376
Additions 74 67

Reversals –34 –21

Changes through the income statement 40 46
Allowances used to cover write-offs –34 –44

Acquired/ divested companies 0 –3

Currency translation adjustments –4 20

Closing balance 31 December 397 395
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Number of shares authorized and outstanding

A Shares B Shares Total
Share capital 

(SEKm)

Opening balance 1 January, 2016 36,298,533 419,052,535 455,351,068 1,138

Conversion of A shares to B shares — — — —

Closing balance 31 December, 2016 36,298,533 419,052,535 455,351,068 1,138

Conversion of A shares to B shares –1,242,730 1,242,730 — —

Closing balance 31 December, 2017 35,055,803 420,295,265 455,351,068 1,138

An A share has one vote and a B share has one-tenth of one vote. 

At the Annual General Meeting on 18 April 2002, it was decided to 

insert a share conversion clause in the Articles of Association which 

allows owners of A shares to convert those to B shares. Since the 

decision was taken, 191,880,944 A shares have been converted to 

B shares. The quota value for all shares is SEK 2.50.

Dividend policy
The SKF Group’s dividend and distribution policy is based on the 

principle that the total dividend should be adapted to the trend for 

earnings and cash flow while taking account of the Group’s develop-

ment potential and financial position. The Board of Directors’ view is 

that the ordinary dividend should amount to around one half of the 

SKF Group’s average net profit calculated over a business cycle.

If the financial position of the SKF Group exceeds the target 

for capital structure, which is described in Note 26, an add itional 

 distribution to the  ordinary dividend could be made in the form of 

a higher dividend, a redemption scheme or as a repurchase of the 

company’s own share. On the other hand, in periods of more 

uncertainty a lower dividend ratio could be appropriate. 

Dividend payments
The total surplus of the Parent Company amounted to SEK 16,884 

m (16,115), see page 109. The Board has decided to propose to 

the Annual General Meeting, on 27 March, 2018, a dividend of SEK 

5.50 (5.50) per share to be paid to the shareholders. The proposed 

dividend for 2017 is payable to all shareholders on the Euroclear 

Sweden AB’s public share register as of 29 March 2018. The total 

proposed dividend to be paid is SEK 2,504 m (2,504). The dividend 

is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meet-

ing and has not been included as a liability in these financial state-

ments. On 5 April 2017, a dividend of SEK 5.50 (5.50) per share 

was paid to the shareholders.

SEKm 2017 2016

Value added taxes receivables, net 1,051 934

Income tax receivables 977 569

Prepaid expenses 477 500

Accrued income 153 184

Advances to suppliers 91 103

Other current receivables 915 843

Total 3,664 3,133

  14     Other short-term assets 

  15     Share capital 
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Accounting policy
The post-employment provisions and assets arise from defined 

benefit obligations in plans which are either unfunded or funded. 

For the unfunded plans, benefits paid out under these plans come 

from the all-purpose assets of the company sponsoring the plan. 

The related provisions carried in the balance sheet represent the 

present value of the defined benefit obligation. For funded defined 

benefit plans, the assets of the plans are held in trusts legally sepa-

rate from the Group. The related balance sheet provision or asset 

represents the deficit or excess of the fair value of plan assets over 

the present value of the defined benefit obligation. However, an 

asset is recognized only to the extent that it represents a future 

economic benefit which is actually available to the Group, for example 

in the form of reductions in future contributions or refunds from 

the plan. When such excess is not available it is not recognized, but 

it is disclosed in the note as an asset ceiling adjustment.

The projected unit credit method is used to determine the pres-

ent value of all defined benefit obligations and the related current 

service cost. Valuations are carried out quarterly for the most sig-

nificant plans and annually for other plans. External actuarial experts 

are used for these valuations and estimating the obligations and 

costs involves the use of assumptions. Remeasurements arise from 

changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments, 

being differences between actuarial assumptions and what has 

actually occurred. They are recognized immediately in other com-

prehensive income and are never reclassified to the income state-

ment. 

For all defined benefit plans the cost charged to the income 

statement consists of current service cost, net interest cost and 

when applicable past service cost, curtailments and settlements. 

Any past service cost is recognized immediately. Net interest cost is 

classified as financial expense while all other expenses are allocated 

to the operations based on the employee’s function as manufactur-

ing, selling or administrative.

The defined benefit accounting described above is applied only in 

the consolidated accounts. Subsidiaries, as well as the Parent com-

pany, continue to use the local statutory pension calculations to 

determine pension costs, provisions and assets in the stand-alone 

statutory reporting, and when applicable funding requirements.

Some post-employment benefits are also provided by defined 

contribution schemes, where the Group has no obligation to pay 

benefits after payment of an agreed-upon contribution to the third 

party responsible for the plan. Such contributions are recognized 

as expense when incurred.

Accounting estimates and judgements
Significant judgements and assumptions are required to determine 

the present value of all defined benefit obligations and the related 

costs. Such assumptions vary according to the economic conditions 

of the country in which the plan is located and are adjusted to reflect 

market conditions at valuation point. However, the actual costs and 

obligations that in fact arise under the plans may be materially 

 different from the estimates based on the assumptions due to 

changing market and economic conditions. 

The most significant assumptions can vary per plan but in gen-

eral include discount rate, pension increase rate, salary growth 

rate and longevity. These assumptions are established for each 

plan separately. The discount rate for each plan is determined by 

reference to yields on high quality corporate bonds (AA-rated cor-

porate bonds as well as mortgage bonds for the plans in Sweden) 

having maturities matching the duration of the obligation. The 

 pension increase rate assumption is relevant mainly for retired 

plan members, and refers to the indexation of pension payments 

tied primarily to inflation. The salary growth rate is relevant for 

active plan members and reflect the long-term actual experience, 

the near term outlook and assumed inflation. Longevity reflects 

the life expectancy of plan members and is established based on 

mortality tables used for each plan. 

2017 2016

Net profit attributable to  
owners of AB SKF (SEKm) 5,475 3,985

Weighted average number of  
ordinary shares outstanding 455,351,068 455,351,068

Basic earnings per share (SEK) 12.02 8.75

Dilutive shares from  
Performance Share Programmes 254,214 197,634

Weighted average  
diluted number of shares 455,605,282 455,548,702

Diluted earnings per share (SEK) 12.02 8.75

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or 

loss attributable to shareholders of the Parent company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 

the period. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the weighted 

 average number of shares outstanding during the period adjusted 

for all potential dilutive ordinary shares. Performance shares are 

 considered dilutive if vesting conditions are fulfilled on the balance 

sheet date.

To fulfill AB SKF’s obligations under the 2015 Performance 

Share Programme settled in 2018, SKF International AB (SKF 

Treasury Centre) entered into an equity swap agreement with a 

financial institution. The agreement includes the possibility to get 

delivery of SKF shares from the financial institution to the partici-

pants of the programmes. 

  16     Earnings per share 

  17     Provisions for post-employment benefits 
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The Group sponsors post-employment defined benefit plans in a 

number of subsidiaries. The most significant plans are the pension 

plans in the USA, Germany, UK, and Sweden, which supplement 

the social security pensions in these countries.

USA
The major US pension plans, represent around 87% of the total 

US obligation. Benefits are based on length of service and average 

final salary or a years of service multiplier. All these plans are 

closed for new entrants, who instead are covered by defined contri-

bution pension solutions. The salary and non-Union defined benefit 

pension plans have been frozen as of December 2016, hence no 

additional service cost will be accrued for these plans. To further 

reduce the US net position of the defined benefit pension plan, 

a contribution of SEK 724 m (858) was paid.

Governance of the plans lies with a benefit board whose mem-

bers are chosen by the board of directors of the US subsidiary. 

The plans are subject to regulatory minimum funding requirements 

based on an adjusted statutory pension formula which in the case 

of funding deficits, require contributions to achieve full funding in 

seven years. 

The US subsidiary also sponsors post-retirement health care 

plans which are closed for new entrants. The plans provide health 

care and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees. 

The company is entitled to receive a subsidy under the US Medicare 

 Program Part D, for prescription drug costs for certain plan partic-

ipants. At 31 December 2017, this reimbursement right totalled 

SEK 22 m (22). 

Germany
The major German pension plans represent around 87% of the 

total German obligation. Benefits are based on length of service 

and final salary, and are indexed when paid. The majority of entitle-

ment conditions are determined in accordance with a governmental 

pensions act. There are no regulatory funding requirements, how-

ever voluntary partial funding has been provided for the plans 

through a Contractual Trust Arrangement. A plan change affecting 

around 75% of the participants of the major German pension plan 

occurred from January 1, 2018. For these participants no additional 

service cost will be accrued from 2018 and they will be  covered by 

defined contribution pension solutions. The remaining participants 

of the major German pension plan will still be entitled to a defined 

benefit pension solution.

United Kingdom
The major plans in the UK represent around 90% of the total 

UK obligation. Benefits under these plans are based on length  

of service and a career average revalued earnings basis, and are 

indexed when paid. As of April 2012, these plans are closed to new 

entrants, who instead are entitled to defined  contribution  pension 

solutions. Responsibility for the governance of the plan lies jointly 

with the subsidiary and a board of trustees comprised of repre-

sentatives of the subsidiary as well as plan participants in accord-

ance with the Plan constitution. The plan is subject to statutory 

funding objectives based on the local pension calculation which in 

the case of funding deficits have an agreed recovery plan to achieve 

full  funding in ten years.

Sweden
The major plan in Sweden is the ITP plan and it represents around 

88% of the total Swedish obligation. Benefits are based on final 

 salary and are indexed when paid. Benefits are established in 

accordance with a collective agreement established between 

 participating Swedish companies. The plan is closed for employees 

born after 1979, who instead are entitled to a defined contribution 

pension solution. The Swedish subsidiaries are required to have 

credit insurance which covers all pension obligations in case of 

insolvency. For the Swedish subsidiaries, the portions of the ITP 

pension financed through insurance premiums to Alecta only  

cover family pension, health insurance and TGL and as such are 

immaterial. There are no regulatory funding requirements, how-

ever voluntary funding has been provided for the plans through 

a foundation, which is governed jointly by the company and 

employee representatives. The foundation must comply with 

 government regulations. 

Other 
The most significant plans include the funded pension plans in 

 Switzerland, Canada, and Belgium. Additionally, there are retire-

ment indemnity plans in France and termination indemnity plans 

in Italy, where lump sum payments are made upon retirement 

and termination respectively. 

2017

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet (SEKm)
US  

pension
US  

medical
Germany 

 pension
UK  

pension
Sweden 
 pension Other Total

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation 445 778 980 — 248 899 3,350

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation 8,430 — 8,761 3,711 1,868 1,836 24,606

Less: Fair value of plan assets –7,773 — –2,772 –2,880 –673 –1,629 –15,727

Total 1,102 778 6,969 831 1,443 1,106 12,229
Reflected as

Other long-term assets — — — — — –80 –80

Provisions for post-employment benefits 1,102 778 6,969 831 1,443 1,186 12,309

Total 1,102 778 6,969 831 1,443 1,106 12,229

2016

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet (SEKm)
US  

pension
US  

medical
Germany 

 pension
UK  

pension
Sweden 
 pension Other Total

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation 510 898 684 — 297 880 3,269

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation 9,390 — 9,247 3,414 1,710 1,843 25,604

Less: Fair value of plan assets –7,591 — –2,601 –2,583 –636 –1,570 –14,981

Total 2,309 898 7,330 831 1,371 1,153 13,892
Reflected as

Other long-term assets — — — — — –53 –53

Provisions for post-employment benefits 2,309 898 7,330 831 1,371 1,206 13,945

Total 2,309 898 7,330 831 1,371 1,153 13,892

Cont. Note 17 
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Components of total post-employment benefit expenses (SEKm) 2017 2016

Post-employment defined benefit expense 606 355

Post-employment defined contribution expense 547 419

Total post-employment benefit expenses1) 1,153 774

Whereof amounts charged to:

Cost of goods sold 504 434

Selling expenses 271 –67

Administrative expenses 62 52

Financial expenses 316 355

Total 1,153 774

2017 2016

SEKm 

Present 
value of 

 obligation
Fair value of 
plan assets Total

Present 
value of 

 obligation
Fair value of 
plan assets Total

Opening balance 1 January 28,873 –14,981 13,892 26,202 –13,192 13,010

Interest expense/(income) 775 –459 316 821 –466 355

Current service cost 490 — 490 618 — 618

Past service cost and gains on settlements1) –200 — –200 –621 — –621

Other –3 3 — 1 2 3

Subtotal expenses 1,062 –456 606 819 –464 355

Difference between actual return and interest income — –876 –876 — –496 –496

Actuarial (gains)/losses – demographic assumptions –125 — –125 –260 — –260

Actuarial (gains)/losses – financial assumptions 775 — 775 2,407 — 2,407

Experience adjustments –133 — –133 101 — 101

Other — — — — –6 –6

Subtotal remeasurements in OCI 517 –876 –359 2,248 –502 1,746

Employer contribution2) — –987 –987 — –1,387 –1,387

Employee contribution 34 –9 25 31 –9 22

Benefit payments –1,700 861 –839 –1,498 1,010 –488

Subtotal cash flow3) –1,666 –135 –1,801 –1,467 –386 –1,853

Other –41 1 –40 –67 13 –54

Translation differences –789 720 –69 1,138 –450 688

Closing balance 31 December 27,956 –15,727 12,229 28,873 –14,981 13,892

1)  Past service cost includes a positive effect of SEK 163 m from the change in 
the defined benefit plan (DB) in Germany for the majority of the  participants. 
2016 past service cost included a favourable curtailment of SEK 618 m from 
the hard freeze of all defined benefit plans in the US.

2)  To further reduce the US net position of the defined  benefit pension plan, 
a one-time contribution of SEK 724 m (858) was paid.

3)  Cash outflows for 2018 are expected to be some SEK 800 m, which include 
contributions to funded plans as well as payments made directly by the 
 companies under unfunded plans and partially funded plans.

1)  The total post-employment benefit expenses amount includes a positive 
effect of SEK 163 m from the change in the defined benefit plan in Germany. 

2017 2016

Plan asset composition (SEKm) Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

Government bonds 1,629 251 1,880 1,836 102 1,938

Corporate bonds 5,401 67 5,468 4,965 36 5,001

Equity instruments 4,720 554 5,274 5,433 512 5,945

Real estate 212 581 793 244 707 951

Other, primarily cash and other financial receivables 1,683 629 2,312 492 654 1,146

Total 13,645 2,082 15,727 12,970 2,011 14,981

In 2016 the total expenses amount included a favourable curtailment of 
SEK 618 m from the hard freeze of all defined benefit plans in the US.
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Sensitivity analysis of significant 
assumptions (SEKm)

Change in  
actuarial 

assumption

Impact on DBO 
Defined  benefit 

obligations

Discount rate +1% –3,390

–1% 4,350

Salary growth rate +0.5% 525

–0.5% –480

Pension increase rate +0.5% 1,005

–0.5% –920

Longevity +1 year 940

–1 year –950

The investment positions for the major pension plans are 

 managed within the asset-liability matching framework. Within 

this framework, the Group’s objective is to match plan assets to the 

pension obligations by investing in securities with maturities that 

align with the benefit payments as they fall due and in the appro-

priate currency. SKF Treasury Centre regularly monitors how the 

duration and the expected yield of the investments are matching 

the expected cash outflows arising from the pension obligations. 

Final investment decisions are taken by the local subsidiary/trustee 

together with SKF Treasury Centre.

2017

Significant weighted-average assumptions at end of year
US  

pension
US  

medical
Germany 

pension
UK 

pension
Sweden 
pension Other

Discount rate 3.7 3.6 1.9 2.6 2.5 1.9

Pension increase rate1) n/a n/a 1.0 3.6 1.8 n/a

Salary growth rate2) n/a n/a 2.7 3.6 3.5 3.1

Longevity male/female3) 20.7/22.7 20.7/22.7 19.3/23.4 21.8/23.6 22.2/24.6 20.4/23.3

Weighted average duration of the plan (in years)4) 11.6 8.9 18.1 19.1 22.5 12.6

2016

Significant weighted-average assumptions at end of year
US  

pension
US  

medical
Germany 

pension
UK 

pension
Sweden 
pension Other

Discount rate 4.2 4.0 1.8 2.7 2.5 1.8

Pension increase rate1) n/a n/a 2.0 3.6 1.5 n/a

Salary growth rate2) n/a n/a 2.7 2.8 3.5 3.3

Longevity male/female3) 20.8/22.8 20.8/22.8 19.1/23.1 21.4/23.3 22.2/24.6 20.4/22.8

Weighted average duration of the plan (in years)4) 11.1 8.9 17.8 22.3 21.3 13.7

To enable consistent, proactive and effective management of the 

post-employment benefits in line with its business strategy and 

values, the SKF Group established a Global Pension Committee, 

a governance body who is responsible to align post-employment 

benefits to SKF Global Pension Policy. 

SKF Global Pension Policy sets out principles for managing SKF ś 

pension and other long-term employee benefits within SKF globally. 

The SKF Group strives to balance risk in the investments of plan 

assets, by aiming for a range of 30–50% equity instruments with 

the remainder in lower risk/fixed income investments such as 

 corporate and government bonds. 

1) Pension increase rate refers to indexation primarily tied to inflation.
2)  Salary growth rate for US pension is n/a as no additional service cost will be 

accrued for these plans.

3)  Longevity is expressed as the life expectancy of a current 65 year old in 
number of years.

4)  Represents the average number of years remaining until the obligation  
is paid out. 

n/a = assumptions not applicable or not significant for the plan.

Cont. Note 17 

The sensitivity analysis is based on the change in one assumption 

while holding all other assumptions constant, see notes to previous 

table. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the 

assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity 

analysis of the DBO to changes in assumptions the same method has 

been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised 

within the obligation. 

The sensitivity analysis considers the most significant plans 

in the USA, Germany, UK and Sweden, and it has been prepared 

consistently with prior years.
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In 2017 the total restructuring cost amounted to around SEK 332 m 

and included the consolidation of three factories in North Americas. 

The cost of voluntary and involuntary termination benefits spread 

over a several number of countries, with the largest being the USA, 

Italy and Germany. The majority of the remaining restructuring 

 provisions are expected to be settled in 2018.

The largest items in other long-term employee benefits are jubilee 

bonuses in Italy and part-time retirement programmes in Germany. 

Other provisions primarily include insurance and workers’ 

 compensation as well as environmental commitments.

Contingent liabilities at nominal values (SEKm) 2017 2016

Guarantees 29 16

Tax claims1) 673 369

Other contingent liabilities 19 20

Total 721 405

1)  2016 has been restated.

Accounting policy
In general, a provision is recognized when there is a present obliga-

tion as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount 

recognized as provisions is management’s best estimate of the 

future cash flows necessary to settle the obligations at the balance 

sheet date, and the timing of settlement is uncertain. 

Claims include both provisions for litigation and warranties, and 

represent management’s best estimate of the future cash flows 

necessary to settle the obligations. Other long-term employee 

 benefits refer to benefits earned and expected to be settled before 

employment ends. These provisions are calculated using the pro-

jected unit credit method and remeasurements (actuarial gains 

and losses) are recognized immediately in the income statement. 

Restructuring programmes are defined as activities that materially 

change the way a unit does business. Any related restructuring 

provisions are recognized when a detailed formal plan has been 

established and a public announcement of the plan has occurred 

thereby creating a valid expectation that the plan will be carried out.

When an obligation does not meet the criteria for recognition it 

may be considered a contingent liability and disclosed. Contingent 

liabilities represent possible obligations whose existence will be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. 

They also include existing obligations where it is not probable that 

an outflow of resources is required, or the outflow cannot be reliably 

quantified.

Accounting estimates and judgements
Significant management judgement is required in determining the 

existence and amount of provisions. As the estimates may involve 

uncertainty about future events outside the control of the Group, 

the actual outcomes may be significantly different.

Claims include both provisions for litigation and warranties, and 

represent management’s best estimate of the future cash flows 

necessary to settle obligations, although the timing of the settle-

ment is uncertain. Provisions for litigation are based on the nature 

of the litigation, the legal process in the applicable jurisdiction, the 

progress of the cases, the opinions of internal and external legal 

counsel and advisers regarding the outcome of the case and expe-

rience with similar cases. Tax claims in different countries and in 

different stages of the claim that do not meet the definition of pro-

visions are recognized as contingent liabilities.

SKF is part of investigations regarding possible violations of anti-

trust rules, class action claims and lawsuits. For more information, 

see page 60. As per management judgement, these investigations 

did not qualify for recognition as other provisions or disclosed as 

contingent liabilities.

Warranty provisions involve estimates of the outcome of claims 

resulting from defective products, which include estimates for 

potential liability for damages caused by such defects to the Group’s 

customers. Assumptions are required for anticipated returns and 

for cost for replacing defective products and/or compensating 

 customers for damage caused by the Group’s products. These 

assumptions consider historical claims statistics, expected costs 

to remedy and the average time lag between faults occurring and 

claims against the company.

Restructuring provisions involve estimates of the timing and cost 

of the planned future activities where the most significant estimates 

relates to the costs necessary to settle employee severance/sepa-

ration obligations, as well as the costs involved in contract cancel-

lations and other exit costs. These estimates are based on historical 

experience as well as the current status of negotiations with the 

affected parties and/or their representatives.

SEKm

2017  
Closing 
 balance

Provisions 
for the year

Utilized 
amounts

Reversal 
unutilized 
amounts Other

Translation 
effect

2017  
Opening 
 balance

Claims 419 253 –168 –54 –1 –6 395

Other long-term employee benefits 709 103 –86 –7 23 13 663

Restructuring 402 332 –387 –11 –4 –18 490

Other 746 425 –254 –38 –51 –12 676

Total 2,276 1,113 –895 –110 –33 –23 2,224

  18     Other provisions and contingent liabilities 



98 SKF Annual Report 2017 

Notes Group

Accounting policy
Financial liabilities are recognized in the balance sheets when the 

Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 

instrument. Financial instruments are initially recorded at fair value, 

which is normally equal to acquisition cost. Transaction costs are 

included in the initial measurement of financial liabilities that are 

not subsequently measured at fair value through the income state-

ment. Derivatives are recognized at trade date. 

Financial liabilities, excluding derivatives, are measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method. The carrying 

amount of liabilities that are hedged items, for which fair value 

hedge accounting is applied, are adjusted for gains or losses 

 attributable to the hedged risks. 

Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are extinguished. 

Accounting estimates and judgements
For disclosure purposes, fair values of financial liabilities have been 

calculated using valuation techniques, mainly discounted cash flow 

analyses based on observable market data. 

2017 2016

SEKm Maturity
Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Long-term financial liabilities

EUR 500 m (outstanding EUR 234 m) 2018 — — 2,280 2,389

EUR 500 m (outstanding EUR 266 m) 2019 2,624 2,695 2,534 2,651

EUR 750 m (outstanding EUR 450 m) 2020 4,598 4,646 7,565 7,643

EUR 200 m 2021 1,968 1,969 1,913 1,914

EUR 500 m 2022 4,895 5,246 4,748 5,198

USD 100 m 2027 821 961 — —

Other long-term loans 2019–2022 140 140 125 127

Derivatives held for hedge accounting 2019–2020 439 439 1,724 1,724

Derivatives held for trading 2018 305 305 1,142 1,142

Subtotal long-term financial liabilities 15,790 16,401 22,031 22,788

Short-term financial liabilities

SEK 1,000 m 2017 — — 1,000 1,000

EUR 500 m (outstanding EUR 234 m) 2018 2,299 2,385 — —

Medium-term loans 2018 41 41 19 19

Trade payables 2018 7,899 7,899 7,100 7,100

Short-term loans < 3 months 93 93 214 214

Derivatives held for trading 2018 285 285 386 386

Subtotal short-term financial liabilities 10,617 10,703 8,719 8,719
Total 26,407 27,104 30,750 31,507

Derivatives are classified in the category “Fair value through profit 

or loss” and fall into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy for both 

2016 and 2017. See Note 13 for a description of the fair value 

hierarchy. The remaining financial liabilities are classified in the 

category “Other financial liabilities”. 

The maturities for bonds and loans stated in the table above are 

based on the earliest date on which they can be required to be repaid. 

One of the loans is subject to fair value hedging. The fixed EUR 

interest on the EUR 450 m loan has been swapped into floating 

USD interest rate. 

The loans with due date 2018 and 2019 have been designated as 

hedge instruments in net investment hedges of foreign operations. 

The fair value of these financial liabilities amounted to SEK 5,080 m 

(5,040) as of the balance sheet date. 

More information regarding financial risk management and hedge 

accounting can be found in Note 26. Methods used for establishing 

fair value are described in Note 13. Interest rates for the loans are 

disclosed in Note 11 of the Parent company. 

The Group does not have any pledged assets to secure financial 

liabilities. 

  19     Financial liabilities 
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2017 2016

Future minimum  
lease  payments at  
31 December (SEKm)

 Finance 
Leases

Operating 
Leases

 Finance 
Leases

Operating 
Leases

Within one year 12 715 14 672

Later than one year 
but within five years 30 1,691 34 1,731

Later than five years 3 1,051 5 1,172

Total 45 3,457 53 3,575
Interest –3 –4

Present value of 
minimum lease 
 payments under 
finance leases 42 49
Current portion 12 14

Non-current portion 30 35

Accounting policy
A lease agreement that, according to the management’s judgment, 

transfers substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership to the 

Group, is accounted for as a finance lease. Operating leases rental 

expenses are recognized in the income statement, on a straight-

line basis, over the lease term. 

Net rental expenses related to operating leases was SEK 838 m 

(760). The most significant operating leases involve the use of 

buildings, other office locations as well as machines primarily in 

USA, China, Germany, Sweden and Italy. 

Contingent rentals and sub-lease revenues were not significant 

in any of the years presented.

SEKm 2017 2016

Employee related accruals 3,744 3,204

Accrual for rebates 784 763

Income tax payable 599 211

Deferred income 299 323

Customer advances 301 304

Value added taxes payable, net 443 342

Other current liabilities 1,165 752

Other accrued expenses 1,842 1,946

Total 9,177 7,845

In 2007 Knut och Alice Wallenbergs Stiftelse transferred its shares 

in the Parent company to FAM AB.

FAM’s mission is to create, through co-ordination and in an 

 efficient way, good and sustainable return for Knut och Alice 

 Wallenbergs Stiftelse, Marianne och Marcus Wallenbergs Stiftelse 

and the foundation Marcus och Amalia Wallenbergs Minnesfond 

(the “Foundations”). The aim of the foundations is to support 

research and education through  contributions, primarily to 

 Swedish universities. 

The SKF Group has had no indication that FAM has obtained  

its ownership interest in the Group for other than investment pur-

poses. No significant transactions have been identified between the 

parties with the exception of dividend paid during the year to FAM. 

At the end of 2017 FAM is the major shareholder of the Parent 

company, holding 28.9% (29.2) of the voting rights and 13.6% (13.6) 

of the share capital. 

Investments in associated companies include a 25% shareholding 

of Simplex-Turbolo Co. Ltd. in the UK. Other investments include 

 primarily a 42% shareholding of Ningbo Hyatt Roller Co. Ltd in China, 

and a 20% share in CoLinx, LLC in the USA. 

Transactions with Associated companies 2017 2016

Sales of goods and services 66 67

Purchases of goods and services 366 294

Receivables as of 31 December 9 10

Liabilities as of 31 December 27 28

Other related party transactions include remuneration to key 

manage ment as specified in Note 23. For a list of significant 

 sub sidiaries, see Note 8 to the financial statements of the Parent 

 company.

  20     Leasing 

  21     Other short-term liabilities 

  22     Related parties including  associated companies 
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Salaries and other remunerations for SKF Board of 
Directors, President and Group Management

Principles of remuneration for Group Management
In March 2017, the Annual General Meeting adopted the Board’s 

proposal for principles of remuneration for Group Management, 

which are summarized below.

Group Management is defined as the President and the other 

members of the management team. The principles apply in relation 

to members of Group Management appointed after the adoption of 

the principles, and, in other cases, to the extent permitted under 

existing agreements.

The objective of the principles is to ensure that the SKF Group 

can attract and retain the best people in order to support the SKF 

Group’s mission and business strategy. Remuneration for Group 

Management shall be based on market competitive conditions and 

at the same time support the shareholders’ best interests. 

The total remuneration package for a Group Management mem-

ber consists primarily of the following components: fixed salary, 

variable salary, performance shares, pension benefits, conditions 

for notice of termination and severance pay, and other benefits such 

as a company car. The components shall create a well-balanced 

remuneration reflecting individual performance and responsibility 

as well as the SKF Group’s overall performance.

Fixed salary 
The fixed salary of a Group Management member shall be at a 

market competitive level. It will be based on competence, responsi-

bility, experience and performance. The SKF Group uses an inter-

nationally well-recognized evaluation system, International Position 

Evaluation (IPE), in order to evaluate the scope and responsibility of 

the position. Market benchmarks are conducted on a regular basis. 

The performance of Group Management members is continu-

ously monitored and used as a basis for annual reviews of fixed 

 salaries.

Variable salary 
The variable salary of a Group Management member runs accord-

ing to a performance based programme. The purpose of the pro-

gramme is to motivate and compensate value creating achieve-

ments in order to support operational and financial targets. 

The performance-based programme is primarily based on the 

short-term financial performance of the SKF Group established 

according to the SKF financial performance management model 

called Total Value Added (TVA). TVA is a simplified, economic value -

added model. This model promotes greater operating profit, capital 

efficiency and profitable growth. The TVA profit is the operating 

profit, less the pre-tax cost of capital. The TVA result development 

for the SKF Group correlates well with the trend of the share price 

over a longer period of time. 

The maximum variable salary according to the programme is 

capped at a certain percentage of the fixed annual salary. The per-

centage is linked to the position of the individual and varies 

between 50% and 70% for Group Management members. 

If the financial performance of the SKF Group is not in line with 

the requirements of the variable salary programme, no variable 

salary will be paid. The maximum variable salary will not exceed 

70% of the accumulated annual fixed salary of Group Management 

members.

Performance Shares
The Annual General Meeting 2017 decided on the introduction of 

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2017. The programme cov-

ers a maximum of 225 senior managers and key employees in the 

SKF Group, including Group Management, with the opportunity of 

being allotted, free of charge, SKF shares of series B.

The number of shares that may be allotted is related to the 

degree of achievement of the TVA target level, as defined by the 

Board of Directors, for the financial years 2017–2019 compared  

to the financial year 2016. Under the programme, no more than 

1,000,000 SKF shares of series B, may be allotted.

The allocation of shares is based on the level of TVA increase. In 

order for allocation of shares to take place the TVA increase must 

exceed a certain minimum level (the threshold level). In addition to 

the threshold level a target level is set. Maximum allotment is 

awarded if the target level is reached or exceeded. 

Provided that the TVA increase reaches the target level, the par-

ticipants of the programme may be allotted the following maximum 

number of shares per person within the various key groups:

• CEO and President: 30,000 shares

• Other members of Group Management: 13,000 shares

• Managers of large business units and similar: 4,500 shares

• Other senior managers: 3,000 shares

• Other key persons: 1,250 shares

Before the number of shares to be allotted is finally determined, 

the Board shall examine whether the allotment is reasonable con-

sidering SKF’s financial results and position, the conditions on the 

stock market as well as other circumstances, and if not, as deter-

mined by the Board, reduce the number of shares to be awarded to 

the lower number of shares deemed appropriate by the Board.

If the TVA increase exceeds the threshold level for allotment of 

shares but the final allotment is below 5% of the target level, pay-

ment will be made in cash instead of shares, whereupon the 

amount of the cash payment shall correspond to the value of the 

shares  calculated on the basis of the closing price for SKF’s B share 

the day before settlement.

Other benefits 
The SKF Group provides other benefits to Group Management 

members in accordance with local practice. The accumulated value 

of other benefits shall, in relation to the value of the total remuner-

ation, be limited and shall, as a principle, correspond to what is 

 customary on the relevant market. 

Other benefits can for instance be a company car, medical insur-

ance and home service.

Pension 
The SKF Group strives to establish pension plans based on defined 

contribution models, which means that a premium is paid amount-

ing to a certain percentage of the employee’s annual salary. The 

commitment in these cases is limited to the payment of an agreed 

premium to an insurance company offering pension insurance. 

A Group Management member is normally covered by, in addi-

tion to the basic pension (for Swedish members usually the ITP 

pension plan), a supplementary defined contribution pension plan. 

By offering this supplementary defined contribution plan, it is 

ensured that Group Management members are entitled to earn 

pension benefits based on the fixed annual salary above the level of 

the basic pension. The normal retirement age for Group Manage-

ment members is 65 years.

  23     Remuneration to key Management 
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Notice of termination and severance pay 
A Group Management member may terminate his/her employment 

by giving six months’ notice. In the event of termination of employ-

ment at the request of the company, employment shall, according to 

the  contract, cease immediately. The Group Management member 

shall however receive a severance payment related to the number 

of years’ service, provided that it shall always be maximized to two 

years’ fixed salary. 

The Board of Directors’ right to deviate from the principles  
of remuneration 
In certain cases, the Board of Directors may deviate from the 

 principles of remuneration decided by the Annual General Meeting.

Preparation of matters relating to remuneration  
for Group Management
The Board of Directors of AB SKF has established a Remuneration 

Committee. The Committee consists of a maximum of four Board 

members. The Remuneration Committee prepares all matters 

relating to the principles of remuneration for Group Management, 

as well as the employment conditions of the President. 

The principles of remuneration for Group Management are pre-

sented to the Board of Directors that submits a proposal for such 

principles to the Annual General Meeting for approval. The Board of 

Directors must approve the employment conditions of the President.

Board of Directors 
The Chairman of the Board and the Board members are remuner-

ated in accordance with the decision taken at the Annual General 

Meeting. At the Annual General Meeting of AB SKF held in 2017 it 

was decided that the Board be entitled to a firm allotment of SEK 

7,512,000 to be distributed with SEK 2,008,000 to the Chairman 

of the Board and with SEK 688,000 to each of the other Board 

members elected by the Annual General Meeting and not employed 

by the company. 

It was further decided that an allotment of SEK 1,182,000 for 

committee work shall be divided with SEK 233,000 to the Chair-

man of the Audit Committee, with SEK 166,000 to each of the 

other members of the Audit Committee, with SEK 133,000 to the 

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and with SEK 106,000 

to each of the other members of the Remuneration Committee. 

President and Chief Executive Officer 
Alrik Danielson, President and Chief Executive Officer of AB SKF, 

received from the company in year 2017 as salary and other remu-

nerations a total of SEK 14,060,718, of which SEK 11,492,812 was 

fixed annual salary and SEK 2,567,906 was short-term variable 

salary related to 2016 performance.

The variable salary for the year 2017 was according to a short-

term performance-based programme primarily based on the 

financial performance of the SKF Group established according to 

the Group’s financial performance management model which is a 

simplified  economic value-added model called Total Value Added 

(TVA), see page 63. 

Alrik Danielson is covered by the SKF Performance Share 

 Programme 2017.

In the event of termination at the request of AB SKF, a notice 

period of six months will apply after which period Alrik Danielson 

will receive severance payments amounting to a maximum of one 

and a half years’ salary. Alrik Danielson’s retirement age is 65 

years. The pension arrangement is a combination of the ITP 

scheme and a defined contribution of 40% of the annual fixed salary 

above 30 income base amounts.

Alrik Danielson’s shareholdings (own and/or held by related par-

ties) in the company as well as material shareholdings or other 

holdings (own and/or held by related parties) in companies with 

which the company has important business relationships are listed 

in the  Corporate Governance Report. 

Group Management 
The SKF’s Group Management, consisting of 9 people at the end of 

the year, received in 2017 (exclusive of the President) salary and 

other remunerations amounting to a total of SEK 54,592,372, of 

which SEK 46,027,804 was fixed annual salary and SEK 8,564,568 

was short-term variable salary related to 2016 performance. For 

managers that have joined or left Group Management during the 

year, the fixed salary is accounted in relation to the period that each 

individual has been a member of Group Management. 

The variable salary for Group Management was according to a 

short-term performance-based programme primarily based on the 

financial performance of the SKF Group established according to 

the Group’s financial performance management model which is a 

simplified economic value-added model called Total Value Added 

(TVA), see page 63. 

Group Management (exclusive of the President) was in the 

beginning of 2017 allotted 2,138 SKF shares of series B under SKF 

Performance Share Programme 2014. SKF’s Performance Share 

Programmes are further described on pages 100 and 102–103.

In the event of termination of employment at the request of the 

company of a person in Group Management, that person will 

receive a severance payment amounting to a maximum of two 

years’ salary.

For Group Management the Board has decided on a defined con-

tribution supplementary pension plan. The plan entitles Group 

Management members covered to receive an additional pension 

over and above the basic pension (for Swedish members usually 

the ITP pension plan). The contributions paid for Group Manage-

ment members covered by the defined contribution plan are based 

on each individual’s pensionable salary (normally the fixed monthly 

salary excluding holiday pay, converted to yearly salary) exceeding 

the level of the basic pension (for Swedish members 30 Income 

Base amounts). A limited number of members of Group Manage-

ment have defined benefit pension entitlements relating to previous 

pension plans. Group Management members are never covered by 

both defined benefit pension and defined contribution pension for 

the same part of their pension entitlements. The normal retire-

ment age is 65 years. 
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Fixed salary and other 
benefits1)/fixed Board 

 remuneration
Short-term  

variable  salary
Performance  

Share Programmes
Remuneration for 
 committee work

Gross  
pension 
costs2)

Amounts in SEK

Amounts 
paid in 
20173)

Amounts 
expensed  
in 20173)

Amounts 
paid in 

2017 
related to 

20163)

Amounts 
expensed  
in 20173)

Amounts 
paid in 

2017 
related 

 to prior 
years3)

Amounts 
expensed  
in 20173)

Amounts 
paid in 
20173)

Amounts 
expensed  
in 20173)

Amounts 
expensed  
in 20173)

Total 
expensed  

in 2017

Total 
expensed  

in 2016

Board of directors  
of AB SKF
Leif Östling 6) 3,958,000 2,008,000 — — — — 589,000 299,000 — 2,307,000 2,240,000

Lena Treschow Torell 334,000 — — — — — — — — — 668,000

Peter Grafoner 678,000 688,000 — — — — 106,000 106,000 — 794,000 771,000

Lars Wedenborn 678,000 688,000 — — — — 339,000 339,000 — 1,027,000 997,000

Joe Loughrey 334,000 — — — — — — — — — 668,000

Baba Kalyani 678,000 688,000 — — — — — — — 688,000 668,000

Hock Goh 678,000 688,000 — — — — — — — 688,000 668,000

Marie Bredberg 678,000 688,000 — — — — 166,000 166,000 — 854,000 829,000

Nancy Gougarty 678,000 688,000 — — — — — — — 688,000 668,000

Ronnie Leten 344,000 688,000 — — — — 272,000 272,000 — 960,000 —

Barb Samardzich 344,000 688,000 — — — — — — — 688,000 —

CEO4) 11,492,812 11,574,804 2,567,906 6,037,500 — 5,347,200 — — 4,504,239 27,463,743 17,039,304

Group  Management4),5) 46,027,804 47,657,622 8,564,568 13,149,108 332,948 18,388,548 — — 16,291,462 95,486,740 78,739,635

whereof AB SKF 30,824,463 32,380,281 5,943,130 7,262,140 247,928 14,405,376 — — 10,521,884 64,569,681 50,074,577

Total 2017 66,902,616 66,744,426 11,132,474 19,186,608 332,948 23,735,748 1,472,000 1,182,000 20,795,701 131,644,483 —

whereof AB SKF 51,699,275 51,467,085 8,511,036 13,299,640 247,928 19,752,576 1,472,000 1,182,000 15,026,123 100,727,423 —

Total 2016 65,382,501 69,515,048 10,111,649 10,480,808 — 3,010,170 876,000 883,000 20,066,913 — 103,955,939

whereof AB SKF 49,468,467 53,580,013 7,468,958 5,940,289 — 2,442,874 876,000 883,000 12,444,705 — 75,290,881

SKF’s Performance Share Programme
The share-based compensation programmes of the Group are 

mainly equity-settled through the SKF Group’s Perform ance Share 

programmes.

The fair value of the SKF B share at grant date is calculated  

as the market value of the share excluding the present value of 

expected dividend payments for the next three years. 

The estimated cost for these programmes, which is based on  

the fair value of the SKF B share at grant date and the number of 

shares expected to vest, is recognized as an operating expense 

with a corresponding offset in equity. The fair value of the SKF 

shares of series B at grant date was determined as SEK 165 for 

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2017. The dividend com-

pensation amount is recognized as employee benefit expense sepa-

rate from the share-based compensation expense. The cost for the 

programmes is adjusted annually for changes to the number of 

shares expected to vest and for the forfeitures of the participants’ 

rights that no longer satisfy the programme conditions. Provisions 

for social costs to be paid by the employer in connection with 

share-based compensation programmes are calculated based on 

the fair value of the SKF B share at each reporting date and 

expensed over the vesting period. 

Allotment of shares under SKF’s Performance Share Programme 

requires that the persons covered by each of the programmes are 

employed in the SKF Group during the entire three year calculation 

period.

1)  Other benefits include housing, car and similar items.
2)  Represents premiums paid under defined contribution plans as well as gross 

service costs under defined benefit plans.
3)  Amounts paid represent the cash outflow and are amounts received by the 

individual during a specific calendar year. These amounts include remunera-
tion for services rendered during given calendar year such as salary, but can 
also include remuneration for services rendered in a prior year where pay-
ment occurs subsequent to that year, for example the variable salary pro-
grammes. Amounts expensed refer primarily to the costs for the Group for 
services rendered during a specific calendar year by the individual, but can 
also include adjustments or reversals related to prior years. Consequently, 
differences between amounts paid and amounts expensed can arise as 
 timing of the expense can be occurring in a different calendar year than the 
cash outflow to the individual. 

4)  Total pension obligations, for SKF Group, related to Group Management 
(including CEO) were SEK 164 m. 

5)  Exclusive of CEO. Includes managers who have joined or left Group Manage-
ment during the year accounted in relation to the period that each individual 
has been a member of Group Management and includes only remuneration in 
their capacity as member of Group Management.

6)  Amounts paid in 2017 represent board remuneration for 2016 and for 2017.
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SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2015: Allotment of shares 

was made in the beginning of 2018. In total 185,880 SKF class B 

shares were allotted pursuant to the terms of the programme, 

based on the degree of achievement of TVA during the three year 

period 2015–2017.

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2016: Allotment of shares 

may be made following the expiry of the three year calculation 

period, i.e. during 2019, if all the conditions of the programme are 

met and the allotment is approved by the Board.

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2017: Allotment of shares 

may be made following the expiry of the three year calculation 

period, i.e. during 2020, if all the conditions of the programme are 

met and the allotment is approved by the Board.

Amounts expensed 2017 for all programmes were SEK 128 m (14) 

excluding social charges. The total provision for all programmes 

was SEK 153 m (34) and the total provision for social charges for all 

programmes was SEK 36 m (8).

2017 2016

Men and women in  
Board of Directors and  
Group  Management

Number of 
 persons

Whereof  
men

Number of 
 persons

Whereof  
men

The Group
Board of Directors of  
the Parent  company  
incl. CEO 12 75% 12 75%

Group Management  
incl. CEO 9 78% 11 82%

Parent Company
Board of Directors of  
the Parent  company  
incl. CEO 12 75% 12 75%

Group Management  
incl. CEO 7 71% 9 78%

Fees to the SKF Group statutory auditors  
were split as follows (SEKm) 2017 2016

Audit fees 48 39

Audit related fees 1 2

Tax fees 9 10

Other fees 1 3

59 54
The Parent Company’s share (SEKm)
Audit fees 10 6

Audit related fees 1 1

Tax fees — 2

Other fees to auditors — 2

11 11

Audit fees related to examination of the annual report and financial 

accounting and the administration by the Board and the President 

as well as other tasks related to the duties of a company auditor. 

Audit related fees are mainly attributable to the review of the SKF’s 

sustainability report. Tax fees related to tax consultancy and tax 

compliance services. All other assignments were defined as other. 

Payments made in 2017 to PwC AB included audit fees of SEK 

13 m, audit related fees of SEK 1 m and SEK 0 m for tax and other 

fees respectively.

At the Annual General Meeting in 2017, PwC was elected auditor 

for AB SKF until the Annual General Meeting in 2021.

  24     Fees to the auditors 
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2017 2016

Number of employees Whereof men Number of employees Whereof men

Parent company in  Sweden 723 75% 613 69%

Subsidiaries in Sweden 2,510 80% 1,941 80%

Subsidiaries abroad 40,581 77% 40,954 78%

43,814 77% 43,508 78%

2017 2016

Geographic specification of average number  
of employees in subsidiaries abroad Number of employees Whereof men Number of employees Whereof men

France 2,448 81% 2,488 81%

Italy 3,189 77% 3,219 77%

Germany 5,941 87% 5,950 87%

Other Western Europe excluding Sweden 3,588 84% 3,606 83%

Central and Eastern Europe 4,609 63% 4,051 63%

USA 4,526 73% 4,677 72%

Canada 249 78% 259 78%

Mexico 1,545 76% 1,616 70%

Latin America 2,650 74% 2,714 89%

China 5,565 68% 5,821 68%

India 2,574 96% 3,182 97%

Other Asian countries/Pacific 3,198 80% 2,857 76%

Middle East and Africa 499 76% 514 79%

40,581 77% 40,954 78%

The Group’s overall financial objective is to create value for its 

shareholders. Over time, the return on the shareholders’ invest-

ment in the SKF share should exceed the risk-free  interest rate by 

around six percentage points. This is the basis for the Group’s 

financial objectives and the financial performance management 

model. 

The SKF Group defines its managed capital as the capital 

employed. One of the Group’s long term financial targets is to 

achieve a return on capital employed of 16%.

The capital structure target of the Group is 

• a gearing of around 50%, which corresponds to 

• an equity/assets ratio of around 35% or 

• a net debt/equity ratio of around 80%.

Key figures1) 2017 2016

Total equity, SEKm 29,823 27,683

Gearing, % 49.9 55.3

Equity/assets ratio, % 36.7 33.0

Net debt/equity ratio, % 71.3 84.4

Return on capital employed, % 14.2 11.9

1) Definition of these key figures is available on page 160.

The purpose of the targeted capital structure is to keep an appro-

priate balance between equity and debt financing. This will ensure 

financial flexibility and enable the Group to  continue investing in its 

business while maintaining a strong credit rating. The Group’s 

 policy and structure of debt financing are presented below. 

The SKF Group’s operations are exposed to various types of 

 financial risks; market risks (being currency risk, interest rate risk 

and other price risks), liquidity risks and credit risks, each being 

 discussed below.

The Group’s risk management incorporates a financial policy that 

establishes guidelines and definitions of currency, interest rate, credit 

and liquidity risks and establishes responsibility and authority for 

the management of these risks. The policy states that the objective 

is to eliminate or minimize risk and to contribute to a better return 

through the active management of risks. The management of the 

risks and the responsibility for all treasury operations are largely 

centralized at SKF Treasury Centre, the Group’s internal bank.

The policy sets forth the financial risk mandates and the financial 

instruments authorized for use in the management of financial risks. 

Financial derivative instruments are used prim arily to manage the 

Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates 

and interest rates. The Group also uses financial derivative instru-

ments for trading purposes, according to Group  policy.

  25     Average number of employees 

  26     Financial risk management 
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Market risk – Currency risk
The Group is exposed to changes in exchange rates in the future 

flows of payments related to firm commitments and forecasted 

transactions and to loans and investments in foreign currencies, 

i.e. transaction exposure. The Group’s accounts are also affected by 

translating the results and net assets of foreign subsidiaries into 

SEK, i.e. translation exposure. 

Transaction exposure
Transaction exposure mainly arises as a result of intra-Group 

trans actions between the Group’s manufacturing companies and 

the Group’s sales companies, situated in other countries and selling 

the products to end-customers normally in local currency on their 

local market. In some countries, transaction exposure may arise 

from sales to external customers in a currency different from the 

local currency. The Group’s principal commercial flows of foreign 

currencies pertain to exports from Europe to North America and 

Asia and to flows of currencies within Europe. Currency rates and 

payment  conditions to be applied to the internal trade between SKF 

companies are set by SKF Treasury Centre. Currency exposure and 

risk is primarily, and to a large extent, reduced by netting internal 

transactions. The currency flows between SKF companies managed 

by SKF Treasury Centre were reduced through netting from SEK 

62,346 m (58,926) to SEK 4,928 m (3,142). This amount repre-

sented the Group’s main transaction exposure excluding hedges.

Net currency flows (SEKm) 2017 2016

CAD 965 885

CNY 2,377 —

DKK 518 407

EUR –6,330 –6,192

RUB 554 411

THB 485 463

TRY 537 474

USD 4,152 5,290

Other1) 1,670 1,250

SEK –4,928 –3,142

1) Other is a sum comprising 11 different currencies

Based on the assumption that the net currency flows will be the 

same as in 2017, the below graph represents a sensitivity- analysis 

that shows the effect in SEK on operating profit of a 5% stronger 

SEK against all other currencies. 

The effect on equity is the below result after tax. The effects of 

fluctuations upon the translation of subsidiaries’ financial state-

ments into the Group’s presentation  currency are not considered. 
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1) Other is a sum comprimising 11 different currencies.

Sensitivity analysis: Effect on operating profits 
of a 5% stronger SEK
SEKm

Translation exposure
Translation exposure is defined as the Group’s exposure to currency 

risk arising when translating the results and net assets of foreign 

 subsidiaries to SEK. Based on 2017 operating profits in local cur-

rencies, the below graph represents a sensitivity- analysis that 

shows the effect in SEK on the translation of operating profits of a 

5% weaker SEK against all other currencies. To reduce the transla-

tion exposure of net assets, the Group has hedged some of its net 

investment in foreign subsidiaries, for details see pages 106–107.
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1) Other is a sum comprising 42 different currencies.

Sensitivity analysis: Effect on translation of 
operating profits to SEK of a 5% weaker SEK
SEKm

Market risk – Interest rate risk 
The Group defines interest rate risk as the risk of negative fluctua-

tions in the Group’s cash flow caused by changes in the interest 

rates.

At year-end, total interest bearing financial liabilities amounted 

to SEK 29,788 m (34,344) and total interest bearing financial 

assets amounted to SEK 9,585 m (12,005). Liquidity management 

is concentrated to SKF Treasury Centre. By matching the duration 

of investments and borrowings, the interest rate exposure of the 

Group can be reduced. 

To manage the interest rate risk and currency risk in the bor-

rowing, the Group uses cross-currency interest rate swaps, where 

fixed EUR interest rates are swapped into floating USD, floating SEK 

interest rates are swapped into floating EUR and floating EUR 

interest rates are swapped into floating USD. 

As of the balance sheet date, given the prevailing amount of net 

interest-bearing liabilities, an unfavourable change of the interest 

rates by 1% would have reduced pre-tax profit for the year, includ-

ing the effect of derivatives, by around SEK 160 m (180). For 

details on interest rates of individual loans, see Note 11 of the 

 Parent company’s financial statements.

Market risk – Price risks
Market risks also include other price risks, where the relevant risk 

variables for the Group are stock exchange prices or indexes.

As of 31 December, the Group held investments in equity securi-

ties with quoted stock prices, amounting to SEK 397 m (459), which 

are categorized as available-for-sale. If the market share prices 

had been 5% higher/lower at the balance sheet date, the available- 

for-sale reserve in equity would have been SEK 20 m (23) higher/

lower. 
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Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is defined as the risk 

that the Group will encounter difficulties in raising funds to meet 

 commitments. Group policy states that, in addition to current loan 

financing, the Group should have a payment capacity in the form of 

available liquidity and/or long-term committed credit facilities. 

As of the balance sheet date, in addition to its own liquidity, the 

Group had committed credit facilities of EUR 500 m syndicated by 

10 banks that will expire in 2019, and one committed credit facilities 

of EUR 250 m that will expire in 2020.

A good rating is important in the management of liquidity risks. 

As of 31 December, 2017 the long-term rating of the Group is 

BBB– with stable outlook by Standard & Poor’s and Baa2 with neu-

tral outlook by Moody’s Investor Service. 

The table below show the Group’s contractually agreed and 

undiscounted interest payments and repayments of the non- 

derivative financial liabilities and derivatives with payment flows.  

All instruments held at 31 December, 2017 for which payments 

were contractually agreed were included. Planning data for future, 

new liabilities was not included. Amounts in foreign currency were 

translated at closing rate. The variable interest payments arising 

from the financial instruments were calculated using the last inter-

est rates fixed before 31 December, 2017. Financial liabilities  

were assigned to the earliest possible time period when they can  

be required to be repaid.

2017 Cash flows

SEKm 2018 2019 2020–2022 
2023 and 

thereafter

Loans –2,770 –2,964 –12,008 –996

Trade payables –7,899 — — —

Derivatives, net –73 –6 –738 —

Total –10,742 –2,970 –12,746 –996

Credit risk 
Credit risk is defined as the Group’s exposure to losses in the event 

that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obliga-

tion. The SKF Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating 

activities and certain financing activities. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for the Group amounted to 

SEK 22,820 m (25,394) as of the balance sheet date. The exposure 

is represented by total financial assets that are carried on the bal-

ance sheet with the exception of equity securities. No granting of 

significant financial guarantees increasing the credit risk and no 

significant  collateral agreements reducing the maximum exposure 

to credit risk existed as of the balance sheet date.

Credit risk (SEKm) 2017 2016

Trade receivables 13,416 13,462

Other receivables 2,107 1,793

Derivatives 185 200

Cash and cash equivalent 7,112 9,939

Total 22,820 25,394

At operational level, the outstanding trade receivables are continu-

ously monitored locally in each area. The Group’s concentration of 

credit risk related to trade receivables is mitigated primarily due to 

its many geographically and industrially diverse customers. Trade 

receivables are subject to credit limit control and approval proce-

dures in all subsidiaries.

With regard to treasury related activities, the Group’s policy 

states that only well-established financial institutions are approved 

as counterparties. The SKF Group has signed ISDA agreements 

(International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.) with nearly 

all of these financial institutions. ISDA is classified as an enforceable 

netting arrangement. One feature of the ISDA agreement is that it 

enables the SKF Group to calculate its credit exposure on a net basis 

per counterpart, i.e. the difference between what the Group owes 

and is owed. The agreement between the Group and the counter-

party allows for net settlement of derivatives when both elect to 

settle net. In the event of default of one of the counterparties the 

other counterpart of the netting agreement has the option to settle 

on a net basis. Transactions are made within fixed limits and credit 

exposure per counterparty is continuously monitored. As of the 

balance sheet date the Group had derivative assets of around 

SEK 116 m (170) and derivative liabilities of around SEK 965 m 

(3,200) subject to enforceable master  netting arrangements.

Hedge accounting
The Group manages risks related to the volatility of balance sheet 

items and future cash flows, which otherwise would affect the 

income statement, by hedging. A distinction is made between cash 

flow hedges, fair value hedges and hedges of net investment in 

 foreign operations based on the nature of the hedged item. 

Derivative instruments which provide effective economic hedges, 

but which either do not qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39 

or are otherwise not designated for hedge accounting by the Group, 

are accounted for as trading instruments. Changes in the fair value 

of these economic hedges are immediately recognized in the income 

statement as financial income or expense or in the operating result 

depending on the nature of the hedged item.

Fair value hedges 
Hedge accounting is applied to derivative financial instruments 

which are effective in hedging the exposure to changes in fair value 

in foreign borrowing. Changes in the fair value of these derivative 

financial instruments designated as hedging instruments are rec-

ognized in the income statement under financial items. The carry-

ing amount of the hedged item (the financial liability) is adjusted  

for the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk. The gain or loss 

is recognized in the income statement under financial items. If a 

hedge relationship is discontinued, the accumulated adjustment  

to the carrying amount is amortized over the duration of the life  

of the hedged item.

The SKF Group hedges the fair value risk of financial liabilities at 

December 2017, by using cross-currency interest rate swaps. 

The EUR 450 m loan with fixed interest payments has been 

swapped into floating USD interest. 

The effectiveness of the hedging relationship is prospectively 

tested using the critical terms match method. An effectiveness test 

is carried out retrospectively at each balance sheet date using the 
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dollar-offset method. All hedging relationships were effective 

within the range of the ratios of the two past changes in value 

(between 80 and 125%). When the effectiveness was being meas-

ured, the change in the credit spread was not taken into account 

for calculating the change in the fair value of the hedged item. As 

the list of the fair values of derivatives shows (see table in the 

Derivatives section below), the Group had designated interest rate 

derivatives for a net amount of SEK –438 m (–1,722) as fair value 

hedges as of 31 December, 2017. 

The following table shows the changes in the fair value of the 

hedges recorded in interest expense during the year. 

SEKm

Financial 
 expense 

2017

Financial 
 expense 

2016

Financial liabilities (hedged items) 240 –24

Cross-currency interest-rate swaps 
 (hedging instruments) –235 27

Difference (inefficiency) 5 3

Cash flow hedges 
Hedge accounting is applied to derivative financial instruments, 

which are effective in offsetting the variability in the cash flows 

from forecasted electricity consumption. Changes in the fair value 

of the derivative financial instruments  designated as hedge instru-

ments that meet the criteria for hedging future cash flows are rec-

ognized in the hedging reserve in equity via other comprehensive 

income.

Electricity forward contracts were used by the factories in 

 Sweden to reduce their exposure to changes in electricity prices.  

In the 2017 financial year, gains totalling SEK 1 m (15) resulting 

from the change in fair value of electricity forwards were taken to 

other comprehensive income. During the year gains of SEK 1 m 

(–2) were transferred via other comprehensive income to cost of 

goods sold. There was no material ineffectiveness of these hedges 

recorded as of the balance sheet date. 

Hedges of net investments
Hedge accounting is applied to financial instruments which are 

effective in offsetting the exposure to translation differences aris-

ing when the net assets of foreign operations are translated into 

the Group’s functional currency. Any gain or loss on the hedging is 

 recognized in the foreign currency translation reserve via other 

comprehensive income.

As of the balance sheet date net investments in foreign opera-

tions for a nominal amount of EUR 571 m (571) were hedged by 

the Group against changes in the EUR/SEK exchange rates. EUR 

loans for an amount of EUR 500 m (500) and derivatives for an 

amount of EUR 71 m (71) were designated as hedge instruments. 

The result of the hedges totalled SEK –161 m (–246) before tax 

in 2017 and was recognized as a translation difference in other 

comprehensive income. During the year no gains/losses (0) have 

been recycled from other comprehensive income to the income 

statement, matching the recycling of the hedged subsidiary’s 

cumulative translation differences.

Derivatives
The table below shows the fair values of the various derivatives 

carried as of 31 December reflected as assets in Note 13 and liabil-

ities in Note 19. A distinction is made depending on whether these 

are part of an effective hedging relationship as set out in IAS 39 

(fair value hedge, net investment hedge, cash flow hedge) or not. 

Derivative assets and 
 liabilities, net (SEKm) Category 2017 2016

Interest rate and  
currency swaps

 Fair value hedges Hedge accounting –438 –1,722

 Economic hedges Trading –291 –628

Currency forwards/ 
currency options

 Net investment hedges Hedge accounting 7 12

 Economic hedges Trading –121 –712

Electricity forwards

    Cash flow hedges Hedge accounting –1 –1

–844 –3,051
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Parent Company income statements

Parent Company statements  
of comprehensive income

Years ended 31 December

SEKm Note 2017 2016

Revenue 2 6,352 5,061

Cost of revenue 2 –4,387 –4,598

General management and administrative expenses 2 –1,880 –1,448

Other operating income and expenses,net 2 1 –1

Operating profit 86 –986

Financial income and expenses, net 3 2,137 3,814

Profit after financial items 2,223 2,828

Appropriations 4 897 2,140

Profit before tax 3,120 4,968

Income taxes 5 216 –667

Net profit 3,336 4,301

Years ended 31 December

SEKm Note 2017 2016

Net profit 3,336 4,301

Items that may be reclassified to the income statement
Change in fair value of available-for-sale assets 9 –103 –206

Other comprehensive income, net of tax –103 –206
Total comprehensive income 3,233 4,095

AB SKF, corporate identity number 556007-3495, which is the 

 parent company of the SKF Group, is a registered Swedish limited 

liability company domiciled in Gothenburg. The headquarters’ 

address is AB SKF, SE-415 50 Gothenburg, Sweden.

AB SKF is the Entrepreneur within the Group. The role of Entre-

preneur is to make the strategic decisions and pay for research and 

development in the Group as well as the management services. 

Subsidiaries in the Group perform tasks decided by the Entrepre-

neur and thus have a limited commercial liability. Gains and losses 

arising in the subsidiaries are, after deduction of a reasonable 

 proportion, distributed to the Parent company as residual profit.

Dividend income from consolidated subsidiaries amounted to 

SEK 2,489 m (4,393).

Net increase in investments in subsidiaries amounted to  

SEK 1 m (1,449) of which SEK 0 m (361) is related to acquisitions 

from companies within the SKF Group, SEK 0 m (1 088) to capital 

Parent Company, AB SKF 

contributions. Shares with a booked value of SEK 5 m (0) where 

sold during the year.

Risks and uncertainties in the business for the Group are 

described in the Administration Report for the Group. The financial 

position of the parent company is dependent on the financial posi-

tion and development of the subsidiaries. A general decline in the 

demand for the products and services provided by the Group could 

mean lower residual profit and lower dividend income for the parent 

company, as well as a need for write-down of the values in the shares 

in subsidiaries. Due to the wide spread of markets, geographically 

as well as operationally in which the subsidiaries operate, the risk 

that the financial position for the parent company will be negatively 

affected is assessed as small.

Unrestricted equity in the parent company amounted to  

SEK 16,884 m.
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Parent Company balance sheets
As of 31 December

SEKm Note 2017 2016

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 6 1,901 1,939

Property, plant and equipment 7 75 67

Investments in subsidiaries 8 22,349 22,403

Long-term receivables from subsidiaries 14,705 18,567

Investments in associated companies 1 1

Investments in equity securities 9 360 459

Other long-term receivables 198 156

Deferred tax assets 5 339 72

39,928 43,664
Current assets
Short-term receivables from subsidiaries 6,181 4,683

Other short-term receivables 78 83

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 63 44

Cash and cash equivalents  16 4

6,338 4,814
Total assets 46,266 48,478

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Restricted equity
Share capital 1,138 1,138

Statutory reserve  918 918

Capitalized development reserve 338 261

2,394 2,317
Unrestricted equity
Fair value reserve 185 288

Retained earnings 13,363 11,526

Net profit 3,336 4,301

16,884 16,115
19,278 18,432

Untaxed reserves 4 24 69

Provisions
Provisions for post-employment benefits 10 309 306

Other provisions 257 238

566 544
Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans 11 14,705 18,564

Long-term liabilities to subsidiaries 0 602

14,705 19,166
Current liabilities
Short-term loans 11 2,299 1,000

Trade payables 219 204

Short-term liabilities to subsidiaries 8,527 8,579

Other short-term liabilities 189 15

Accrued expenses and deferred income 459 469

11,693 10,267
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 46,266 48,478
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Parent Company statements of cash flow
January–December 

SEKm 2017 2016

Operating activities
Operating profit 86 –986

Adjustments for
Depreciation and amortization 172 147

Other non-cash items 273 107

Payments under post-employment defined benefit plans –32 –33

Changes in working capital
Trade payables 15 90

Other operating assets and liabilities, net 3,162 2,695

Interest received 396 413

Interest paid –834 –610

Other financial items –279 –48

Net cash flow from operating activities 2,959 1,775

Investing activities
Additions to intangible assets –127 –323

Additions to property, plant and equipment –15 –7

Dividends received from subsidiaries 2,489 4,393

Investments in subsidiaries — –1,449

Sales of shares in subsidiaries 247 —

Investments in equity securities –3 –2

Net cash flow used in investing activities 2,591 2,612
Net cash flow after investments before financing 5,550 4,387

Financing activities
Proceeds from medium- and long-term loans 893 —

Repayment of medium- and long-term loans –3,927 –1,879

Cash dividends to AB SKF’s shareholders –2,504 –2,504

Net cash flow used in financing activities –5,538 –4,383
Increase(+)/decrease(–) in cash and cash equivalents 12 4
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 4 —

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 16 4
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Parent Company statements of changes in equity

Restricted equity Unrestricted equity

SEKm Share  capital1)

Statutory 
reserve

Capitalized 
development 

reserve 
Fair value 

reserve
Retained 
 earnings Total

Opening balance 1 January, 2016 1,138 918 — 494 14,277 16,827
Net profit — — — — 4,301 4,301

Components of other comprehensive income
Change in fair value of available-for-sale assets — — — –206 — –206

Capitalized development reserve — — 261 — –261 —

Transactions with shareholders
Cost under Performance Share Programmes2) — — — — 14 14

Dividends — — — — –2,504 –2,504

Closing balance 31 December, 2016 1,138 918 261 288 15,827 18,432

Net profit 3,336 3,336

Components of other comprehensive income
Change in fair value of available-for-sale assets — — — –103 — –103

Capitalized development reserve — — 77 — –77 —

Transactions with shareholders
Cost under Performance Share Programmes2) — — — — 117 117

Dividends — — — — –2,504 –2,504

Closing balance 31 December, 2017 1,138 918 338 185 16,699 19,278

1)  The distribution of share capital between share types and the quota 

value is shown in Note 15 to the Consolidated financial statements.

2)  See Note 23 to Consolidated financial statements for information  

about Performance Share Programmes.

Restricted equity includes share capital and statutory reserves as 

well as capitalized development reserves which are not available 

for dividend payments. 

Unrestricted equity includes retained earnings which can be 

 distributed to shareholders. It also includes the fair value reserve 

which  accumulates the changes in fair value of available-for-sale 

assets. 



112 SKF Annual Report 2017 

Notes Parent Company

Notes to the financial statements  
of the Parent Company

Basis of presentation
The financial statements of the Parent company are prepared  

in accordance with the “Annual Accounts Act” and The Swedish 

Financial Reporting Board recommendation RFR 2, “Accounting for 

Legal  Entities” as well as their interpretation (UFR). In accordance 

with RFR 2, IFRS is applied to the greatest extent possible under 

Swedish legislation, but full compliance is not possible. The areas 

in which the Parent company’s accounting policies differ from the 

Group’s are described below. For a description of the Group’s 

accounting policies, see Note 1 to the Consolidated financial 

 statements. 

Post-employment benefits
AB SKF reports pensions in the financial statements in accordance 

with RFR 2. According to RFR 2, IAS 19 shall be adopted regarding 

supplementary disclosures when applicable. 

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are recorded at acquisition cost, 

reduced by any impairment.

Untaxed reserves
The tax legislation in Sweden allows companies to make pro visions 

to untaxed reserves. Hereby, the companies may, with certain lim-

its, allocate and retain profits in the balance sheet instead of imme-

diate taxation. The untaxed reserves are taken into taxation at the 

time of their dissolution. In the event that the business shows losses, 

the untaxed reserves may be dissolved in order to cover the losses 

without any taxation. 

Equity
When development expenses are capitalized for internal develop-

ment of intangible assets, a corresponding amount is transferred 

from retained earnings to a reserve for capitalized development in 

restricted equity. The reserve is released to retained earnings upon 

amortization of the capitalized development.

Intangible assets
According to Swedish legislation, goodwill has a definite useful life. 

The useful life amounts to eight years and the amortization follows 

a linear pattern. 

AB SKF is since 2012 the entrepreneur within the Group and  

as such entitled to the residual profits while taking the costs for 

 management and research and development. Consequently the 

revenues are comprised of residual profits and royalties from 

SEKm 2017 2016

Income from participations in Group companies
Dividends from subsidiaries 2,489 4,393

Other financial income from investments in subsidiaries 242 2

Impairment and disposals of investments in subsidiaries –102 –334

2,629 4,061
Financial income
Interest income from subsidiaries 396 413

Other financial income 1 —

397 413
Financial expenses
Interest expenses to subsidiaries –222 –182

Interest expenses to external parties –629 –428

Other financial expense –38 –50

–889 –660

 subsidiaries. Cost of revenue include research and development 

expenses totalling SEK 2,136 m (2,015). 

Of the total operating expenses, SEK 3,882 m ( 3,210 ) was 

invoiced from subsidiaries. 

  1     Accounting policies 

  2     Revenues and operating expenses 

  3     Financial income and financial expenses 
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Appropriations (SEKm) 2017 2016

Paid/received group contribution 852 2,030

Untaxed reserves
Change in accelerated depreciation 
reserve 45 110

897 2,140
Untaxed reserves in the balance sheet

Accelerated depreciation reserve 24 69

Taxes on profit before tax (SEKm) 2017 2016

Current taxes –66 –63

Other taxes 21 40

Deferred tax 261 –644

216 –667

Net deferred assets per type (SEKm) 2017 2016

Provisions for post-employment benefits 72 70

Tax credit carry forwards 265 —

Other 2 2

Deferred tax assets 339 72

Reconciliation of the statutory tax in  Sweden 
and the actual tax (SEKm) 2017 2016

Tax calculated using the  
statutory tax rate in Sweden –686 –1,093

Non-taxable dividends and  
other  financial income 600 966

Tax referring to previous years 106 –498

Recognition of deferred tax asset related 
to other taxes 222 —

Other non-deductible and non-taxable 
profit items,net –26 –42

Actual tax 216 –667

The corporate statutory income tax rate in Sweden is 22% (22).

SEKm
2017  

Closing balance Additions Impairments
2017  

Opening balance

Acquisition cost
Goodwill 25 3 — 22

Technology and similar items 901 — — 901

Internally developed software 1,934 124 — 1,810

2,860 127 — 2,733

SEKm
2017  

Closing balance Amortization Impairments
2017  

Opening balance

Accumulated amortization
Goodwill 5 4 — 1

Technology and similar items 666 113 — 553

Internally developed software 288 48 — 240

959 165 — 794

Net book value 1,901 1,939

See Note 10 of the Consolidated financial statements for informa-

tion on the internally developed software including impairment. 

Technology and similar items are amortized over eight years.  

  6     Intangible assets 

  4     Appropriations   5     Taxes 
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SEKm
2017  

Closing balance Additions Disposals
2017  

Opening balance

Acquisition cost
Buildings 5 — — 5

Machine toolings and factory fittings 87 3 — 84

Assets under construction including advances 25 12 — 13

117 15 — 102

SEKm
2017  

Closing balance Depreciation Disposals
2017  

Opening balance

Accumulated depreciation
Buildings 1 — — 1

Machine toolings and factory fittings 41 7 — 34

42 7 — 35

Net book value 75 67

Investments in subsidiaries  
held by the Parent company  
on 31 December (SEKm) 2017 Additions Impairment

Disposals  
and capital 

 repayments 2016 Additions Impairment

Disposals  
and capital 

repayments 2015

Investments in subsidiaries 22,349 1 –50 –5 22,403 1,449 –326 –37 21,317

The Group is composed of some 220 legal entities (subsidiaries), 

where AB SKF is the ultimate parent either directly or indirectly via 

intermediate holding companies. The vast majority of the Group’s 

subsidiaries perform activities related to manufacturing and sales. 

A limited number are involved in central Group functions such as 

treasury or reinsurance, or as previously mentioned, act as inter-

mediate holding companies. This legal structure is designed to 

effectively manage legal requirements, administration, financing 

and taxes in the countries in which the Group operates. In contrast, 

the Group’s operational structure described in the Administration 

report, gives a better overview of how the Group runs its business. 

See also Note 2 to the Consolidated financial statements. 

The tables below list firstly, the subsidiaries owned directly by 

the Parent company, and secondly, the most significant of the 

remaining subsidiaries of the Group. Taken together these subsidi-

aries account for more than 90% of the Group’s sales and for more 

than 90% of the Group’s manufacturing facilities. 

Book value

Name of directly owned subsidiaries Country
Registration 

number No. of shares % ownership 2017 2016
Main  

activities1)

SKF Argentina S.A. Argentina — 14,677,299 29.2%2) 75 75 M,S

SKF Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia — 96,500 100% — — S

SKF Österreich AG Austria — 200 100% 176 176 M,S

SKF Belgium NV/SA Belgium — 1,778,642 99.9%2) 109 109 S

SKF Logistics Services Belgium NV/SA Belgium — 29,907,952 99.9%2) 28 28 O

SKF do Brasil Ltda. Brazil — 517,294,748 99.9%2) 1,152 1,152 M,S

SKF Bearings Bulgaria EAD Bulgaria — 24,664,309 100% 183 183 M

SKF Canada Ltd. Canada — 130,000 100% 58 58 M,S

SKF Chilena S.A.I.C. Chile — 88,191 99.9%2) — — S

SKF (China) Co. Ltd. China — 133,400 100% 1,135 1,135 O

SKF CZ, a.s. Czech  Republic — 430 100% 10 10 S

  7     Property, plant and equipment 

  8     Investments in subsidiaries 
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Book value

Name of directly owned subsidiaries Country
Registration 

number No. of shares % ownership 2017 2016
Main  

activities1)

Carried Forward 2,926 2,926
SKF Danmark A/S Denmark — 5 100% 7 7 S

Oy SKF Ab Finland — 48,400 100% 12 12 M,S

SKF Holding France S.A.R.L. France — 1 100% 3,371 3,371 O

SKF GmbH Germany — 1,000 100% 1,574 1,574 M,S

SKF Maintenance service GmbH Germany — 1 100% 6 6 S

SKF Hellas S.A. Greece — 2,000 100% — — S

SKF Svéd Golyóscsapágy Zrt Hungary — 20 100% — — S

SKF Technologies (India) Private Ltd. India — 3,066,500,101 94.65%2) 352 402 M,S

SKF India Ltd. India — 24,423,776 45.63%3) 90 94 M,S

PT. SKF Indonesia Indonesia — 53,411 60% 24 24 M,S

PT. SKF Industrial Indonesia Indonesia — 5 5%2) 1 1 S

SKF Industrie S.p.A Italy — 465,000 100% 912 912 M,S

SKF Japan Ltd. Japan — 32,400 100% 225 225 S

SKF Malaysia Sdn Bhd Malaysia — 1,000,000 100% 57 57 M

SKF de México, S.A. de C.V. Mexico — 375,630,290 99.9%2) 303 303 M,S

Peer Rodamientos de Mexico, S.A. de CV Mexico — 3,202,619 99.9%2) 2 2 S

SKF New Zealand Ltd. New Zealand — 375,000 100% 11 11 S

SKF Norge AS Norway — 50,000 100% — — S

SKF del Peru S.A. Peru — 2,564,903 99.9%2) — — S

SKF Polska S.A. Poland — 3,701,466 100% 156 156 M,S

SKF Portugal-Rolamentos, Lda. Portugal — 61,601 95%2) 4 4 S

SKF Korea Ltd.
Republic of 

Korea — 128,667 100% 74 74 M,S

SKF Sealing Solutions Korea Co., Ltd.
Republic of 

Korea — 153,320 51% 15 15 M,S

SKF Treasury Centre Asia & Pacific Pte. Ltd. Singapore — 61,500,000 100% 467 467 O

SKF Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. Singapore — 1,000,000 100% — — S

Barseco (PTY) Ltd. South Africa — 1,422,480 100% 157 157 S

SKF Española S.A. Spain — 3,650,000 100% 383 383 M,S

SKF Förvaltning AB Sweden 556350-4140 124,500 99.6%2) 3,870 3,870 O

SKF International AB Sweden 556036-8671 20,000 100% 1,320 1,320 O

Återförsäkringsaktiebolaget SKF Sweden 516401-7658 30,000 100% 125 125 O

Bagaregården 16:7 KB Sweden 916622-8529 — 99.9%2) 60 60 O

SKF Eurotrade AB Sweden 556206-7610 83,500 100% 12 12 S,O

SKF Motion Technologies AB Sweden 559035-5356 50,000 100% — — M,S

SKF Lager AB Sweden 556219-5288 2,000 100% — — O

AB Svenska Kullagerfabriken Sweden 556210-0148 1,000 100% — — O

SKF Verwaltungs AG Switzerland — 500 100% 502 502 O

SKF Actuation System (Liestal) AG Switzerland — 1 100% 165 165 M,S

SKF Taiwan Co. Ltd. Taiwan — 169,475,000 100% 171 171 S

SKF (Thailand) Ltd. Thailand — 1,847,000 92.4%2) 37 37 S

SKF B.V The Netherlands — 1,450 100% 304 304 M

SKF Holding Maatschappij Holland B.V The  Netherlands — 60,002 100% — — O

Trelanoak Ltd. UK — 6,965,000 100% 120 120 O

PSC SKF Ukraine Ukraine — 1,266,122,556 99.9% 205 205 M

SKF Logistics Uruguay S.A. Uruguay — 566,886,506 100% 174 174 S,O

SKF USA Inc. USA — 1,000 100% 4,155 4,155 M,S,O

SKF Venezolana S.A. Venezuela — 20,014,892 100% — — S

22,349 22,403

1) M=Manufacturing, S=Sales, O=Other incl treasury, reinsurance and/or holding activities

2) Parent company together with subsidiares own 100%. 

3) Parent company together with subsidiaries own 52.3% 
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Name of indirectly owned subsidiaries Country % Ownership
Owned by   

subsidiary in
Main  

activities1)

ABBA Linear Tech Co. Ltd. Taiwan 100% Taiwan M,S

Alemite LLC USA 100% USA M,S

ATLAS MANAGEMENT INC. USA 100% USA O

Beijing Nankou SKF Railway Bearings Co. Ltd. China 51% China M

Cooper Roller Bearings Co. Ltd. United Kingdom 100% The Netherlands M,S

General Bearing Corporation USA 100% USA M,S

General Bearing Intern Trading Ltd. China 100% Barbados S

Kaydon Corporation USA 100% USA M,S,O

Kaydon Ring & Seals Inc USA 100% USA M,S

Kaydon S de R.L. de C.V. Mexico 100% USA M,S

Lincoln Helios (India) Ltd. India 100% Germany M,S

Lincoln Industrial Corporation USA 100% USA M,S,O

Lincoln Lubrication (SA) Pty Ltd. South Africa 100% South Africa S

Lincoln Lubrication Equipment (Changshu) Co. Ltd. China 100% USA M,S

Ningbo General Bearing Ltd. China 100% Barbados M,S

Peer Bearing Company, Changshan (CPZ1) China 100% China M

RFT S.p.A. Italy 100% Italy M,S

RKS S.A.S France 100% France M

Shanghai General Bearing Ltd. China 60% Barbados M,S

Shanghai Peer Bearing Co. Ltd. Shanghai (SPZ 1) China 100% China S,O

SKF (China) Sales Co. Ltd. China 100% China S

SKF (Dalian) Bearings and Precision Technologies Co. Ltd. China 100% China M

SKF (Jinan) Bearings & Precision Technology Co. Ltd. China 100% China M

SKF (Schweiz) A.G. Switzerland 100% Switzerland S

SKF (Shanghai) Automotive Technologies Co. Ltd. China 100% China M

SKF (Shanghai) Bearings Ltd. Switzerland 100% China M

SKF (Shanghai) Industrial Service Co. Ltd. (BAO) China 66% China S

SKF (U.K.) Ltd. United Kingdom 100% United Kingdom M,S

SKF Aeroengine France S.A.S France 100% France M,S

SKF Aerospace France S.A.S. France 100% France M,S

SKF Bearing Industries (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100% The Netherlands M

SKF China Ltd. China 100% China S

SKF Distribution (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. China 100% China S,O

SKF Economos Deutschland GmbH Germany 100% Austria M,S

SKF France S.A.S France 100% France M,S

SKF Latintrade S.A. Colombia 100% Spain S

SKF Linearsysteme GmbH Germany 100% Germany M,S

SKF Lubrication Systems CZ s.r.o Czech Republic 100% Germany M

SKF Lubrication Systems Germany GmbH Germany 100% Germany M,S

SKF Magnetic Mechatronics S.A.S France 100% France M,S

SKF Marine GmbH Germany 100% Germany M,S

SKF Mekan AB Sweden 100% Sweden M

SKF Motion Technologies S.A.S France 100% France M

SKF Sealing Solutions (Wuhu) Co. Ltd. China 100% China M,S

SKF Sealing Solutions Austria GmbH Austria 100% Austria M

SKF Sealing Solutions GmbH Germany 100% Germany M,S

SKF Sealing Solutions S.A. de C.V Mexico 100% USA M

SKF South Africa (Pty) Ltd. South Africa 70% South Africa S

SKF Sverige AB Sweden 100% Sweden M,S

SKF Tver Ltd. Russia 100% Sweden M

SKF Türk Sanayi ve Ticaret Limited Sirketi Turkey 100% Belgium S

SKF ZAO Russian Federation 100% Sweden S

The Cooper Split Roller Bearing Corp USA 100% USA M

Venture Aerobearings LLC. USA 51% USA M,S

Zhejiang Xinchang Peer Bearing Co. Ltd, Xingchang (XPZ1) China 100% China M

Zhejiang Xinchang Peer Mechanical Parts Co. Ltd. China 75% USA M

Zhejiang Illinois Peer Bearing Co. Ltd. Xingchang (XPZ3) China 100% China M

1) M=Manufacturing, S=Sales, O=Other incl treasury, reinsurance and/or holding activities

Cont. Note 8
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Name and location (SEK m)
Holding in 

 percent
Number  

of shares Currency
2017 

Book value
2016 

Book value

Wafangdian Bearing Company Limited, China 19.7 79,300,000 HKD 354 456

Other SEK 6 3

360 459

Amount recognized in the balance sheet (SEKm) 2017 2016

Present value of funded pension  obligations 371 344

Fair value of plan assets –250 –236

Net obligation 121 108

Present value of unfunded pension  obligations 188 198

Net provisions 309 306

Change in net provision for the year (SEKm) 2017 2016

Opening balance 1 January 306 296

Defined benefit expense 35 43

Pension payments –32 –33

Closing balance 31 December 309 306

Components of expense (SEKm) 2017 2016

Pension cost 47 51

Interest expense 2 2

Return on plan assets –14 –10

Defined benefit expense 35 43

Defined contribution expense 90 94

Total post-employment benefit expense 125 137

All white collar workers of the Company are covered by the ITP-

plan according to collective agreements. Additionally, the Company 

sponsors a complementary defined contribution (DC) scheme for a 

limited group of managers. This DC scheme replaced the previous 

supplementary defined benefit plan which from 2003 is closed for 

new participants.

The calculation of defined benefit pension obligations has been 

made in accordance with regulations stipulated by the Swedish 

Financial Supervisory Authority, FFFS 2007:24 and FFFS 2007:31.

  9     Investments in equity securities 

  10     Provisions for post-employment benefits 

The discount rate for the ITP-plan was 3.84% (3.84) and for the 

other defined benefit plan it was 0.6% (0.7). Expected cash outflows 

for 2018 were SEK 100 m.
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  Salaries, wages, other remunerations, average number of employees  

  and men and women in Management and Board 
12

2017 2016

SEKm Maturity Interest rate
Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Bonds
EUR 500 m (Outstanding 234 m) 2018 3.88 2,299 2,385 2,231 2,389

EUR 500 m (Outstanding 266 m) 2019 1.87 2,610 2,695 2,534 2,651

EUR 750 m (Outstanding 450 m) 2020 2.38 4,411 4,646 7,138 7,643

EUR 200 m 2021 0.56 1,968 1,969 1,913 1,914

EUR 500 m 2022 1.63 4,895 5,246 4,748 5,198

USD 100 m 2027 4.06 821 961 — —

17,004 17,902 19,564 20,795

SEKm 2017 2016

Salaries, wages and other remuneration 760 607

Social charges (whereof post- employment benefit expense) 356 (125) 316 (137)

See Note 23 to the Consolidated financial statements for informa-

tion on remuneration to the Board and president as well as men 

and women in management and the board. Refer to Note 25 to 

the Consolidated financial statements for the average number of 

employees and to Note 24 to the Consolidated financial statements 

for fees to the auditors. 

  11     Loans 

  13     Contingent liabilities 

SEKm 2017 2016

General partner 1 2

Other contingent liabilites 18 17

19 19

General partner relates to liabilities in limited partnership 

Bagaregården 16:7. 

Other contingent liabilities refers to guarantee commitment 

regarding pension liabilities in the Swedish subsidiaries. 
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Proposed distribution of surplus

Fair value reserve SEK 184,892,341

Retained earnings SEK 13,363,170,476

Net profit for the year SEK 3,336,501,232

Total surplus SEK 16,884,564,049

The Board of Directors and the President recommend 

to the shareholders, a dividend of SEK 5.50 per share1) SEK 2,504,430,8742)

to be carried forward:

Fair value reserve SEK 184,892,341

Retained earnings SEK 14,195,240,834

SEK 16,884,564,049

The results of operations and the financial position of the Parent Company, AB SKF, and the Group for the year 2017  

are given in the income statements and in the balance sheets together with related notes.

The Board of Directors and the President certify that the annual financial report has been prepared in accordance with 

 generally accepted accounting principles in Sweden and that the consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance 

with the international set of accounting standards referred to in Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament 

and of the Council of 19 July, 2002 on the application of international accounting standards, and give a true and fair view of 

the position and profit or loss of the Company and the Group, and that the management report for the Company and for the 

Group gives a fair review of the development and performance of the business, position and profit or loss of the Company 

and the Group, and describes the principal risks and uncertainties that the Company and the companies in the Group face.

Gothenburg, 2 March, 2018

Leif Östling, Chairman
Peter Grafoner, Board member

Lars Wedenborn, Board member
Baba Kalyani, Board member

Hock Goh, Board member
Marie Bredberg, Board member

Alrik Danielson, President and CEO, Board member
Nancy Gougarty, Board member 

Ronnie Leten, Board member
Barb Samardzich, Board member

Jonny Hilbert, Board member
Zarko Djurovic, Board member

Our auditors’ report for this Annual Report and the consolidated Annual Report was issued 2 March, 2018.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Peter Clemedtson Bo Karlsson

Authorized public accountant Authorized public accountant
Auditor in charge

1)  Suggested record day for right to dividend, 29 March, 2018.

2)  Board Members’ statement: The members of the Board are of the opinion that the proposed dividend is justifiable considering the demands on 

Company and Group equity imposed by the type, scope and risks of the business and with regards to the Company’s and the Group’s financial 

strength, liquidity and overall position. 
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This report has been prepared in accordance with the GRI 

Standards: ‘Core’ option

The reader will find relevant sustainability information in 

each part of the report. These statements provide SKF’s 

stakeholders with transparent information on the Group’s 

sustainability performance according to GRI Standards.

Topics related to the Annual Report
In addition to the information provided in this Annual  

Report, related Topics can be found at skf.com/ar2017. 

• GRI content index1)

• Carbon dioxide emission data1)

• Environmental performance data1)

• Articles of Association

• SKF Code of Conduct

• SKF Environmental, Health and Safety (EHS) Policy

• Manufacturing and other operational units 2017

1) Documents subject to limited assurance by SKF’s auditors.

About this report

Statutory sustainability report 
SKF has prepared a separate report according 

to the Swedish annual account act on sustain-

ability reporting and reports on the topics:

• Business model page 10, 

• Anti-corruption page 130, 

• Environment pages 131–134, 

• Employees pages 135–139, 

• Human rights and other relevant  
social topics pages 139–142. 

Risks associated with the topics above are 

found in  connection to the topics, in SKF’s 

overall risk management on pages 60–63 and 

on page 123.
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Auditor’s report on the  
statutory Sustainability Report 
To the general meeting of the shareholders of AB SKF (publ), corporate identity number 556007-3495

Engagement and responsibility
It is the board of directors who is responsible for the statutory 

 sustainability report for the year 2017 as defined on page 120  

and that it has been prepared in accordance with the Annual 

Accounts Act.  

The scope of the examination
Our examination has been conducted in accordance with ISAE 3000. 

The auditor’s opinion regarding the statutory sustainability report. 

This means that our examination of the statutory sustainability 

report is substantially different and less in scope than an audit 

 conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 

and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. We believe 

that the examination has provided us with sufficient basis for our 

opinion. 

Opinions
A statutory sustainability report has been prepared. 

Gothenburg, 2 March, 2018

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Peter Clemedtson

Auditor in charge
Authorized Public Accountant

Bo Karlsson

Authorized Public Accountant
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General disclosures 

        Organizational profile 

102–01  Name of the organization
AB SKF

102-02  Activities, brands, products, and services
The SKF Group is a leading global supplier of products, solutions 

and services within bearings, seals, mechatronics, services and 

lubrication systems. Services include technical support, mainte-

nance services, condition monitoring, asset efficiency optimization, 

engineering consultancy and training. Examples are found in this 

report on pages 2–5, 14–19 and 56–59. For information on SKF’s 

brands please refer to skf.com/brands.

102-03  Location of headquarters
SKF Group headquarters is located at Hornsgatan 1 in Gothenburg, 

Sweden.

102-04  Location of operations
SKF operations are global, the Group has manufacturing operations 

in 24 countries and direct sales channels in 70 countries. The Group 

is present in 130 countries. A list of SKF operations can be found in 

Topic related to the Annual Report on SKF.com/ar2017. SKF’s manu-

facturing, sales and other operations are also presented on pages 

114–116 in this Annual Report.

102-05  Ownership and legal form
SKF provides articles of association on skf.com/ar2017. These are 

part of Topics related to the Annual Report. In addition, information 

on shares and shareholder information can be found on pages 

36–37.

102-06  Markets served
Pages 2–3 provides an overview of geographies and industries 

served. Information on Industrial and Automotive segments are 

 further described on pages 4–5 and 56–59. 

SKF sometimes describes its business as customer industries, 

more detailed information on these is available at skf.com/

skfs-business

102-07  Scale of the organization
Information on the SKF Group and its operations are found in various 

sections in the report. Employee information is found on this page 

and on page 104.

SKF Manufacturing and other operations are presented on  

skf.com/ar2017. 

Net sales are presented on page 68 and broken down further in 

the financial statements on pages 76–78.

Total capitalization broken down in terms of debt and equity are 

presented in the financial statements on page 71. SKF has delivered 

367,000 tonnes of bearings 2017. In addition, the Group has deliv-

ered seals, mechatronics, condition monitoring, lubrication systems 

and services.

102-08  Information on employees and other workers
Registered employees and workers by employment type

Permanent Temporary Agency

2017
White 
collar

Blue 
 collar

White 
collar

Blue 
 collar Total

Western 
Europe 9,434 11,261 83 482 1,265 22,525

Asia and Pacific 3,567 6,815 12 521 2,359 13,274

North America 1,966 2,893 28 17 205 5,109

East and 
 Central Europe 884 3,001 27 549 359 4,820

Latin America 948 2,781 0 0 65 3,794

Africa and 
 Middle East 318 85 6 0 29 438

Total 17,117 26,836 156 1,569 4,282 49,960

Average number of employees by gender

Number Percentage

2017 Men Women Men Women Total

Western Europe 15,172 3,227 82% 18% 18,399

Asia and Pacific 8,813 2,524 78% 22% 11,337

North America 3,498 1,277 73% 27% 4,775

East and Central Europe 2,904 1,705 63% 37% 4,609

Latin America 3,135 1,060 75% 25% 4,195

Africa and Middle East 379 120 76% 24% 499

Total 33,901 9,913 77% 23% 43,814

102-09  Supply chain
SKF’s downstream value chain serves some 40 different industries 

in 130 countries. To serve the diverse customer base in these 

 markets in the best way, SKF owns and operates more than 100 

manufacturing plants across the world. SKF directly employs over 

28,000 people in manufacturing. 

SKF sources both materials and services from suppliers around 

the world reflecting its global operations. The purchased material 

consists of metal raw material such as bars, wires, tubes and strips, 

and steel based  components such as rings, balls, rollers, and sheet 

metal parts, and other direct material as well as subcontracted 

and traded products. In addition to direct materials, SKF sources 

shop supplies, capital equipment, and various types of services. 

To support SKF’s global manufacturing footprint, SKF has sourcing 

offices around the world in Europe, China, India and in the  Americas. 

About 85–90% of supplies to SKF factories come from local or 

regional suppliers. The total annual spend of the SKF Group is 

around SEK 40 billion and roughly around 1,200 suppliers make up 

80% of the total spend by volume. Please refer to more information 

about SKF’s supply chain in the section Purchasing on page 50 and 

page 141.
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102-10  Significant changes to the organization  
and its supply chain
No significant changes affecting the reporting.

102-11  Precautionary principle or approach
As required by the ICC Charter, see below, and referring to the 

Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, SKF applies 

a precautionary approach in its development work. Conservative 

assumptions are also used for any claims made by SKF regarding 

product or operational performance.

102-12  External initiatives
SKF endorses or subscribes to a number of internationally recog-

nized principles, charters and guidelines which promote sustainable 

and ethical business practices. This helps to reflect and communicate 

the importance of SKF Care – the Group’s framework for sustaina-

bility. The main ones are: 

• The United Nations Global Compact which is a strategic policy 

initiative for businesses that are committed to aligning their 

operations and strategies with ten universally accepted principles 

in the areas of human rights, labour, environment and anti-cor-

ruption. SKF has participated in the Global Compact since 2006. 

The SKF Annual Report is also the Group’s Communication on 

progress for the principles of the Global Compact.

• The International Labour Organization (ILO) which draws up and 

oversees international labour standards, bringing together rep-

resentatives of governments, employers and workers to jointly 

shape policies and programmes promoting decent work for all. 

• The International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) which is the voice 

of world business championing the global economy as a force for 

economic growth, job creation and prosperity. 

• The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 

(OECD), which has the mission to promote policies that will improve 

the economic and social wellbeing of people around the world. 

SKF endorses and works to apply the OECD Guidelines for Multi-

national Companies. By doing this SKF commits to conducting 

business in a global context in a responsible manner, consistent 

with applicable laws and internationally recognized standards.

102-13  Membership of associations 
SKF is an active partner in several industry collaborations and initi-

atives and holds talks with industrial peers on issues relating to 

technical and management aspects across relevant short and long 

term aspects relating to financial, economic, governance, environ-

mental and social dimensions. SKF takes part in the UN Global 

Compact, the World Bearing Association, Transparency Interna-

tional, Teknikföretagen, the Royal Swedish Academy of Engineering 

Sciences, the Swedish Life-cycle Centre and the International 

Standardisation Organisation among others. In addition, SKF 

 collaborates formally with a number of internationally recognised 

universities on topics such as tribology, materials technology, 

remote diagnostics, environmental and social sustainability and 

metallurgy. A list of memberships is available at skf.com.

        Strategy 

102-14  Statement from senior decision-maker
The CEO statement is found on pages 6–8. Strategic priorities, 

trends, targets and achievements and outlook is described through-

out the report.

102-15  Key impacts, risks, and opportunities 
The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals help to high-

light challenges and opportunities for business globally. External 

drivers and trends are further described on page 9 and SKF’s over-

all risk management approach is described on pages 60–63. With 

reference to the definitions in the overall risk management section, 

sustainability risks and opportunities can be related to strategic, 

operational, compliance and financial risks. 

Fraud and Corruption constitutes risks for SKF in terms of litiga-

tion, fines, bad-will, loss of business. SKF’s anti-corruption activi-

ties include risk assessment, internal controls, training, SKF Ethics 

and Compliance Reporting Line, audits and investigations. In 2017, 

the Group was granted membership in Transparency International 

Swedeń s Corporate Supporters Forum, a step to  further under-

stand the global corruption risks SKF is exposed to and how to 

mitigate them. 

On environmental topics, energy, emissions and resource use 

stands out as the most significant topics, they can be related to 

direct business risks and opportunities SKF’s solutions create value 

for customers by helping them to improve resource and energy effi-

ciency. SKF’s customer solutions provide significant environmental 

benefits regarding for example global warming and resource use. 

More on customer solutions can be found in the Creating and 

 capturing customer value section on pages 12–13 and Application 

driven innovation on pages 14–19. The environmental risks directly 

related to SKF’s manufacturing and supply chain are managed by 

group wide management systems and procedures to mitigate all 

relevant risks. At the same time, industries served by SKF are 

expected to experience transformations related to sustainability 

and digitalization which can impact the demands for SKF services 

as both risks and opportunities. 

Employee recruitment and development has gained increasing 

attention as technology development accelerates and work roles are 

becoming more and more complex. This can affect the Group’s ability 

to attract and retain employees with the right skills. This risk is 

managed through both recruitment and internal development. 

In terms of human rights, SKF works since many years according 

to external principles and charters to integrate human rights risks 

in its policies and procedures. SKF works according to UN Guiding 

Principles of Business and Human Rights and reports it work on 

pages 139–141.

SKF has established Group targets for a number of relevant 

 sustainability topics, progress on these targets are presented under 

the SKF Care section on pages 42–51 and detailed results and 

 governance mechanisms are presented in these statements on 

pages 129–142.
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        Ethics 

        Governance  

102-16  Values, principles, standards, and norms of behavior 
The SKF Code of Conduct is the main policy on ethical standards. 

There are several related policies, on Group level and in local adap-

tions of the SKF management systems but the SKF Code of Conduct 

is the superior policy, all other policies are subordinate to it. It is avail-

able in 17 languages and publicly available on SKF.com/code. The 

SKF Group’s values, as set out by the Board of Directors, are also 

mentioned on page 10 with SKF’s business model, they are: 

• Empowerment 

• High ethics 

• Openness 

• Teamwork

102-17  Mechanisms for advice and concerns about ethics 
In addition to normal internal reporting possibilities, employees can 

raise concerns or seek advice via the SKF  Ethics and Compliance 

Reporting Line which is hosted by a third party. The Group also 

makes use of an internal helpline via email.

SKF’s employees are requested to report behaviour that is not in 

line with SKF’s Code of Conduct to their manager, local human 

resources or escalate to the country management. They can also 

raise concerns via the Group’s reporting mechanism referred to 

above. As part of this mechanism, SKF employees can report con-

cerns in their own language via a designated web portal or by call-

ing a local telephone number. Locally reported grievances are often 

managed at local level with the local human resource department 

or country management. 228 (211) cases have been reported via 

the Group’s Ethics and Compliance Reporting line (whistle blowing 

system) or to the group functions by other channels during 2017. 

144 cases were resolved in 2017. Most cases led to training and 

policy reviews with people involved. A number of cases related to 

harassment or discrimination have led to verbal or written warning 

to the individuals involved. In addition to the cases reported to the 

central functions, grievances related to ethics and compliance are 

managed by local SKF units and not escalated to Group. 

102-18  Governance structure 
SKF Care defines the Group’s approach to contribute to sustainable 

development over the short, medium and long term. SKF applies 

the principles of sound corporate governance as an instrument for 

increased competitiveness and to promote confidence in SKF among 

all stakeholders. Among other things, this means that the company 

maintains an efficient organizational structure with clear areas of 

responsibility and delegated authority for implementation, that the 

financial, environmental and social reporting is transparent and that 

the company in all respects maintains good corporate citizenship. 

Refer to page 148–149 in the Corporate Governance Report.

102-19  Delegating authority
The President of the company, who is also the Chief Executive 

Officer, is appointed by the Board of Directors and handles the day-

to-day management of the company’s business in accordance with 

the guidelines and instructions from the Board. SKF is organized in 

Industrial Sales Americas, Industrial Sales Europe and Middle East 

and Africa, Industrial Sales Asia, Automotive and Aerospace, Inno-

vation and Business Development and Industrial Units. The respon-

sibility for end-to-end procurement, manufacturing and logistics is 

combined into Bearing Operations. Further, there are two Group 

staff units; Group Finance and Business Transformation and Group 

People, Communication, Legal and Sustainability. In SKF, the imple-

mentation of sustainability programmes in the line organization  

is driven by the respective SKF areas, their business units, or by 

country organizations with direction and coordination from formal 

cross-functional decision making bodies and working-groups such 

as for example:

• The Responsible sourcing committee, established to assure that 

SKF’s Code of Conduct for Suppliers and Sub-contractors is 

effectively deployed, and that appropriate measures are taken 

when deviations from the code of conduct are identified at our 

suppliers.

• The EHS and Quality board oversees issues related to manage-

ment systems, ISO 9001, ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001, ISO 50001 

and associated policies and instructions and coordinates the 

deployment of the Group’s related strategy.

• The Ethics and Compliance committee, who oversees the risk 

and opportunities related to ethics and compliance topics of 

 sustainability. 

Authority is further delegated to the country managers who are 

appointed by SKF’s Group management. The country manager is 

typically the company manager in the largest SKF company in the 

country and is also the chairperson or board member in the other 

SKF companies in the country. Each country and company manager 

is responsible for their entity’s performance including financial 

 metrics, social impact, compliance and other topics as set out by 

the SKF Group and as is stated in the SKF Company and Country 

management policy.

For specific sustainability topics, such as safety and health, envi-

ronment, quality and code of conduct compliance, SKF uses a sys-

tematic and standardized approach which is embedded throughout 

the organization and decision making processes. Group-wide man-

agement systems are used to support and drive continual improve-

ment. SKF’s quality management systems are certified to ISO 9001 

and, where required by the markets, to ISO/TS 16949 (for auto-

motive), AS 9100 (for aerospace) and IRIS (for railways). The SKF 

approach to environmental, health and safety management is based 

around a Group-wide certification to the requirements of ISO 14001 

(environment), OHSAS 18001 (health and safety) and ISO 50001 

(energy management). 

On the individual level, incentives are set following SKF’s perfor-

mance management process. In general, the Group sets ambition 

and direction of the company and employees and managers then 

set their personal goals for the year, follow up achievements and 

discuss priorities. Specific, measurable, attainable, realistic and 

timely goals are set between employees and their immediate man-

agers which is the basis for the annual performance review. This 

way, employees can influence their own work activities, performance 

behaviours and future compensation.
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102-40  List of stakeholder groups 
As part of the day to day work, and especially for the management 

of sustainability, a wide range of stakeholders have been approached 

such as, customers, investors and analysts, employees, unions, civil 

society, often represented by media and Non-governmental organi-

zations, and suppliers. 

102-41  Collective bargaining agreements
SKF holds collective bargaining agreements in 20 countries 

 (Argentina, Austria, Brazil, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, France, 

 Germany, India, Indonesia, Italy, Malaysia, Mexico, Poland, Spain, 

Sweden, UK, USA, China, Ukraine and South Korea, who’s members 

took part of the World Union Council meeting for the first time in 

2017). These countries make up over to 95% of all blue-collar 

workers (around 28,000). If the workers at a site choose not to be 

unionized, or if there are restrictions to the independence of a trade 

union, the employees in the country are still covered by the SKF 

Framework Agreement and part of a collective bargaining group. 

In addition to the 20 countries above, SKF employed around 1,000 

people in blue-collar roles in sales, logistics and manufacturing of 

which the biggest countries are, Peru, Colombia, South Africa, 

 Singapore, Zambia, Russia and Finland.

        Stakeholder engagement 

102-42  Identifying and selecting stakeholders
SKF defines key stakeholder groups as customers, investors, 

 suppliers, employee representatives and representatives from civil 

society in general, these groups include entities or individuals who 

can be significantly affected by SKF’s activities. The Group works in 

different ways to interact with these and other stakeholders as part 

of the materiality assessment along with input from academic 

research and industry collaborations. This allows SKF to better 

understand various perspectives and concerns, and address them 

quickly. 

102-43  Approach to stakeholder engagement and  
102-44  Key topics and concerns raised
SKF interacts with stakeholder in somewhat different ways depend-

ing on the type of relationship, see next page.

102-20  Executive-level responsibility for economic, 
 environmental, and social topics
The Senior Vice President, Group People, Communication, Legal 

and Sustainability has the task to assure that the principles defined 

by SKF Care are addressed and integrated into all operations and 

activities throughout the Group. This means that sustainability 

 performance is the responsibility of the operational parts of the 

company and this shall be delivered in accordance with the strategic 

direction and fundamental requirements as set by Group Manage-

ment. This responsibility is delegated from Group Management 

and the Board of Directors who have the ultimate responsibility 

to state SKF’s mission and to ensure that the values and drivers 

are implemented. Group  Sustainability & Compliance is responsible 

for establishing policies, strategies and targets related to SKF’s 

overall sustainability performance. These in turn drive and support 

the integration of SKF Care into business practices, processes, 

operations and staff functions.

102-21  Consulting stakeholders on economic,  environmental, 
and social topics
The Annual General Meeting is the main function for direct consul-

tation between stakeholders and the highest governance body on 

economic, environmental and social topics. SKF also announces 

points of contact in this report on page 160. 

102-22  Composition of the highest governance body and 
its committees
Refer to pages 148–154 in the Corporate Governance Report.

102-23  Chair of the highest governance body
Refer to page 150 in the Corporate Governance Report.

102-24  Nominating and selecting the highest 
 governance body
Refer to page 148 in the Corporate Governance Report.

102-25  Conflicts of interest
Refer to page 149 in the Corporate Governance Report.

102-26  Role of highest governance body in setting purpose, 
values, and strategy
With reference to the statements under 102-20, this authority is 

delegated from Group Management and the Board of Directors 

who have the ultimate responsibility to state SKF’s mission and to 

ensure that the values and drivers are acted upon accordingly.

102-32  Highest governance body’s role in sustainability 
reporting
The SKF Annual Report 2017 includes SKF’s Sustainability Report 

and is signed by all members of the Board.

102-36  Process for determining remuneration
The principles of remuneration for Group Management is submitted 

by the Remuneration Committee to the Board, which submits a 

proposal for such remuneration principles to the Annual General 

Meeting (AGM) for approval.

102-37  Stakeholders’ involvement in remuneration
Operational stakeholder dialogue is delegated via the SKF Group 

Management. Stakeholder views on topics such as remuneration 

are taken into account via the AGM – proposals are sent out before-

hand.
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Approach to stakeholder engagement Key topics and concerns raised

Customers 
Customer input is sought and received via the sales and marketing oper-
ations and activities carried out by the Group – from global discussions 
with key account managers to daily conversations between customer 
representatives and SKF’s local account managers. SKF also responds 
to a wide range of customer surveys and reviews scorecards from key 
accounts and strategic customers.

In addition to the overall interaction, SKF aggregates the requested 
sustainability information from customers’ sourcing departments. 
In order to get a more nuanced view, this information is completed by 
direct discussions with key customers. Several customers highlight 
environmental management, climate change, business ethics, safety 
and human rights as the most important issues for them and their 
 decisions related to SKF.

Investors and analysts
SKF takes an active approach in communicating the Group’s strategy and 
performance to existing and potential investors, analysts and media. 
Information is provided through various channels such as the quarterly 
reports, meetings with investors, telephone conferences, the company’s 
website and press releases. Capital markets days are held to present 
the strategy, targets and the different businesses in more detail. SKF 
receives feedback from investors via its own questionnaires, feedback 
collected after investor meetings and continual feedback in discussions.

Similar to that of customers, SKF aggregates the requested sustaina-
bility information from investors and analysts via the Group’s investor 
relations department via direct conversations and from benchmark 
surveys and results. A number of owners have also been asked to rate 
the importance of sustainability topics through a survey. Several inves-
tors highlight the topics of energy and resource efficiency in SKF’s own 
operations, as well as provision of clean technology in customers’ appli-
cations. They further want to see proactive work to protect human 
rights, health and safety in the supply chain and some also highlight 
that SKF could make a better result by focusing on attracting and 
retaining a diverse workforce.

Employees and union organizations
SKF holds an annual World Works Council meeting during which 
employee representatives meet with Group Management. This is a form 
of social dialogue to make sure that the framework based on the SKF 
Code of Conduct is deployed across the Group. Employee representatives 
are also members of SKF’s Board – see SKF’s Corporate Governance 
Report, pages 150–154. In addition, SKF carries out periodic employee 
feedback surveys to drive continuous improvement on working climate.

SKF and the World Union Council have ongoing negotiations related to 
employment and SKF’s overall development continuously. In addition, 
safety, health, and economic performance has been highlighted in 2017. 
An emerging topic that has been discussed over the year is also the 
 digital transformation ongoing across the industry and in the Group. 
The automation this drives can have a significant impact on the definition 
of jobs in SKF and outside. This topic is likely to become increasingly 
important over the next years and related to a range of other sustaina-
bility topics, such as productivity and eco-efficiency, labour–management 
relations and education and development.

Civil society
The communities in which SKF operates are important stakeholders for 
the company. Local SKF organizations interact with their surrounding 
communities through various activities and initiatives ranging from 
 business related matters to volunteer work, other charity work and 
sponsoring and local network collaboration. Local media is also consid-
ered to represent civil society.

Topic experts, NGOs and business industry associations
SKF utilizes formal and informal networks to share experiences and 
ideas with other companies and to develop the company’s thinking 
and approach on many issues. SKF also collaborates with NGOs and 
 welcomes feedback and positions on topics such as climate change 
and other environmental, social and economic aspects.

SKF country or regional communication teams monitor relevant 
 topics for SKF locally. While the topics of concern differ between the 
communities, anti-corruption, overall environmental impact, energy 
and emissions, health, safety and training and development stick out 
as highly relevant for most communities.

SKF has received input from topic experts within economic sustaina-
bility, environmental and social impact, resource theory, innovation, 
life-cycle management and other relevant topics. This input has been 
used to assess the Group’s impact risk and opportunities. In addition, 
SKF has received input from its peer network. Climate change, resource 
use, economic prosperity and human rights stick out as highly relevant.

Suppliers
Close collaboration and dialogue with suppliers is crucial for assuring 
theGroup’s continued success. Local sourcing offices enable close com-
munication on daily operations. On-site audits provide feedback to SKF 
on suppliers’ adherence to the Code of Conduct and on their performance, 
it also supports competence development of both suppliers and SKF.

The main issues identified at supplier audits related to sustainability 
are employment practices related to remuneration, work time and 
occupational health and safety. Inequality remains to be the main 
root cause for sustainable development in many high risk countries.
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102-45  Entities included in the consolidated financial 
 statements
This information is available in the financial statements on pages 

114–116.

102-46  Defining report content and topic boundaries
SKF seeks to provide stakeholders with relevant information 

regarding operational, financial, environmental and social per-

formance. In order to do this, SKF applies reporting principles 

of Stakeholder inclusiveness, Sustainability context, Materiality 

and Completeness. 

As part of the report’s content definition and the reflection of 

its materiality, topics and boundaries have been evaluated from 

internal and external stakeholder perspectives.

The statements on pages 129–142 provide more detailed 

 information in a systematic manner to ensure that information 

is easily found. 

        Reporting practices 

SKF defines its stakeholders as those who can be significantly 

affected by the Group’s activities. In 2017, SKF updated its materi-

ality analysis. The overall approach is to use input provided by stake-

holders for two years. This means that the result of the assessment 

2017 is based on input from 2016–2017. The approach from the 

Group is to provide a short-list of potentially material topics based 

on previous assessments. The stakeholders are asked to highlight 

the most significant topics for their assessments and decisions 

related to SKF. They are also asked to add additional issues or 

remove what they consider irrelevant.

SKF uses this input together with risk assessments, product 

life-cycle assessments and general impact assessments to define 

the significant environmental, economic and social impacts. 

The context, scope and boundaries are described further in the 

specific disclosures on pages 129–142 along with the management 

approach. 

102-47 List of material topics

Material topics Boundaries

 Economic category
Economic performance SKF Group companies.

Anti-corruption Across the full value chain, but the strongest potential to control is with SKF’s operations and parties  
with whom SKF has a direct business relationship.

Anti-competitive behavior Across the full value chain, the strongest focus is within SKF’s sales and downstream monitoring of  
distribution network. 

 Environmental category
Energy and emissions Across the value chain, four main areas in focus: suppliers, SKF’s own operations, goods transportation,  

and customer solutions.

Materials SKF Group companies.

Effluents and waste Manufacturing sites within SKF Group.

Water Manufacturing sites within SKF Group.

Environmental compliance Manufacturing sites within SKF Group.

 Social category
Employment SKF Group and its subsidiaries. 

Labour management relations The main priority is the labour and management is to ensure that the Global Framework  Agreement between SKF 
and the unions works in practice. 

Occupational health and safety SKF Group companies. Focus on both physical and psychological health. 

Training and education Highly relevant over the value chain. The ones closely connected to social impact is that of SKF’s employees’ 
development. 

Diversity and equal opportunities Equal opportunity and non-discrimination are central elements of the SKF Code of Conduct. First priority is  
with SKF and its subsidiaries.

Human rights SKF Group and upstream the supply chain.

Suppliers social and environ-
mental assessment SKF’s upstream supply chain, tier one and tier two suppliers.

Socioeconomic compliance Operations linked to or operated by SKF Group. Monitoring of compliance is bound to SKF’s legal entities.



128 SKF Annual Report 2017

Sustainability statements

102-48  Restatements of information
Several data points for 2016 have been restated. Some SKF sites 

extrapolates data for December based on the first eleven months. 

These sites have updated their results. Some have been restated 

due to reporting errors. The corrected data is reported on page 133.

As part of SKF new climate objectives for 2025, the Group has 

updated its emission reporting guidelines. This also resulted in an 

updated inventory of scope 1 and 2 emissions according to the 

Greenhouse gas protocol and restated figures from baseline 2015. 

102-49  Changes in reporting
During 2017, SKF has updated its procedures in the reporting of 

energy and CO
2
 emissions, see above.

SKF has also changed the reporting of avoided emissions and 

revenues from customer solutions with significant environmental/

sustainability benefits, read more on page 132.

SKF does not report on the topics Local community relations. 

This is a result of the most recent, and previous year’s materiality 

assessment. The relationship with the local community is critical, 

however, the topics often discussed with community representa-

tives, such as employment, education and environment, are covered 

by other topics in this report. 

102-50  Reporting period
SKF Annual Report covers the financial year 1 January to 

31 December 2017. 

102-51  Date of most recent report
The report was published on 5 March, 2018. The most previous 

report was published on 7 March, 2017. 

102-52  Reporting cycle
Annual.

102-53  Contact point for questions regarding the report
SKF’s Annual Report refers to two main contact points, please 

refer to page 160. 

102-54  Claims of reporting in accordance with the 
GRI Standards
With reference to the GRI Standards accordance criteria, SKF 

Annual Report 2017 is self-declared as being in accordance with 

the Core option, which is confirmed by the Group’s external auditors.

102-55  GRI content index
A complete GRI content index is available online together with 

 Topics related to the Annual Report on skf.com/ar2017

102-56  External assurance
To ensure SKF’s stakeholders and readers of the Group’s sustaina-

bility reporting transparency, credibility and materiality of the 

information published, SKF has been submitting its sustainability 

reports for third-party review and verification since the year 2000. 

Sustainability disclosures in the SKF Annual Report 2017 have 

been subject to limited assurance by SKF’s auditors, please refer to 

auditor’s limited assurance report on the Sustainability Report on 

page 143.

Materiality

 1 Economic performance

 2 Anti-corruption and 
  competition law

Low High

Perceived impact 
(including Risk and opportunities for SKF)
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Material topic: GRI 201 – Economic Performance

103-1  Materiality and boundaries
Economic performance is considered to be material for SKF Group 

and its subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements include 

the Parent company, AB SKF and those companies in which it 

directly or indirectly exercises control.

103-2 – 103-3  Management approach, its components  
and evaluation
SKF is a profit driven organization. The financial performance is the 

overall indicator of the economic impact SKF has on society. All SKF 

entities are accountable for their financial and economic performance. 

SKF reports its financial performance in accordance with IFRS. 

Please refer to page 75 for more information about SKF’s financial 

accounting policies.

201-1  Direct economic value generated and distributed
The data from the financial statements has been used to break 

down economic value generated and distributed as described below. 

2016 is restated according to the new definition. 

Economic value generated  
and distributed, (SEKm) 2017 2016

Net sales 77,938 72,589 

Revenue from financial investments 
and other operating income 156 164 

Economic value generated 78,094 72,753 

Operating costs –46,219 –42,808 

Employee wages and benefits –23,540 –22,770 

Economic value distributed to  
providers of capital –3,181 –2,940 

Economic value distributed to  
government (taxes) –1,898 –2,530 

Economic value distributed –74,838 –71,048 

Economic value retained 3,256 1,705 

Economic value generated includes net sales, see page 68, interest 

income, see page 81, and profit on sale of assets and businesses, 

net, see page 80. 

Operating costs include the total operating expenses, see page 80, 

plus the net of other operating income and expenses, see page 80, 

plus financial net, see page 81, less employee wages and benefits, 

see page 80, less revenues from financial investments and other 

operating income, see page 80, less interest expenses, see page 81.  

Employee wages and benefits includes costs related to wages 

and salaries including social charges, see page 80. 

Economic value distributed to providers of capital includes 

 suggested dividends to SKF’s shareholders, see page 92 and 

 interest expenses, see page 81. 

Economic value distributed to government includes income  

taxes for Group, see page 68.

For the actual payment of taxes during the year, see cash-flow 

analysis on page 72.

201-2  Financial implications and other risks and opportuni-
ties for the organization’s activities due to climate change 
SKF is organized to be diversified in terms of products and markets, 

manufacturing and currencies. In general, this diversification 

reduces SKF’s overall exposure to business risks. Please refer to 

pages 56–59 for an overview of SKF’s Areas. Customer industries 

are further described on skf.com/skfs-business.

 Within SKF’s own operations, an increased cost by SEK 250 per 

tonne of CO
2
 emissions would impact SKF ś operating profit by 

around SEK 150–170 million related to the Group’s direct energy 

spend. Cost increases for raw materials and components have not 

been included in this calculation.

The costs associated with actions to mitigate climate change 

risks are embedding in other costs, such as research and develop-

ment, maintenance and investment budgets etc. and cannot be 

reported separately.

The motivation for SKF’s continued commitment in addressing 

 climate change as part of its risks and opportunities can be 

 summarized in three points:

• Climate change presents a critical long-term challenge to 

humanity and the natural environment. Failure to address it may 

have catastrophic long-term consequences for both.

• Energy prices are likely to increase in the medium to long term. 

SKF’s ability to run its business activities in a highly energy- 

and carbon-efficient way will increasingly affect the long-term 

competitive position.

• SKF is uniquely positioned to significantly contribute to the tran-

sition to a low carbon economy and to climate change mitigation 

through the products and solutions it provides, and in doing so 

create considerable value for customers and investors.

Please refer to page 47 for an overview of SKF’s climate objectives.

201-3  Coverage of the organization’s defined benefit plan 
 obligations
SKF reports extensively on the coverage of its provisions of post- 

employment benefits in the financial statements on pages 93–96. 

        Economic Performance 

SKF’s material topics
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GRI 206 – Anti-Competitive behavior

103-1  Materiality and boundaries 
SKF addresses anti-corruption and competition law as part of the 

Group’s ethics and compliance programmes across the full value 

chain. The strongest potential to control is with SKF’s operations 

and parties with whom SKF has a direct business relationship.

SKF operates on markets across the world where corruption 

indexes indicate high risks. SKF has over many years had a strong 

focus on business ethics in its corporate values and works continu-

ously to institutionalize these. In several regions, SKF has received 

very positive feedback from customers on the Group’s rigorous 

work to fight corruption. Nevertheless, when it comes to both 

 corruption and anti-trust, SKF has recorded cases in recent years 

and there is a strong demand from all stakeholders that SKF works 

hard and proactively to avoid non-compliances.

103-2 – 103-3  Management approach, its components 
and evaluation 
SKF’s ethics and compliance programmes cover a wide range of 

areas, of which several relate to the SKF Code of Conduct. SKF’s 

ethics and compliance programmes rely on Group policies and 

instructions related to each issue, setting out the expectations 

on how to act, tools to use for compliance and where to turn for 

guidance. 

The SKF Group ethics and compliance programme address these 

risks in a coherent and consolidated approach for SKF, and include 

the following risk aspects; anti-fraud, anti-trust, anti-corruption, 

anti-money laundering, data privacy, export control, environment, 

health, safety, responsible sourcing, and human rights. 

A key element of the programmes is the yearly Group compliance 

risk assessment, in which all relevant internal stakeholders parti-

cipate. SKF Group staff functions of Internal Auditing, Human 

Resources, Environment, Health and Safety, Purchasing and 

 Sustainability & Compliance are acting risk owners of their res-

pective area of responsibility. These functions identify, plan and 

act on risks together with the business and operational units.

In 2017, SKF published a new policy on Anti-corruption. Employ-

ees and managers receive training and awareness on a regular 

basis. SKF’s Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption policy is available for 

all employees on the Groups internal webpages. Anti-corruption 

is also included in the SKF Code of Conduct which is available in its 

full format on SKF.com/code.

Preventative training, in combination with investigations, is 

believed to have led to increased awareness on both anti-corruption 

and competition law.

205-1  Operations assessed for risks related to corruption
All SKF units are screened for compliance issues, this includes cor-

ruption. Risk based reviews are carried out and the main purpose 

of these reviews is to assist units in their work to identify and 

address their ethics and compliance risks. In 2017, reviews on 

 ethical leadership have been held at 54 SKF sites around the world.

205-3  Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken
SKF’s internal audit department has investigated 21 cases related 

to fraud and/or corruption during 2017, compared to 16 during 

2016. Four remaining cases from 2016 have been closed and all 

were unsubstantiated. 13 cases from 2017 have been closed 

whereof one was substantiated, investigations on eight cases are 

still on  going. One person had to leave SKF as result of the investi-

gations. 

The impersonation fraud attempts (also called Fake President 

fraud) remain at high levels. The attempts are getting more sophis-

ticated. Information and alerts are sent out to maintain awareness 

of this risk.

206-1  Legal actions for anti-competitive behavior, anti-trust 
and monopoly practices
For any ongoing investigations, please refer to Risk management on 

page 60.

        Anti-corruption and Anti-competitive behavior 
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Material topics: GRI 302 – Energy and GRI 305 – Emissions

103-1 Materiality and boundaries 
Climate change presents a critical challenge for business, govern-

ments and society. The ability of SKF to run its operations in a 

highly energy- and carbon-efficient manner reduces the environ-

mental impact of the Group and increases SKF’s competitive 

advantage. SKF focuses on four areas in the value chain to drive 

improvements regarding energy and emissions: raw material and 

components, SKF’s own operations, goods transportation, and 

customer solutions. 

The areas are selected based on SKF’s power to influence and 

the relevance in terms of impact from each area.

103-2 –103-3 Management approach, its components and 
evaluation 
The Group’s climate objectives are described in pages 33 and 47. 

SKF’s quantitative climate objectives for 2025 are:

• 40% reduction of CO
2
 emissions from manufacturing per tonne 

of sold products and 

• 40% reduction of CO
2
 emissions from goods transportation per 

tonne of shipped products to end customer. 

The baseline for these objectives is 2015 and scope 2 emissions are 

calculated using the market-based method (GHG Protocol, 2015). 

In this statement, the management approach along the value 

chain and total energy and emissions are disclosed.

Raw material and components 
SKF works to influence energy intensive suppliers to implement 

energy management systems certified according to ISO 50001. 

Suppliers of raw material and metal components are generally 

 considered to be energy intensive and there are synergies to reduce 

both energy use, emissions, costs and risks. 

SKF’s own operations
Energy data and related GHG emissions are reported monthly. Data 

includes all significant manufacturing sites, technical and engineering 

centres and logistics centres. Joint ventures are included where 

SKF has management control. SKF’s management approach is 

decentralized to SKF’s sites and integrated in the environmental 

management system. Energy efficiency work at sites is often closely 

linked to local maintenance strategies. In addition to ISO 14001 

for environmental management, SKF has an energy management 

system certified according to ISO 50001 at its own operations, 

which covers around 50 energy intensive operations making up 

about 90% of the Group’s total energy use. SKF has a centralized 

function to manage strategic energy sourcing decisions for the 

Group, including cost effective reduction of carbon intensity.

Goods transportation 
SKF is directly managing the majority of goods transportation 

downstream and parts of the transportation upstream. The Group 

works to reduce CO
2
 emissions from transports in four main ways: 

optimize transport network and routing, use energy-efficient trans-

port modes with low CO
2
 intensity (e.g. ocean and rail instead of 

air where feasible), procure transport with high fuel efficiency and 

low-carbon fuels and minimize mileage between suppliers, factories 

and end customers (i.e. optimize SKF’s footprint). 

As of 2017, the Group changed efficiency measure to CO
2
 emissions 

per shipped weight, compared to emissions per shipped weight and 

distance that was previously used. The difference in metric means 

that activities resulting in shorter transport distances now are better 

reflected in the result.

Customer solutions
SKF can help to mitigate climate change through the products and 

solutions provided, and in so doing create value for customers, 

investors and society. SKF’s products and solutions can enable 

resource efficiency, energy and fuel savings, improved reliability 

and safety in numerous industrial applications and segments. SKF’s 

solutions help to make the wind, ocean and other renewable energy 

technologies more commercially viable. As part of the climate 

 targets follow-up, SKF has previously reported aggregated avoided 

emissions (Scope 4) for several verified and measured customer 

solutions. From 2017, SKF will not provide such aggregated data.

SKF continuously evaluates its management approach, taking 

into account internal performance development and capabilities, 

as well as external inputs for long-term improvement and reduc-

tion of both energy use and emissions. 

Energy use

GWh 2017 2016 2015

GRI 302-1 Energy within 
the organization 1,817 1,7451) 1,7331)

of which from renewable sources 168 103 140

GWh per SEKbn 2017 2016 2015

GRI 302-3 Energy intensity 23.31 24.04 22.87

1)  All energy and emissions data has been restated previous years as a result 
of new reporting systems and recalculation of baseline related to the new 
 climate targets. See additional information on the next page related to 
 greenhouse gas emissions reporting.

        Energy and emissions 
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GRI 302-4  Reduction of energy use
Absolute energy increased by 4% in 2017 compared to 2016. This 

is explained by a significant increase in net sales and production 

 output. Organic net sales increased by 8%.

Greenhouse gas emissions, scope 1 and 2
During the year, a full restatement of the greenhouse gas emission 

data from 2015 has been made in line with the updated GHG 

 Protocol guidance for Scope 2 emissions. 

As of 2017, SKF further expands its reporting scope by including 

greenhouse gas other than CO
2
 where relevant, in line with the GHG 

protocol. Due to the nature of SKF’s operation, only three greenhouse 

gases are likely to be released in significant quantifies for tracking, 

including CO
2
, CH

4
, and N

2
O, where CO

2 
is by far the biggest contrib-

utor to SKF’s emissions. Refrigerants are currently not included in 

the GHG reporting scope as their impact on the overall carbon foot-

print is considered to be insignificant.

Tonnes 2017 2016 2015

305-1  Direct (Scope 1)  
GHG emissions 
CO

2
 emissions scope 1 62,269 59,982 60,317

305-2  Energy indirect (Scope 2) 
GHG emissions
CO

2
 emissions Scope 2, 

Market based 544,923 528,037 527,513

CO
2
 emissions Scope 2, 

Location based 605,771 576,851 583,525

Total CO2 emissions 
(Market based) 607,192 588,019 587,830

Total CO2 emissions 
(Location based) 668,040 636,833 643,842

Intensity 2017 2016 2015

CO
2
-emissions – bearing & units 

 factories (tonnes) 496,256 480,496 481,383

Weight bearings and units sold 
(tonnes) 367,336 335,240 334,554

305-4  GHG emissions intensity 
CO

2
-emissions/tonnes sold  products 1.35 1.43 1.44

% Change vs 2015 –6% 0% —

GRI 305-5  Reduction of GHG emissions scope 1 and 2
Absolute CO

2
 emissions followed the increase of energy use, see 

table above. Emissions increased driven by higher output, but 

the percent increase in production output was significantly higher, 

which resulted in reduced emissions relative to net sales and 

tonnes sold bearings.

Greenhouse gas emissions, scope 3
Under scope 3 emissions, SKF reports CO

2
 emissions from goods 

transportation and business travel.

Goods transportation data and related CO2 emissions 
2017 2016 2015

305-3 Other indirect GHG 
 emissions
CO

2
 emissions from transport 

Scope 3, (tonnes) 114,970 99,079 107,995

Transport works (tonnes shipped) 361,989 369,810 352,641 

305-4  GHG emissions intensity
CO

2
 emissions per tonnes shipped 

goods to end customer 318 268 306

% Change vs 2015 +4 –13 —

Shipped volumes and emissions  
per transport mode 2017 Road Sea Air Express

Transport works, tonnes shipped
% of total 76 22 0.7 0.4

CO
2
 emissions, % of total 29 35 30 6

Business travel
SKF monitors CO

2
 emissions from its air travel in Europe, the US 

and China. Data from other regions has not yet been included 

because multiple travel agencies have been used in these regions, 

making reliable data collection very difficult.

2017 2016 2015

305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3)  
GHG emissions  
CO

2
 emissions from air travel 21,612 20,604 21,703

GRI 305-5  Reduction of GHG emissions scope 3 
For goods transportation, SKF emissions have increase slightly 

between 2015 and 2017. The emission intensity has increased 

 relative to the transports works. The main reason for the increase 

is increased demand from customers leading to longer lead times, 

which has resulted in significantly increased use of express ship-

ments in 2017.

Customer solutions and reduced climate impact
As part of the new climate objectives, SKF provides yearly aggre-

gated revenue data from the following key areas: renewable energy 

generation, electric vehicles, recycling industry, and bearings 

remanufacturing. The total revenues of these areas amounted to 

almost SEK 4.5 billion in 2017. This data has not been reported 

previously.

SEKm 2017

Total revenues from renewable energy, electric  vehicles, 
recycling industry and bearings remanufacturing. 4,452

Life cycle studies confirm that the greatest potential for SKF to 

reduce environmental impact lies in the customer use phase of the 

Group’s products and solutions. 

Since many years, SKF has intensified efforts on developing 

 customer solutions that reduce environmental impacts and help 

customers meet their requirements to reduce emissions, increase 

energy efficiency, reduce water use, etc.

Building on what the Group has learnt from the focus on envi-

ronmental impacts, SKF decided in 2017 to broaden the scope 

of the efforts to cover all relevant sustainability aspects for the 

Group’s customers. Going forward, SKF will make sure that the 

 sustainability needs of its customers are understood and integrated 

into all products, services and solutions which SKF develops and 

offers to the market.
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Material topics: GRI 301 – Material, GRI 303 – Water, GRI 306 
– Effluents and waste, GRI 307 – Environmental compliance

103-1  Materiality and boundaries 
Details can differ between the environmental topics, but overall 

SKF has a similar management approach to Material, Water, 

 Effluents and waste, Environmental compliance. These topics are 

material first of all within SKF and its subsidiaries.

Material is highly relevant as the Group sourced about 600,000 

tonnes of metal components in 2017, the main impact from this lies 

within the value chain and is associated to energy and emissions. 

However, in SKF the work focuses on material efficiency in the 

machining processes. 

Water is relevant in different ways depending on where in the 

value chain it is used. Direct water use is material at SKF sites 

located in areas of actual and potential water scarcity. Indirect 

water use is relevant due its close correlation to energy generation. 

(Downstream, SKF can provide solutions to reduce the water foot-

print for customers or help to make large scale water treatment 

viable and cost efficient, this will not be reported in this section).

Effluents and wastes are relevant from SKF’s manufacturing 

operations. 

Compliance is followed up in relation to SKF’s manufacturing 

operations and those of its suppliers.

103-2 – 103-3  Management approach, its components and 
evaluation (combined)
SKF has deployed an environmental management system certified 

according to ISO 14001. This is integrated with the health and 

safety management system and is based on the Group EHS Policy. 

The management system is further defined at Group, country and 

site level. It includes all significant manufacturing sites, technical 

and engineering centres and logistics centres. I terms of environ-

mental impact, the systems included close to 100 percent of opera-

tions. New or recently acquired subsidiaries are provided a time 

frame for inclusion. This is typically on to two years but can be 

extended if the company acquired is of significant proportion. 

The overall coordination of the work is managed by a central 

staff function and the responsibility to drive improvements is with 

SKF’s functional areas in the line organization. Roles and responsi-

bilities have been established in accordance to the demands of 

SKF’s environmental management system. The management sys-

tem refers to SKF’s minimum requirements and local legislation, 

whichever is the more stringent. Country managers are responsible 

for ensuring compliance with local laws. The local line organization 

manager is responsible for ensuring compliance with SKF’s stand-

ards. The SKF Group function provides the overall structure and 

follow-up. Potential spills, incidents and fines are publicly reported 

in the Environmental Data spreadsheet in Topics related to the 

Annual Report, please refer to skf.com/ar2017. 

SKF also has a grievance mechanism in place for incidents at 

suppliers. This is coordinated by SKF’s responsible sourcing com-

mittee and reported in an aggregated overview of deviations from 

supplier audits. Environmental performance at suppliers is further 

reported on page 141.

One important feature of SKF’s global environmental manage-

ment system is to ensure that all operating SKF units are compliant 

with local rules and legislation, to ensure efficient water use and 

responsible water management, including wastewater handling. 

SKF’s sites located in areas of water scarcity have established 

specific targets for reducing water consumption. The most impor-

tant dimension of water for SKF is that of the water needed to 

 generate energy for use over the value chain.

During 2017, SKF has developed new objectives to reduce envi-

ronmental impact. The Group will start reporting on these in 2018. 

For the time being SKF has extended the previous targets. Progress 

is reported below next to the indicators.

All data was compiled either quarterly or annually, using the 

Group’s main reporting and consolidation tool. It includes all signifi-

cant manufacturing sites, technical and engineering centres and 

logistics centres. Sales units are included when they are at the 

same site as manufacturing or logistics. Separate sales offices are 

excluded due to their minor environmental impact. Joint ventures 

are included where SKF has management control. Data from sites 

can be included in the compilation even if the site is not yet fully 

integrated in the management systems. Information is reported at 

a local operating unit level, aggregated to site, country/area, and 

Group level. For site by site data, please refer to the Environmental 

performance data available at skf.com/ar2017. 

Performance
SKF has set realistic and ambitious targets to reduce environmental 

impact from its operations. Overall, the data presented indicates 

that SKF is reducing its environmental impact from its operations. 

Restatement from previous year
Several sites have restated their results for 2016. The restatements 

are associated with previous errors in reporting and corrections of 

extrapolated data. All restatements for 2016 and are marked with 

an asterisk*. 

301-1  Materials used by weight or volume
SKF uses various materials such as metals, rubber, solvents, 

hydraulic oil and grease. Steel is the main material used by SKF and 

much of the steel purchased by the Group is produced by re-melting 

steel scrap, as this provides favourable material properties and is 

widely available. 

SKF does not report any renewable materials or recycled input 

material. The most significant part of the material used comes from 

components which has been machined and refined along the value 

chain. This means SKF does not have direct influence over the source 

of the material but only the specified quality, and so the data cannot 

be confirmed. In general, bearing steel is made out of a significant 

propostion of scrap steel, however an exact percentage cannot be 

provided. 

Non-renewable material
Tonnes 2017 2016 2015

Metal as raw material from 
 external suppliers 591,138 477,131* 431,523

Rubber as raw material from 
external suppliers 5,616 5,505* 5,485

* Restated

        Material, Water, Effluents and waste, Environmental compliance 
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2017 2016 2015

Solvents (tonnes) 1,155 916* 902

* Restated

Group target – halve the use of solvents from 2007
Solvents, referred to as volatile organic compounds, form vapours 

that can be damaging to health and the environment. SKF set a 

 target in 2007 to halve the consumption of solvents from 1,600 

tonnes per year. In 2016 a 42% reduction had been achieved. In 

2017, two newly acquired sites in China were included in the 

reporting. These sites have not yet commenced any projects to 

reduce or substitute use of solvents. SKF will continue to reduce 

and report usage of solvents in future environmental targets.

2017 2016 2015

Alcohols (tonnes) 2,094 1,922* 1,890

Hydraulic Oil (tonnes) 2,091 1,712* 1,885

Grease (tonnes) 2,651 2,065* 1,876

PCB (Sites with) 0 0 0

Other oils (tonnes) 2,929 2,231* 2,242

Lubrication Oils (tonnes) 1,155 791* 707

Cutting Oils (tonnes) 2,745 2,420* 2,412

* Restated

2017 2016 2015

ODS-Class I  Manufacturing 
 (kilogram) 0 0 0

ODS-Class II  Manufacturing 
 (kilogram) 0 0 0

ODS-Class III  Manufacturing 
(kilogram) 96 102 209

ODS-Class I  Non-Manufacturing 
(kilogram) 0 0 0

ODS-Class II  Non-Manufacturing 
(kilogram) 0 0 0

ODS-Class III  Non-Manufacturing 
(kilogram) 481 437 638

SKF concludes its focus to eliminate ozone-depleting substances as 

successful. (ODS) SKF has been monitoring its consumption of ODS, 

referring to the Montreal Protocol, for many years. Consumption 

has steadily fallen over the years, supported by local phase-out 

projects. Overall, the most harmful ODS have either been substi-

tuted with less harmful ones or usage has been eliminated due to 

process changes in manufacturing. In 2018, SKF will not report 

ODS.

303-1  Water withdrawal by source
Omission: As the clear majority of SKF’s factories are located in 

industrial zones, water is supplied by municipalities. Other sources 

have not been considered material. Therefore, SKF monitors total 

water consumption at operating units and not per withdrawal by 

source. As the reporting is based on actual measurements from 

water suppliers or at SKF sites, no specific assumptions are referred 

to. During 2017–2018, work is on-going to refine the Group’s water 

reporting. 

2017 2016 2015

Water use (1,000 N Cubic Meters) 4,682 4,921* 5,558

* Restated

306-2  Waste by type and disposal method
Omission: The main fractions used by SKF is recycling, recovery 

(incl heat/energy recovery), incineration and landfill. All details on 

these and other fractions cannot be reported for 2017 as SKF does 

not have data from all sites, but SKF aims to report this for 2018.

Like the case of water, SKF has been reviewing the reporting of 

waste and disposal methods during 2017. An updated approach 

environmental reporting has been established and will be presented 

from 2018 along with progress on new targets.

The amounts of residual material and recycling rate are disclosed 

below and in more detail in Environmental data spreadsheet available 

at skf.com/AR2017. SKF reports all significant residuals and waste 

site-by-site for all SKF’s units. In this note, SKF highlights the most 

significant residuals, recycling rates and the amount of waste sent 

to landfill. All SKF’s units are aiming to minimize waste and increase 

recycling, for both environmental and cost reasons.  Practically all 

scrap metal from SKF’s operations is recycled.

2017 2016 2015

Grinding swarf (tonnes) 22,839 20,522* 20,110

Grinding swarf Recycled (%) 67 76* 80

* Restated

Group target – 80% recycling of grinding swarf
Grinding swarf is a common waste product from SKF’s manufactur-

ing processes and a particularly difficult one to handle. SKF set 

a target to achieve at least an 80% recycling rate for its grinding 

swarf. This target was achieved in 2013 and since then the result 

has fluctuated around 80 percent. Variations in regional legislation, 

volatile scrap prices and other aspects mean that this continues 

to be a very challenging target. In 2017, the rate was 67%. This is 

mainly a result of changing regulation in India, making it more diffi-

cult to recycle grinding swarf. The target for grinding swarf has 

been extended to end of year when new targets will be established.

2017 2016 2015

Turning Chips (tonnes) 50,418 43,010* 42,885

Turning Chips Recycled (%) 100 98 100

Other metal scrap (tonnes) 6,745 6,383* 7,537

Other metal scrap recycled (%) 100 100 100

Rubber scrap (tonnes) 2,117 1,755* 1,631

Rubber scrap recycled (%) 90 88 86

Used oils (tonnes) 3,684 3,771* 3,701

Used oils recycled (%) 98 97 91

Paper and carton (tonnes) 4,484 4,502* 4,630

Paper and carton recycled (%) 97 99 96

Waste sent to landfill (tonnes) 11,593 9,774* 9,043

* Restated

307-1  Non-compliance with environmental laws  
and regulations
SKF received no significant fines or directives from the environ-

mental authorities in 2017. One less significant spill was recorded. 

This has been communicated and resolved with local environmental 

authorities.
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Material topic: GRI 401 – Employment

103-1  Materiality and boundaries
As an employer, SKF needs to attract and develop a diverse and 

effective workforce to lead and deliver on the objectives as set out 

by the Group. The work focuses on the Group and its subsidiaries 

where SKF works with central recruitment processes, training, 

leadership and talent management to proactively manage succession 

planning.

103-2 – 103-3  Management approach, its components and 
evaluation 
SKF has a long established human resources function (Group People) 

that is integrated in the staff function Group People, Communica-

tion, Legal and Sustainability. There are specific Human Resources 

personnel and responsibilities at Group, Area, Country and site 

level. Group People works to ensure that the company has the right 

people, in the right place at the right time and that these people are 

competent, motivated and able to create and capture value for our 

customers. The staff function Group People, manages labour affairs 

and the formal dialogue with the SKF World Union Council. Issues 

relating to significant changes at SKF are always handled in close 

collaboration between company management, local unions and the 

World Union Council. SKF has employee representatives at the 

Board – the highest governance body. Among other things, this 

means that employee representatives have direct insight on board 

level issues and strategic outlook for the Group. 

SKF’s operations are diverse both in terms of industries and 

geographies served and this has been reflected in the workforce 

planning and strategy, where SKF has relied on a decentralized 

approach to human capital development and planning. An expected 

transformation of business and employment related to digitalization 

and the increased demand in agility has initiated a centralizing of 

parts of the workforce planning and strategy. Uniform people man-

agement systems and processes are put in place to facilitate this 

work. As these common systems are not yet fully operational, SKF 

can report retention rate and turnover by gender and region, but 

not by age group or other fraction.

        Employment 

401-1  New employee hires and employee turnover

Employee retention rate by region (excluding lay-offs)
2017

% Women Men Total 2016 2015

Asia and Pacific 81 90 88 92 90

Middle East and Africa 91 90 90 93 91

North America 91 91 91 92 90

Latin America 91 93 93 95 95

Eastern and Central Europe 89 91 90 90 94

Western Europe 95 97 96 96 96

Group 89 93 93 93 93

Retention rate as reported above is measured by comparing remaining SKF employees at year end (minus newly employed) to the number at the start of the 

year. Lay-offs are excluded in the calculation.

Employee turnover and new hires by region

Group
Asia and 

Pacific
Middle East 

and Africa
North 

 America Latin  America

Eastern  
and central 

Europe
Western 

Europe

Employee turnover 2017, women % 13.7 20.6 9.4 19.0 18.4 12.4 6.3

Employee turnover 2017, men % 9.4 11.2 11.6 17.0 19.7 10.3 4.3

Employee turnover 2017, total % 10.3 13.4 11.1 17.5 19.5 11.1 4.7
Employee turnover 2016, total % 9.1 9.3 8.2 14.5 17.2 9.7 5.6

New hires 2017 4.875 1.804 56 395 798 747 1.075
Women (Number) 1.281 550 16 89 148 236 242

(Women as share of total) 26% 21% 20% 27% 17% 35% 25%

Men (Number) 3.594 1.254 40 306 650 511 833
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Material topic: GRI 402 – Labour management relations

103-1  Materiality and boundaries
The main priority of the relationship between labour and manage-

ment is to ensure that the Global Framework Agreement between 

SKF and the unions works in practice. This is based on the SKF 

Code of Conduct and the work focuses on labour management 

 relations between SKF Group and workers within SKF Group and 

its subsidiaries.

103-2 – 103-3  Management approach, its components 
and evaluation 
Issues relating to significant changes at SKF, for example in acquir-

ing or divesting operations, are always discussed and resolved 

openly and constructively with union leaders locally and with the 

leadership of the SKF World Union Council. The precise approach 

must be adapted to the specific conditions of each acquisition. SKF 

makes it clear in its Code of Conduct that all employees have the 

right to join a union and to bargain collectively. Continual dialogue 

is on-going to ensure that it works for both SKF and the Union 

members.

The Council, which includes all 20 countries referred to on page 

125, meets every year to discuss labour issues in an open format 

and share what is currently happening in the Group. All countries 

with major operations have the right to send union officials or 

observers to the World Union Council. In addition, representatives 

of SKF World Union Council are invited to speak about specific 

issues such as;  collective bargaining, health and safety, diversity 

and other issues.

402-1  Minimum notice periods regarding operational changes
SKF cannot overrule the centrally agreed collective bargain agree-

ments. Notice regarding operational changes is always defined on a 

case-by-case basis but always with the local unions involved, and/

or reviewed at the World Works Council. At year-end 2017 90% of 

employees were covered by trade union agreements.

        Labour management relations 

Material topic: GRI 403 – Occupational health and safety 

103-1  Materiality and boundaries
Health and safety is a material issue in different aspects of SKF’s 

direct operations as well as activities occurring along the value 

chain. SKF employs around 28,000 people in blue-collar work roles 

and the focus here is on physical health and safety. This is also rele-

vant upstream as part of SKF’s responsible sourcing approaches, 

as well as for work carried out by sub-contractors. Downstream, 

the main relevant health and safety aspects relate to products and 

 customer solutions. 

103-2 – 103-3  Management approach, its components and 
evaluation 
SKF deploys a Group-wide health and safety management system 

according to OHSAS 18001. The high-level requirements on health 

and safety are defined in the Group’s EHS policy and the detailed 

instructions and procedures are integrated within the environment, 

health and safety management system. 

Health and safety data is collected on a quarterly basis using the 

Group’s main reporting and consolidation tool. SKF adopts the US 

Occupational Safety and Health Administration’s (OSHA) standard 

for defining recordable accidents and its formula for calculating 

accident rates. The scope of accident reporting covers all significant 

SKF sites. Together these sites cover over 90% of SKF’s employees. 

Recently acquired companies are given a timeframe for imple-

menting the management systems and reporting. The accident rate 

data also includes contractors and agency workers on SKF’s sites 

but this is not separately reported.

SKF’s accident rate has steadily improved over the last two dec-

ades but the rate of improvement has slowed down in recent years. 

SKF has taken a more proactive approach and continuously tries 

out new ways to create safe workplaces, increase awareness, 

improve risk assessment and increase commitment to put safety 

first. Still, just under one person (0.85) out of 100 full time employ-

ees had a recordable accident in 2017, which should not have to be 

the case. 

As the majority of workers (employees at SKF or its suppliers, or 

agency employees under SKF’s supervision), work in a factory or 

workshop environment, physical safety has been and still is a main 

priority. However, SKF anticipates that employees will increasingly 

work in office environments and has taken steps to raise awareness 

on social and organizational health on Group level. The exact 

approach on e.g. work and life-balance will differ from one country 

to another. In Sweden, one of the initial focus areas is connectivity 

and the fact that most people carry the work with them in mobile 

devices, whereas in China, SKF has spent more focus on employee 

commuting time.

Over the last years governance and follow up on performance 

and reporting has been transferred to the line organisation as an 

ongoing gradual process. This process has been fully implemented 

for the majority of the manufacturing sites in SKF. In other parts  

of the organisation this process is still in the implementation stage. 

As part of this change, more parameters have been included in the 

reporting and follow up process. In addition to recordable accidents, 

it now also encompasses first aid and near miss incidents, and 

severity rate for recordable accidents. All details in the near miss 

and unsafe condition reporting is not reported on a Group level, due 

to the large amount of incidents. However, SKF works to increase 

the reporting of incidents to prevent accidents waiting to happen. 

Ideally, the base of the pyramide would be as flat as possible.

        Occupational health and safety 
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403-2  Types of injury and rates of injury, occupational 
 diseases, lost days, and absenteeism, and number of 
work-related fatalities

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Accident rate 
for the Group 0.851) 0.871) 0.99 1.13 0.99 1.06 1.05 1.18

1)  SKF has included recordable accidents from one or two sites which 

were at the time being integrated in common systems, but not been 

able to include all worked hours. The actual accident rate 2016 and 

2017 is therefore slightly lower than reported.

2017

Work related fatalities 0

Serious recordable accidents 5

Recordable accidents 325

First aid incidents 3,054

Near miss incidents 5,153

Severity rate (lost time per accident) 20.68

Total lost days 6,823

The severity rate per accident is measured as lost time. One chal-

lenge with this metric on Group level is that time lost for one specific 

type of accident can differ from one country to another depending 

on the specific regulations and praxis for sick leave. This data has 

not been reported previously.

403-4  Health and safety topics covered in formal 
 agreements with trade unions
SKF’s global framework agreement with the World Union Council 

is based on the SKF Code of Conduct – including health and safety. 

These aspects are included in both global and local formal agree-

ments; a percentage cannot be given.

403-1  Workers representation in formal joint management–
worker health and safety committees

% 2017 2016 2015

Asia and Pacific 88 89 85

Middle East and Africa 88 77 93

North America 95 99 99

Latin America 85 97 96

Eastern and  
Central Europe 84 94 94

Western Europe 91 94 97

Group 90 94 94

Typically, these committees operate at factory management level.

Material topic: GRI 404 – Training and Education 

103-1  Materiality and boundaries
SKF has a wide range of competence development activities such as 

trainings and educational programmes available aimed at Group’s 

employees, distributors and customers. The ones closely connected 

to social impact is that of employee development. 

103-2 – 103-3  Management approach, its components and 
evaluation 
All SKF employees are entitled to an individual development plan 

(IDP) and this is where specific training or development needs are 

identified and agreed between the employee and his or her man-

ager. The IDP is also used to follow up on the completion of training 

and development activities. Training defined within an IDP can 

range from mandatory e-learning, which all employees must com-

plete (Code of Conduct e-learning for example) to very specific tech-

nical training on a wide range of subjects such as project manage-

ment or application engineering.

Managers involvement and support are an important aspect for 

employees to achieve sustained personal and professional growth 

and for inspiring employees to take advantage and responsibility of 

the learning opportunities available. The recent working climate 

analysis shows that SKF employees are motivated to take such 

responsibility as competence development is a key priority for SKF 

going forward.

To have an effective competence development in place is increas-

ingly important for SKF to succeed in the competitive market. The 

Group’s human resources function coordinates the overall strategy, 

methods and tools for enhanced learning in SKF. The SKF Acade-

mies are in place to ensure that competence development activities 

are implemented to support the strategic business agenda. Major 

recent initiatives include the Sales Excellence Programme, Business 

Acumen, SAP and Industry 4.0-related initiatives.

Local centres of learning and learning experts are in place in the 

main SKF operations to support implementation and local adaption 

of SKF’s global curriculum as well as driving development pro-

grammes and initiatives meeting the local needs.

Utilizing the joint knowledge and resources of the central human 

resources function, SKF Academies and local learning experts, SKF 

has a solid foundation for development and implementation of 

effective competence enhancing activities. Tools and methods such 

as web-conferencing, e-learnings, SKF’s social medias platforms 

and collaborative communities are supporting these efforts. 

To support customer’s success, SKF also provides training for 

distributors and end-users of SKF’s products and services. This 

includes training on mounting and servicing SKF’s products for 

example. For distributors, SKF’s training includes aspects such as 

technical specifications of SKF’s products, value selling, SKF’s Code 

of Conduct and profitable business management. More information 

on distributor training is available on skf.com.

        Training and Education 
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404-2  Programmes for upgrading employee skills and 
 transition assistance programmes 
SKF offers internal programmes and funding for external education. 

The exact approach differs from country to country. In Sweden, 

employees can seek scholarship from SKF employee development 

foundations. These are open for all SKF employees and some also 

to children of employees.

Training and skill upgrading is also done at varying depth or 

degrees in different parts of the organisation. As stated under the 

topic Employment, SKF has identified a potential need to re-skill 

people as part of meeting the demands of new digital technologies 

and new ways of doing business.

SKF has a long tradition of training and developing people. In 

Katrineholm in Sweden, SKF has experienced challenges to recruit 

the right competence for the heavy industrial operations. One of the 

solutions has been to not go for an exact skill profile, but to attract 

people of the right attitude and mindset and then train them with 

the skills they need to perform the task. 

404-3  Percentage of employees receiving regular 
 performance and career development reviews  
Omission: Breakdown per employee category cannot be provided. 

The data is collected from SKF’s people and learning management 

system and the percentages provided are defined as employees 

receiving formal documented performance reviews which have 

been signed off by the manager.

The scope of this survey covers around 13,000 staff workers 

included in the people and learning management system (LMS).

2017 2016

% Women Men Women Men

% of LMS users with documented 
performance reviews 94 96 95 97

% of assigned LMS users with 
active individual development 
plans1) 58 52

1)  Individual development plans can only be reported as a total, and not by 
 gender or category.

Material topic: GRI 405 Diversity and Equal Opportunity

103-1  Materiality and boundaries
Equal opportunity and non-discrimination are central elements of 

the SKF Code of Conduct. It is crucial for SKF that all employees 

compete on the same level in order to attract for the most suitable 

people on the market. In the ever increasing competition for talent, 

SKF cannot afford to attract only a certain type of people. The Code 

of Conduct was therefore the starting point stipulating the impor-

tance of encouraging diversity in all senses as a means to competi-

tive advantage.

103-2 – 103-3  Management approach, its components and 
evaluation 
According to the International Labour Organization (ILO), the global 

pay gap is estimated at over 20% and is one of the main challenges 

for freedom and equality for society. SKF’s overall approach is to 

start with equality, and make sure that everyone in SKF has a fair 

chance to develop, compete for jobs and that competition should be 

based on the professionality. The Group works to integrate equality 

in relevant processes, such as learning, succession planning and 

recruitment. SKF’s recruitment principles is based on the SKF Code 

of Conduct and facilitates recruitment based on skills and knowl-

edge.  

On remuneration, SKF aggregates basic salaries for significant 

operations in its eight biggest countries by employee headcount, 

these are presented in the table on the next page. In total, these 

operations cover 25,000 employees, including both office- and shop 

floor workers. The salary mapping breaks down per job category, 

job family, and maturity level. 

Even though women in junior management positions and local 

management teams have increased over time, one of the main 

challenges is to first of all attract more women into SKF and to 

simultaneously balance the ratio of women and men at senior 

 management level.

405-1  Diversity of governance bodies and employees
The table provides % of women and men at different categories 

within the organization.
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Definitions
The Board refers to the SKF Board of Directors which makes up  

the highest governance body for the organization, please refer to 

page 150.

Group Management is the operational management team of the 

SKF Group, please refer to page 157.

Higher management refers to the around top 500 managers in the 

SKF Group. The actual number in this population is changes over 

time.

Local management teams refers to the around 200 different legal 

entities in SKF around the world. SKF measures how many individ-

uals are totalling these groups and proportion of women and men 

as well as how many of these management groups have one or 

more women.

Total employees refers to the average number of employees in 

SKF during the last year.

Geographic diversity
SKF also tracks diversity in terms of geographic origin. SKF has 

70 country managers representing 66 nationalities.

In higher management all regions are represented. In the table 

below, the proportion of individuals by regions are compared to 

where SKF does business (net sales).

Region

Proportion of people 
from region in higher 

management Net sales

Europe excl. Sweden 51% 38%

Sweden 26% 3%

Asia/Pacific 10% 26%

North America 10% 23%

Latin America 3.% 8%

Middle East and Africa <1% 2%

405-2  Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women to men

Female/Male 
ratio %

Employees  
in scope

Germany 94%  5,873 

USA 79%  4,099 

Italy 91%  3,536 

China 107%  3,472 

Sweden 104%  3,111 

France 101%  2,893 

India 161%  2,563 

United Kingdom 89%  1,003 

Group 95% 26,550

Comment on result
In SKF, salaries are set per individual position class, performance 

and responsibilities. The Group uses an internationally well-known 

position class system (IPE) for defining positions. Structural errors 

are managed locally as part of the annual salary review. 

The complexity of the categorization between job roles, job cate-

gories, position classification, country context and currencies make 

it challenging to present a detailed analysis. For this reason, SKF 

only discloses the overall salary ratio between women and men 

aggregated per country. 

Within the different categories there are greater differences, the 

average remuneration is heavily skewed by the different levels on 

the job roles, job categories and position class. E.g. at SKF in India, 

women on average earn 61% more than men. This is explained by 

the very small proportion of women in blue-collar work roles. Most 

women working at SKF in India work in office or managerial positions. 

Sweden is a similar example, where the share of women in man-

agement position is relatively high, but not as well represented in 

blue-collar roles. 

The details in the mapping 2017 indicates an overall gap when 

it comes to average salaries per country, but no conclusion can be 

made that these are related to structural errors or irregularity. 

Material topics: Non-discrimination, Freedom of association and 
collective bargaining, Child labour, Forced or compulsory 
labour, Human rights assessments

This part of the report is prepared according to UN 
Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights 
Reporting Framework as well as GRI Standards.

103-1  Materiality and boundaries
The human rights perspective has been part of SKF’s work for dec-

ades and was formulated in the first issues of the SKF Code of Con-

duct, which was originally bases on the SA8000 standard. As with 

other aspects, SKF initial response to human rights was to start in 

its own back yard – looking at the Group’s internal operations an 

processes and then the supply chain with the responsible sourcing 

programme which was initiated in 2005. SKF owns and operates 

over 100 manufacturing plants across the world, employing around 

28,000 people in different types of production. These facilities have 

local and global supply of material and components and raw material. 

Since the first assessment on risk to people, the salient issues 

for SKF have been related to people at work, first and foremost at 

suppliers and sub-contractors. 

The work is continually evolving as risk assessment and due dili-

gence processes are maturing and as more knowledge is gained of 

how the Group’s activities can have impact on the people in proxim-

ity to the company’s operations, its distribution, sales and end-use 

of products and service. 

103-2 – 103-3  Management approach, its components 
and evaluation (combined)
Background and policy commitment
Initially back in 2002, the SKF Code of Conduct was established 

based on a number of international external principles and char-

ters, such as ILO conventions and the International Chambers of 

Commerce Business Charter for Sustainable Development and later 

the UN Global Compact when the Group joined in 2006. The SKF 

Code of Conduct has since been used to develop many related 

 policies on specific topics, and addressing business partners along 

the value chain.

When the UN Guiding Principles was first launched, SKF’s Code of 

Conduct was updated to fulfil the demands of the policy commitment. 

        Human rights 
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The Code is available on SKF.com/code and is part of commercial 

agreements with suppliers, subcontractors, distributors and agents. 

The SKF Code of Conduct is the main policy for human rights, there 

are versions of it specifically addressing SKF owned companies, 

suppliers, subcontractors and distributors but are all based on the 

same principles.

SKF works to integrated human rights in all processes where  

SKF sees a risk that people could be adversely affected. This means 

that in screening and audit activities, such as internal ethics reviews 

and audits, supplier screening and audits etc., human rights shall  

be considered. Deviation or risks are resolved in the operations or 

escalated if needed. Alarming issues would be escalated from the 

Group’s ethics and compliance board to the audit committee at 

board level. SKF Group management are continually being updated 

on specific issues, such as health and safety for SKF’s employees 

and serious incidents.

Salient and relevant human rights
As explained in the introduction, SKF perceives the salient human 

rights being related to freedom of association and collective 
 bargaining, compensation, work hours, health, safety and wellbeing 
and discrimination. So far, the most salient risks are associated to 

the supply chain and the rationale is that the further upstream in 

the value chain, the less transparent and the higher risk of human 

rights issues. 

Other human rights that SKF is following closely, although not 

deemed salient, is related to children’s rights, child labour and 

young workers, and forced or bonded labour. SKF follows up closely, 

first of all with potential new suppliers on their risks related to 

these. In this work, SKF focuses on geographies where risks are 

higher, where rule of law and social inequality is weaker. SKF works 

with a third party to assess the overall risks on human rights as 

reported in global statistics. 

Stakeholder collaboration
SKF collaborates with a range of stakeholder groups to avoid or 

mitigate human rights risks. Customers typically require SKF to 

Duty of companies
• Policy commitment

• Human rights due  

to diligence

– Assessing impact

– Act on findings

–  Tracking  effectiveness

– Communicate

• Stakeholder engagement

• Remediation 

States duty 

to protect

Access to 

remedy

Companies 

duty to 

respect

Protection of  
human rights

manage such risks. The primary stakeholder group with whom SKF 

has direct relationship with the rights-holder is the employees, and 

so formal social dialogue is held between local management and 

annually between the SKF Group and the World Union Council. SKF 

also keeps close dialogues with peers and NGOs via networks and 

roundtables such as via UN Global Compact, Railsponsible (specific 

to the railway industry), at the end of 2017, SKF also joined RSPO 

(Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil) as a supplier of bearings and 

solutions into that industry.

Trends and patterns 2017
In 2017, much of the focus on human rights in SKF’s external envi-

ronment has been related to the #metoo movement. TThis move-

ment has gained a lot of attention during the autumn of 2017, and 

related to this, SKF took the opportunity to underlined its commit-

ment to non-discrimination and harassments. 

On labour related human rights, SKF World Union Council grew 

to include representatives from South Korea and the clear majority 

of blue collar workers now are represented during the annual coun-

cil meeting, see more on page 125.

A new company wide business policy was adopted in 2017, 

underlining that during business trip for SKF, the employee must 

adhere to SKF Code of Conduct and other Group Policies at all times 

during business travel.

SKF’s responsible sourcing strategy was updated. The approach 

was based on human rights and the deeper understanding of salient 

issues at the Group’s tier two suppliers and increased focus on indi-

rect material. The number of suppliers in high risk countries that 

cannot live up to SKF’s minimum demands has decreases, see 

details on the supplier assessments and audits on the next page.

Integrating finding and taking action
The SKF Code of Conduct states that the different stakeholder 

aspects shall be taken into consideration prior to any business deci-

sions. Should any decision be taken that may have adverse impact 

on human rights, meaning against the SKF Code of Conduct, the 

individual who records such an event is encouraged to report this 

via formal grievance mechanisms so that the decision can be 

avoided. For cases where the normal escalation routines is not 

an option, SKF has implemented an externally hosted Ethics and 

compliance reporting mechanism. All significant cases reported 

are disclosed on page 124.

The work to prevent adverse impact is a continuously ongoing 

task. The most obvious issues is related to freedom of association 

and collective bargaining as SKF has operations in countries where 

such is not existing. The Group works together with the World 

Union Council still see to it than collective bargaining can exist in 

some way, in line with the Global framework agreement. 

Modern Slavery Act 2015
AB SKF is committed to ensure that the companies within 

the SKF Group do not allow slavery or human trafficking. As 

with other human rights, this commitment extends to the 

supply chains used by the SKF Group. This statement is 

made pursuant to Section 54, Part 6 of the Modern Slavery 

Act 2015 and sets out the steps the SKF Group has taken 

to ensure that slavery and human trafficking is not taking 

place in company operations or supply chains.
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Tracking performance
SKF continuously addresses salient human rights at audits, both 

internally and in the supply chain. SKF has established that: if the 

Group finds cases, and then set up action plans with business part-

ners to reduce risks or initiate remediation activities, this is consid-

ered effective management. SKF internal ethics and compliance 

reviews are summarized on page 124.

Downstream impact via SKF’s business and products
SKF works to continually reduce any negative impacts of its prod-

ucts or solutions. Given the nature of SKF’s business. Negative 

impact to people from the Group’s products could be related to 

environmental performance and SKF works to ensure compliance 

to laws and regulation and phase out material and substance haz-

ardous to people and the natural environment. One example is the 

hexavalent chromium which has been phased out from SKF’s lubri-

cation system offerings. The work put into was awarded with an 

internal SKF Excellence Award 2017. 

Looking at the business that SKF makes, the purpose of SKF’s 

products and solution is to make thing work better, run faster, 

longer, cleaner or more safely. SKF considers that business can 

drive prosperity and growth to overcome social issues over time. 

SKF’s linkage to human rights infringements downstream in the 

value chain is so far considered weak. The work so far that may 

be related to human rights focuses on adhering to export control 

regulation. SKF has identified, a few industry hotspots where the 

general human risks are higher, such as the extractive industries, 

forestry and energy as these are associated with significant land 

use. No actual cases of human rights linked to SKF risks have been 

identified. 

Omission: SKF has chosen to report on human rights from the 

 overall perspective according to UN Guiding Principle Reporting 

Framework. Hence, specific operations, suppliers or countries are 

not listed in the disclosures. SKF’s work is prioritized based on 

 general  human rights risk assessed from reliable and unbiased 

external sources.

406-1  Incidents of discrimination and corrective  
actions taken
A number of cases related to harassment or discrimination have led 

to verbal or written warning to the individuals involved.

407-1  Operations and suppliers in which the freedom of 
association and collective bargaining may be at risk
The overall approach from the state towards union membership, 

and level of independence of trade unions in certain countries 

where SKF has operations, creates challenges in this aspect. 

SKF works pragmatically with the World Union Council and the 

appointed union representatives to try and address these chal-

lenges. Please refer to page 125 for a description on SKF World 

Union Council’s work related to collective bargaining agreements.

408-1  Operations and suppliers at significant risk for 
 incidents of child labour
The issue of child labour is included in both SKF’s internal and sup-

plier audits. In 2017, SKF has found no actual cases of child labour 

at its operations or at SKF’s suppliers. A smaller number of cases 

with inadequate controls of age at SKF’s suppliers have been 

identified. SKF works to close such deviations under the Responsible 

Sourcing Programme, as explained below on this page. 

409-1  Operations and suppliers at significant risk for 
 incidents of forced or compulsory labour
The issue of forced, bonded and compulsory labour is included in 

both SKF’s internal and supplier audits. In 2017, no cases of forced 

or bonded labour have been identified.

412-1  Operations that have been subject to human rights 
reviews or impact assessments.
All SKF’s units are subject to human rights reviews as part of the 

SKF Code of Conduct review. These reviews include the full range of 

the Code of Conduct. All SKF’s units are subject to review within a 

three-year interval using a risk-based approach. In 2017, 54 such 

reviews were carried out. In addition, sites undergo risk based 

in-depth audits on specific topics. Most in-depth audits related to 

human rights focus on health and safety. In addition, SKF carries 

out site audits at suppliers. 

Material topics: GRI 414 – Supplier social assessment  
and GRI 308 – Supplier environmental assessment

103-1  Materiality and boundaries
SKF addresses supplier impact on the environment, human rights, 

labor practices and society under the Responsible sourcing pro-

gramme. The programme covers all of SKF’s suppliers but uses a 

risk based approach focusing auditing on tier one and sometimes 

tier two suppliers. 

103-2 – 103-3  Management approach, its components and 
evaluation (Combined)
SKF’s responsible sourcing programme works to ensure the Group’s 

effective deployment of the SKF Code of Conduct for Suppliers and 

Sub-contractors. The programme is part of Supplier development, 

which covers areas of delivery, quality, product compliance and 

Code of Conduct.

All potential suppliers are initially screened using a set of minimum 

criteria related to the Code of Conduct and quality demands and 

which must be met in order to be considered as an SKF supplier. 

In 2017, SKF’s responsible sourcing strategy was updated. Using 

a risk based approach, direct material suppliers making up 90% 

spend are still automatically subject to audits if they are located in 

high risk regions, these can be both tier one and two suppliers.

In addition to these, when risks to people or the environment are 

flagged, during site visits or screenings, the suppliers are escalated 

to be audited. This can be any type of supplier e.g. professional 

 services or other indirect material. 

Screening of suppliers are done using SKFs own risk tool and 

audits are always done on suppliers’ locations by SKF specialists 

or third party auditors. Warning signs may also be raised by other 

SKF staff visiting suppliers, such as at a quality review. The Code of 

Conduct audit procedure is based around a checklist with 45 specific 

questions focusing on a wide range of aspects, such as human 

rights and labour standards, environment and other Code of 

 Conduct issues.

Most noncompliance cases are managed by SKF’s regional 

 purchasing offices in alignment with global category managers 

until resolved. Significant deviations are escalated to SKF Group’s 

Responsible Sourcing Committee to decide ways of resolving 

        Supplier assessments 
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Material topic: GRI 419 – Socioeconomic compliance 

103-1  Materiality and boundaries
SKF addresses socioeconomic compliance as part of the Group’s 

ethics and compliance programmes across the full value chain. 

Within this report, the focus is with SKF’s operations and parties 

with whom SKF has a direct business relationship.

Compliance with international declarations, conventions, and 

treaties, and local regulation is one of the most important tasks 

a multinational enterprise can manage to support sustainable 

development. SKF works proactively to prepare for and live up 

to such requirements.

103-2 – 103-3  Management approach, its components and 
evaluation 
In 2017, SKF has prepared for stricter data privacy rules to meet 

the demands of the GDPR (General data protection regulation), 

which puts clearer responsibility and higher accountability for 

 companies handling personal data and is entering into force in the 

European Union in 2018. As SKF shares information globally, these 

rules affect SKF also outside the European Union. 

SKF is prepared to meet this increased responsibility; and has 

for example established a data privacy policy, appointed data 

 protection officers, assessed and registered IT applications and 

reviewed supplier contracts. 

SKF also follows the development on OECDs tax transparency 

requirements. The Swedish government has included country by 

country reporting of tax to be filed to the national tax authority. 

SKF has filed such information but does not report publicly due to 

sensitive competitive information.

In addition to the above topics and other socioeconomic areas 

reported within these statements, SKF works closely to ensure 

compliance to topics such as anti-money laundering, export control 

and human rights.

419-1  Non-compliance with laws and regulations in the 
social and economic area
No cases of non-compliances related to these topics have been 

 identified. 

        Socioeconomic compliance 

 complex issues. First and foremost, the work focuses on establish-

ing a strong partnership and develop targeted suppliers. However, 

suppliers which fail to address critical issues over time risk having 

their contracts with SKF terminated. 

In 2017, over 127 audits have been carried out. These include 

first audits, follow-up audits and third party audits. The most com-

mon deviations found are related to compensation, work hours, 

employment contract procedures, health and safety, and pollution 

and waste control. The data reported in these statements are 

 consolidating SKF’s finding into GRI’s designations.

414-1, 308-1  New suppliers that were screened using social 
and environmental criteria
All new suppliers are screened using these criteria. In 2017, 2 out 

of 35 potential suppliers to SKF did not pass SKF’s criteria to 

become a supplier, directly related to social or environmental risks. 

414-2  Negative social impacts in the supply chain and 
actions taken
In 2017, 59 deviations to the SKF Code of Conduct in this category 

have been identified and are being resolved in the operations. 

The most common deviations are related to occupational health 

and safety, work hours, compensation and employment contracts 

procedures. 2 deviations have been escalated to the Responsible 

Sourcing Committee. All cases are prioritized and addressed 

according to their urgency.

308-2  Negative environmental impacts in the supply chain 
and actions taken
In 2017, 33 environmental deviations related to pollution control 

and waste handling have been identified and actions are on-going 

at the suppliers to remediate these. 
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Introduction
We have been engaged by the Group Management of AB SKF (publ) 

to undertake a limited assurance engagement of the sustainability 

performance disclosures in the SKF Annual Report 2017 in the 

 sections “SKF Care” and “Sustainability Statements”, as well as 

documents on SKF’s website in “Topics related to Annual Report” 

marked with *. We refer to these disclosures collectively as the 

“Sustainability Report”.

Responsibilities of the Board and Management  
for the Sustainability Report
The Board of Directors and Group Management are responsible for 

the preparation of the Sustainability Report in accordance with the 

applicable criteria, as explained in the “Sustainability Statements” 

section of the Annual Report, and are the parts of the GRI Sustaina-
bility Reporting Standards which are applicable to the Sustainability 

Report, as well as the accounting and calculation principles that the 

Company has developed. This responsibility includes the internal 

control relevant to the preparation of a Sustainability Report that is 

free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.  

Responsibilities of the Auditor 
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the Sustainability 

Report based on the limited assurance procedures we have per-

formed. 

We conducted our limited assurance engagement in accordance 

with ISAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by IAASB. A lim-

ited assurance engagement consists of making inquiries, primarily 

of persons responsible for the preparation of the Sustainability 

Independent auditor’s limited assurance  
report on the Sustainability Report 
To AB SKF (publ)

Report, and applying analytical and other limited assurance proce-

dures. A summary of the assurance procedures performed is pre-

sented in the appendix.

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement 

vary in nature from, and are less in extent than for, a reasonable 

assurance engagement conducted in accordance with IAASB’s 

Standards on Auditing and other generally accepted auditing stand-

ards in Sweden. The procedures performed consequently do not 

enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all 

significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable assur-

ance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a reasonable 

assurance conclusion.

The audit firm applies ISQC 1 (International Standard on Quality 
Control) and accordingly maintains a comprehensive system of 

quality control including documented policies and procedures 

regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional 

standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Our procedures are based on the criteria defined by the Board of 

Directors and the Group Management as described above. We con-

sider these criteria suitable for the preparation of the Sustainability 

Report.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion below.. 

Conclusion
Based on the limited assurance procedures we have performed, 

nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 

Sustainability Report is not prepared, in all material respects, in 

accordance with the criteria defined by the Board of Directors and 

Group Management.  

Gothenburg, 2 March, 2018

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Fredrik Ljungdahl

Expert Member of FAR
Peter Clemedtson

Authorized Public Accountant

Appendix
Our limited assurance engagement has, based on an assessment of 

materiality and risk, included the following procedures:

a.  Update of our knowledge and understanding of SKF’s organization 

and activities,

b.  Assessment of suitability and application of the criteria regarding 

the stakeholders’ need for information,

c.  Assessment of the outcome of the company’s materiality analysis 

and stakeholder dialogue,

d.  Interviews with management at group level and visits to selected 

business units in order to assess if the qualitative and quantita-

tive information stated in the Sustainability Report is complete, 

accurate and sufficient,

e.  Examination of internal and external documents in order to 

assess if the information stated in the Sustainability Report 

is complete, accurate and sufficient,

f.  Evaluation of the design of selected systems and processes 

used to obtain, manage and validate sustainability information,

g.  Analytical procedures of the information stated in the Sustaina-

bility Report,

h.  Assessment of the company’s declared “in accordance” option 

according to the GRI Standards,

i.  Assessment of the overall impression of the Sustainability 

Report, and its format, taking into consideration the consistency 

of the stated information with applicable criteria.
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To the general meeting of the shareholders of AB SKF (publ), corporate identity number 556007-3495

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts
Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of 

AB SKF (publ) for the year 2017. The annual accounts and consoli-

dated accounts of the company are included on pages 10–29, 

36–37 and 55–119 in this document.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in 

accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of parent company as of 

31 December 2017 and its financial performance and cash flow for 

the year then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. 

The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with 

the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of the group as of 31 December 2017 and 

their financial performance and cash flow for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 

as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory 

administration report is consistent with the other parts of the 

annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of sharehold-

ers adopts the income statement and balance sheet for the parent 

company and the group.

Our opinions in this report on the annual accounts and consoli-

dated accounts are consistent with the content of the additional 

report that has been submitted to the parent company’s audit com-

mittee in accordance with the Audit Regulation (537/2014) Article 11.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 

on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing standards in 

 Sweden. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are inde-

pendent of the parent company and the group in accordance with 

professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise 

fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these require-

ments. This includes that, based on the best of our knowledge and 

belief, no prohibited services referred to in the Audit Regulation 

(537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided to the audited company 

or, where applicable, its parent company or its controlled companies 

within the EU.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Our audit approach
Audit scope
We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the 

risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial state-

ments. In particular, we considered where management made sub-

jective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting 

estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future 

events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also 

addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, 

including among other matters consideration of whether there was 

evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement 

due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient 

work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the 

Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in 

which the group operates.

SKF is a process-oriented company and the business is highly 

transactional operating on a number of systems and databases that 

initiate and process transactions. The SKF’s IT infrastructure is 

complex and the group is currently undergoing a significant change 

process including implementation of a new ERP system. 

SKF has a defined Internal Controls framework, SICS. SKF has 

developed a set of controls for IT applications within the SICS 

framework being relevant for financial reporting. The group audit 

team together with IT specialists, have identified and assessed 

those processes, applications and databases that has an impact to 

significant transaction flows and consequently are critical for the 

financial reporting and our audit.

Our audit strategy included local audits for those entities and 

countries that together represent larger operations and markets for 

the group. We included those operations that were viewed to have a 

particular relevance including the group’s treasury unit. No individ-

ual entity is viewed to represent a significant component to the 

group audit. In addition to the local audits, we have performed test-

ing to group consolidation together with consolidated analytical 

assessments in order to have a reasonable basis for our group 

audit. For those entities being in scope for group audit procedures 

we have issued detailed instructions and received reporting and 

reviewed procedures performed through discussions and meetings 

with local teams to confirm that we have satisfactory basis for our 

group audit opinion.   

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materi-

ality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether 

the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered 

material if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain 

quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall group 

materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as 

set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative consid-

erations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the 

nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate 

the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on 

the financial statements as a whole.

Auditor’s Report
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters of the audit are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the annual 

accounts and consolidated accounts of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of, and in forming our 

opinion thereon, the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole, but we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Valuation of intangible assets

Refer to note 10 of the consolidated accounts for the related 
 disclosures
As of 31 December 2017 intangible assets amount to SEK 17,360 million 

for the group. Out of this total, an amount of SEK 9,995 million relate to 

goodwill and SEK 2,210 million to tradenames and trademark with an 

indefinite life.

According to IFRS, the company is required, at least annually, to test 

these assets for impairment. 

Impairment testing involves assumptions with a significant degree of 

judgment, in particular for those assumptions that relate to the company’s 

applied discount rates and expectations on market development and the 

future cash flow generation of the business. 

Valuation of intangible assets and impairment testing represent a key 

audit matter for our audit in light of the significant values of the group’s 

intangible assets and the inherent uncertainties of assumptions and 

estimates involved.

Our audit procedures and testing of the valuation and 

impairment tests of intangible assets include areas and 

tests described below, however are not limited to these. 

We have evaluated models for impairment testing used 

by the company together with valuation and accounting 

specialists and have assessed these to be in line with 

common valuation techniques used. 

We have assessed assumptions used in the calculations 

and that are further described in note 10. Our procedures 

to assess assumptions used included to compare company’s 

future cash flow forecasts to available business plans and 

other information relevant for the estimated development 

of the business. 

We have assessed the group’s sensitivity analyses of 

impairment tests to changes in significant assumptions 

and the risk that negative changes could lead to an 

impairment.  

We have further performed independent sensitivity 

analyses and performed back testing to prior year 

assumptions to under build the quality of forecasting 

 process and assess assumptions for reasonableness 

and consistency. 

Recognition of provisions and contingent liabilities for lawsuits and claims

Refer to Risk management at SKF page 60 and note 18 of the 
 consolidated accounts for the related disclosures
SKF together with other companies in the bearing industry are part 

of investigations from competition authorities in different territories. 

During 2016 and 2017, lawsuits have been initiated from purchases 

of bearing to SKF together with the other companies affected by the 

EU ruling and fine for violation of EU competition rules in 2014. There 

is a risk for further civil claims from direct and indirect purchasers 

of bearings.

Risks and uncertainties from such investigations and potential 

claims need to be carefully assessed and analyzed. The assessment  

of outcome from legal proceedings and the potential need of provisions 

is an area of significant judgement involving the legal situation as well 

as factual circumstances together with the risk of a financial impact. 

These considerations make the area one of the key audit matters in 

our audit. 

Our independent evaluation of management’s descrip-

tions and assessments of legal proceedings and claims 

included inquiries to local management as well as to 

group management and parent company. 

Our procedures further involve reading of minutes and 

the group’s internal documentation of legal proceedings 

and claims to assess the accuracy and completeness of 

the disclosures in the consolidated accounts. 

In specific cases, we have collected statements from 

external legal advisors to risks and assessments made. 



146 SKF Annual Report 2017

Auditor’s Report

Other Information than the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts
This document also contains other information than the annual 

accounts and consolidated accounts and is found on pages 1–9, 

30–35, 38–54, 120–142 and 156–160. Other information further 

includes those documents listed in “Topics related to SKF’s annual 

report”. Beyond other information in this document the company 

publishes a yearly report “SKF in brief 2017” that we expect to 

have access to after the date of the auditor’s report. The Board of 

Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for this other 

 information. 

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 

does not cover this other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion regarding this other information.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and consoli-

dated accounts, our responsibility is to read the information identi-

fied above and consider whether the information is materially 

inconsistent with the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. 

In this procedure we also take into account our knowledge other-

wise obtained in the audit and assess whether the information 

other wise appears to be materially misstated.

If we, based on the work performed concerning this information 

that we have had access to prior the date of this auditor’s report, 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other infor-

mation, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 

report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and  
the Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 

for the preparation of the annual accounts and consolidated 

accounts and that they give a fair presentation in accordance with 

the Annual Accounts Act and, concerning the consolidated accounts, 

in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. The Board of Direc-

tors and the Managing Director are also responsible for such internal 

control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation  

of annual accounts and consolidated accounts that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts,  

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 

for the assessment of the company’s and the group’s ability to 

 continue as a going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters 

related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting. The going concern basis of accounting is however not 

applied if the Board of Directors and the Managing Director intends 

to liquidate the company, to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee shall, without prejudice to the Board of 

Director’s responsibilities and tasks in general, among other things 

oversee the company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 

issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and generally accepted 

auditing standards in Sweden will always detect a material mis-

statement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggre-

gate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts and 

consolidated accounts.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the 

annual accounts and consolidated accounts is available on 

 Revisorsinspektionen’s website www.revisorsinspektionen.se/ 

revisornsansvar. This description is part of the auditor’s report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 

accounts, we have also audited the administration of the Board of 

Directors and the Managing Director of AB SKF (publ) for the year 

2017 and the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of shareholders that the 

profit be appropriated in accordance with the proposal in the statu-

tory administration report and that the members of the Board of 

Directors and the Managing Director be discharged from liability for 

the financial year.
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Basis for Opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted 

auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

section. We are independent of the parent company and the group 

in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden 

and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accord-

ance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and  
the Managing Director
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for appropri-

ations of the company’s profit or loss. At the proposal of a dividend, 

this includes an assessment of whether the dividend is justifiable 

considering the requirements which the company’s and the group’s 

type of operations, size and risks place on the size of the parent 

company’s and the group’s equity, consolidation requirements, 

liquidity and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s organi-

zation and the administration of the company’s affairs. This includes 

among other things continuous assessment of the company’s and 

the group’s financial situation and ensuring that the company’s 

organization is designed so that the accounting, management of 

assets and the company’s financial affairs otherwise are controlled 

in a reassuring manner. The Managing Director shall manage the 

ongoing administration according to the Board of Directors’ guide-

lines and instructions and among other matters take measures that 

are necessary to fulfill the company’s accounting in accordance with 

law and handle the management of assets in a reassuring manner.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and 

thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is to obtain audit 

evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance whether 

any member of the Board of Directors or the Managing Director in 

any material respect:

• has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omission which 

can give rise to liability to the company, or

• in any other way has acted in contravention of the Companies 

Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association.

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appropriations 

of the company’s profit or loss, and thereby our opinion about this, 

is to assess with reasonable degree of assurance whether the pro-

posal is in accordance with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 

accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect actions or 

omissions that can give rise to liability to the company, or that the 

proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss are not in 

accordance with the Companies Act.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the 

administration is available on Revisorsinspektionen’s website:  

www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar. This description 

is part of the auditor’s report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB was appointed auditor of AB SKF 

(publ) by the general meeting of the shareholders on the 29 March 

2017 and has been the company’s auditor since the 26 April 2013.

Gothenburg 2 March, 2018 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB 

Bo Karlsson

Authorized Public Accountant
Peter Clemedtson

Auditor in Charge
Authorized Public Accountant
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Introduction
SKF Care defines the Group’s approach to securing sustainable, 

positive development over the short, medium and long term. SKF 

applies the principles of sound corporate governance as an instru-

ment for increased competitiveness and to promote confidence in 

SKF among all stakeholders. Among other things, this means that 

the company maintains an efficient organizational structure with 

clear areas of responsibility and clear rules for delegation, that the 

financial, environmental and social reporting is transparent and that 

the company in all respects maintains good corporate citizenship. 

The corporate governance principles applied by SKF are based 

on Swedish law, in particular the Swedish Companies Act and the 

Swedish Annual Accounts Act, and the regulatory system of NASDAQ  

Stockholm AB (Stockholm Stock Exchange).

Information under the Annual Accounts Act Chapter 6, § 6, 

 sections 3–4, are found at the following pages of the Administration 

Report for the Group in the Annual Report 2017:

• Annual Accounts Act Chapter 6, § 6, section 3 » see page 37.

• Annual Accounts Act Chapter 6, § 6, section 4 » see page 36.

Swedish Code of Corporate Governance
The Swedish Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) was origi-

nally introduced on 1 July, 2005. The Code has been revised several 

times since the introduction and the applicable Code is available 

at the website of the Swedish Corporate Governance Board,  

www.corporategovernanceboard.se.

It is considered good stock exchange practice for Swedish com-

panies whose shares are traded on a regulated market to apply the 

Code. SKF applies the Code, and this Corporate Governance Report 

has been prepared in accordance with the Code and the Swedish 

Annual Accounts Act. Furthermore, SKF has provided information 

on the company’s website in line with the Code requirements. The 

Annual General Meeting in 2017 was also held in accordance with 

the Code rules. The auditor of the company has read and performed 

a statutory examination of the Corporate Governance Report.

1 Nomination Committee
At the Annual General Meeting of AB SKF held in the spring 

2017, it was resolved that the company shall have a Nomination 

Committee formed by one representative of each of the four major 

shareholders with regard to the number of votes held as well as 

the Chairman of the Board. When constituting the Nomination 

Committee, the shareholdings per the last banking day in August 

2017 would determine which shareholders are the largest with 

regard to the number of votes held. The names of the four share-

holder representatives were to be published as soon as they had 

been elected, however not later than six months before the Annual 

General Meeting 2018. The Nomination Committee shall remain in 

office until a new Nomination Committee has been appointed.

In a press release on 14 September, 2017, it was announced that 

a Nomination Committee consisting of the following representatives 

of the shareholders, besides the Chairman of the Board, had been 

appointed in preparation of the Annual General Meeting 2018:

• Marcus Wallenberg, FAM 

• Ramsay Brufer, Alecta

• Anders Jonsson, Skandia

• Johan Strandberg, SEB Investment Management

The Nomination Committee is to furnish proposals in the following 

matters to be presented to, and resolved by, the Annual General 

Meeting in 2018:

• proposal for Chairman of the Annual General Meeting

• proposal for Board of Directors

• proposal for Chairman of the Board of Directors

• proposal for fee to the Board of Directors

• proposal for a Nomination Committee ahead of the Annual 

 General Meeting of 2019

The proposals of the Nomination Committee are at the latest to 

be published in connection with the notice to the Annual General 

Meeting 2018. 

Group staff units Sales/Operations

Shareholders through  

shareholders’ meeting

Board of Directors

President and CEO 

Group Management
Internal audit

Audit Committee

External auditors

Remuneration Committee

Nomination Committee

1

23 4

5

6

7
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General information about how the company is managed
The shareholders’ meeting is the company’s highest decision-making 

body. The Annual General Meeting of shareholders shall be held 

within six months after the end of the financial year. At the Annual 

General Meeting the shareholders exercise their voting rights for 

e.g. the composition of the Board of Directors, adoption of princi-

ples of remuneration for Group Management and election of exter-

nal auditors. SKF has issued A and B shares. An A share entitles the 

shareholder to one vote and a B share to one-tenth of a vote.

The Board of Directors has a responsibility for the company’s 

organization and for the oversight of the management of the com-

pany’s affairs and is, together with the President and Group Man-

agement defining and continuously monitoring SKF’s vision, mis-

sion, values and drivers. The Chairman of the Board of Directors 

shall direct the work of the Board and monitor that the Board of 

Directors fulfils its obligations. The Board annually adopts written 

rules of procedure for its internal work and written instructions. For 

more details on the rules of procedures and the written instructions, 

see below under the heading “Activities of the Board of Directors”.

The President of the company, who is also the Chief Executive 

Officer, is appointed by the Board of Directors and handles the day-

to-day management of the company’s business in accordance with 

the guidelines and instructions from the Board. The approval of 

the Board is, for example, required in relation to investments and 

acquisitions above certain amounts, as well as for the appointment 

of certain senior managers. The President is supported by Group 

Management.

SKF is organized in Industrial Sales Americas, Industrial Sales 

Europe and Middle East and Africa, Industrial Sales Asia, Auto-

motive and Aerospace, Innovation and Business Development and 

Industrial Units. The responsibility for end-to-end procurement, 

manufacturing and logistics is combined into Bearing Operations. 

Further, there are two Group staff units; Group Finance and Busi-

ness Transformation and Group People, Communication, Legal & 

Sustainability,  see pages 156–157 in the Annual Report 2017. 

Each Group staff unit has its own defined area of responsibility and 

the task to define strategic directions and fundamental requirements 

within its area. 

Policies and instructions are in place to ensure that matters of 

certain importance are referred to the President and/or the Board 

of Directors.

2 The Board of Directors
Composition and remuneration of the Board

The Board shall, in addition to specially appointed members and 

deputies, according to the Articles of Association of SKF, comprise  

a minimum of five and a maximum of twelve Board members, with 

a maximum of five deputies. The Board members are elected each 

year at the Annual General Meeting for the period up to the end of 

the next Annual General Meeting.

The Nomination Committee proposes decisions to the Annual 

General Meeting regarding electoral and remuneration issues, 

including proposals for the composition and remuneration of the 

Board. As reflected in the Nomination Committee’s statement 

regarding the composition of the proposed Board and the proposed 

remuneration presented to the Annual General Meeting 2017, the 

Nomination Committee has applied the provisions in the Code as 

diversity policy. The objectives of the diversity policy is for the 

Board to have a composition appropriate to the company’s opera-

tions, phase of development and other relevant circumstances; that 

the Board members elected by the shareholders’ meeting collectively 

are to exhibit diversity and breadth of qualifications, experience and 

background; and that the company is to strive for gender balance on 

the Board. The Annual General Meeting resolved to appoint Board 

members in accordance with the Nomination Committee’s proposal.

Ten Board members, including the Chairman, were elected at AB 

SKF’s Annual General Meeting held in the spring of 2017. In addition, 

the employees have appointed two Board members and two deputy 

Board members. No Board member, except for the President, is 

included in the management of the company.

Information on the composition and remuneration of the Board 

members decided upon by the Annual General Meeting 2017 can 

be found in the Annual Report 2017, Consolidated Financial State-

ments, Note 23. 

Independence requirements
The Board of Directors has been considered to comply with the 

requirements regarding independence of the Code. The table below 

shows the Board member’s independence according to the require-

ments of the Code in relation to (i) the company and (ii) major 

shareholders.

Name of the Board 
 members elected by the 
Annual General Meeting

Independence  
in  relation to the 
 company/senior 

 management

Independence  
in  relation to the  

major shareholders  
of the company

Leif Östling • •

Lena Treschow Torell
(resigned March 2017)

• •

Peter Grafoner • •

Lars Wedenborn •

Joe Loughrey 
(resigned March 2017)

• •

Baba Kalyani • •

Hock Goh • •

Marie Bredberg • •

Alrik Danielson •

Nancy Gougarty • •

Ronnie Leten  
(elected March 2017)

•

Barb Samardzich 
(elected March 2017)

• •
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The Board of Directors as of 31 December, 2017

1 Leif Östling
Chairman, Board member since 2005 

Born 1945

Education and job experience  
Master of Engineering (Chalmers 

 University of Technology, Gothenburg), 

Bachelor of Economics (School of Busi-

ness, Economics and Law, University of 

Gothenburg), various management posi-

tions at Scania since 1972, President and 

CEO of Scania AB between 1994–2012, 

Vice Chairman of  Scania AB 2013–2015, 

member of the Board of Management of 

Volkswagen AG, responsible for Commer-

cial Vehicles, 2012–2015.

Other assignments  
Board member of EQT Holding AB and 

Supervisory Board of Volkswagen Truck/

Bus GmbH.

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 500,000 SKF B

9 Ronnie Leten
Board member since 2017.   

Born 1956 

Education and job experience  
Master of Science in Applied Economics 

(University of Hasselt, Belgium). CEO and 

Board member of Atlas Copco AB 

between 2009 and 2017. 

Other assignments  
Chairman of AB Electrolux. 

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 10,000 SKF B

2 Peter Grafoner
Board member since 2008  

Born 1949

Education and job experience  
Doctor’s degree in Engineering 

 (University of Dortmund). Brown Boveri 

& Cie, several managerial and executive 

positions within AEG, Chairman of the 

Management Board of Mannesmann 

VDO AG 1996–2000 and vice Chairman 

of the Management Board of Linde AG 

during 2000–2001.

Other assignments  
Chairman of the Board of Coperion 

GmbH.

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 6,700 SKF B

10 Barb Samardzich 
Board member since 2017.  

Born 1958 

Education and job experience  
Bachelor of Science in Mechanical Engineering 

(University of Florida), Master of Science in 

Mechanical Engineering (Carnegie Mellon 

 University), Master of Science in Engineering 

Management (Wayne State University). Various 

 management positions at Ford Motor Company, 

1990–2016, the latest as Chief Operating Officer 

of Ford Europe, 2013–2016. Engineer in the 

Commercial Nuclear Fuel Division at Westing-

house Electric Corporation, 1981–1990. 

Other assignments  
Board member of Adient plc, Velodyne LidDAR 

and Bombardier Recreational Products.  Board  

of Trustee member of Lawerence Technological 

University.

Shareholding (own and/or held by related 

 parties) 0

6 Marie Bredberg
Board member since 2014  

Born 1957

Education and job experience  
Master of Science in Industrial 

 Engineering and Management 

from the Institute of Technology at 

Linköping University. Vice President 

of AerotechTelub AB, 2004–2006 and 

CFO, 2000–2004. CEO of Combitech 

AB 2006–2015. Experience from 

 several board assignments within 

the SAAB-Group.

Other assignments  
Vice President Business development 

and Financial control in Business Area 

Industrial Products and Services of the 

SAAB Group since 2015. Board mem-

ber in Combitech AB, Science Park 

Mjärdevi AB and Vricon Systems AB.

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 1,000 SKF B

3 Lars Wedenborn
Board member since 2008  

Born 1958

Education and job experience  
Master of Science in Economics 

 (University of Uppsala). EVP and 

CFO of Alfred Berg 1991–2000, 

EVP and CFO of Investor AB 

2000–2007, and CEO of FAM AB, 

wholly owned by the Wallenberg 

Foundations, since 2007.

Other assignments  
Chairman of NASDAQ Nordic Ltd., 

and board member of NASDAQ 

Group Inc., Höganäs AB, Nefab 

AB, F Intressenter 3 AB and FAM 

AB. 

Shareholding (own and/or held 

by related parties however not 

including FAM AB) 10,000 SKF A, 

11,500 SKF B

7 Alrik Danielson
President and Chief Executive 

Officer of AB SKF

For more details, see page 157.

4 Baba Kalyani
Board member since 2011  

Born 1949

Education and job experience  
Master of Science (Massachusetts Insti-

tute of Technology, USA) and a Bachelor 

of Mechanical Engineering (Birla Insti-

tute of Technology, India). Managing 

Director of Bharat Forge Ltd since 1993 

and before that several senior positions 

in Bharat Forge Ltd since 1972.

Other assignments  

Chairman of the Kalyani Group, Bharat 

Forge Ltd and a number of companies in 

the Kalyani Group. Member of the World 

Economic Forum, the Confederation of 

Indian Industries and Founder Chairman 

of Pratham Pune Education Foundation, 

an NGO engaged in providing primary 

education to underprivileged children in 

the local community.

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 0

8 Nancy Gougarty
Board member since 2015  

Born 1955

Education and job experience  
MBA from Case Western Reserve 

 University and a Bachelor of Science 

in Industrial Management from the 

 University of Cincinnati. Experience 

from several leading positions within 

TRW Automotive, 2005–2012, 

 General Motors Corporation and 

 Delphi Corporation from 1978–2005. 

President and Chief Operating Officer 

for Westport Innovations from 2013–

2016. 

Other assignments  
CEO and member of the Board of 

Westport Fuel Systems Inc. since 

2016 and Board member of Trimas 

Corporation since 2013.

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 0

5 Hock Goh
Board member since 2014  

Born 1955

Education and job experience  
Bachelor’s degree (honours) in Mechanical 

Engineering from Monash University, 

Australia, completed the Advanced Man-

agement Program at INSEAD. Operating 

Partner of Baird Capital Partners Asia, 

2005–2012. Has held several senior 

management positions in Schlumberger 

Limited, 1995–2005, President of Net-

work and Infrastructure Solutions divi-

sion in London, President Asia and Vice 

President and General Manager China. 

Other assignments  
Chairman of the Board of MEC Resources 

since 2005. Member of the Board of 

Stora Enso Oyj since 2012, Santos 

 Australia since 2012, Vesuvius PLC since 

2015 and Harbour Energy since 2015. 

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 0

Auditors
Peter Clemedtson
Authorized Public Accountant

Auditor in charge

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Bo Karlsson
Authorized Public Accountant

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB
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Employee representatives
11 Jonny Hilbert
Board member since 2015 

Born 1981

Education and job experience 
Employed in the SKF Group since 2005

Other assignments  
Chairman Unionen, SKF, Gothenburg

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 0 

13 Kennet Carlsson
Deputy Board member since 2015 

Born 1962

Education and job experience 
Employed in the SKF Group since 1979. 

Board member 2008–2015 and deputy 

board member 2001–2008.

Other assignments  
Chairman SKF World Union Committee

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 100 SKF A

12 Zarko Djurovic
Board member since 2015 

Born 1977

Education and job experience 
Employed in the SKF Group since 2006

Other assignments  
Chairman Metalworker’s Union,  

SKF, Gothenburg

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 0

14 Claes Palm
Deputy Board member since 2016 

Born 1971

Education and job experience 
Employed in the SKF Group since 1989

Other assignments  
Board member of Unionen at SKF in 

Gothenburg.

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 0

1 2 3
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Activities of the Board of Directors
The Board held eight meetings in 2017. The Board members were 

present at the Board meetings as follows:

Name of the Board member
Presence/total  

number of meetings

Leif Östling 8/8

Lena Treschow Torell (resigned March 2017) 2/8

Peter Grafoner 8/8

Lars Wedenborn 8/8

Joe Loughrey (resigned March 2017) 2/8

Baba Kalyani 6/8

Hock Goh 8/8

Marie Bredberg 7/8

Alrik Danielson 8/8

Nancy Gougarty 8/8

Ronnie Leten (elected March 2017) 6/8

Barb Samardzich (elected March 2017) 7/8

Jonny Hilbert 8/8

Zarko Djurovic 8/8

Kennet Carlsson 8/8

Claes Palm 8/8

The Board adopts written rules of procedure annually for its 

 internal work. These rules prescribe i.a.:

• the number of Board meetings and when they are to be held

• the items normally included in the Board agenda

• the presentation to the Board of reports from the external 

 auditors.

The Board has also issued written instructions on:

• when and how information required for the Board’s assessment 

of the company’s and the Group’s financial position shall be 

 collected and reported to the Board

• the allocation of the tasks between the Board and the President.

Issues dealt with by the Board in 2017 include i.a. market outlook, 

financial reporting, capital structure, acquisitions and divestments 

of companies, antitrust investigations, the strategic direction and 

business plan of the Group and management issues.

The Board continuously evaluates economic, environmental and 

social aspects for the Group’s performance and reviews specific 

issues such as accident rates, greenhouse gas emissions and Code 

of Conduct adherence. 

Each new Board member has to go through a general introduc-

tion training about the SKF Group and the Board visits on a regular 

basis different SKF sites in order to enhance knowledge about the 

SKF Group.

3 Remuneration Committee
The Board of AB SKF has in accordance with the principles in 

the Code established a Remuneration Committee consisting of the 

Chairman of the Board, Leif Östling as chairman, and the Board 

members Peter Grafoner, Lars Wedenborn and Ronnie Leten. 

The Remuneration Committee prepares matters related to the 

principles of remuneration for Group Management and employment 

conditions for the President. The principles of remuneration for 

Group Management shall be submitted to the Board, which shall 

submit a proposal for such remuneration principles to the Annual 

General Meeting for approval. The employment conditions for the 

President shall be approved by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee continuously monitors and evalu-

ates the SKF Group’s remuneration package for Group Management. 

Not later than three weeks prior to the Annual General Meeting the 

Board submits on the company’s website, in accordance with the 

principles in the Code, a report on the results of the Remuneration 

Committee’s evaluation.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings in 2017. 

The members of the committee were present at the meetings  

as follows:

Name of the Board member
Presence/total  

number of meetings

Leif Östling 2/2

Peter Grafoner 2/2

Lars Wedenborn 2/2

Ronnie Leten (elected March 2017) 1/2

Group staff units Sales/Operations

Shareholders through  

shareholders’ meeting

Board of Directors

President and CEO 

Group Management
Internal audit

Audit Committee

External auditors

Remuneration Committee

Nomination Committee

1

23 4

5

6

7
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4 Audit Committee
The Board of AB SKF has in accordance with the principles 

of the Swedish Companies Act and the Code appointed an Audit 

Committee. The Audit Committee consists of Lars Wedenborn, as 

Chairman, the Chairman of the Board, Leif Östling and the Board 

members Marie Bredberg and Ronnie Leten. 

The tasks of the Audit Committee include i.a. preparations in 

relation to the nomination of external auditors, review of the scope 

of the external audit, evaluation of the performance of the external 

auditors, review and control of the financial reporting, and of the 

internal control, internal audit and risk management regarding the 

financial reporting. 

The Audit Committee held six meetings in 2017. The members  

of the committee were present at the meetings as follows:

Name of the Board member
Presence/total  

number of meetings

Leif Östling 6/6

Lars Wedenborn 6/6

Marie Bredberg 6/6

Ronnie Leten (elected March 2017) 5/6

Assessment
The Board members assess the quality of the work of the Board 

through the completion of a questionnaire, which reflects the 

Group’s values and drivers. The result is then discussed at a Board 

meeting. The Nomination Committee has been provided with the 

result of the assessment. 

5 President and Chief Executive Officer 
Alrik Danielson 

Board member of AB SKF’s Board since 2015

Born 1962

Education and job experience Bachelor of Science in Business 

Administration and International Economics, School of Business, 

Economics and Law, University of Gothenburg. Several positions 

within the SKF Group 1987–2005 and President and CEO of 

Höganäs AB 2005–2014. 

Other assignments President and CEO of AB SKF since 2015. 

Board member of Association of Swedish Engineering Industries 

since 2015.

Shareholding (own and/or held by related parties): 26,000 SKF B 

Material shareholdings or other holdings (own and/or held by 

related parties) in companies with which the company has important 

business relationships: 0 

6 The auditor of the company
The task of the auditor is to audit, on behalf of the shareholders, 

the Annual Report and the accounting and also to audit the Board’s 

and the President’s management of the company.

The Annual General Meeting elects the auditor for a period of 

four years. At AB SKF’s Annual General Meeting in the spring 2017, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB (PwC) was elected as auditor for the 

time up to the closing of the Annual General Meeting in 2021. Peter 

Clemedtson is the auditor in charge and Bo Karlsson is co-signing 

auditor. Peter Clemedtson is the auditor in charge at a number of 

other listed companies, such as Nordea Bank AB (publ), AB Volvo 

and Ratos AB. Bo Karlsson is the auditor in charge at a number of 

other listed companies, such as ASSA ABLOY AB, Investment AB 

Latour and unlisted companies such as Scania AB. The auditor shall 

according to a resolution of the Annual General Meeting be remu-

nerated in accordance with approved invoice. SKF has a procedure 

in place whereby all matters that are intended to be handled by  

the elected auditors are evaluated in relation to the independence 

requirements and are approved or, as the case may be, rejected, by 

the Audit Committee. PwC applies a similar procedure and issues 

annually, in addition thereto, a written statement to the Board stat-

ing that the audit firm is independent in relation to SKF. PwC has 

during 2017 been involved in matters besides the audit and audit 

services other than the audit assignment for 2017. These matters 

have primarily concerned tax services. The total fees for PwC’s 

 services besides auditing in 2017 amount to SEK 10 million.

Financial reporting
The Board of Directors is responsible for documenting how the 

quality of the financial reporting is secured and how the company 

communicates with its auditor.

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors by prepara-

tory work to secure the quality of the company’s financial reporting. 

This is, for example, achieved through the Audit Committee’s review 

of the financial information and the company’s internal financial 

controls.

The Board of Directors had one meeting with the auditor in 2017 

and has been provided with the audit and its result. Within the scope 

of its work, which includes reviewing the extent of the external audit 

and evaluating the performance of the external auditors, the Audit 

Committee met with the auditors in connection with five Audit 

Committee meetings. In addition to that, the auditors gave both the 

Audit Committee and the Board of Directors information in writing 

regarding matters including the planning and implementation of the 

audit and an assessment of the risk position of the company.
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7 Internal control and risk management  
regarding  financial reporting 

SKF applies the Internal Control – Integrated Framework launched 

in 1992 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commission (COSO). In May 2013 COSO launched an 

updated version of the framework, COSO 2013. SKF annually 

updates the review of the internal control framework to ensure 

alignment with the 17 fundamental principles of COSO 2013. SKF 

applies a subset of the CobiT standard for IT security. The COSO 

framework consists of five interrelated components, where a num-

ber of objectives have to be met in each component:

The control environment component is the foundation for the 

other components. Through its policies, instructions and organiza-

tional structure SKF has documented the division of responsibility 

throughout the SKF organization. This is reflected in the fact that 

policies and instructions, where applicable, are developed on the 

basis of internationally accepted standards and/or best practice. 

Policies and instructions are reassessed annually by the responsible 

function based on the need to adapt these to changes in require-

ments and legislation.

SKF is a process-oriented company and includes integrated risk 

assessment with the business processes such as business planning. 

Separate functions or cross functional boards monitor all major risk 

areas.

In the area of control activities, SKF has documented all the critical 

finance processes and controls for the parent company and all sub-

sidiary companies. SKF implemented these requirements as a Group 

standard, the SKF Internal Control Standard (SICS) for all Group 

companies. The documentation standards require that relevant 

controls in the business processes are described and performed. 

When deficiencies in individual controls are identified formal action 

plans are created to remediate control gaps. A selection of defined 

control activities are tested annually.

SKF has information and communication systems and procedures 

in place in order to ensure the completeness and correctness of 

the financial reporting. Accounting and reporting instructions are 

updated when necessary and reassessed at least once a year. 

These instructions have been made available to all relevant 

employees together with training programmes and the frequent 

communication of any changes in accounting and/or reporting 

requirements.

Financial process and control documentation, documentation of 

the COSO components of monitoring, information and communica-

tion, financial risk assessment, control environment, as well as test 

and review protocols, are stored in a special IT system. This enables 

access to individual control documentation and analysis of results 

from the annual testing of SKF’s financial internal control system.

The implementation of SICS consisted primarily of adapting the 

process and control descriptions to a common framework and putting 

in place a comprehensive system for management testing of the 

controls. SKF applies a risk-based annual testing programme of 

selected units and critical controls. The test programme is reassessed 

annually. Testing is primarily done on-site by independent external 

testers who report to SKF’s internal audit function. 

SKF has an internal audit function whose main responsibility is 

to ensure adherence to the internal control framework by carrying 

out annual tests. The internal audit function report to the Group’s 

Chief Financial Officer and regularly submits reports to the Audit 

Committee of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors 

receives regular financial reports and the Group’s financial position 

and development are discussed at every meeting. The Audit Com-

mittee of the Board of Directors reviews all interim and annual 

financial reports before they are released to the public. 

Gothenburg, 2 March, 2018

The Board of Directors

COSO website, © 2013 Internal 
Control-Integrated Framework 
Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). All rights 
reserved. Used with permission.
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Auditor’s report on the Corporate Governance Report 
To the general meeting of the shareholders in AB SKF (publ), corporate identity number 556007-3495.

Engagement and responsibility
It is the board of directors who is responsible for the corporate gov-

ernance report for the year 2017 on pages 148–154 and that it has 

been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.  

The scope of the examination
Our examination has been conducted in accordance with FAR’s 

auditing standard RevU 16 The auditor’s examination of the corpo-

rate governance statement. This means that our examination of 

the corporate governance statement is different and substantially 

less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Inter-

national Standards on Auditing and generally accepted auditing 

standards in Sweden. We believe that the examination has 

 provided us with sufficient basis for our opinions.

Opinions
A corporate governance report has been prepared. Disclosures in 

accordance with chapter 6 section 6 the second paragraph points 

2–6 the Annual Accounts Act and chapter 7 section 31 the second 

paragraph the same law are consistent with the annual accounts 

and the consolidated accounts and are in accordance with the 

Annual Accounts Act.

Gothenburg, 2 March, 2018

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Signature on Swedish original

Peter Clemedtson

Auditor in charge
Authorized Public Accountant

Bo Karlsson

Authorized Public Accountant
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9 Carina Bergfelt
General Counsel and Senior Vice President,  

Group People, Communication, Legal and  

Sustainability and Secretary to the Board

Born 1960

Master of Law, Lund University.  

Employed since 1990

Previous position 
Legal Counsel 

Board member 

The Association of Exchange listed Companies. 

Shareholding in SKF 
4,047 SKF B

7 Kent Viitanen
President, Bearing Operations

Born 1965

Business and Economics, School of Business, 

 Economics and Law, University of  Gothenburg. 

Employed since 1988

Previous positions 
Senior Vice President People, Communication and 

Quality, Director  Renewable Energy and several 

other positions within SKF. 

Board member 
Chalmers University of Tech nology and Gothen-

burg University School of  Executive Education.

Shareholding in SKF 
140 SKF A and 3,154 SKF B

1 Alrik Danielson
President and CEO, SKF Group 

Born 1962

Bachelor of Science in Business  Administration and 

International Economics, School of Business, 

 Economics and Law,  University of Gothenburg.

Employed since 2014 and 1987–2005

Previous positions 
President and CEO of Höganäs AB 2005–2014, 

President SKF Industrial Division and several other 

positions within SKF.

Board member 
Association of Swedish  Engineering Industries

Shareholding in SKF 
26,000 SKF B

2 Christian Johansson
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President

Born 1963 

Bachelor of Science in Business Administration, 

Stockholm University INSEAD (Fontainbleau, 

France).  

Employed since 2015

Previous positions 
CFO and CIO Gunnebo AB, CFO Volvo Trucks, 

Regional manager Central East Europe ABB 

Industrial  Service and several other senior 

 positions at Volvo Group, ABB and Alfa Laval.

Board member Advisory board, University of 

Gothenburg, School of Business, Economics 

and Law.

Shareholding in SKF  
4,000 SKF B

4 John Schmidt
President, Industrial Sales Americas

Born 1969 

Bachelor of Science, Mechanical  Engineering  

from the Pennsylvania State  University.  

Employed since 2001 and 1993–1998

Previous positions 
President and CEO SKF USA Inc, Vice President 

Industrial Market NAM and several other positions 

within SKF.

Shareholding in SKF 
97 SKF B

5 Erik Nelander
President, Industrial Sales Europe  

and Middle East and Africa

Born 1963 

Master of Science in Business Administration and 

International Economics, School of Business, 

 Economics and Law, University of Gothenburg. 

Employed since 1987 

Previous positions 
Vice President SKF Industrial Market,  

President SKF China,  Business Unit Director 

SKF Aerospace, and several other positions  

within SKF.

Shareholding in SKF 
4,684 SKF B

6 Patrick Tong
President, Industrial Sales Asia

Born 1962

Executive Master Degree of Business 

 Administration, Hong Kong University of 

 Science and Technology.  

Employed since 1989 

Previous positions 
President  Specialty Business,  

President SKF Second Brands Bearings,  

as well as several other positions within SKF.

Shareholding in SKF 
2,487 SKF B

8 Victoria Van Camp
CTO and President, Innovation and  

Business Development

Born 1966

Master of Science in Mechanical  Engineering, 

PhD in Machine Elements; Luleå  University of 

Technology, Sweden.  

Employed since 1996

Previous positions  
President Business and Product Development, 

Director Industrial Market Technology and 

 Solutions, Director of Product Innovation 

 Lubrication BU, as well as  several other 

 positions within SKF. 

Board member BillerudKorsnäs AB

Shareholding in SKF 
64 SKF B

3 Bernd Stephan
President, Automotive and Aerospace

Born 1956

Bachelor of Engineering, Mechanical Engineering, 

(Dipl.-Ing., University of Essen).  

Employed since 1994

Previous positions 
Senior Vice President Group Technology and CTO,  

and  several other positions within SKF.

Board member SKF India Ltd.

Shareholding in SKF 

1,914 SKF B

Group Management as of 31 December, 2017
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Seven-year review, SKF Group

SEKm unless otherwise stated 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 20122) 2011

Income statements
Net sales3) 77,938 72,589 75,788 70,778 63,423 64,395 66,216

Operating expenses incl. associated comp.3) –69,346 –65,062 –68,820 –62,977 –59,730 –57,081 –56,604

Operating profit 8,592 7,527 6,968 7,801 3,693 7,314 9,612

Items affecting comparability –504 –17 –1,687 –490 –3,875 –440 –100

Adjusted operating profit 9,096 7,544 8,655 8,291 7,568 7,754 9,712

Financial income and expense, net –934 –788 –1,134 –1,133 –872 –906 –680

Profit before taxes 7,658 6,739 5,834 6,668 2,821 6,408 8,932

Taxes –1,898 –2,530 –1,760 –1,918 –1,777 –1,592 –2,708

Net profit 5,760 4,209 4,074 4,750 1,044 4,816 6,224

Balance sheets
Intangible assets 17,360 19,568 21,485 22,138 19,023 9,800 10,157

Deferred tax assets 3,633 3,806 3,185 3,350 2,015 1,835 1,299

Property, plant and equipment 15,762 15,746 15,303 15,482 14,095 13,086 13,076

Non-current financial and other assets 1,627 1,688 1,607 1,862 1,276 1,188 1,494

Inventories 17,122 15,418 14,519 15,066 13,700 12,856 14,191

Trade receivables 13,416 13,462 11,777 12,595 11,189 10,084 10,713

Other current assets 12,283 14,219 11,857 11,146 9,693 11,908 8,444

Total assets 81,203 83,907 79,733 81,639 70,991 60,757 59,374

Equity 29,823 27,683 26,282 24,404 21,152 22,468 22,455

Provisions for post employment benefits 12,309 13,945 13,062 13,978 9,902 9,881 8,634

Deferred tax provisions 1,100 1,380 1,373 1,717 2,207 481 938

Other provisions 2,275 2,224 2,095 2,083 5,011 1,676 1,836

Financial liabilities 18,508 23,650 23,825 26,105 21,344 15,675 13,613

Trade payables 7,899 7,100 5,671 5,938 4,740 4,189 4,698

Other liabilities 9,289 7,925 7,425 7,414 6,635 6,387 7,200

Total equity and liabilities 81,203 83,907 79,733 81,639 70,991 60,757 59,374

Key figures1) (in percentages unless otherwise stated)
Operating margin3) 11.0 10.4 9.2 11.0 5.8 11.3 14.5

Adjusted operating margin3) 11.7 10.4 11.4 11.7 11.9 12.0 14.7

EBITA, SEKm 9,064 8,016 7,522 8,289 3,998 7,552 9,860

EBITDA, SEKm 10,916 9,895 9,826 10,192 5,586 9,145 11,402

Return on capital employed 14.2 11.9 10.9 13.9 7.5 16.2 23.6

Return on equity 20.4 16.5 15.7 21.4 4.6 21.6 29.7

Net working capital, % of sales3) 29.0 30.0 27.2 30.7 31.8 29.1 30.5

Net debt/equity 71.3 84.4 99.9 126.6 117.3 72.5 72.3

Turnover of total assets, times 0.96 0.89 0.92 0.95 0.97 1.07 1.16

Gearing 49.9 55.3 56.7 60.5 59.2 52.8 48.9

Equity/assets 36.7 33.0 33.0 29.9 29.8 37.0 37.8

Net cash flow after investments before financing, SEKm 4,753 7,717 6,416 2,137 –5,390 3,045 3,974

Investments, and employees
Additions to property, plant and equipment, SEKm 2,243 1,869 2,063 1,852 1,746 1,968 1,839

Research and development expenses, SEKm 2,395 2,246 2,372 2,078 1,840 1,607 1,481

Patents – number of first filings, SEKm 192 191 461 488 468 421 325

Average number of employees 43,814 43,508 44,305 46,509 45,220 44,168 42,886

Number of employees registered at 31 December 45,678 44,868 46,635 48,593 48,401 46,775 46,039

1)  See page 156 for definitions. SKF has applied the guidelines issued by 
ESMA (European Securities and Markets Authority) on APMs (Alternative 
Performance Measures). These key figures are not defined or specified 
in IFRS but provides  complementary information to investors and other 
stakeholders on the company’s performance. The definition of each APM 
is presented at the end of the interim report. For the reconciliation of each 

APM against the most reconcilable line item in the financial statements,  
see skf.com/group/investors/.

2)  2012 restated for amended IAS 19. All years prior to 2012 continue to use 
the old IAS 19 rules.

3)  Cash discounts are from 1 January classified as a reduction of Net sales. 
 Previously published figures, except for 2011, have been restated accordingly.
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Three-year review

SEKm unless otherwise stated 20171) 20161) 2015

Industrial
Net sales 53,972 50,588 54,132

Operating profit 7,271 6,108 6,229

Operating margin, % 13.5 12.1 11.5

Assets and liabilities,net 37,659 39,356 40,987

Registered number of employees 36,855 36,334 37,659

Automotive,
Net sales 23,966 22,001 21,842

Operating profit 1,321 1,419 739

Operating margin, % 5.5 6.4 3.4

Assets and liabilities,net 9,265 9,341 8,977

Registered number of employees 7,329 7,060 7,506

Per-share data1)

SEK per share unless otherwise stated 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 20123) 2011

Earnings per share 12.02 8.75 8.52 10.10 2.0 10.23 13.29

Dividend per A and B share 5.502) 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50

Total dividends, SEKm 2,504 2,504 2,504 2,504 2,504 2,504 2,277

Purchase price of B shares at year-end  
on NASDAQ Stockholm 182.2 167.6 137.2 164.9 168.7 163.2 145.60

Equity per share 62 57 54 51 44 47 47

Yield in percent (B) 3.02) 3.3 4.0 3.3 3.3 3.4 3.8

P/E ratio, B (share price/earnings per share) 15.2 19.2 16.1 16.3 84.2 16.0 11.0

Cash flow from operations, per share 14.1 15.7 17.0 10.5 11.6 12.5 12.4

Cash flow, after investments and before financing, 
per share 10.44 16.95 14.09 4.69 –11.84 6.69 8.73

Distribution of shareholding

Shareholding Number of shareholders % Number of shares %

1–1,000 53,412 84.8 14,829,640 3.3

1,001–10,000 8,661 13.7 23,345,677 5.0

10,001–100,000 707 1.1 19,338,959 4.3

100,001– 218 0.4 397,836,792 87.4

62,998 100 455,351,068 100

Source: Monitor, Modular Finance as of 31 December, 2017.

1) See page 160 for definitions.
2) According to the Board’s proposal for the year 2017.

3)  2012 restated for amended IAS 19. All years prior to 2011 continue to use 
the old IAS 19 rules.

1)  Previously published amounts have been restated to conform to the current 
Group structure. For more information refer to Note 2 in the consolidated 
financial statements
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Patrik Stenberg

Head of Investor Relations

email: patrik.stenberg@skf.com

www.skf.com/investors

Average number of employees
Total number of working hours of  

registered employees, divided by the  

normal total working time for the period. 

Adjusted operating profit
Operating profit excluding items affecting 

comparability.

Adjusted operating margin 
Operating profit excluding items affecting 

comparability, as a percentage of net sales.

Adjusted profit before taxes
Profit before taxes excluding items affecting 

comparability.

Basic earnings per share
Profit after taxes less non-controlling inter-

ests divided by the ordinary number of 

shares. 

Currency impact on operating profit
The effects of both translation and trans-

action flows based on current assumptions 

and exchange rates compared to the 

 corresponding period last year.

Debt
Loans plus provisions for post- employment 

benefits, net.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share is calculated using 

the weighted average number of shares out-

standing during the period  adjusted for all 

potential dilutive ordinary shares.

EBITA (Earnings before interest,  
taxes and amortization)
Operating profit before amortizations.

EBITDA (Earnings before interest,  
taxes, depreciation and amortization)
Operating profit before depreciations, 

 amortizations, and impairments.

Equity/assets ratio
Equity as a percentage of total assets.

Equity per share
Equity excluding non-controlling interests 

divided by the ordinary number of shares. 

Gearing
Debt as a percentage of the sum of debt and 

equity. 

Items affecting comparability
Significant income/expense that affects 

 comparability between accounting periods. 

This includes, but is not limited to, restruc-

turing costs, impairments and write-offs, 

currency exchange rate effects caused by 

devaluations and gains and losses on 

 divestments of  businesses and assets.

Net debt
Debt less short-term financial assets 

 excluding derivatives.

Net debt/EBITDA
Net debt, as a percentage of twelve months 

rolling EBITDA.

Net debt/equity
Net debt, as a percentage of equity.

Net worth per share (Equity per share)
Equity excluding non-controlling interests 

divided by the ordinary number of shares.

Working capital as % of annual sales 
(NWC)
Trade receivables plus inventory minus  

trade payables as a  percentage of twelve 

months rolling net sales.

Operating margin
Operating profit, as a percentage of  

net sales.

Operational performance
Operational performance includes the effects 

on operating profit related to changes in 

organic sales, changes in manufacturing 

 volumes and manufacturing cost and changes 

in selling and  administrative expenses.

Organic sales 
Sales excluding effects of currency and struc-

ture, i.e. acquired and divested businesses. 

P/E ratio
Share price at year end divided by basic 

 earnings per share. 

Registered number of employees
Total number of employees included in  

SKF’s payroll at the end of the period. 

Return on capital employed (ROCE)
Operating profit plus interest income,  

as a percentage of twelve months rolling 

average of total assets less the average 

of non-interest bearing liabilities.

Return on equity (ROE)
Profit after taxes as a percentage of twelve 

months rolling average of equity.

SKF demand outlook
The demand outlook for SKFs products and 

services represents management’s best 

 estimate based on current information about 

the future demand from our customers.  

The demand outlook is the expected volume 

development in the markets where our 

 customers operate.

Turnover of total assets
Net sales in relation to 12-month  rolling 

average of total assets.

Total value added (TVA)
TVA is the operating profit, less the pre-tax 

cost of capital. The pre-tax cost of capital is 

based on a weighted cost of capital with a  

risk premium of 6% above the risk-free 

 interest rate.

Definitions

Theo Kjellberg

Director, Corporate Communication 

and Head of Media Relations

email: theo.kjellberg@skf.com

SKF Group Headquarters

SE-415 50 Gothenburg

Sweden

Telephone: +46 31 337 10 00

www.skf.com

Company reg.no 556007-3495

Contact persons



General information

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at SKF Kristine dal, 

Byfogdegatan 4, Gothenburg, Sweden, at 11.00 on Tuesday, 

27 March, 2018. The Annual General Meeting is the primary  

forum at which shareholders have a possibility to communicate 

directly with Group Management and the Board of Directors. 

For the right to participate in the meeting, shareholders must  

be recorded in the shareholders’ register kept by Euroclear Sweden 

AB by Wednesday, 21 March, 2018, and must notify the company 

at the latest by Wednesday, 21 March, 2018 via the internet,  

www.skf.com, or by letter to: 

AB SKF

c/o Computershare AB, “AB SKFs årsstämma 2018”

Box 610

SE-182 16 Danderyd

Sweden

or by telephone +46 31 337 25 50

(between 09.00 and 16.00)

When notifying the company, preferably in writing, this should 

 in clude details of name, address, telephone number, registered 

shareholding and number of advisors, if any. Where represen tation 

is being made by proxy, the original of the proxy form shall be sent 

to the company before the Annual General Meeting. 

Shareholders whose shares are registered in the name of a trustee 

must have the shares registered temporarily in their own name in 

order to take part in the meeting. Any such re-registration for the 

purpose of establishing voting rights shall take place so that the 

shareholder is recorded in the shareholders’ register by Wednesday, 

21 March, 2018. This means that the shareholder should give 

notice of his/her wish to be included in the share holders’ register  

to the trustee well in advance before that date. 

Cautionary statement
This report contains forward-looking statements that 

are based on the current expectations of the manage-

ment of SKF. Although management believes that the 

expectations reflected in such forward-looking state-

ments are reasonable, no assurance can be given that 

such expectations will prove to have been correct. 

Accordingly, results could differ materially from those 

implied in the forward-looking statements as a result 

of, among other factors, changes in economic, market 

and competitive conditions, changes in the regulatory 

environment and other government actions, fluctua-

tions in exchange rates and other factors mentioned 

in the Administration Report in this Annual Report.

®  SKF, @ptitude, ALEMITE, BeyondZero, BAKER,  

Black Design, Blohm + Voss , BlueMon, CARB, 

COOPER, DUOFLEX, DURATEMP, ECOPUR, GBC, 

GENERAL BEARING COMPANY, HYATT, infinite, 

INSOCOAT, KAYDON,  Lincoln, LUBRILEAN,  magnetic, 

MICROLOG, MULTILOG, NAUTILUS, PEER, Reali- 

Slim, ROTOSTAT, SCOTSEAL, SEAL JET, SEEDX-

TREME, SNFA, Simplex- Compact, SCOTSEAL. Slew-

infinite, SKF ENCOMPASS, SKF EXPLORER, S2M, 

SKF INSIGHT, Thinfinite, THE GENERAL, TILLX-

TREME, X-TRACKER are registered trademarks of 

the SKF Group.

© SKF Group 2017

The contents of this publication are the copyright of the 

publisher and may not be reproduced (even extracts) un less 

prior written permission is granted. Every care has been 

taken to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in 

this publication but no liability can be accepted for any loss or 

damage whether direct, indirect or consequential arising out 

of the use of the information contained herein. The report is 

originally written in English and translated to Swedish.

PUB GCR/R1 17832 EN  · March, 2018

SKF Annual Report 2017 was published on 5 March, 2018.
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Payment of dividend
The Board of Directors proposes a dividend 

of SEK 5.50 per share for 2017. Thursday, 

29 March, 2018 is proposed as the record 

date for shareholders to be entitled to 

receive dividends for 2017. Subject to 

 resolution by the Annual General Meeting, 

it is expected that Euroclear will distribute 

the dividend on Thursday, 5 April, 2018.

Financial information and reporting
Publishing dates for financial reports  

in 2018:

Annual Report 2017  5 March

First-quarter report 2018  26 April

Half-year report 2018  19 July

Nine-month report 2018  25 October

The reports are  

 available in Swedish  

and English on  

skf.com/Investors and in the Investor 

 Relations app. A subscription service  

for press releases and interim reports,  

sent via e-mail or SMS, is available on  

the website.
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